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I'd like to extend my thanks to all 343,000 Siemens employees — and particularly

to our many people in the world’s crisis regions — for their continuing dedication.
Throughout fiscal 2014, the Managing Board team received tremendous employee
support for the changes now necessary at our Company. Cooperation with the
employee representatives was also characterized by a spirit of mutual trust. In addi-
tion, Dr. Gerhard Cromme and the members of the Supervisory Board diligently
assisted the work of the Managing Board, providing outstanding support for all our
activities and projects. I'm very grateful for the commitment of all these individu-
als. I'd also like to extend a special thanks to our customers, who gave us their trust
and confidence in fiscal 2014. We’'ll remain an expert and reliable partner for them
in the future.

Vision 2020 - Our Company-wide concept

Vision 2020 is our concept for the future and, above all, for achieving sustainable
growth. We proceeded calmly and carefully in drafting Vision 2020, taking all the
time we needed, and then implemented the concept in record time.

In keeping with Vision 2020, we’re positioning Siemens along the electrification
value chain. Electrification, automation and digitalization, and the impact of these
fields on all parts of our Company: that’s what the new Siemens is all about. Our
new setup will help us close the gap to our competitors. We have some catching up
to do - in terms of growth as well as margin development. Our goal must be to
close that gap. And we’ll succeed, although not overnight. One thing, however, is
clear: Vision 2020 has already made us stronger and brought us closer to our mar-
kets. We'll also be investing more in innovation and market access than in the past -
with the aim of creating sustainable value for our employees, our customers and
for you, our shareholders.

For years now, we’ve been focusing on the megatrends of urbanization, demo-
graphic change, globalization and climate change. And now a further megatrend
has emerged: digitalization, which consists in capturing and analyzing data and
then using it to create customer value. We want to play a key role in shaping this
digital transformation. Businesses related to software and data analytics are
achieving dynamic annual growth of 7% to 9% and, in some fields of digitalization,
even more. Highly attractive markets await us here, and we’re positioning our
Company accordingly.

Our stages on the path to 2020

Our Company-wide reorganization will be implemented in three phases. While the
measures included in these phases will be reflected in our key financial figures at
various times, we're continually addressing all of them with the same intensity and
the same rigor:

> For the short term, we're improving our performance and efficiency.
> For the medium term, we're strengthening our core business.
> For the long term, we're driving sustainable growth.

Let me start with the most important thing: our Company’s long-term, sustainable
development. Already today, Siemens is a leader in electrification and automation -
just think of our urban mobility systems, our solutions for the process industry and
our power plants as well as our outstanding position in power plant instrumentation



and control technology, power grids, and factory and rail automation. We aim
to achieve an equally strong position in the field of digitalization, in which we’re
already a key player: our worldwide installed customer base gives us not only
access to an enormous volume of data but also an in-depth understanding of the
related processes. And our customers appreciate these advantages.

A company like Siemens never stands still. This was the case in the past, and it will
remain so in the future. That’s why we intend to continue developing our port-
folio with determination and the utmost prudence in order to strengthen our core
business in the medium term. We’ve taken the first steps with our acquisition
of Rolls-Royce’s aero-derivative gas turbine business and our decision to acquire
U.S. compressor and turbine manufacturer Dresser-Rand. These two acquisitions
will close important gaps in our electrification portfolio for the oil and gas industry
as well as for decentralized power generation.

The announcement that we’re divesting our stake in BSH Bosch und Siemens
Hausgerdte (BSH) was a further signal that we're intent on implementing our
Vision 2020. The Siemens brand will continue to be used for household appliances,
so Siemens will still be found “in the kitchen and in the laundry room.” However,
BSH will now be managed exclusively by Bosch.

We can accept the fact that we didn’t win the bid for the French company Alstom,
although, objectively speaking, our offer was the better one. In this connection,
one thing is particularly important to me: we proved that Siemens is capable of
taking action in any situation. What’s more, we had an impact on the transaction
that was not negligible for our competitors.

New setup at all levels and in all business fields

Our focus on what is essential is also reflected in our Company’s organization.
We’ve eliminated the Clusters and Sectors and reduced the number of Divisions
from 16 to ten. In addition, we’ve substantially strengthened our international
organization.

We’re blazing new trails with our new setup. For instance, thanks to our Digital
Factory Division, we're the world’s first company to bundle all the requirements for
the factory of the future under one roof. The Division will be our driving force
for Industry 4.0, the much-discussed Fourth Industrial Revolution in which every
aspect of production - from idea, development and manufacturing to services
and recycling - will be totally integrated. At Siemens, we're not just talking about
Industry 4.0; we're implementing it.

In view of the growing strategic importance of the U.S. energy markets, we’ve
relocated the management of our energy business as well as the responsibility for
supporting our marketing activities throughout the Americas to Houston, Texas.

To head our energy business, we’ve brought in Lisa Davis, who joined the Managing
Board of Siemens AG on August 1, 2014, and has since been making valuable
contributions to its work. For our customers and for our Company, the energy
landscape has changed dramatically, not least because of political factors such as

Germany’s “energy transition.” We’re responding to these shifts.
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Our healthcare business achieved very good results overall in the past quarters, an
accomplishment we’re proud of. However, over the long term, we anticipate fun-
damental changes and new business models in healthcare markets and technologies.

With the aim of continuing the success story of Siemens’ medical engineering
activities and of giving them greater freedom and better prospects for the future,
we’ll manage our healthcare business independently within Siemens - as a
company within the Company. Healthcare is not “still” at Siemens or “staying” at
Siemens. Healthcare is part of Siemens.

We’ve paved the way for the sale of our audiology business to the investment
company EQT and Germany’s Striingmann family of entrepreneurs. Siemens will
remain invested in the hearing aid business with preferred equity and will thus
benefit from the business’s future successes. Not only is the transaction an excellent
move from a financial perspective; we're also convinced that the new investors
have a clear growth strategy for further developing the hearing aid business over
the long term.

This step is fully in line with our strategy of strengthening our core business and
of divesting activities that yield few or no synergies for the Company.

Looking at my description of our Vision 2020 targets, you’ll have noticed that we’'ve
set very ambitious goals. In pursuing these goals, we won’t be able to please
everyone, because the pace in international competition is far too fast. That’s why
we have to set priorities. But our actions will be well-focused, level-headed and
responsible - as can be expected of Siemens.

Culture makes the difference

However, strategy isn’t the only thing that counts here - since a strategy can

be implemented only if it’s based on a strong company culture. At Siemens, this
means an ownership culture. I asked our employees and managers how they’d
describe ownership culture in one word. “Responsibility” was far and away the
most common answer. And that’s precisely the point: we must always bear in mind
that we have a responsibility to pass on a better company to the next generation.

Our foremost maxim must be: always act as if it were your own Company! I'm
convinced that an ownership culture is not only a formula for success at strong,
family-run enterprises but that it will also be the foundation for our success. It’s
this culture that will shape Siemens.



Already today, 140,000 Siemens employees hold shares in our Company. I want to
increase this figure substantially. Our aim is to have more than 200,000 employee
shareholders by 2020. And I'm convinced we can do it.

With greater employee participation, we’ll also ensure that Siemens remains an
excellent company in the future. A company that

> more than any other, stands for innovation in the electrification of the world

> is a strong, global brand renowned for hard work, financial solidity, top quality,
engineering excellence and a talent for innovation

> assumes responsibility and makes a difference.

In 2014, we defined our strategic direction and aligned our organization accordingly.
In 2015, we’ll consolidate our operations. We're increasing expenditures for research

and development and for our go-to-market activities in selected areas and regions.

Operational improvements will already be visible in 2016. Starting in early 2017, all
our efforts will bear fruit in the form of faster growth and enhanced cost efficiency.

Vision 2020 sets the strategic course for Siemens. The direction is clear, team spirit
is flourishing, and we have every reason to look to the future with confidence.
Ever since Werner von Siemens founded his company in a rear building in Berlin in
1847, Siemens has stood for pioneering spirit. We continuously foster long-term
success — day by day, quarter by quarter, year by year. Rigorously and responsibly.

After a year at the helm of this great Company, I assure you that I still feel person-
ally responsible for passing on to the next generation an enterprise that’s even
better and stronger than today’s. “We make real what matters.” That’s my mission
for Siemens. That’s my responsibility. That’s my promise.

For the Managing Board
S AMA VrWM /
Joe Kaeser

President and Chief Executive Officer
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' A.2 Managing Board of Siemens AG
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N Report of the Supervisory Board

Berlin and Munich, December 3, 2014

’}w IAQRWM/

In fiscal 2014, the Managing Board cooperated with the Supervisory Board closely
and regularly in the development of Vision 2020, which defines Siemens’ long-term
perspective along the electrification value chain, with our strengths in automation
and digitalization. The goal is to enhance Siemens’ performance in the short term,
strengthen its core business in the medium term and return to profitable growth.

In fiscal 2014, the Supervisory Board performed with great diligence the duties
assigned to it by law, the Siemens Articles of Association and the Bylaws for the
Supervisory Board. We regularly advised the Managing Board on the management
of the Company and monitored the Managing Board’s activities. We were directly
involved at an early stage in all major decisions regarding the Company. In written
and oral reports, the Managing Board regularly provided us with timely and com-
prehensive information on Company planning and business operations as well as
on the strategic development and current state of the Company. On the basis of
reports submitted by the Managing Board, we considered in detail business devel-
opment and all decisions and transactions of major significance to the Company.
Deviations from business plans were explained to us in detail and intensively
discussed. The Managing Board coordinated the Company’s strategic orientation
with us. The proposals made by the Managing Board were approved by the Super-
visory Board and/or the relevant Supervisory Board committees after in-depth
examination and consultation. In my capacity as Chairman of the Supervisory
Board, I was also in regular contact with the Managing Board and, in particular,
with the President and CEO and was kept up-to-date on current developments

in the Company’s business situation and on key business transactions. In addition,
I engaged in separate discussions with members of the Managing Board regard-
ing the prospects for and the future orientation of individual Siemens businesses.

Topics at the plenary meetings of the Supervisory Board

We held a total of six regular meetings and three extraordinary meetings in fiscal
2014. In addition, we made one decision outside meetings. Attendance at Supervisory
Board meetings by members was around 91%.

Regular topics of discussion at our plenary meetings were revenue, profit and
employment development at Siemens AG, at the Company’s operating units
and at the Siemens Group as well as the Company’s financial situation, profitability
and major investment and divestment projects.



Dr. Gerhard Cromme |

Chairman of the
Supervisory Board
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At our meeting on November 6, 2013, we discussed the Company’s key financial
figures for fiscal 2013 and approved the budget for 2014. In addition, we adjusted
the composition of the Supervisory Board committees and the assignment of
responsibilities in the Managing Board. On the basis of reported target achievement,
we also defined the compensation of the Managing Board members for fiscal 2013.
The appropriateness of this compensation was confirmed by an internal review. On
the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, we amended the Managing
Board contracts in order to bring them into line with the new recommendations
of the German Corporate Governance Code - in particular, with the Code’s recom-
mendation that compensation amounts be capped. At this meeting, the amount

of Managing Board compensation was also reviewed and adjusted. On January 28,
2014, the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting approved by a majority of over 93%

the remuneration system for the Managing Board members for fiscal 2014. At our
meeting on November 6, 2013, we also approved the sale of major businesses at
the Water Technologies Business Unit and our share buyback program. The Manag-
ing Board reported to us on the current status of acquisitions and divestments

and on sustainability at Siemens.

At our meeting on November 27, 2013, we discussed the financial statements and
the Combined Management Report for Siemens AG and the Siemens Group as of
September 30, 2013, as well as the agenda for the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on
January 28, 2014, and the Annual Report for 2013, including the Report of the Super-
visory Board and the Corporate Governance Report. At this meeting, we approved
the termination by mutual consent of Peter Y. Solmssen’s appointment as a full
member of the Managing Board, effective December 31, 2013, as well as the termina-
tion agreement regarding his Managing Board employment contract. Responsibility
for Legal & Compliance was transferred to Joe Kaeser. On the recommendation of
the Compensation Committee, we approved the targets for Managing Board com-
pensation for fiscal 2014. The Infrastructure & Cities Sector provided us with a
status report on its current business situation. The Managing Board also reported
to us on Operational Excellence at Siemens.

At our meeting on January 27, 2014, the Managing Board reported to us on the Com-
pany’s business and financial position following the conclusion of the first quarter.
We also discussed the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting to be held on January 28, 2014.

At extraordinary meetings on April 29, 2014, and June 15, 2014, we dealt with the
submission of a bid to Alstom. Even though our offer was not accepted, it demon-
strated the Managing Board’s and Supervisory Board’s capacity to act and showed
that our Company can respond quickly and decisively to changes in its competitive
environment.

At our meeting on May 6, 2014, we discussed Vision 2020 and the related reorien-
tation of the Company’s organization structure. In this connection, we approved
areassignment of responsibilities in the Managing Board. We approved the
termination by mutual consent of Dr. Michael Siif}’'s appointment as a member of
the Managing Board as well as the termination agreement regarding his Managing



Board employment contract. Lisa Davis was appointed a full member of the Managing
Board, effective August 1, 2014. We also approved the exchange of Managing Board
responsibilities between Klaus Helmrich and Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm, effective
October 1, 2014 - in particular, the transfer of the function of Labor Director. In
addition, we discussed the Company’s business and financial position following
the conclusion of the second quarter. At this meeting, we approved the acquisition
of Rolls-Royce’s aero-derivative gas turbine and compressor business and the
contribution of key parts of our Metals Technologies Business Unit to a joint venture
with the Japanese company Mitsubishi-Hitachi Metals Machinery, Inc.

At our meeting on July 30, 2014, the Managing Board reported on the Company’s
business and financial position following the conclusion of the third quarter as well
as on the status of the implementation of Vision 2020. On the recommendation of
the Supervisory Board’s Compliance Committee, we approved the settlement agree-
ment with former Managing Board member Heinz-Joachim Neubiirger and decided
to submit the agreement to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for approval. We also
dealt with the planned sale of our Health Services Business Unit to Cerner Corpora-
tion of the U.S. Following the conclusion of negotiations with Cerner, we approved
the transaction on August 6, 2014. Jim Hagemann Snabe did not take part in these
discussions and, as a precaution, abstained from voting on the proposal in order to
preclude any appearance of a conflict of interest.

The Supervisory Board has reviewed the efficiency of its activities with the help of
an external consultant. The results of this review were presented and discussed at
our meeting on July 30, 2014. The review confirmed that the members of the Super-
visory Board were independent and highly competent. The wish was expressed that
this situation continue to be ensured in the future. Cooperation within the Super-
visory Board was assessed as open and constructive. The Innovation and Finance
Committee had been previously repositioned to better meet the Company’s future
technological challenges. This committee will, among other things, consider
strategically important technological issues in order to further strengthen technol-
ogy and innovation. As suggested by the efficiency review, reporting to the full
Supervisory Board on technology, innovation and risk management will also be
intensified.

At our extraordinary meeting on September 21, 2014, we approved the Managing
Board’s decisions to acquire the Dresser-Rand Group, which is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, and to sell our 50% stake in BSH Bosch und Siemens
Hausgerite GmbH (BSH) to co-owner Robert Bosch GmbH.

At our meeting on September 24, 2014, the Managing Board reported to us on the
state of the Company shortly before the end of fiscal 2014. On the recommendation
of the Compensation Committee, we adjusted and simplified the Managing Board
remuneration system, effective the beginning of fiscal 2015. We also reviewed and
adjusted the amount of Managing Board compensation. A detailed explanation

of the new remuneration system is available in chapter > B.4 COMPENSATION REPORT
on pages 161-162 of this Annual Report.

B.4
SEE PAGES
161-162
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B.1
SEE PAGES
132-136

B.2
SEE PAGE
136

D.7
SEE PAGES
330-333

Corporate Governance Code

We’ve discussed the implementation of the German Corporate Governance Code.
At our meeting on May 6, 2014, we approved an interim update to our Declaration
of Conformity with the Code, in which a temporary deviation from one of the
Code’s recommendations was explained. This deviation resulted from the fact
that - contrary to Section 5.4.5, para. 1, sentence 2 of the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code - Jim Hagemann Snabe, in his capacity as a member of SAP’s Executive
Board, briefly held supervisory board positions in four external, publicly listed
companies. Jim Hagemann Snabe resigned his position on SAP’s Executive Board,
effective May 21, 2014. At our meeting on September 24, 2014, we decided to issue
an unqualified Declaration of Conformity in accordance with Section 161 of the
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), whereby the Company complies —
and will continue to comply - with the recommendations of the German Corporate
Governance Code. Information on corporate governance at Siemens is available in
chapter > B.1 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ON pages 132-136 of this Annual Report.
Our Declarations of Conformity have been made permanently available to our
shareholders on our website. The current Declaration of Conformity is available in
Chapter B.2 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 289A OF THE GERMAN
COMMERCIAL copk on page 136 of this Annual Report.

Work in the Supervisory Board committees

To ensure the efficiency of its work, the Supervisory Board has established seven
standing committees, which prepare proposals and issues to be dealt with at the
Board’s plenary meetings. The Supervisory Board’s decision-making powers have
also been delegated to these committees within the permissible legal framework.
The committee chairpersons report to the Supervisory Board on their committees’
work at the subsequent Board meetings. The members of the individual Super-
visory Board committees, the number of committee meetings and the number of
committee decisions are set out in chapter > p.7 SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MANAGING
BOARD on pages 330-333 of this Annual Report.

The Chairman’s Committee met seven times in fiscal 2014. It also made one deci-
sion by written circulation. Between meetings, I discussed topics of major impor-
tance with the members of the Chairman’s Committee. The Committee concerned
itself, in particular, with personnel topics and corporate governance issues — for
example, the preparation of the efficiency review — as well as with the assumption by
Managing Board members of positions at other companies and institutions.

The Nominating Committee met once in fiscal 2014 and made one decision by
written circulation. The members of the Committee concerned themselves with
longer-term succession planning for the Supervisory Board also outside Committee
meetings. In addition, the Nominating Committee prepared recommendations
regarding the candidates to be proposed to the Supervisory Board for a by-election
of shareholder representatives at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 27,
2015, and was supported in this process by an external personnel consultant.

In searching for and evaluating succession candidates, the Nominating Committee
took into account the requirements of the German Stock Corporation Act,

the German Corporate Governance Code and the Bylaws for the Supervisory Board



as well as the goals that the Supervisory Board had set for its own composition,
giving particular consideration to the goal of increasing the number of women on
the Supervisory Board if possible and ensuring broad industry and technology
expertise as emphasized by the Supervisory Board in its efficiency review.

The Compliance Committee met five times in fiscal 2014. It discussed the quarterly
reports and the annual report submitted by the Chief Compliance Officer.

The Committee also concerned itself with a review of the circumstances relating to
a pay increase that had been granted to the former Chairman of the Central Works
Council, Lothar Adler, at the beginning of 2009. As a precaution, Mr. Adler did

not participate in the discussions of this matter in order to preclude any appearance
of a conflict of interest. The Compliance Committee recommended that the
Supervisory Board approve the settlement agreement with former Managing Board
member Heinz-Joachim Neubtirger and present the agreement to the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting for its approval.

The Mediation Committee was not required to meet in fiscal 2014.

The Compensation Committee met six times in fiscal 2014. The Committee prepared
proposals for the Supervisory Board regarding the implementation of the new
recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code as well as the simpli-
fication of the Managing Board remuneration system as of fiscal 2015. In addition,
the Compensation Committee prepared, in particular, proposals for the full Super-
visory Board regarding the determination of targets for variable compensation, the
determination and review of the appropriateness of Managing Board compensation
and the approval of the Compensation Report.

The Innovation and Finance Committee (formerly the Finance and Investment
Committee) met four times and made one decision by written circulation. The
focuses of its meetings included the Committee’s recommendation regarding the
budget for fiscal 2014 as well as the preparation and/or approval of investment and
divestment projects. In addition, the Committee intensively addressed the Company’s
innovation focuses.

The Audit Committee met six times in fiscal 2014. In the presence of the indepen-
dent auditors as well as the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer, the Committee discussed the financial statements and the Com-
bined Management Report for Siemens AG and the Siemens Group. In addition,
the Audit Committee addressed the half-year and quarterly financial reports and,
in the presence of the independent auditors, discussed their audit reviews. The
Committee recommended that the Supervisory Board propose to the Annual Share-
holders’ Meeting the election of Ernst& Young GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft
as the independent auditors. The Committee appointed the independent auditors
for fiscal 2014, defined the audit focal points and determined the auditors’ fee.

The Committee monitored the independence and qualifications of the independent
auditors. Furthermore, the Audit Committee dealt with the Company’s financial
reporting and risk management systems and with the effectiveness, resources
and findings of the internal audit as well as with reports concerning potential
and pending legal disputes.
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Detailed discussion of the financial statements

Ernst&Young GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft audited the Annual Financial
Statements of Siemens AG, the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Siemens
Group and the Combined Management Report for Siemens AG and the Siemens
Group for fiscal 2014 and issued an unqualified opinion. The Annual Financial
Statements of Siemens AG and the Combined Management Report for Siemens AG
and the Siemens Group were prepared in accordance with the requirements of
German law. The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Siemens Group were
prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adopted by the European Union (EU) and with the additional requirements of
German law set out in Section 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code (Handels-
gesetzbuch). The financial statements also comply with the IFRS as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The independent auditors con-
ducted their audit in accordance with Section 317 of the German Commercial Code
and in compliance with the generally accepted German standards for the audit of
financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftspriifer (IDW) and
with the International Standards on Auditing (ISA). The above-mentioned docu-
ments as well as the Managing Board’s proposal for the appropriation of net income
were submitted to us by the Managing Board in a timely manner. The Audit Com-
mittee discussed the dividend proposal in detail at its meeting on November 4,
2014. It discussed the Annual Financial Statements of Siemens AG, the Consolidated
Financial Statements of the Siemens Group and the Combined Management Report
in detail at its meeting on December 2, 2014.

The audit reports prepared by Ernst& Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft
were distributed to all members of the Supervisory Board and comprehensively
reviewed at the Supervisory Board’s meeting on December 3, 2014, in the presence
of the independent auditors, who reported on the scope, focal points and main
findings of their audit. No major weaknesses in the Company’s internal control or
risk management systems were reported. At this meeting, the Managing Board
explained the financial statements of Siemens AG and the Siemens Group as well as
the Company’s risk management system.

The Supervisory Board concurs with the results of the audit. Following the
definitive findings of the Audit Committee’s examination and our own examination,
we have no objections. The Managing Board prepared the Annual Financial State-
ments of Siemens AG and the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Siemens
Group. We approved the Annual Financial Statements and the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements. In view of our approval, the financial statements are accepted as
submitted. At our meeting on December 3, 2014, we endorsed the Managing Board’s
proposal that the net income available for distribution be used to pay out a divi-
dend of €3.30 per share entitled to a dividend and that the amount of net income
attributable to shares of stock not entitled to receive a dividend for fiscal 2014 be
carried forward.



Changes in the composition of

the Supervisory and Managing Boards

Prof. Dr. Rainer Sieg left the Supervisory Board on February 28, 2014, upon reaching
retirement age. Lothar Adler left the Supervisory Board on May 31, 2014, upon reach-
ing retirement age. They were succeeded by Michael Sigmund and Olaf Bolduan,
who were appointed to the Supervisory Board by court order. Berthold Huber,

Gerd von Brandenstein and Prof. Dr. Peter Gruss have announced that they will
resign from the Supervisory Board, effective the end of the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting on January 27, 2015. Prof. Dr. Gruss will serve as the chairman of the
Siemens Technology & Innovation Council that reports to the Managing Board,

a move that - in line with the suggestions of the efficiency review - will further
strengthen technology and innovation at Siemens. The Supervisory Board would
like to express its appreciation to the members who have left or are leaving the Board
for their many years of loyal support. On the recommendation of the Nominating
Committee, the Supervisory Board decided at its meeting on December 3, 2014, to
propose to the 2015 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting that Dr. Nathalie von Siemens
and Dr. Norbert Reithofer be elected to succeed the two departing shareholder
representatives, effective the end of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. A successor
to Mr. Huber will be appointed by court order.

Peter Y. Solmssen left the Managing Board, effective December 31, 2013. Dr. Michael
SuB left the Managing Board, effective May 6, 2014. The Supervisory Board appointed
Lisa Davis a full member of the Managing Board, effective August 1, 2014.

On behalf of the Supervisory Board, I would like to thank the members of the Manag-
ing Board as well as the employees and employee representatives of Siemens AG
and all Group companies for their outstanding commitment and constructive coop-

eration in fiscal 2014.

For the Supervisory Board

ou/l &omm,_

Dr. Gerhard Cromme
Chairman
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11 A4 The Siemens Share/Investor Relations

| Change in the value of an investment in Siemens shares in fiscal 2014 (with dividends reinvested; indexed)

in% | September 30, 2013

September 30, 2014
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The Siemens share price developed positively during fiscal 2014
in a market environment strongly impacted by economic and
political factors. In the first four months, European stock mar-
kets and the Siemens share price rose substantially due to un-
expectedly positive economic data. After the Siemens share
achieved its high for the year of €101.35 in January 2014, stock
markets initially began to decline in February and then moved
sideways in the following months in a volatile stock market
environment. On September 30, 2014, the Siemens share
closed at €94.37, a gain of 6% compared to September 30, 2013.

The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board will propose
a dividend payment of €3.30 per share for fiscal 2014. Represent-
ing a planned payout ratio of 49%, this proposal ensures — in
accordance with our One Siemens dividend policy — that our
shareholders participate adequately in the Company’s profit
development. In May 2014, we launched a share buyback pro-
gram of up to €4 billion. By the end of fiscal 2014, we'd acquired
shares with a total value corresponding to about €1.1 billion.
Siemens AG continues to have a very sound financial basis. In
an environment in which the ratings of many countries have
come under pressure, the Company continues to enjoy good
investment-grade credit ratings.
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A.41 Development of the Siemens share

Over the entire fiscal year, Siemens stock performed well in
the market environment, closing at €94.37 per share on
September 30, 2014. For shareholders who reinvested their
dividends, this amounted to a gain of 9.3% (fiscal 2013: a gain
of 22.8%, including the proceeds from the OSRAM spinoff)
compared to the price on September 30, 2013. The develop-
ment of the Siemens share price was slightly below the perfor-
mance of the leading German stock exchange index, the
DAX (which rose 10.2%), and the leading international index,
MSCI World (which advanced 12.2%).

Long-term performance of Siemens shares compared
with leading indices (average annual performance with dividends
| and the corresponding value of the OSRAM spinoff reinvested)

Ten-year period | FY 2005 - FY 2014
Siemens 7.9% |

DAX® 9.3%

MSCl World 7.1% [

The strength of the Siemens share is also illustrated by a long-
term comparison: the assets of an investor who acquired
Siemens stock worth €1,000 at the beginning of fiscal 2005
and reinvested the dividends and the corresponding value of
the OSRAM spinoff in additional Siemens shares would have
increased to €2,147 by the end of fiscal 2014. This annual
return of 7.9% is above the results for MSCI World (7.1%) but
below those for the DAX 30 (9.3%).
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| Dividend

Fiscal year FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012 FYy 201 FY 2010
Dividend per share in€ 3.307 3.00 3.00 3.00 2.70
Dividend yield? in % 3.5 3.0 3.6 3.9 2.9
Ex-dividend date Jan. 28, 2015 Jan. 29, 2014 Jan. 24, 2013 Jan. 25, 2012 Jan. 26, 2011
Net income (as reported) in millions of € 5,507 4,409 4,590 6,321 4,068
Total dividend payout in millions of € 2,706° 2,533 2,528 2,629 2,356
Payout ratio* in % 49 57 48 42 46

1 To be proposed to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

2 Dividend payout/Siemens share price on day of
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting; for fiscal 2014:
dividend payout/Siemens share price at fiscal year-end

Meeting for fiscal 2014.

A.4.2 Dividend proposal

At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the Managing Board and
the Supervisory Board will propose a dividend payment of
€3.30, which represents a dividend yield of 3.5% and a payout
ratio of 49%. This proposal continues our tradition of paying
attractive dividends to our investors.

A.4.3 Share buyback program

In May 2014, Siemens began to improve its capital structure
and repurchase its shares. The share buyback program has a
total value of up to €4 billion for the repurchase of shares by
the end of October 2015. By September 30, 2014, the Company
had acquired about 11.3 million shares at an average price of
€95.25 per share, for a total value of around €1.1 billion.

A.4.4 Delisting from stock exchanges
in New York, London and Zurich

On May 15, 2014, the listing of Siemens’ American Depository
Receipts (ADRs) on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) was
terminated. On the same date, the Company applied for dereg-
istration at the U.S. stock exchange regulatory authority, the
United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The
deregistration became effective on August 15, 2014.
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3 Based on estimated number of shares entitled to
a dividend payment on day of Annual Shareholders’

4 To calculate the payout ratio, net income was adjusted
for non-cash items in 2010 (DX impairment charges)
and 2012 (impairment charges for Solar and NSN
restructuring).

The goal of the delisting and deregistration was to address
the change in the behavior of investors. The trading of Siemens
shares is now conducted predominantly in Germany and
via electronic trading platforms (over-the-counter, OTC). The
trading volume of Siemens shares in the U.S. was low, amount-
ing to significantly less than 5% of their global trading volume
over the last 12 months. The deregistration has enabled us to
simplify our financial reporting processes and increase their
efficiency.

On October 8, 2014, the listing of the Siemens share on the
London Stock Exchange (LSE) was terminated. On the same
date, SIX Swiss Exchange AG in Ziirich (SIX) approved the
request of Siemens AG to terminate the Siemens share’s listing
on the SIX stock exchange as of January 8, 2015.

Like the delisting in New York, these two delistings were the
result of a change in investor behavior. In 2013, trading volume
on both exchanges accounted for considerably less than 3% of
our global trading volume.

Independently of the delistings, high standards of transparency
in financial reporting and first-class corporate governance will
continue to be a top priority at Siemens. The Company will, of
course, continue to foster open and direct dialogue with its
German and international investors. The termination of the
stock exchange listings will have no impact on Siemens’ stra-
tegic orientation or its presence.

‘ Additional Information
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A.4.5 Shareholder structure

With around 660,000 shareholders, Siemens AG is one of the
world’s largest publicly owned companies. Siemens has a sta-
ble shareholder structure that has changed only slightly over
time. This applies, in particular, to our more than 650,000 pri-
vate Siemens shareholders, who have often maintained their
investments for many years. In July 2014, we mandated an ex-
ternal institute to conduct an analysis of our shareholder struc-
ture. Based on an evaluation of publications from institutional
investors and on statistical estimates, this analysis showed that
shareholders in Germany hold the largest percentage of our
outstanding shares, about 27% of the total. Shareholders in the
U.S. hold roughly 21% and shareholders in the U.K. around 11%,
while investors in France hold 8% and those in Switzerland 8%.

Around 64% of Siemens’ outstanding shares are currently held
by institutional investors, about 19% by private shareholders
and around 6% by members of the Siemens family. For fur-
ther information on our shareholder structure, please see
l;l WWW.SIEMENS.COM/SHAREHOLDERSTRUCTURE.

| mvestor type and regional distribution

A.4.6 Credit ratings

Siemens AG has good, investment-grade credit ratings.
"Aa3/negative/P-1" from Moody’s Investors Service and “A+/stable/
A-1+" from Standard &Poor's are very positive ratings — particu-
larly when compared to those of our competitors in the indus-
try sector. Our solid financial position gives us unrestricted
access to the international financial and capital markets.

At the end of fiscal 2014, the net debt of Siemens AG was
€12,008 million, with cash and cash equivalents of €8,013 mil-
lion. For further information on our credit ratings and financial
obligations, please see —> NOTE 26 ADDITIONAL CAPITAL DISCLOSURES
in —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON pages
290-292 of this Annual Report.

| Credit ratings

September 30, 2014 September 30, 2013

Moody's Standard & Moody'’s Standard &

Investors | Poor’s Ratings Investors |Poor’s Ratings

Service Services Service Services

Long-term debt Aa3 A+ Aa3 A+
Short-term debt P-1 A-1+ P-1 A-1+

Private investors: 19%

‘ Institutional investors:
. 64%

%

Unidentified
investors: 11%

Siemens family
members: 6% T

U.K.:11%

Germany: 27%

P

U.S.: 21%

Switzerland: 8%

Unidentified: 11%

'OJ

T Rest of Europe: 5%

France: 8%

T

Rest of world: 9%
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A.4.7 Siemens on the capital market

We take our responsibility to maintain an intensive dialogue
with the capital market very seriously. Cultivating close con-
tacts with our shareholders, we keep them informed of all
major developments throughout Siemens. As part of our inves-
tor relations work, we provide information on our Company'’s
development in quarterly, semiannual and annual reports. Our
CEO and CFO also maintain close contact with investors
through roadshows and conferences. In addition, Siemens
holds Capital Market Days, at which Company management
informs investors and analysts about our business strategy
and market environment.

| Stock market information

FY 2014" FY 2013"

Siemens stock price
(Xetra closing price)
High in€ 101.35 90.33
Low in€ 88.71 76.00
Fiscal year-end in€ 94.37 89.06
Number of shares issued
(September 30) in millions 881 881
Market capitalization? in millions of € 78,823 75,078
Basic earnings per share? in€ 6.37 5.08
Diluted earnings per share? in€ 6.31 5.03
Dividend per share in€ 3.30¢ 3.00

1 Fiscal year from October 1 to September 30.

2 On the basis of outstanding shares.

3 Continuing and discontinued operations.

4 To be proposed to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

We also provide extensive information online. Quarterly, semi-
annual and annual financial reports, analyst presentations and
press releases as well as our financial calendar for the current
year — which includes all major publication dates and the date
of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting (please see —> E.7 FINANCIAL
CALENDAR on page 347 of this Annual Report) — are available at
] www.sIEMENS.com/INVESTORS. For each quarter and each fiscal
year, we also publish the Siemens Shareholder Letter, which is
addressed primarily to our private investors and provides a
brief summary of key developments during the previous quar-
ter or fiscal year.
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A.4.8 Ownership culture/
Stock-based programs

Fostering an ownership culture is a key pillar of Vision 2020,
which is sustainably supported, among other things, by em-
ployee share ownership. Siemens intends to increase the num-
ber of employee shareholders from today’s figure of about
140,000 to over 200,000. To strengthen participation by em-
ployees around the world in our Company’s success, we're
launching a new profit-sharing scheme for fiscal 2015. Called
Siemens Profit Sharing, the scheme offers employees below
senior management level worldwide an opportunity to benefit
from the Company's outstanding success by receiving shares
from Siemens free of charge.’

We already enable our workforce to participate in a variety of
share-based programs: the Siemens Stock Awards, the Share
Matching Program (with its underlying Share Matching Plan,
Monthly Investment Plan and Base Share Program) and the
Jubilee Share Program. In fiscal 2014, 3,584,370 shares were
issued to service these programs. Non-vested grants under the
various programs will result in additional share issuances
to employees in the future. For more detailed information
on share-based payment, please see —> NOTE 32 SHARE-BASED
PAYMENT il —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
on pages 306-309 of this Annual Report.

In addition to our share programs, we've established Share
Ownership Guidelines. Applicable Company-wide, these guide-
lines require members of the Managing Board of Siemens AG
and other senior executives of the Siemens Group to hold an
interest in Siemens equal in value to between 50% and 300%
of their base compensation for the period in which they hold
office.

1 Like Siemens’ existing share programs, Siemens Profit Sharing is a voluntary and
discretionary benefit for eligible employees. The issuance of a new tranche or the
distribution of the profit-sharing pool to employees in one or several fiscal years
does not create a legal claim or right to issue a new tranche or to receive a distribu
tion in subsequent years. If a distribution in shares is not feasible or economically
appropriate, an equivalent cash payment will be made.

‘ Additional Information
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Good corporate governance comprises
responsible, value-based management
and monitoring focused on long-term
success. In this chapter, we present
Siemens’ Corporate Governance Report,
discuss the Company’s management
and control structure, explain the
remuneration of the Managing Board
and the Supervisory Board and provide
detailed insights into the takeover-
relevant information of the Company.

-] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/CORPORATE-GOVERNANCE



Corporate

« (Governance

132 |B.1 Corporate Governance Report 144 |B.4 | Compensation Report
132 |B.1.1 | Declaration of Conformity pursuant (part of the Combined
to Section 161 of the German Stock Management Report)
Corporation Act 144 | B.4.1 | Remuneration of members
132 |B.1.2 | Management and control structure of the Managing Board
135 | B.1.3 | Share ownership and share 163 |B.4.2 Remuneratior} of members
transactions by members of the of the Supervisory Board
Managing and Supervisory Boards 164 [B.4.3 | Other
135 | B.1.4 | Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
and investor relations - -
165 |B.5 | Takeover-relevant information
(pursuant to Sections 289 para. 4
136 |B.2 | Corporate Governance statement and 315 para. 4 of the German
pursuant to Section 289a of Commercial Code) and explanatory
the German Commercial Code report (part of the Combined
(part of the Combined Management Report)
Management Report) 165 | B.5.1 | Composition of common stock
165 | B.5.2 | Restrictions on voting rights
138 |B.3 Compliance Report (part of the Ol el 3 sl e
Combined Management Report) 165 |B.5.3 Equity_ inte'rests exceeding 10%

138 [B.3.1 | Compliance priorities for fiscal 2014 e votmg.rlghts o )
139 |B.3.2 | Compliance risk management 165 | B.5.4 | Shares with special rights conferring
) ) powers of control
LER| et Busme.ss partne.rs' REERELE 165 | B.5.5 | System of control of any employee

140 | B.3.4 | Compliance training share scheme where the control rights
140 (B.3.5 | Compliance indicators are not exercised directly by the
141 |B.3.6 | Data privacy employees
141 |B.3.7 | Company-wide award for integrity 166 | B.5.6 Leglslatlon and provisions qf the
. Articles of Association applicable to
and compliance .
. . the appointment and removal of
1418B.3.8 gF’”GC“VGI Action alnq i members of the Managing Board
iemens Integrity Initiative and governing amendment to the
142 | B.3.9 | Our revised compliance priorities — Articles of Association
Guidance until 2020 166 | B.5.7 | Powers of the Managing Board to
143 | B.3.10 | Further information and issue and repurchase shares
legal proceedings 168 | B.5.8 | Significant agreements which take
effect, alter or terminate upon a
change of control of the Company
following a takeover bid
169 | B.5.9 | Compensation agreements with

members of the Managing Board
or employees in the event of a
takeover bid

131

B. Corporate Governance



132

111 B.1 Corporate Governance Report

B.1.1 Declaration of Conformity
pursuant to Section 161 of the German
Stock Corporation Act

Siemens AG complies with all the currently applicable recom-
mendations of the German Corporate Governance Code (Code)
without exception.

The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board of Siemens AG
have discussed compliance with the Code’s recommendations
in detail. Based on their deliberations, the boards have
approved the annual Declaration of Conformity as of October 1,
2014. The Declaration of Conformity is posted on our website
and presented in chapter —> B.2 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATE-
MENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 289A OF THE GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE
on page 136 of this Annual Report.

Siemens voluntarily complies with the Code’s non-binding
suggestions, with the following exceptions:

> Pursuant to Section 3.7 para. 3 of the Code, in the case of a
takeover offer, a management board should convene an ex-
traordinary general meeting at which shareholders discuss
the takeover offer and may decide on corporate actions. The
convening of a shareholders’ meeting — even taking into
account the shortened time limits stipulated in the German
Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (Wertpapiererwerbs-
und Ubernahmegesetz) - is an organizational challenge for
large publicly listed companies. It appears doubtful whether
the associated effort is justified in cases where no relevant
decisions by the shareholders’ meeting are intended. There-
fore, extraordinary shareholders’ meetings shall be convened
only in appropriate cases.

> Since the Managing Board appointments of 2011, the sugges-
tion in Section 5.1.2 para.2 sentence 1 of the Code that the
maximum possible appointment period of five years should
not be the rule for first-time appointments to a management
board has not been followed.

B.1.2 Management and control structure

Siemens AG is subject to German corporate law. Therefore, it
has a two-tier board structure, consisting of a Managing Board
and a Supervisory Board.

B.1.2.1 SUPERVISORY BOARD

As required by the German Codetermination Act (Mitbestim-
mungsgesetz), the Company'’s shareholders and its employees
each select one-half of the Supervisory Board's twenty members.
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The regular term of office of the members of the Supervisory
Board will expire at the close of the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting in 2018. Jim Hagemann Snabe — who was appointed
by court order until the end of the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting 2014 as successor to Dr. Josef Ackermann, who re-
signed from the Supervisory Board effective September 30,
2013 - was elected a shareholder representative on the
Supervisory Board at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on
January 28, 2014. Michael Sigmund and Olaf Bolduan were
appointed to the Supervisory Board by court order to succeed
the employee representatives Prof. Dr. Rainer Sieg and Lothar
Adler, who resigned from the Supervisory Board effective
February 28, 2014 and May 31, 2014, respectively.

The composition of the Supervisory Board is to be such that its
members as a group have the knowledge, skills and profes-
sional experience necessary to carry out its proper functions.
For this reason, the Supervisory Board approved — taking into
account the Code’s recommendations — concrete objectives for
its composition in fiscal 2013:

> The composition of the Supervisory Board of Siemens AG
shall be such that qualified control and advising for the
Managing Board is ensured. The candidates proposed for
election to the Supervisory Board shall have the expertise,
skills and professional experience necessary to carry out the
functions of a Supervisory Board member in a multinational
company and safeguard the reputation of Siemens in public.
In particular, care shall be taken in regard to the personality,
integrity, commitment, professionalism and independence
of the individuals proposed for election. The goal is to ensure
that, in the Supervisory Board, as a group, all know-how and
experience is available that is considered essential in view of
Siemens’ activities.

> Taking the Company's international orientation into account,
care shall also be taken to ensure that the Supervisory Board
has an adequate number of members with extensive interna-
tional experience. Our goal is to make sure that the present
considerable share of Supervisory Board members with
extensive international experience is maintained.

> In its election proposals, the Supervisory Board shall also
pay particular attention to the appropriate participation of
women. Qualified women shall already be included in the
initial process of selecting potential candidates for new elec-
tions or for the filling of Supervisory Board positions that
have become vacant and shall be considered, as appropriate,
in nominations. We have meanwhile been able to increase
the number of women on our Supervisory Board to five.
Our goal is to maintain and, if possible, to increase this
number. It is also intended that — as is currently the case — at
the minimum one woman should be a member of the Nomi-
nating Committee.

‘ Corporate Governance
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> An adequate number of independent members shall belong
to the Supervisory Board. Material and not only temporary
conflicts of interest, such as organizational functions or advi-
sory capacities with major competitors of the company, shall
be avoided. Under the presumption that the mere exercise of
Supervisory Board duties as an employee representative
gives no cause to doubt the compliance with the indepen-
dence criteria pursuant to Section 5.4.2 of the Code, the
Supervisory Board shall have a minimum of 16 members who
are independent in the meaning of the Code. In any case, the
Supervisory Board shall be composed in such a way that a
number of at least six independent shareholder representa-
tives in the meaning of Section 5.4.2 of the Code is achieved.
In addition, the Supervisory Board members shall have suffi-
cient time to be able to devote the necessary reqularity and
diligence to their mandate.

> The age limitation established in the Bylaws for the Super-
visory Board will be taken into consideration. In addition, no
more than two former members of the Managing Board of
Siemens AG shall belong to the Supervisory Board.

These objectives for the Supervisory Board's composition have
been fully achieved: a considerable number of Supervisory
Board members are currently engaged in international activi-
ties and/or have many years of international experience. Since
the Supervisory Board election in 2013, the Supervisory Board
has had five female members. Dr. Nicola Leibinger-Kammdiller
is a member of the Nominating Committee. The Supervisory
Board has an adequate number of independent members. In
the opinion of the Supervisory Board, a minimum of 16 Super-
visory Board members are independent in the meaning of Sec-
tion 5.4.2 of the Code. Some Supervisory Board members
hold — or have held in the past fiscal year — high-ranking posi-
tions at other companies with which Siemens does business.
Transactions between Siemens and such companies are carried
out on an arm'’s length basis. We believe that these trans-
actions do not compromise the independence of the Super-
visory Board members in question.

The Supervisory Board oversees and advises the Managing
Board in its management of the Company’s business. At regular
intervals, the Supervisory Board discusses business develop-
ment, planning, strategy and the strategy’s implementation.
It reviews the Annual Financial Statements of Siemens AG and
the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Siemens Group,
the Combined Management Report of Siemens AG and the
Siemens Group, and the proposal for the appropriation of net
income. It approves the Annual Financial Statements of
Siemens AG as well as the Consolidated Financial Statements
of the Siemens Group, based on the results of the preliminary
review conducted by the Audit Committee and taking into
account the reports of the independent auditors. The
Supervisory Board decides on the Managing Board's proposal
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for the appropriation of net income and the Report of the
Supervisory Board to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. In
addition, the Supervisory Board or the Compliance Committee,
which is described in more detail below, concern themselves
with the Company’s adherence to statutory provisions, official
regulations and internal Company policies (compliance). The
Supervisory Board also appoints the members of the Managing
Board and determines each member’s portfolios. Important
Managing Board decisions — such as those regarding major
acquisitions, divestments, fixed asset investments and finan-
cial measures - require Supervisory Board approval, unless the
Bylaws for the Supervisory Board specify that such authority be
delegated to the Innovation and Finance Committee of the
Supervisory Board. In the Bylaws for the Managing Board, the
Supervisory Board has established the rules that govern the
Managing Board's work.

The Supervisory Board has seven committees, whose duties,
responsibilities and procedures fulfill the requirements of the
German Stock Corporation Act and the Code. The chairmen of
these committees provide the Supervisory Board with regular
reports on their committees’ activities.

The Chairman’s Committee, which comprises the Chairman
and Deputy Chairmen of the Supervisory Board as well as one
further employee representative elected by the Supervisory
Board, makes proposals, in particular, regarding the appoint-
ment and dismissal of Managing Board members and handles
contracts with members of the Managing Board. In preparing
recommendations on the appointment of Managing Board
members, the Chairman’'s Committee takes into account the
candidates’ professional qualifications, international experience
and leadership qualities, the age limit specified for Managing
Board members, the Managing Board's long-range plans for suc-
cession as well as its diversity and, in particular, the appropriate
consideration of women. The Chairman’s Committee concerns
itself with questions regarding the Company’s corporate gover-
nance and prepares the resolutions to be approved by the Super-
visory Board regarding the Declaration of Conformity with the
Code - including the explanation of deviations from the Code —
and regarding the approval of the Corporate Governance Report
as well as the Report of the Supervisory Board to the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting. Furthermore, the Chairman’s Committee
submits recommendations to the Supervisory Board regarding
the composition of the Supervisory Board committees and de-
cides whether to approve contracts and business transactions
with Managing Board members and parties related to them.

The Compensation Committee, which comprises the mem-
bers of the Chairman’s Committee of the Supervisory Board as
well as one of the Supervisory Board's shareholder representa-
tives and one of the Supervisory Board's employee representa-
tives, prepares, in particular, the proposals for decisions by the
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Supervisory Board's plenary meetings regarding the system of
Managing Board compensation, including the implementation
of this system in the Managing Board contracts, the definition
of the targets for variable Managing Board compensation, the
determination and review of the appropriateness of the total
compensation of individual Managing Board members and the
approval of the annual Compensation Report.

The Audit Committee comprises the Chairman of the Super-
visory Board, three of the Supervisory Board's shareholder
representatives and four of the Supervisory Board's employee
representatives. According to the German Stock Corporation
Act, the Audit Committee must include at least one indepen-
dent Supervisory Board member with knowledge and experi-
ence in the application of accounting principles or the audit-
ing of financial statements. The Chairman of the Audit
Committee, Dr. Hans Michael Gaul, fulfills these statutory re-
quirements. The Audit Committee oversees, in particular, the
accounting process and conducts a preliminary review of the
Annual Financial Statements of Siemens AG, the Consolidated
Financial Statements of the Siemens Group and the Combined
Management Report. On the basis of the independent audi-
tors’ report on their audit of the annual financial statements,
the Audit Committee makes, after its preliminary review, rec-
ommendations regarding Supervisory Board approval of the
Annual Financial Statements of Siemens AG and the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements of the Siemens Group. In addition
to the work performed by the independent auditors, the Audit
Committee discusses the Company’s quarterly financial state-
ments and half-year financial reports, which are prepared by
the Managing Board, as well as the report on the auditors’ re-
view of the quarterly financial statements and the half-year fi-
nancial report (condensed financial statements and interim
management report). It concerns itself with the Company’s
risk monitoring system and oversees the effectiveness of the
internal control system as this relates, in particular, to finan-
cial reporting, the risk management system and the internal
audit system. The Audit Committee receives regular reports
from the Internal Audit Department. It prepares the Supervi-
sory Board’'s recommendation to the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting concerning the election of the independent auditors
and submits the corresponding proposal to the Supervisory
Board. It awards the audit contract to the independent auditors
elected by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting and monitors the
independent audit of the financial statements - including, in
particular, the auditors’ independence, professional expertise
and services.

The Compliance Committee comprises the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board, three of the Supervisory Board's shareholder
representatives and four of the Supervisory Board's employee
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representatives. The Compliance Committee concerns itself, in
particular, with the Company’s adherence to statutory provi-
sions, official regulations and internal Company policies.

The Nominating Committee, which comprises the Chairman
and the Second Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board as
well as two further members to be elected by the shareholder
representatives of the Supervisory Board from among their own
number, is responsible for making recommendations to the
Supervisory Board on suitable candidates for election as share-
holder representatives on the Supervisory Board by the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting. In preparing these recommendations,
the objectives specified by the Supervisory Board regarding its
composition are to be taken into account as well as the required
knowledge, abilities and experience of the proposed candi-
dates; attention shall also be paid to independence, diversity
and, in particular, the appropriate participation of women.

The Mediation Committee, which comprises the Chairman of
the Supervisory Board, the First Deputy Chairman (who is
elected in accordance with the German Codetermination Act),
one of the Supervisory Board's shareholder representatives and
one of the Supervisory Board's employee representatives, sub-
mits proposals to the Supervisory Board in the event that the
Supervisory Board cannot reach the two-thirds majority
required for the appointment or dismissal of a Managing Board
member.

The Innovation and Finance Committee comprises the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board, three of the Supervisory Board's
shareholder representatives and four of the Supervisory Board's
employee representatives. Based on the Company’s overall
strategy, the Committee discusses, in particular, the Company'’s
focuses of innovation and prepares the Supervisory Board's
discussions and resolutions regarding questions relating to the
Company'’s financial situation and structure - including annual
planning (budget) — as well as the Company's fixed asset
investments and its financial measures. In addition, the Inno-
vation and Finance Committee has been authorized by the
Supervisory Board to decide on the approval of transactions
and measures that require Supervisory Board approval and
have a value of less than €600 million.

The composition of the Supervisory Board and its committees
is presented in chapter —> p.7 SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MANAGING
BOARD on pages 330-333 of this Annual Report. Information on
the work of the Supervisory Board is provided in the —> A.3
REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD on pages 118-125. The com-
pensation paid to the members of the Supervisory Board
is explained in chapter —> B.4 COMPENSATION REPORT ON pages
163-164.
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B.1.2.2 MANAGING BOARD

As the Company's top management body, the Managing Board
is committed to serving the interests of the Company and
achieving sustainable growth in Company value. The members
of the Managing Board are jointly responsible for the entire
management of the Company and decide on the basic issues
of business policy and corporate strategy as well as on the
Company's annual and multi-year plans.

The Managing Board prepares the Company’s quarterly finan-
cial statements and the half-year financial reports, the Annual
Financial Statements of Siemens AG, the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements of the Siemens Group and the Combined Man-
agement Report of Siemens AG and the Siemens Group. In
addition, the Managing Board must ensure that the Company
adheres to statutory provisions, official regulations and internal
Company policies (compliance) and works to achieve compli-
ance with these provisions and policies within the Siemens
Group. Further comprehensive information on the compliance
program and related activities in fiscal 2014 is presented
in chapter —> B.3 compLIANCE REPORT On pages 138-143 of this
Annual Report. The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board
cooperate closely for the benefit of the Company. The Manag-
ing Board informs the Supervisory Board regularly, comprehen-
sively and without delay on all issues of importance to the
Company with regard to strategy, planning, business develop-
ment, financial position, earnings, compliance and risks. When
filling managerial positions at the Company, the Managing
Board takes diversity into consideration and, in particular, aims
for an appropriate consideration of women and internationality.

Currently, there is one Managing Board committee, the Equity
and Employee Stock Committee. This committee comprises
three members of the Managing Board and oversees, in particu-
lar, the utilization of authorized capital in connection with the
issuance of employee stock and the implementation of certain
capital measures. It also determines the scope and conditions
of the share-based compensation components and/or pro-
grams for employees and managers (with the exception of the
Managing Board).

The composition of the Managing Board and its committee is
presented in chapter —> p.7 SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MANAGING
BOARD on pages 334-335 of this Annual Report. Information on
the compensation paid to the members of the Managing Board
is provided in the —> B.4 comPENSATION REPORT On pages 144-162.
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B.1.3 Share ownership and share
transactions by members of the
Managing and Supervisory Boards

As of September 30, 2014, the Managing Board’s current mem-
bers held a total of 181,009 (2013: 216,560) Siemens shares
representing 0.02% (2013: 0.02%) of the capital stock of
Siemens AG, which totaled 881,000,000 shares.

As of the same day, the Supervisory Board's current members
held Siemens shares representing less than 0.01% (2013: less
than 0.01%) of the capital stock of Siemens AG, which totaled
881,000,000 shares. These figures do not include the 9,386,535
(2013: 9,313,438) shares or 1.07% (2013: 1.06%) of the capital
stock of Siemens AG, which totaled 881,000,000 shares, over
which the von Siemens-Vermdgensverwaltung GmbH (vSV),
a German limited liability company, has voting control under
powers of attorney based on an agreement between — among
others — members of the Siemens family, including Gerd von
Brandenstein, and vSV. These shares are voted together by vSV
based on proposals made by a family partnership established
by the Siemens family or by one of its committees. Gerd von
Brandenstein is the chairman of the executive committee and
has a deciding vote in cases of deadlock.

Pursuant to Section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz), members of the Managing Board
and the Supervisory Board are legally required to disclose the
purchase or sale of shares of Siemens AG or of financial instru-
ments based thereon if the total value of such transactions en-
tered into by a board member or any closely associated person
reaches or exceeds €5,000 in any calendar year. All transac-
tions reported to Siemens AG in accordance with this require-
ment have been duly published and are available on the
Company’s website [] www.SIEMENS.COM/DIRECTORS-DEALINGS.

B.1.4 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
and investor relations

Shareholders exercise their rights in the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting. An ordinary Annual Shareholders’ Meeting normally
takes place within the first four months of each fiscal year. The
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting decides, among other things, on
the appropriation of unappropriated net income, the ratifica-
tion of the acts of the Managing and Supervisory Boards, and
the appointment of the independent auditors. Amendments to
the Articles of Association and measures that change the Com-
pany’s capital stock are approved at the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting and are implemented by the Managing Board. The
Managing Board facilitates shareholder participation in this
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meeting through electronic communications - in particular, via
the Internet — and enables shareholders who are unable to
attend the meeting to vote by proxy. Furthermore, shareholders
may exercise their right to vote in writing or by means of elec-
tronic communications (absentee voting). The Managing Board
may enable shareholders to participate in the Annual Share-
holders’ Meeting without the need to be present at the venue
and without a proxy and to exercise some or all of their rights
fully or partially by means of electronic communications.
Shareholders may submit proposals regarding the proposals of
the Managing and Supervisory Boards and may contest deci-
sions of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. Shareholders
owning Siemens stock with an aggregate notional value of
€100,000 or more may also demand the judicial appointment
of special auditors to examine specific issues. The reports, doc-
uments and information required by law, including the Annual
Report, may be downloaded from our website. The same
applies to the agenda for the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
and to any counterproposals or shareholders’ nominations that
require disclosure.

As part of our investor relations activities, we inform our inves-
tors comprehensively about developments within the Company.
For communication purposes, Siemens makes extensive use of
the Internet. We publish quarterly, half-yearly and annual
reports, earnings releases, ad hoc announcements, analyst pre-
sentations, shareholder letters and press releases as well as the
financial calendar for the current year, which contains the pub-
lication dates of significant financial communications and the
date of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, at L] www.SIEMENS.
com/invesToRs. Details of our investor relations activities are
provided in chapter —> A.4 THE SIEMENS SHARE/INVESTOR RELATIONS
on pages 126-129 of this Annual Report.

Our Articles of Association, the Bylaws for the Supervisory
Board, the Bylaws for the most important Supervisory Board
commiittees, the Bylaws for the Managing Board, all our Decla-
rations of Conformity with the Code and a variety of other
corporate-governance-related documents are posted on our
website at: [_] www.SIEMENS.COM/CORPORATE-GOVERNANCE.

11 B.2 Corporate Governance statement pursuant to Section 289a
of the German Commercial Code

The Corporate Governance statement pursuant to Section 289a
of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch) is an
integral part of the Combined Management Report. In accord-
ance with Section 317 para.2 sentence3 of the German
Commercial Code, the disclosures made within the scope of
Section 289a of the German Commercial Code are not subject
to the audit by the auditors.

DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY WITH THE GERMAN
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board of Siemens AG
approved the following Declaration of Conformity pursuant to
Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act as of Octo-
ber 1, 2014:

“Declaration of Conformity by the Managing Board and the
Supervisory Board of Siemens Aktiengesellschaft with the
German Corporate Governance Code

Siemens AG complies and will continue to comply with
the currently applicable recommendations of the German

Corporate Governance Code (“Code”), published by the
Federal Ministry of Justice in the official section of the
Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

Since making its last Declaration of Conformity dated May 7,
2014, Siemens AG has complied with the recommendations
of the Code with the one exception noted therein (contrary
to Section 5.4.5, paragraph 1, sentence 2 of the Code, Jim
Hagemann Snabe, who is a member of the Supervisory
Board of Siemens AG and a former member of the Executive
Board of SAP AG, held four supervisory board positions at
other publicly listed companies). This exception has been
eliminated since Mr. Snabe resigned his position on the
Executive Board of SAP AG, effective May 21, 2014.

Berlin and Munich, October 1, 2014
Siemens Aktiengesellschaft

The Managing Board The Supervisory Board”

108 ‘ A ‘ To our Shareholders 131 ‘ B. ‘ Corporate Governance
132 | B.1 | Corporate Governance Report 144 B.4 | Compensation Report
136 | B.2 | Corporate Governance statement pursuant to (part of the Combined Management Report)
Section 289a of the German Commercial Code 165 | B.5 | Takeover-relevant information (pursuant to
(part of the Combined Management Report) Sections 289 para.4 and 315 para. 4 of the
9
138 | B.3 | Compliance Report German Commercial Code) and explanatory report

(part of the Combined Management Report)

(part of the Combined Management Report)



INFORMATION ON

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Suggestions of the Code

Siemens voluntarily complies with the Code’s non-binding
suggestions, with the following exceptions:

Pursuant to Section 3.7 para.3 of the Code, in the case of a
takeover offer, a management board should convene an ex-
traordinary general meeting at which shareholders discuss the
takeover offer and may decide on corporate actions. The con-
vening of a shareholders’ meeting — even taking into account
the shortened time limits stipulated in the German Securities
Acquisition and Takeover Act (Wertpapiererwerbs- und Uber-
nahmegesetz) — is an organizational challenge for large pub-
licly listed companies. It appears doubtful whether the associ-
ated effort is justified in cases where no relevant decisions by
the shareholders’ meeting are intended. Therefore, extraordi-
nary shareholders’ meetings shall be convened only in appro-
priate cases.

Since the Managing Board appointments of 2011, the sugges-
tion in Section 5.1.2 para.2 sentence 1 of the Code that the
maximum possible appointment period of five years should not
be the rule for first-time appointments to a management board
has not been followed.

The Code can be downloaded from the Internet at:
[ WWW.SIEMENS.COM/289A.

Further Corporate Governance Practices applied beyond legal
requirements are contained in our Business Conduct Guidelines.

Our Company'’s values

and Business Conduct Guidelines

In the 167 years of its existence, our Company has built an
excellent reputation around the world. Technical performance,
innovation, quality reliability, and international engagement
have made Siemens one of the leading companies in electron-
ics and electrical engineering. It is top performance with the
highest ethics that has made Siemens strong. This is what the
Company should continue to stand for in the future.

The Business Conduct Guidelines provide the ethical and legal
framework within which we want to maintain successful activi-
ties. They contain the basic principles and rules for our conduct
within our Company and in relation to our external partners and
the general public. They set out how we meet our ethical and
legal responsibility as a company and give expression to our cor-
porate values of being “Responsible — Excellent — Innovative.”

The Business Conduct Guidelines can be downloaded from the
Internet on: ] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/289A.
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OPERATION OF THE MANAGING BOARD, THE
SUPERVISORY BOARD, AND COMPOSITION AND
OPERATION OF THEIR COMMITTEES

The composition of the committees of the Managing and Super-
visory Boards is given under chapter —> p.7 SUPERVISORY BOARD
AND MANAGING BOARD on pages 330-335, respectively of the
Annual Report, as is a description of the composition of the
Managing Board and the Supervisory Board. The compositions
can be accessed via the Internet on:

] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/289A.

A general description of the functions and operation of the
Managing Board and the Supervisory Board can be found under
the heading —> B.1.2 MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL STRUCTURE under
chapter —> B.1 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT On pages 132-135
and via the Internet on: L] www.siEmENs.com/289A. Further
details regarding the operation of the Managing Board and
Supervisory Board can be derived from the description of the
commiittees as well as from the bylaws for the corporate bodies
concerned. These documents can be found at:

] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/289A.
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111 B.3 Compliance Report

For us at Siemens, integrity means acting in accordance with
our values - responsible, excellent and innovative — wherever
we do business. A key element of integrity is compliance:
adherence to the law and to our own internal regulations. We
have zero tolerance for corruption and violations of the princi-
ples of fair competition — and where these do occur, we rigor-
ously respond.

The Compliance Report is an integral part of the Combined
Management Report.

Our Business Conduct Guidelines describe how we fulfill our
compliance-related responsibilities. They are also an expression
of our values and lay the foundation for our own internal regu-
lations. Our Business Conduct Guidelines are binding for all
employees worldwide.

Our Compliance System aims to ensure that all our worldwide
business practices are in line with these guidelines and in com-
pliance with all applicable laws. To serve this purpose and pro-
vide the Company with reliable protection against compliance
risks, our Compliance System has three pillars: Prevent, Detect
and Respond. We are continuously working to further strengthen
compliance in our Company and to combat corruption together
with other organizations (Collective Action).

We actively support the enactment of the United Nations Con-
vention against Corruption and the Anti-Bribery Convention of
the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
(OECD), which - like the ten principles of the United Nations
Global Compact — provide important guidance for our entire
organization. We are also actively involved in the Global Com-
pact. At the end of 2013, our Chief Compliance Officer was
elected Chairman of the Task Force on Anti-Bribery/Corruption
of the Business and Industry Advisory Committee to the OECD.

| siemens Compliance System

Our activities in the World Economic Forum include the Com-
pany’s participation in the Pact Against Corruption Initiative
and the Siemens General Counsel’s membership in the Global
Agenda Council on Transparency &Anti-Corruption.

B.3.1 Compliance priorities for fiscal 2014

Our compliance priorities provide the basis for the ongoing
development and further improvement of our Compliance
System. In this connection, we take into account and aim to
fulfill continuously evolving requirements in the compliance
field, which reflect both our own work and the changing mar-
ket conditions and compliance risks of our business activities.

For fiscal 2014, we defined the following compliance priorities:

> Stand for integrity: Our aim is to support business leadership
in its responsibility for compliance and to execute our Collec-
tive Action strategy focused on tangible business benefits.

> Committed to business: we want to foster trustful collabora-
tion between the Compliance Organization and our busi-
nesses as well as strengthen the market and customer focus
of compliance.

> Manage risk & assurance: we want to continue to provide our
businesses with the appropriate level of assurance within
our Compliance System.

> Responsibility for data privacy: we will assume new
responsibilities in the area of data privacy.

These priorities, which guided our activities in fiscal 2014, in-
clude the conclusion of project- and market-specific Collective
Action agreements and the launch of the second funding
round of the Siemens Integrity Initiative. We have also carried
out a project to reinforce our business-partner compliance due

Management responsibility

Prevent

Compliance risk management

Vv

Policies and procedures and ombudsman

Training and communication

>

>

>

> Advice and support

> Integration in personnel processes
>

vV V V V

Collective action

Detect

Whistleblowing channels “Tell us”

Compliance controls

Monitoring and compliance reviews
Compliance audits

Compliance investigations

Respond

> Consequences for misconduct
> Remediation

> Global case tracking
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diligence process. The company’s compliance risk assessment
process has been further developed: Besides other improve-
ments Data Privacy has been included therein as part of our
activities to integrate Data Privacy into the Compliance System.

B.3.2 Compliance risk management

Our Compliance Risk Assessment (CRA) process requires that
CEOs and managers in the Company - together with the
relevant Compliance Officers — systematically determine and
assess the compliance risks to their units on a regular basis.

A CRA was performed for all the Company’s operating units in
fiscal 2013. Based on our experience to date and the analysis
of these results, the CRA process has been further developed.
Starting fiscal 2014, the CRA is performed in two different ways:

> In even-numbered years, the CRA process is performed for
so-called top-risk countries in order to complement the anal-
yses at Lead Country/Division level with in-depth risk assess-
ments for selected countries. We will identify these countries
in advance based on an analysis of external and internal
compliance risks.

> In odd-numbered years (starting in fiscal 2015), the CRA
process will be performed at Lead Country/Division level.

In fiscal 2014, the CRA was performed for a total of 14 top-risk
countries. The CRA results have been incorporated into the
Group-level compliance risk analysis, which aims to determine
systematic and globally recurring compliance risks to the
Company as quickly as possible. As well as the CRA results, this
analysis of the overall Group-level compliance risks takes into
account, for example, the insights from compliance controls —
the ongoing assessment of the operation of our compliance
processes to ensure their effectiveness — and the results of
case-related investigations.

The Corporate compliance risks are derived from these consol-
idated results, which are then shared with the Company’s busi-
nesses. As in the CRA process, relevant risks are reported to
Siemens’ Enterprise Risk Management (ERM), and measures to
reduce the risks are drawn up and implemented.

The identification of compliance risks in individual Siemens
entities worldwide (CRA) and the Group-level compliance risk
analysis are complemented by an interdisciplinary exchange
during the quarterly Compliance Risk Radar meeting.
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B.3.3 Business partners and suppliers

Cooperation with third parties such as sales agents, customs
clearing agents, consultants, distributors and resellers is part
of Company operations and often essential in order to reach
certain areas of the market. At the same time, however, the
Company may be liable for the actions of these third parties.

Our mandatory process and tool for business-partner com-
pliance due diligence is designed to help all Siemens entities
conduct risk-based integrity checks of business partners.
Transparent and risk-oriented decisions about a business part-
ner relationship are based on high-quality compliance due
diligence.

The management of each Siemens unit is responsible for the
unit's utilization of business partners. This means that busi-
ness partners must be carefully selected and appropriately
monitored and managed throughout the course of a business
relationship.

In fiscal 2014, we carried out a project to reinforce the effective-
ness of our business-partner compliance due diligence process
and of management'’s assessment of the related compliance
risks. Key outcomes of the project include the regular review of
business partner portfolios at the Lead Countries and Divisions
and on-site compliance checks for selected types of business
partners as part of due diligence. Both measures are scheduled
for implementation in fiscal 2015. Furthermore we have
introduced a web-based compliance training program, which is
mandatory for certain business partners before they can enter
into a business relationship with our Company. Other business
partners may also take part in the training program on a volun-
tary basis.

We require our suppliers to comply with our Code of Conduct
for Siemens Suppliers, which includes compliance with all
applicable laws and, in particular, the prohibition of corrupt
activities. We also require our suppliers to support the Code’s
implementation in their own supply chains. The Code of
Conduct is based on the ten principles of the United Nations
Global Compact. Instruments such as sustainability self-assess-
ments by suppliers and sustainability audits by external audi-
tors enable us to systematically identify potential risks in our
supply chain and to monitor whether our suppliers are in com-
pliance with the Code’s requirements.
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B.3.4 Compliance training

One focus of our preventive measures under the Compliance
System is to provide compliance training to all managers and
employees who hold positions with a particular risk profile. In
fiscal 2014, the definition of these “sensitive functions” was ex-
panded and specified more precisely. In accordance with this
definition, the Compliance Officers of the relevant Company
units identify the managers and employees whose participa-
tion is required and ensure that they attend the training
sessions. They monitor and confirm the fulfillment of these
requirements at regular intervals.

Our Company-wide compliance training portfolio consists of
in-person and web-based training programs. The in-person
training programs also provide our employees with an opportu-
nity to discuss correct behavior based on day-to-day work
examples. In fiscal 2013, we introduced an annual Integrity
Dialog to maintain a high awareness of integrity and compli-
ance topics at Siemens. The Dialog, which is conducted across
the entire Company, serves as a forum for managers to discuss
recent compliance matters with their employees.

The assessment and analysis of compliance risks for the oper-
ating units and at Group level offers important indicators that
help us develop and define the focus of our training activities,
including the selection of themed modules for the annual
events held in conjunction with the Integrity Dialog. Our oper-
ating units address specific challenges by enhancing their
training activities with additional topics from their own busi-
nesses or by extending the mandatory target groups for spe-
cific compliance training programs in their units. In this way,
our training activities reflect both Siemens-wide topics and the
key topics specific to the operating units.

B.3.5 Compliance indicators

| Compliance indicators'

Year ended September, 30

2014 2013

Compliance cases reported 653 908
Disciplinary sanctions 195 305
therein warnings 114 188
therein dismissals 50 75
Therein other? 31 42

1 Continuing and discontinued operations.

2 Includes loss of variable and voluntary compensation elements, transfer and
suspension.

The "Tell us” help desk and the Company’s ombudsman are two
secure reporting channels that can be used by our employees
and external stakeholders to report violations of external and
internal rules. Reports to these channels are passed on to our
Compliance Organization. Possible misconduct may also be
reported directly via the Managing Board or via supervisors
to the Compliance Organization and, in particular, to the
Compliance Officers in our individual company units. Our
employees regularly make use of this reporting channel. In fis-
cal 2014, the total number of compliance cases requiring
further inquiries or investigations reported via all the above-
mentioned reporting channels was 653. We believe that the
decrease from fiscal 2013 (908) is within the normal range of
variation.

The total number of disciplinary sanctions for compliance vio-
lations in fiscal 2014 was 195 (fiscal 2013: 305). The disciplinary
sanctions reported in a specific fiscal year do not all relate to
the compliance cases reported in the same period: disciplinary
sanctions are frequently not implemented in the year in which
a case was reported. This is due to the fact that a reported com-
pliance case has to undergo the Company’s entire internal case
handling process (see top right), from the mandating and per-
forming of an internal investigation to the documentation of its
results in an investigation report that will form the basis for
related disciplinary sanctions and remediation measures.

Furthermore, a single reported compliance case may, for
instance, result in several disciplinary sanctions or in no disci-
plinary sanctions at all - for instance, because the employee
concerned meanwhile has left the company for some other
reason. Therefore, too, it is not possible to establish a direct
correlation between the numbers of reported compliance cases
and the numbers and types of disciplinary sanctions
implemented in a given reporting period.

In our view, the detected compliance violations in our Company
in the past fiscal year demonstrate once again that our
Compliance System was properly designed and is being imple-
mented effectively.

The “Ask us” help desk encourages our employees to ask com-
pliance-related questions. Incoming questions are automati-
cally forwarded without prior registration to the Compliance
Officers responsible for the employees’ entities. Furthermore,
all employees can pose questions directly to the Compliance
Officers responsible for their respective units. Most employee
questions are now being handled and answered in this way.
These questions are not registered either. In light of these
developments, we have decided to discontinue the reporting
of inquiries submitted to the “Ask us” help desk.
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| Compliance investigation process
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B.3.6 Data privacy

In line with our compliance priorities for fiscal 2014, we've con-
tinued to integrate data privacy into our Company's Compliance
System. Selected measures include the integration of data
privacy into the Compliance Risk Assessments, data privacy
reporting via our quarterly Compliance Performance Review
and the inclusion of data privacy incidents in our global compli-
ance case tracking tool.

Data protection laws in the European Economic Area (EEA)
require a recipient of personal data located outside the EEA to
provide a level of data protection equivalent to the level of data
protection in the EEA. As a result, the instrument of Binding
Corporate Rules (BCR) was developed at European Union level
to allow multinational groups of companies, such as Siemens,
to make transfers of personal data across borders and between
group companies that implement the BCR in compliance with
the aforementioned requirement. In this context, Siemens
has issued, effective fiscal 2015, its BCR for the Protection of
Personal Data within the Company.

B.3.7 Company-wide award
for integrity and compliance

In 2008, we made compliance excellence a component of the
incentive system for our senior management. This system was
not designed to honor basic compliance with the law and inter-
nal reqgulations, which is always expected. Instead, it focused
on rewarding managers for “going the extra mile” in imple-
menting our Compliance Program and driving a culture of

171 ‘ C. ‘ Combined Management Report 247 ‘ D.

‘ Consolidated Financial Statements

integrity. This approach proved useful in the following period.
It was subsequently replaced by a specific process for dealing
with weak compliance performance on the part of managers.
As part of this process, a corrective factor is applied to bonus
payments if remedial action is not taken following the issuance
of a "yellow card.”

Effective fiscal 2015, the consideration of weak compliance per-
formance on the part of managers has been made a mandatory
element of the Company’s bonus regulations. In addition, re-
lated performance issues will also be addressed through the
Compliance Organization. In light of the above and to reinforce
the recognition of exemplary commitment to integrity and
compliance within the Company, an annual award for integrity
and compliance will be presented starting in fiscal 2015. The
award will honor outstanding examples of management
responsibility for compliance and employee commitment to
compliance. In addition to recognition by Company manage-
ment, the competition will promote best practices within
Siemens and encourage others to follow these examples.

B.3.8 Collective Action
and Siemens Integrity Initiative

If substantial progress is to be made in combating corruption
and fostering fair competition, as many stakeholders as pos-
sible must act collectively. That's why we have joined forces
with other organizations to fight corruption and promote
ethical markets through collective action and the Siemens
Integrity Initiative.

337 ‘ E. ‘Additional Information

4



142

Achievements during fiscal 2014 include a collective action in
Colombia: in August 2014, a code of conduct was signed for the
first time by around 190 companies associated with the Colom-
bian Chamber of Goods and Oil Services (CAMPETROL) as well
as several oil and gas operators. All of the signatories, of whom
Siemens is one, are committed to initiating corporate ethics
programs that abolish and prohibit activities such as bribery
and the demand for and offering of undue favors. The signato-
ries have also agreed to disclose serious cases to CAMPETROL
and the Regional Center of the United Nations Global Compact,
which will act as a neutral facilitator.

To support the enforcement of the code of conduct, a compli-
ance pact has also been signed, involving a whistleblower
channel - supported by the Secretary of Transparency in the
President’s Office — and sanctions in cases of wrongdoing.

The global Siemens Integrity Initiative was launched by Siemens
on December 9, 2009. It earmarks more than US$100 million for
supporting organizations and projects fighting corruption and
fraud through Collective Action, education and training. The
initiative focuses on supporting projects that have a clear im-
pact on the business environment, can demonstrate objective
and measurable results and have the potential to be scaled up
and replicated. The Siemens Integrity Initiative constitutes one
element of the July 2009 settlement between Siemens and the
World Bank and the March 2013 settlement between Siemens
and the European Investment Bank (EIB).

The status of the 31 projects funded within the first funding
round — based upon the settlement with the World Bank —, with
a total contractual funding volume of US$37.7 million, was
presented to the World Bank in April 2014, together with the
Siemens Integrity Initiative Annual Report 2013.

The second funding round was announced on June 27, 2013,
and the deadline for applications was August 29, 2013. We
received more than 180 applications from about 60 countries.
In a two-stage review and due diligence process, we selected
projects which are to receive approximately US$30.0 million of
total funding over a period of three to five years. We began con-
cluding the funding contracts in October 2014.

B.3.9 Our revised compliance priorities —
Guidance until 2020

Since their introduction in fiscal 2011, our compliance priorities
have provided the focus of our compliance-related activities
and the basis for the ongoing development of our Compliance
System. In light of our experience to date and — above all - in
line with our entrepreneurial concept Vision 2020, we have
decided to develop this approach further in order to create a
reliable long-term perspective for the ongoing development of
compliance at Siemens.

Ownership culture is a cornerstone of Vision 2020, and the in-
tegrity of our employees’ decisions and actions is an essential
part of it. Every employee is expected to act responsibly and
to live up to this principle. Our Compliance System aims to
support Siemens employees in making risk-based decisions
with integrity — this is how compliance can ultimately provide
reliable assurance to our Company and its employees and at
the same time help strengthen an ownership culture at
Siemens. Therefore, ownership culture lies at the heart of our
compliance priorities.

Compliance will also make further contributions to Vision
2020. The following five compliance priorities define the levers
for the future development of compliance at Siemens:

> Foster integrity: a clear tone from the top, coupled with tan-
gible ownership of compliance at all management levels, is
essential. We will continue to help our managers meet this
responsibility. Our new Company-wide award for integrity
and compliance will play an important role in this respect.
Beyond the boundaries of our organization, we will continue
to cooperate with our stakeholders in order to combat cor-
ruption and promote fair markets.

> Committed to business: our Compliance Organization and
our businesses must work hand-in-hand to effectively miti-
gate compliance risks. Without compromising our integrity
standards, we'll also intensify support for our businesses in
order to allow them to seize business opportunities even in
challenging environments.

> Manage risk &assurance: we want to continue providing our
businesses with the appropriate level of assurance within
our Compliance System. We constantly monitor external and
internal developments and, where necessary, update the
compliance safeguards for our Company.
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> Excellent compliance team: we expect our Compliance
Officers to combine compliance expertise with business
understanding, and we offer them attractive career paths.
That's why we will continue working to develop a first-class
learning and development landscape for our Compliance
Organization. We will also reinforce close collaboration
across the Company’s global Compliance Organization to
ensure that we provide the best possible support for our
businesses.

> Effective processes: utilizing our compliance portfolio man-
agement system, we will continue to improve our compliance
processes in order to optimize efficiency and keep opera-
tional burdens as low as possible while further strengthen-
ing the assurance against compliance risks that those pro-
cesses provide.

Our compliance priorities as of fiscal 2015 are illustrated and
briefly described in the figures below. These priorities, which
will also guide our activities for fiscal 2015, will be supple-
mented by focus areas and activities for each fiscal year.

The effectiveness of compliance at Siemens is based on
the global governance of our Compliance Organization and
clear-cut reporting lines and close cooperation between our

| Compliance priorities for fiscal 2015

Compliance Officers around the world and our Company units.
The other pillar of our Compliance System — with its three
action levels Prevent, Detect and Respond - is the requirement
that all Siemens managers assume personal responsibility for
compliance at their respective units.

We will continue to further develop our compliance system in
order to adapt it to evolving requirements in the field of
compliance. Our overall aim remains unchanged: we want to
anchor integrity permanently throughout our company in
order to ensure sound business decisions based on clear princi-
ples of integrity.

B.3.10 Further information
and legal proceedings

For further information, please see:

—> C.9 REPORT ON EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS AND ASSOCIATED MATERIAL
OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS On pages 225-241 and —> NOTE 28 LEGAL
PROCEEDINGS in —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATE-
MENTS on pages 293-295 of this Annual Report.
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Foster Integrity

Support business management to meet its
responsibilities for compliance and further
strengthen the culture of integrity in our

Company and beyond.

Committed to Business
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Further intensify cooperation between the
Compliance Organization and our businesses
and reinforce our Compliance System’s
market and customer focus.

Excellent Compliance Team
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Effective Processes

Continue to further optimize and streamline
our compliance processes.
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111 B.4 Compensation Report

The Compensation Report outlines the principles underlying
the determination of the total compensation of the members of
the Managing Board of Siemens AG, and sets out the structure
and level of the remuneration of the Managing Board mem-
bers. It also describes the policies governing, and levels of, the
compensation paid to Supervisory Board members.

This section is based on the recommendations of the German
Corporate Governance Code (Code) and the requirements of
the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch), German
Accounting Standards (Deutsche Rechnungslegungs Standards),
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The
Compensation Report is an integral part of the Combined
Management Report.

B.41 Remuneration of members
of the Managing Board

B.4.1.1 REMUNERATION SYSTEM

The remuneration system for the Managing Board at Siemens is
intended to provide an incentive for successful corporate man-
agement with an emphasis on sustainability. Members of the
Managing Board are expected to make a long-term commitment
to and on behalf of the Company, and may benefit from any sus-
tained increase in the Company'’s value. In the interest of that
aim, a substantial portion of their total remuneration is linked to
the long-term performance of Siemens stock. A further aim is

| Remuneration system for Managing Board members for fiscal 2014

for their remuneration to be commensurate with the Company’s
size and economic position. Exceptional achievements are to be
rewarded adequately, while falling short of goals is intended to
result in an appreciable reduction in remuneration. The
Managing Board's compensation is also structured so as to be
attractive in comparison to that of competitors, with a view to
attracting outstanding managers to our Company and keeping
them with us for the long term.

The system and levels for the remuneration of the Managing
Board are determined and reviewed regularly by the full Super-
visory Board, based on proposals from the Compensation Com-
mittee. The Supervisory Board reviews remuneration levels
annually to ensure that they are appropriate. In that process,
the Company’s economic situation, performance and outlook,
as well as the tasks and performance of the individual Manag-
ing Board members, are taken into account. In addition, the
Supervisory Board considers the common level of remunera-
tion in comparison with peer companies and with the compen-
sation structure in place in other areas of the Company. Here it
also takes due account of the relationship between the Manag-
ing Board's remuneration and that of senior management and
staff, both overall and with regard to its development over
time, and for this purpose the Supervisory Board has also
determined how senior management and the relevant staff
are to be differentiated. The remuneration system that was in
place for the Managing Board members for fiscal 2014 was
approved by 93.98% at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on

Target compensation

Maximum amounts of compensation

Share Ownership Guidelines

— ] compared to 5 competitors
Stock- > target parameter: @ earnings per share -
based — > variability: 0—200% respectively [
compen- . Variable compensation (bonus) Bonus (cash):
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(- - capital employed, Free cash flow, add. +20%

* individual targets adjustment

[ > variability: 0-200%
h add. £20% a(_ijuslmem
Cas = > 75% granted in cash and -
compen- — 25% in Bonus Awards
sation | Base Base
compen- compen-
L N sation _|  sation B
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(Bonus Awards
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January 28, 2014. The new remuneration system that takes
effect in fiscal 2015 is explained in section > B.4.1.4 REMUNER-
ATION SYSTEM FOR THE MANAGING BOARD FROM FISCAL 2015 ONWARD.
The new remuneration system will be submitted to the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting for its approval on January 27, 2015.

In fiscal 2014, the remuneration system for the Managing Board
had the following components:

Non-performance-based components

Base compensation

Base compensation is paid as a monthly salary. It is reviewed
annually, and revised if appropriate. The base compensation of
the President and CEO Joe Kaeser has been €1,845,000 per year
since the time of his appointment on August 1, 2013. The base
compensation of the CFO, of those members of the Managing
Board who have responsibilities for Sector portfolios and of Klaus
Helmrich because of his additional services as Labor Director
(“Arbeitsdirektor”) has been €998,400 per year since October 1,
2013. The base compensation of the other members of the Man-
aging Board has been €928,800 per year since October 1, 2013.

Fringe benefits

Fringe benefits include costs, or the cash equivalent, of
non-monetary benefits and other perquisites, such as the pro-
vision of a Company car, contributions toward the cost of insur-
ance, reimbursement of fees for legal advice, tax advice and
accommodation and moving expenses, including a gross-up for
any taxes that have to be borne in this regard, as well as costs
relating to preventive medical examinations.

Performance-based components

Variable compensation (bonus)

Variable compensation (bonus) is based on the Company's
business performance in the past fiscal year. The targets for
variable compensation are derived from the financial frame-
work of our integrative management model One Siemens. On
this basis, the Supervisory Board at the beginning of each
fiscal year defines specific targets. Corresponding targets — in
addition to other factors — also apply to senior managers, with
a view to establishing a consistent target system throughout
the Company.

For a 100% target attainment (target amount), the amount of
the bonus equals the amount of base compensation. The bonus
is subject to a ceiling (cap) of 200%. If targets are substantially
missed, variable compensation may not be paid at all.

The Supervisory Board is entitled to revise the amount resulting
from attaining targets by as much as 20% downward or up-
ward, at its duty-bound discretion (pflichtgemaBes Ermessen);
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the adjusted amount of the bonus paid can be as much as 240%
of the target amount. In choosing the factors to be considered
in deciding on possible revisions of the bonus payouts (=20%),
the Supervisory Board takes account of incentives for sustain-
able corporate management. The revision option may also
be exercised in recognition of Managing Board members’ indi-
vidual achievements.

The bonus is paid 75% in cash and 25% in the form of gener-
ally non-forfeitable Siemens stock commitments (Bonus
Awards). After a four-year waiting period, the beneficiary will
receive one share of Siemens stock for each Bonus Award. The
value of Siemens stock to be transferred for Bonus Awards
after the waiting period is subject to a ceiling of 300% of the
target amount of the Bonus Awards. If this maximum amount
is exceeded, the corresponding entitlement to share commit-
ments will be forfeited without replacement. Instead of the
transfer of Siemens stock, an equivalent cash settlement may
be effected.

Long-term stock-based compensation

Long-term stock-based compensation consists of a grant of for-
feitable stock commitments (Stock Awards). The beneficiaries
will receive one free share of Siemens stock for each Stock
Award after a restriction period. Beginning with the award for
fiscal 2011, the restriction period for Stock Awards ends at the
close of the second day after publication of the preliminary
operating results for the fourth calendar year after the date of
the award.

In the event of extraordinary unforeseen developments that
have an impact on the stock price, the Supervisory Board may
decide to reduce the number of promised Stock Awards retro-
actively, or it may decide that in lieu of a transfer of Siemens
Stock only a cash settlement in a defined and limited amount
will be paid, or it may decide to postpone transfers of Siemens
stock for payable Stock Awards until the developments have
ceased to have an impact on the stock price.

In the event of a 100% target attainment, the annual target
amount for the monetary value of the Stock Awards com-
mitment is €1.9 million for the President and CEO (effective
August 1, 2013) and €1 miillion for each of the other members of
the Managing Board. Beginning with fiscal 2011, the Super-
visory Board has the option of increasing, on an individual
basis, the target amount for a member of the Managing Board
who has been reappointed by as much as 75% above the
amount of €1 million, for one fiscal year at a time. This option
enables the Supervisory Board to take account of the Managing
Board member'’s individual accomplishments and experience as
well as the scope and demands of his or her function.
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The performance-based component of long-term stock-based
compensation is likewise founded on One Siemens. The allo-
cation rules for long-term stock-based compensation take this
focus into account as follows:

> On the one hand, half of the annual target amount for the
annual Stock Awards is linked to the average basic earnings
per share (EPS) from continuing and discontinued operations
for the last three completed fiscal years. In principle, the tar-
get value is the average basic EPS from the past three fiscal
years completed prior to the year of compensation. At the
end of each fiscal year, the Supervisory Board decides on a
figure that represents that year’s target attainment, which
may lie between 0% and 200% (cap). This target attainment
will then determine the actual monetary value of the award
and the resulting number of Stock Awards.

> On the other hand, the development of the performance of
Siemens’ stock relative to competitors is to have a direct ef-
fect on compensation. For this purpose, with respect to the
other half of the annual target amount for the Stock Awards,
the Supervisory Board will first grant a number of Stock
Awards equivalent to the monetary value of half the target
amount on the date of the award. The Supervisory Board will
also decide on a target system (target value for 100% and tar-
get curve) for the performance of Siemens stock relative to
the stock of competitors (for fiscal 2014, these are ABB,
Alstom, General Electric, Rockwell and Schneider). The refer-
ence period for measuring the target will be the same as the
four-year restriction period for the Stock Awards. After this
restriction period expires, the Supervisory Board will deter-
mine how much better or worse Siemens stock has per-
formed relative to the stock of its competitors. This determi-
nation will yield a target attainment of between 0% and
200% (cap). If target attainment is above 100%, an additional
cash payment corresponding to the outperformance is
effected. If target attainment is less than 100%, a number of
Stock Awards equivalent to the shortfall from the target will
expire without replacement.

The value of Siemens stock to be transferred for Stock Awards
after the end of the restriction period is subject to a ceiling of
300% of the respective target amount. If this maximum amount
of compensation is exceeded, the corresponding entitlement to
stock commitments will be forfeited without replacement.

With regard to the further terms of the Stock Awards, the same
principles apply in general for the Managing Board and for
senior managers; these principles are discussed in more detail
il’l —> NOTE 32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT in —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLI-
DATED FINANCIAL sTATEMENTS. That note also includes further
information about the stock-based employee investment plans.
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Maximum amount for compensation overall

In addition to the forfeiture rules to maintain the maximum
amounts of compensation for variable compensation (bonus)
and long-term stock-based compensation, a maximum amount
for the compensation overall has also been agreed upon.
Beginning with fiscal 2014, this amount cannot be more than
1.7 times greater than target compensation. Target compensa-
tion comprises base compensation, the target amount for vari-
able compensation (bonus), and the target amount for long-
term stock-based compensation, excluding fringe benefits and
pension benefit commitments. Including fringe benefits and
pension benefit commitments of the relevant fiscal year, the
maximum amount of compensation for the overall compensa-
tion increases by corresponding amounts.

Share Ownership Guidelines

The Siemens Share Ownership Guidelines are an integral part
of the remuneration system for the Managing Board and senior
executives. These guidelines require the members of the
Managing Board - after a certain buildup phase - to hold
Siemens stock worth a multiple of their base compensation —
300% for the President and CEO, 200% for the other members
of the Managing Board - during their term of office on the
Managing Board. The determining figure in this context is the
average base compensation that each member of the Managing
Board has drawn over the four years before the applicable date
of proof of compliance. Accordingly, changes that have been
made to base compensation in the meantime are included.
Non-forfeitable stock commitments (Bonus Awards) are taken
into account in determining compliance with the Share Owner-
ship Guidelines.

Evidence that this obligation has been met must first be pro-
vided after a four-year buildup phase, and updated annually
thereafter. If the value of the accrued holdings declines below
the minimum to be evidenced from time to time because the
market price of Siemens stock has fluctuated, the member of
the Managing Board must acquire additional shares.

Pension benefit commitments

The members of the Managing Board, like all Siemens AG
employees, are included in the Siemens Defined Contribution
Benefit Plan (BSAV). Under the BSAV, members of the Managing
Board receive contributions that are credited to their personal
pension account. The amount of the annual contributions is
based on a predetermined percentage which refers to the base
compensation and the target amount for the bonus. This per-
centage is decided upon annually by the Supervisory Board;
most recently it was set at 28%. In making its decision, the
Supervisory Board takes account of the intended level of provi-
sion for each individual, also considering the length of time for
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which the individual has been a Managing Board member, as
well as the annual and long-term expense to the Company as a
result of that provision. The non-forfeitability of pension bene-
fit commitments is in compliance with the provisions of the
German Company Pensions Act (Betriebsrentengesetz). Special
contributions may be granted to Managing Board members on
the basis of individual decisions of the Supervisory Board. In
the case of new appointments of members of the Managing
Board from outside the Company, these contributions may
be defined as non-forfeitable from their inception. If a member
of the Managing Board earned a pension benefit entitlement
from the Company before the BSAV was introduced, a portion
of his or her contributions went toward financing this prior
commitment.

Members of the Managing Board are entitled to benefits under
the BSAV on reaching age 60, at the earliest, or age 62 for ben-
efit commitments made on or after January 1, 2012. As a rule,
the accrued pension benefit balance is paid out to the
Managing Board member in twelve annual installments. At the
request of the Managing Board member or of his or her surviv-
ing dependents, the pension benefit balance may also be paid
out in fewer installments or as a lump sum, subject to the
Company's consent. The accrued pension benefit balance may
also be paid out as a pension. As a further alternative, the
Managing Board member may choose a combination of pay-
ment in one to twelve installments and payment of a pension.
If the pension option is chosen, a decision must be made as to
whether it should include pensions for surviving dependents.
If a member of the Managing Board dies while receiving a pen-
sion, benefits will be paid to the member's surviving depen-
dents if the member chose such benefits. The Company will
then provide a limited-term pension to surviving children until
they reach age 27, or age 25 in the case of benefit commitments
made on or after January 1, 2007.

Benefits from the retirement benefit system that was in place
before the BSAV are normally granted as pension benefits with
a surviving dependent’s pension. In this case as well, a payout
in installments or a lump sum may be chosen instead of pen-
sion payments.

Members of the Managing Board who were employed by the
Company on or before September 30, 1983, are entitled to tran-
sition payments for the first six months after retirement, equal
to the difference between their final base compensation and the
retirement benefits payable under the corporate pension plan.
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Commitments in connection with termination

of Managing Board membership

Managing Board contracts provide for a compensatory payment
if membership on the Managing Board is terminated pre-
maturely by mutual agreement, without serious cause. The
amount of this payment must not exceed the value of two
years’ compensation and compensate no more than the re-
maining term of the contract (cap). The amount of the compen-
satory payment is calculated on the basis of base compensa-
tion, together with the variable compensation (bonus) and the
long-term stock-based compensation (Stock Awards) actually
received during the last fiscal year before termination. The
compensatory payment is payable in the month when the
member leaves the Managing Board. In addition, a one-time
special contribution is made to the BSAV. The amount of this
contribution is based on the BSAV contribution that the Board
member received in the previous year, and on the remaining
term of the appointment, but is limited to not more than two
years’ contributions (cap). The above benefits are not paid if an
amicable termination of the member’s activity on the Managing
Board is agreed upon at the member's request, or if there is
serious cause for the Company to terminate the employment
relationship.

In the event of a change of control that results in a substantial
change in the position of the Managing Board member - for
example, due to a change in corporate strategy or a change in
the Managing Board member’s duties and responsibilities —
the member of the Managing Board has the right to terminate
his or her contract with the Company for good cause. A change
of control exists if one or more shareholders acting jointly or in
concert acquire a majority of the voting rights in Siemens AG
and exercise a controlling influence, or if Siemens AG becomes
a dependent enterprise as a result of entering into an inter-
company agreement within the meaning of Section 291 of the
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), or if Siemens AG
is to be merged into an existing corporation or other entity. If
this right of termination is exercised, the Managing Board
member is entitled to a severance payment in the amount of
not more than two years’ compensation. The calculation of the
annual compensation includes not only the base compensation
and the target amount for the bonus, but also the target
amount for the Stock Awards, in each case based on the most
recent completed fiscal year prior to termination of the con-
tract. The stock-based components for which a firm commit-
ment already exists will remain unaffected. There is no entitle-
ment to a severance payment if the Managing Board member
receives benefits from third parties in connection with a
change of control. Moreover, there is no right to terminate if
the change of control occurs within a period of twelve months
prior to a Managing Board member's retirement.
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Additionally, compensatory or severance payments cover non-
monetary benefits by including an amount of 5% of the total
compensation or severance amount. Compensatory or sever-
ance payments will be reduced by 15% as a lump-sum allow-
ance for discounted values and for income earned elsewhere.
However, this reduction will apply only to the portion of the
compensatory or severance payment that was calculated with-
out taking account of the first six months of the remaining
term of the Managing Board member’s contract.

If a member leaves the Managing Board, the variable compen-
sation (bonus) is determined pro rata temporis after the end of
the fiscal year in which the appointment was terminated and is
settled in cash at the usual payout or transfer date, as the case
may be. If the employment contract is terminated in the course
of an appointment period, the non-forfeitable stock commit-
ments (Bonus Awards) for which the waiting period is still in
progress remain in effect without restriction. If the employ-
ment agreement is terminated because of retirement, disability
or death, a Managing Board member’s Bonus Awards will be
settled in cash as of the date of departure from the Board.

Stock commitments that were made as long-term stock-based
compensation (Stock Awards) and for which the restriction
period is still in progress will be forfeited without replacement
if the employment agreement is not extended after the end of
an appointment period, either at the Board member’s request
or because there is serious cause that would have entitled the
Company to revoke the appointment or terminate the contract.
However, once granted, Stock Awards are not forfeited if the
employment agreement is terminated by mutual agreement at
the Company’s request, or because of retirement, disability or
death, or in connection with a spinoff, the transfer of an oper-
ation, or a change of activity within the corporate group. In this
case, the Stock Awards will remain in effect upon termination
of the employment agreement and will be honored on expira-
tion of the restriction period.
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B.4.1.2 REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS

OF THE MANAGING BOARD FOR FISCAL 2014

On the basis of the financial framework in the context of One
Siemens, at the beginning of the fiscal year the Supervisory
Board set the targets and weighting for the parameters of return
on capital employed (ROCE) and Free cash flow, together with
earnings per share (EPS), in each case on the basis of continu-
ing and discontinued operations. The definition of these param-
eters and their weighting acknowledges a sustainable enhance-
ment of corporate value. Additionally, in setting the target for
the variable compensation (bonus) for those Managing Board
members with responsibilities for Sector portfolios, the Super-
visory Board set economic value added (EVA) as a Sector-specific
target, as well as additional individual targets for all members of
the Managing Board so as to take fuller account of the individ-
ual Board members’ performance. For this purpose, up to five
individual targets were generally defined; these take account of
such aspects as business performance in the Regions, imple-
mentation of portfolio measures, and customer satisfaction. An
external review of the appropriateness of the Managing Board's
compensation for fiscal 2014 confirmed that the remuneration
of the Managing Board resulting from target attainment for fis-
cal 2014 is to be considered appropriate. In light of this expert
review, and following a review of the achievement of the targets
set at the beginning of the fiscal year, the Supervisory Board
decided at its meeting on November 5, 2014, to set the variable
compensation (bonus), the Bonus Awards and Stock Awards to
be granted, and the pension benefit contributions as follows:

Variable compensation (bonus)

In setting the targets for the variable compensation (bonus) at
the beginning of fiscal 2014, the Supervisory Board took into
account that the Company continues to focus on a sustainable
appreciation of value. This focus is intended to enable the Com-
pany to maintain its financial flexibility and hold its own
against competitors even in periods of high market volatility:

The emphasis in terms of the sustainable enhancement of
value was on capital efficiency and capital structure. Target
values slightly higher than the prior-year figures were set in the
case of return on capital employed and substantially higher
than the prior-year figures in the case of Free cash flow. These
were agreed upon uniformly with all members of the Managing
Board. Moreover, the target values for the target parameters
were set on the basis of continuing and discontinued opera-
tions, so as to take full account of the Managing Board's overall
responsibility for the Company’s economic situation, perfor-
mance and outlook. Additionally, targets were set taking
account of business expectations for fiscal 2014. Here capital
efficiency improved because of the absence of the expenses for
the Siemens 2014 program in comparison to the prior year, as
well as because of effects outside the Sectors.
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Klaus Helmrich
Member of the Managing Board

FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2014 FY 2014
(min) (max)

Prof.Dr. Hermann Requardt™"
Member with responsibilities for Sector portfolio

FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2014 FY 2014
(min) (max)

900,000 998,400 998,400 998,400

967,500 998,400 998,400 998,400

68,329 62,457 62,457 62,457

65,544 83,589 83,589 83,589

968,329 | 1,060,857 | 1,060,857 | 1,060,857

1,033,044 | 1,081,989 | 1,081,989 | 1,081,989

450,000 748,800 0| 1,797,120 483,750 748,800 0| 1,797,120
1,545,347 | 1,163,786 0 | 3,748,800 | 1,934,354 | 1,359,243 0 | 4,498,800
427,613 348,775 0 748,800 537,124 340,461 0 748,800
590,020 480,000 0| 1,500,000 737,545 600,018 0 | 1,875,000
527,714 335,011 0| 1,500,000 659,685 418,764 0 | 1,875,000

2,963,676 | 2,973,443 | 1,060,857 | 5,094,560

3,451,148 | 3,190,032 | 1,081,989 | 5,519,560

520,698 520,994 520,994 520,994

499,761 539,849 539,849 539,849

3,484,374 | 3,494,437 | 1,581,851 | 5,615,554

3,950,909 | 3,729,881 | 1,621,838 | 6,059,409

427,574 | 1,046,148

2,941,250 | 3,270,791

537,110 | 1,021,363

3,504,508 | 3,462,595

Brigitte Ederer™ Barbara Kux™ Peter Y. Solmssen ™ Dr. Michael SuB ™
Member of the Member of the Member of the Member of the

Managing Board until Managing Board until Managing Board until Managing Board until
September 30, 2013 November 16, 2013 December 31, 2013 May 6, 2014

FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014
900,000 0 900,000 118,680 900,000 232,200 967,500 598,503
42,571 0 68,048 4,909 32,977 8,130 36,158 23,060
942,571 0 968,048 123,589 932,977 240,330 | 1,003,658 621,563
900,000 0 450,000 118,680 450,000 174,150 483,750 598,503
1,117,734 0 | 1,545,347 104,204 | 1,545,347 272,167 | 1,577,456 488,586
0 0 427,613 0 427,613 68,396 459,722 0
590,020 0 590,020 61,383 590,020 120,018 590,020 287,754
527,714 0 527,714 42,821 527,714 83,753 527,714 200,832
2,960,305 0 | 2,963,395 346,473 | 2,928,324 686,647 | 3,064,864 | 1,708,652
525,886 0 525,734 526,669 526,160 526,771 530,392 570,428
3,486,191 0| 3,489,129 873,142 | 3,454,484 | 1,213,418 | 3,595,256 | 2,279,080
855,148 0 427,574 174,626 427,574 204,992 459,642 471,698
2,915,453 0 | 2,940,969 402,419 | 2,905,898 717,489 | 3,040,756 | 1,581,847

13 Barbara Kux resigned from the Managing Board effective at
the end of the day on November 16, 2013.

14 Peter Y. Solmssen resigned from the Managing Board effective
at the end of the day on December 31, 2013; his contract with
the Company ends effective as of March 31, 2015. In addition
to his total compensation as a member of the Managing
Board, as shown above, Mr. Solmssen received the following
compensation in the months of January through Septem-
ber 2014: fixed compensation of €696,600, fringe benefits of
€160,717, variable compensation (bonus) of €719,465, and
Siemens Stock Awards in the amount of €611,240. He was
also reimbursed for relocation expenses of €270,211 plus the
associated tax of €241,373, in accordance with the commit-
ment he received when he took office.

15 Dr. Michael SuB resigned from the Managing Board effective
at the end of the day on May 6, 2014; his contract ended
effective as of September 30, 2014. In addition to his total
compensation shown above as a member of the Managing
Board, Dr. StiB received the following compensation for the
remaining term of his contract from May 7 to September 30,
2014: fixed compensation of €399,897, fringe benefits of
€12,470, variable compensation (bonus) of €315,171, and

Siemens Stock Awards in the amount of €326,425. According

to the provisions of the contract, the variable compensation

(bonus) for fiscal 2014 will be granted entirely in cash and the

Siemens Stock Awards will be settled in cash in Septem-

ber 2015 at the closing price of Siemens stock in Xetra trading

on May 6, 2014.
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Allocations

The following table shows allocations during or for fiscal 2014, In deviation from the multi-year variable compensation granted
as the case may be, for fixed compensation, fringe benefits, for fiscal 2014 and shown above, this table includes the actual
one-year variable compensation, and multi-year variable com-  figure for multi-year variable compensation granted in previous
pensation - broken down by the relevant years for which they  years and allocated in fiscal 2014.

were subscribed, as well as the expense of pension benefits.

| Managing Board members serving as of September 30, 2014

Joe Kaeser
President and CEO

(Amounts in €) FY 2013 FY 2014
Non-performance- Fixed compensation (base compensation) 1,113,750 1,845,000
based components Fringe benefits' 71,843 95,184
Total 1,185,593 1,940,184

Performance-based without long-term incentive One-year variable compensation (bonus) —
components effect, non-stock-based Cash component? 558,849 2,016,262
with long-term incentive Multi-year variable compensation 1,426,193 1,594,910
effect, stock-based Siemens Stock Awards (restriction period: 2010 — 2013) 0 1,392,062
Siemens Stock Awards (restriction period: 2009 — 2012) 1,299,629 0
Share Matching Plan (vesting period: 2011 — 2013) 0 202,848
Share Matching Plan (vesting period: 2010 — 2012) 126,564 0
Other? 0 65,704
Total 3,170,635 5,617,060
Service cost 504,323 1,058,566
Total (GCGC) 3,674,958 6,675,626

| Managing Board members serving as of September 30, 2014

Dr. Ralf P. Thomas
CFO
(Amounts in €) FY 2013 FY 2014
Non-performance- Fixed compensation (base compensation) 34,938 998,400
based components Fringe benefits’ 2,465 61,222
Total 37,403 1,059,622
Performance-based without long-term incentive One-year variable compensation (bonus) —
components effect, non-stock-based Cash component? 16,598 1,046,148
with long-term incentive Multi-year variable compensation 0 534,592
effect, stock-based Siemens Stock Awards (restriction period: 2010 — 2013) 0 519,851
Siemens Stock Awards (restriction period: 2009 — 2012) 0 0
Share Matching Plan (vesting period: 2011 — 2013) 0 14,741
Share Matching Plan (vesting period: 2010 — 2012) 0 0
Other? 0 21,619
Total 54,001 2,661,981
Service cost 208,034 230,055
Total (GCGC) 262,035 2,892,036
1 Fringe benefits include costs, or the cash equivalent, of downward by 10% for Dr. StiB. The cash component 4 In compensation for the forfeiture of stock, pension
non-monetary benefits and other perquisites, such as of one-year variable compensation (bonus) presented benefits, health benefits and transitional remuneration
provision of Company cars in the amount of €181,638 above therefore represents the amount awarded for from her former employer, the Supervisory Board
(2013: €239,301), contributions toward the cost of fiscal 2014; which will be paid out in January 2015. granted Ms. Davis a one-time amount of €5,491,229.

insurance in the amount of €71,776 (2013: €88,827),
reimbursement of fees for legal advice, tax advice and
accommodation and moving expenses, including any
taxes that have been assumed in this regard as well as
costs connected with preventive medical examinations,

This amount will be provided 20% in cash, 30% in the
form of Siemens Stock Awards and the remaining 50%
as a special contribution to the pension plan. The cash
component will be paid in December 2014.

3 The “Other” item includes the adjustment of the 2010
Siemens Stock Awards in accordance with Section 23
and Section 125 of the German Transformation Act
(Umwandlungsgesetz) because of the spin-off of

. OSRAM. For Ms. Davis, “Other” represents the cash 5 Brigitte Ederer resigned from the Managing Board effec-

in the amount of €194,498 (2013: £176,221). component of the compensatory payment that will tive at the end of the day on September 30, 2013. Accord-
2 The Supervisory Board adjusted the bonus payout be paid in December 2014. ing to the provisions of her contract, her variable compen-

amount resulting from target attainment individually sation (bonus) for fiscal 2013 was granted entirely in cash.
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Dr. Roland Busch

Member with responsibilities
for Sector portfolio

Lisa Davis*

Member with responsibilities
for Sector portfolio

since August 1, 2014

Klaus Helmrich
Member of the Managing Board

Prof.Dr. Hermann Requardt

Member with responsibilities
for Sector portfolio

Prof.Dr. Siegfried Russwurm

Member with responsibilities
for Sector portfolio

FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014
967,500 998,400 = 166,400 900,000 998,400 967,500 998,400 967,500 998,400
48,591 51,089 = 14,542 68,329 62,457 65,544 83,589 42,134 43,731
1,016,091 1,049,489 = 180,942 968,329 1,060,857 1,033,044 1,081,989 1,009,634 1,042,131
433,819 1,209,836 - 124,800 427,574 1,046,148 537,110 1,021,363 459,642 1,070,035
183,382 268,614 - 0 292,379 366,548 1,381,376 1,518,929 1,342,022 1,392,062
0 268,614 = 0 0 366,317 0 1,392,062 0 1,392,062
178,145 0 = 0 292,379 0 1,299,629 0 1,299,629 0
0 0 = 0 0 231 0 126,867 0 0

5,237 0 - 0 0 0 81,747 0 42,393 0

0 10,807 - 1,098,246 0 14,749 0 62,071 0 56,005
1,633,292 2,538,746 - 1,403,988 1,688,282 2,488,302 2,951,530 3,684,352 2,811,298 3,560,233
520,736 561,000 = 2,818,722 520,698 520,994 499,761 539,849 519,915 560,147
2,154,028 3,099,746 = 4,222,710 2,208,980 3,009,296 3,451,291 4,224,201 3,331,213 4,120,380

Brigitte Ederer®

Member of the Managing Board
until September 30, 2013

Barbara Kux®

Member of the Managing Board
until November 16, 2013

Peter Y. Solmssen’

Member of the Managing Board
until December 31, 2013

Dr. Michael SiiB®

Member of the Managing Board
until May 6, 2014

FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014
900,000 0 900,000 118,680 900,000 232,200 967,500 598,503
42,571 0 68,048 4,909 32,977 8,130 36,158 23,060
942,571 0 968,048 123,589 932,977 240,330 1,003,658 621,563
855,148 0 427,574 174,626 427,574 204,992 459,642 471,698
227,441 509,312 1,192,671 1,392,062 1,299,629 1,392,062 477,239 523,175

0 509,312 0 1,392,062 0 1,392,062 0 523,175
227,441 0 1,137,126 0 1,299,629 0 477,239 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 55,545 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 56,005 0 56,005 0 21,048
2,025,160 509,312 2,588,293 1,746,282 2,660,180 1,893,389 1,940,539 1,637,484
525,886 0 525,734 526,669 526,160 526,771 530,392 570,428
2,551,046 509,312 3,114,027 2,272,951 3,186,340 2,420,160 2,470,931 2,207,912

Barbara Kux resigned from the Managing Board effective at the end of

the day on November 16, 2013.

Peter Y. Solmssen resigned from the Managing Board effective at the end
of the day on December 31, 2013; his contract with the Company ends
effective as of March 31, 2015. In addition to the compensation for his
activity as a member of the Managing Board in fiscal 2014, as shown above,
Mr. Solmssen received the following compensation for the months of
January through September 2014: fixed compensation of €696,600, fringe
benefits of €160,717, variable compensation (bonus) of €719,465 and
Siemens Stock Awards in the amount of €611,240. He was also reimbursed
for relocation expenses of €270,211 plus the associated tax of €241,373, in
accordance with the commitment he received when he took office.

8 Dr. Michael SiiB resigned from the Managing Board effective at the end
of the day on May 6, 2014; his contract ended effective as of Septem-
ber 30, 2014. According to his provisions of the contract, his variable
compensation (bonus) for fiscal 2014 will be granted entirely in cash.

In addition to the compensation for fiscal 2014 for his activity as member
of the Managing Board presented above, Dr. Sii3 received the following

compensation for the remaining term of his employment agreement
from May 7 to September 30, 2014: fixed compensation of €399,897,

fringe benefits of €12,470 and variable compensation (bonus) of €315,171.
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Pension benefit commitments

For fiscal 2014, the members of the Managing Board were
granted contributions under the BSAV totaling €5.1 million
(2013: €6.4 million), based on a resolution of the Supervisory
Board dated November 5, 2014. Of this amount, €5.0 million
(2013: €6.3 million), related to contributions to their personal
pension accounts and the remaining €0.1million (2013:
€0.1 million) to funding of pension commitments earned prior
to transfer to the BSAV.

The contributions under the BSAV are added to the personal
pension accounts each January following the close of the fiscal
year, with value date on January 1. Until the beneficiary’'s time
of retirement, the pension account is credited with an annual
interest payment (guaranteed interest), currently 1.75%, on Jan-
uary 1 of each year.

The following table shows individualized details of the contri-
butions (additions) under the BSAV for fiscal 2014 as well as the
defined benefit obligations for the pension commitments.

Total contributions for Defined benefit obligation? for all pension
commitments excluding deferred compensation?
(Amounts in €) FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2013
Managing Board members
serving as of September 30, 2014
Joe Kaeser 1,033,200 1,033,200 7,174,641 5,580,345
Dr. Roland Busch 559,104 541,800 2,769,337 2,008,718
Lisa Davis* 93,184 - 2,818,7222 -
Klaus Helmrich 559,104 504,000 3,047,911 2,248,901
Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt 559,104 541,800 6,273,529 5,094,071
Prof.Dr. Siegfried Russwurm 559,104 541,800 4,390,368 3,490,629
Dr. Ralf P. Thomas 559,104 19,565 2,742,051 1,970,651
Former members of the Managing Board
Brigitte Ederer® - 504,000 - 2,446,9512
Barbara Kux® 66,461 504,000 1,499,0342 2,740,479
Peter Y. Solmssen?’ 520,128 504,000 18,343,788 15,750,8832
Dr. Michael SuB3® 559,104 541,800 3,903,372 2,353,756
Total 5,067,597 5,235,965 52,962,753 43,685,384
1 The expenses (service cost) recognized in accordance for Peter Y. Solmssen, of €812,700 (2013: €0) for Dr. Mi- 5 Brigitte Ederer resigned from the Managing Board
with IFRS in fiscal 2014 for Managing Board members’ chael SUB, and of €2,745,615 (2013: €0) for Lisa Davis. effective at the end of the day on September 30, 2013.
entitlements under the BSAV in fiscal 2014 amounted to Deferred compensation totals €10,057,923 (2013: 6 Barbara Kux resigned from the Managing Board effective

€7,913,201 (2013: €6,053,355).

2 The defined benefit obligations reflect one-time special
contributions to the BSAV of €3,558,315 (2013:
€22,480,000) for new appointments from outside the
Company, as well as special contributions in connection
with departures from the Managing Board: in the
amount of €0 (2013: €10,740,000) for Peter Loscher, of
€0 (2013: €882,000) for Brigitte Ederer, of €0 (2013:
€340,000) for Barbara Kux, of €0 (2013: €10,518,000)

€8,595,135), including €3,171,486 for Joe Kaeser (2013:
€2,914,462), €302,595 for Klaus Helmrich (2013:

€276,893), €1,381,365 for Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt

(2013: €1,275,259), and €49,732 for Dr. Ralf P. Thomas

(2013: €46,155) as well as for former Managing Board
members: €4,697,955 for Barbara Kux (2013: €4,082,366), 8
and €454,790 for Peter Y. Solmssen (2013: €0).

Lisa Davis was elected a full member of the Managing
Board effective August 1, 2014.

at the end of the day on November 16, 2013.

Peter Y. Solmssen resigned from the Managing Board
at the end of the day on December 31, 2013; his employ-
ment agreement ends effective March 31, 2015.

Dr. Michael SUB resigned from the Managing Board
at the end of the day on May 6, 2014; his employment
agreement ended effective September 30, 2014.

Former members of the Managing Board and their surviving
dependents received emoluments within the meaning of Sec-
tion 314 para. 1 No. 6 b of the German Commercial Code totaling
€24.2 million (2013: €33.1 million) in fiscal 2014. This figure in-
cludes the compensation for former Managing Board member
Peter Y. Solmssen for the period from January through Septem-
ber 2014, together with reimbursement of relocation costs and
the associated tax. Furthermore, it includes the compensatory
payment connected with the mutually agreed-upon termina-
tion of the Managing Board membership of Dr. Michael Sii3 as
of May 6, 2014, the compensation for the remaining term of his

employment contract — that is, from May 7 to September 30,
2014 - as well as a special contribution to the BSAV. Dr. St
received 5,429 Stock Awards for the period from May 7 through
September 30, 2014, which will be settled in cash in Septem-
ber 2015 according to the provisions of his contract and in
connection with the mutually agreed-upon termination of his
Managing Board membership. Mr. Solmssen received 10,166
Stock Awards and 3,317 Bonus Awards for the period from Jan-
uary through September 2014. Other than this, former Manag-
ing Board members and their surviving dependents received no
(2013: 5,615) Stock Awards.

108 ‘ A ‘ To our Shareholders 131 ‘ B. ‘ Corporate Governance
132 | B.1 | Corporate Governance Report 144 | B.4 | Compensation Report
136 | B.2 | Corporate Governance statement pursuant to (part of the Combined Management Report)
Section 289a of the German Commercial Code 165 | B.5 | Takeover-relevant information (pursuant to
(part of the Combined Management Report) Sections 289 para.4 and 315 para. 4 of the
138 | B.3 | Compliance Report German Commercial Code) and explanatory report

(part of the Combined Management Report)

(part of the Combined Management Report)



The defined benefit obligation (DBO) of all pension commit-
ments to former members of the Managing Board and their
surviving dependents as of September 30, 2014, amounted
to €234.4 (2013: €192.5) million. This figure is included in
—> NOTE 22 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS in —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLI-
DATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Other
No loans or advances from the Company are provided to mem-
bers of the Managing Board.

B.4.1.3 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

ON STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION INSTRUMENTS

IN FISCAL 2014

This section provides information concerning the stock commit-
ments held by members of the Managing Board that were com-
ponents of stock-based compensation in fiscal 2014 and prior
years, and about the Managing Board members’ entitlements to
matching shares under the Siemens Share Matching Plan.

Stock commitments

The following table shows the changes in the stock commit-
ments (Bonus Awards and Stock Awards) held by Managing
Board members in fiscal 2014:

Balance at beginning of Granted during fiscal year" Vested and Forfeited Balance at end of
fiscal 2014 transferred during fiscal 20142
during fiscal year
fiscal year
Forfeitable commitments
of Stock Awards
Non- Non- (Target (Target Commit- Non-
forfeitable Forfeitable forfeitable attainment attainment ments of forfeitable Forfeitable
commit- commit- commit- depending depending Bonus Commit- commit- commit-
ments of ments of ments of on EPS for on future | Awards and ments of ments of ments of
Bonus Stock Bonus past three stock per- Stock Stock Bonus Stock
(Amounts in number of units) Awards Awards Awards | fiscal years) formance) Awards Awards Awards Awards?
Managing Board
members serving as of
September 30, 2014
Joe Kaeser 24,819 67,437 6,910 12,949 10,974 14,661 = 31,729 76,699
Dr. Roland Busch 16,180 33,795 5,364 7,295 6,182 2,829 = 21,544 44,443
Lisa Davis* - - - - - - - - -
Klaus Helmrich 17,122 35,695 5,287 7,295 6,182 3,858 = 22,409 45,314
Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt 25,762 52,766 6,641 9,119 7,728 14,661 = 32,403 54,952
Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm 24,819 52,766 5,684 9,119 7,728 14,661 - 30,503 54,952
Dr. Ralf P. Thomas = 22,241 206 3,474 2,944 5,475 = 206 23,184
Former members
of the Managing Board
Brigitte Ederer® 24,819 43,469 = = = 5,364 = 24,819 38,105
Barbara Kux® 24,819 52,766 5,287 7,295 6,182 14,661 = 30,106 51,582
Peter Y. Solmssen?’ 24,819 52,766 5,287 7,295 6,182 14,661 = 30,106 51,582
Dr. Michael SGB?® 17,122 38,432 5,684 7,295 6,182 5,510 = 22,806 46,399
Total 200,281 452,133 46,350 71,136 60,284 96,341 = 246,631 487,212
1 The weighted average fair value as of the grant date for 2014 remains in effect in full on the basis of the agree- 6 Barbara Kux resigned from the Managing Board effective

171 ‘C.

fiscal 2014 was €82.49 per granted share.

Amounts do not include stock commitments (Bonus
Awards and Stock Awards) granted in November 2014
for fiscal 2014; for details, see the next page. However,
these amounts may include Stock Awards received as
compensation by the Managing Board member before
joining the Managing Board.

3 The number of forfeitable commitments of Stock Awards

shown here for Brigitte Ederer as of the end of fiscal

‘ Combined Management Report

247 ‘ D.

ment in connection with her departure from the Manag-
ing Board; the number of Stock Awards linked to future
stock performance will be revised on the basis of actual
target attainment after the end of the restriction period.

Lisa Davis was elected a full member of the Managing
Board effective August 1, 2014.

Brigitte Ederer resigned from the Managing Board
effective at the end of the day on September 30, 2013.

‘ Consolidated Financial Statements
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at the end of the day on November 16, 2013.

Peter Y. Solmssen resigned from the Managing Board
effective at the end of the day on December 31, 2013;
his employment contract ends effective March 31, 2015.

Dr. Michael SiB resigned from the Managing Board
effective at the end of the day on May 6, 2014; his
employment agreement ended effective September 30,
2014.

‘ Additional Information
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The following table shows the stock (Bonus Awards and Stock
Awards) awarded in November 2014 for fiscal 2014:

Awarded for fiscal®

Non-forfeitable commitments Forfeitable commitments of Stock Awards
of Bonus Awards
(Target attainment depending (Target attainment depending

(Amounts in number of units) on EPS for past three fiscal years) on future stock performance)
Managing Board members
serving as of September 30, 2014
Joe Kaeser 9,296 12,615 13,140
Dr. Roland Busch 5,578 6,639 6,916
Lisa Davis? 576 12,044 12,546
Klaus Helmrich 4,824 6,639 6,916
Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt 4,709 8,299 8,645
Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm 4,934 6,639 6,916
Dr. Ralf P. Thomas 4,824 6,639 6,916
Former members of the Managing Board
Brigitte Ederer? 0 0 0
Barbara Kux* 0 849 884
Peter Y. Solmssen?® 946 1,660 1,729
Dr. Michael StB® 0 3,980 4,146
Total 35,687 66,003 68,754

1 See the information on —> PAGES 151-153 for the
corresponding fair values.

2 Lisa Davis was elected a full member of the Managing
Board effective August 1, 2014.

3 Brigitte Ederer resigned from the Managing Board

effective at the end of the day on September 30, 2013.

4 Barbara Kux resigned from the Managing Board effective

at the end of the day on November 16, 2013.

5 Peter Y. Solmssen resigned from the Managing Board

effective at the end of the day on December 31, 2013;
his employment contract ends effective March 31, 2015.
See the information on —> PAGE 153 for the Stock
Awards committed for the months of January through
September 2014.

6 Dr. Michael SiiB resigned from the Managing Board
effective at the end of the day on May 6, 2014; his em-
ployment agreement ended effective September 30,
2014. See the information on —> PAGE 153 for the Stock
Awards granted for the remaining term of his contract
for the period from May 7 through September 30, 2014.
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Shares from the Share Matching Plan

In fiscal 2011, the members of the Managing Board were
entitled for the last time to participate in the Siemens Share
Matching Plan, and under the plan were entitled to invest up to
50% of the annual gross amount of their variable cash compen-
sation (bonus) determined for fiscal 2010 in Siemens shares.
After expiration of a vesting period of approximately three
years, the plan participants will receive one free matching

share of Siemens stock for every three Siemens shares acquired
and continuously held under the plan, provided the partici-
pants were employed without interruption at Siemens AG or a
Siemens company until the end of the vesting period. The fol-
lowing table shows the development of the matching share
entitlements of the individual members of the Managing Board
in fiscal 2014.

Balance at beginning Due during Forfeited during Balance at end
of fiscal 20141 fiscal year fiscal year of fiscal 20142
Entitlement to Entitlement to Entitlement to Entitlement to
(Amounts in number of units) matching shares matching shares matching shares matching shares
Managing Board members
serving as of September 30, 2014
Joe Kaeser 2,216 2,216 -
Dr. Roland Busch - - - -
Lisa Davis? - - - -
Klaus Helmrich 3 3 - -
Prof.Dr. Hermann Requardt 1,386 1,386 - -
Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm - - - -
Dr. Ralf P. Thomas 2,846 161 - 2,685
Former members
of the Managing Board
Brigitte Ederer® - - - -
Barbara Kux® - - - -
Peter Y. Solmssen® - - - -
Dr. Michael StB7” - - - -
Total 6,451 3,766 0 2,685

171 ‘C.

Amounts may include entitlements acquired before the
member joined the Managing Board.

The entitlements of the Managing Board members
serving as of September 30, 2014, had the following fair
values: Joe Kaeser €0 (2013: €146,901), Dr. Roland Busch
€0 (2013: €0), Lisa Davis €0 (2013: €0), Klaus Helmrich
€0 (2013: €527), Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt €0 (2013:
€92,011), Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm €0 (2013: €0) and
Dr. Ralf P. Thomas €133,392 (2013: €152,696). The enti-
tlements of former Managing Board members have the
following fair values: Brigitte Ederer €0 (2013: €0),
Barbara Kux €0 (2013: €0), Peter Y. Solmssen €0 (2013:

‘ Combined Management Report
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€0), and Dr. Michael StB €0 (2013: €0). The above fair
values also take into account that the shares acquired
under the Base Share Program as part of the Share
Matching Plan were provided with a Company subsidy
(for additional information on the Base Share Program
see —> NOTE 32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT in —> D.6 NOTES
TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS).

Lisa Davis was elected a full member of the Managing
Board effective August 1, 2014.

Brigitte Ederer resigned from the Managing Board
effective at the end of the day on September 30, 2013.

‘ Consolidated Financial Statements
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Barbara Kux resigned from the Managing Board effective
at the end of the day on November 16, 2013.

Peter Y. Solmssen resigned from the Managing Board
effective at the end of the day on December 31, 2013;
his employment contract ends effective March 31, 2015.

Dr. Michael SiiB resigned from the Managing Board
effective at the end of the day on May 6, 2014; his
employment agreement ended effective September 30,
2014.
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Share Ownership Guidelines

The deadlines by which the individual members of the Man-
aging Board must provide first-time proof of compliance with
the Siemens Share Ownership Guidelines vary from member
to member, depending on when the member was appointed
to the Managing Board. The following table shows the number

of Siemens shares that were held by Managing Board mem-
bers in office at September 30, 2014, as of the deadline in
March 2014 for showing compliance with the Share Owner-
ship Guidelines, and that are to be held permanently with a
view to future deadlines.

Obligations under Share Ownership Guidelines

Required Proven
Percentage of base Percentage of base

(Amounts in number of units or €) compensation’ Value' | Number of shares? compensation’ Value? | Number of shares?
Managing Board members serving as
of September 30, 2014, and required
to show proof as of March 14, 2014
Joe Kaeser 300% 3,103,125 32,998 856% 8,858,756 94,202
Prof.Dr. Hermann Requardt 200% 1,819,250 19,345 680% 6,184,635 65,766
Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm 200% 1,819,250 19,345 825% 7,504,674 79,803
Total 6,741,625 71,688 22,548,065 239,771

1 The amount of the obligation is based on a member’s
average base compensation for the four years prior to
the respective date of proof.

The following table shows the proof-of-compliance obligations
of the other Managing Board members in view of the Share
Ownership Guidelines:

2 Based on the average Xetra opening price of €94.04
for the fourth quarter of 2013 (October — December).

3 As per March 14, 2014 (date of proof), including Bonus
Awards.

Obligations under Share Ownership Guidelines

Required

Due date for initial

Percentage of base measurement

(Amounts in number of units or €) compensation’ Value' | Number of shares? of adherence

Managing Board members required to show proof in subsequent years

Dr. Roland Busch 200% 1,874,400 19,932 March 2016

Lisa Davis 200% 1,996,800 21,234 March 2019

Klaus Helmrich 200% 1,828,114 19,440 March 2016

Dr. Ralf P. Thomas 200% 1,996,800 21,234 March 2018
Total 7,696,114 81,840

1 The amount of the obligation is based on a member’s
average base compensation for the four years prior to
the respective date of proof. The amount shown here is

based on average base compensation since the mem-
ber's initial appointment.

2 Based on the average Xetra opening price of €94.04 for
the fourth quarter of 2013 (October — December).
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B.4.1.4 REMUNERATION SYSTEM FOR THE
MANAGING BOARD FROM FISCAL 2015 ONWARD

At its meeting on September 24, 2014, the Supervisory Board
decided to introduce a new, simplified remuneration system for
the Managing Board as of October 1, 2014. In past years, the
remuneration system for the Managing Board was modified a
number of times on the basis of new regulatory and statutory
requirements. The system grew more complex as a result.
Establishing transparency about the remuneration of the Man-
aging Board is an important element of good corporate gover-
nance. For that reason, in its revision of the remuneration
system, the Supervisory Board has reduced the system’s com-
plexity to the necessary minimum. At the same time, the Super-
visory Board retained incentives for successful corporate man-
agement with an emphasis on sustainability and ensured that
the system would remain consistent with other remuneration

offered in the market. The Supervisory Board has maintained
the time-tested division of compensation into non-perfor-
mance-based and performance-based components, but in the
future the individual components of compensation — base com-
pensation, variable compensation (bonus) and long-term,
stock-based compensation — will be weighted equally. This
equal weighting will also be applied in setting the target cate-
gories for variable compensation (bonus).

The complexity of the former system also resulted from the
way in which variable compensation (bonus) was granted
partly in Stock commitments, Bonus Awards, and from the di-
vided measurement of performance for long-term stock-based
compensation (Stock Awards). Beginning with fiscal 2015, the
bonus will be paid in cash only. The Stock Awards will now be
measured only on the basis of one performance component.

| Principal features of the new remuneration system for the Managing Board

Sustainability

The multi-year bases of measurement and long-
term goals for variable components ensure and
encourage sustainable Company development.

Individual performance

Individual performance is rewarded by agreeing
on individual targets and by the possibility for
the Supervisory Board to adjust the bonus as well

Transparency

Dividing compensation into three equally
weighted components, and the equal weighting
of three bases of measurement for the bonus,

permit transparent, understandable communica-

tion of Managing Board remuneration.

Ownership culture

Granting a substantial portion of compensation
as stock, together with the share ownership
obligation, puts an emphasis on the ownership
culture within the Company.

Performance orientation

Variable compensation is linked
to the Company’s success and
to comparisons with competitors.

Appropriateness

Annual remuneration reviews — together with
contractually defined maximum amounts for
variable compensation and for stock-based
components of compensation and compensation

as by individualizable target amounts for stock-
based compensation.

overall — ensure that compensation is appropriate.

Specifically, the following changes were adopted effective
October 1, 2014:

Compensation structure. Base compensation, variable com-
pensation (bonus) and long-term stock-based compensation
will each constitute approximately one-third of the target com-
pensation for all Managing Board members. The maximum
amounts for stock commitments (Stock Awards), for bonus and
for compensation overall that were introduced in fiscal 2014
will remain fully in effect.

Variable compensation (bonus). In the future, the bonus
will depend on an equal one-third weighting of target attain-
ment in the target categories of capital efficiency, earnings and
individual targets. This weighting will give greater importance
to the Managing Board members’ individual performance.
In deciding the individual targets, account will be taken of both
business-related targets like market coverage and business
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performance as well as targets like customer and employee
satisfaction, innovation and sustainability. For fiscal 2015, the
target values for the earnings component will be set on a multi-
year basis. Target attainment for the bonus can still vary
between 0% and a ceiling (cap) of 200%.

After the end of the fiscal year, the Supervisory Board can still
decide, exercising its duty-bound discretion (pflichtgemafBes
Ermessen), to adjust bonus payout amounts by +20% for all or
some of the members of the Managing Board. Thus the maxi-
mum amount of 240% of the target amount applies for the
bonus. In deciding on a discretionary adjustment, the Super-
visory Board will take account not only of the Company's eco-
nomic situation and the individual performance of the various
Managing Board members, but also of such factors as the
results of an employee survey (Global Engagement Survey) and
a customer satisfaction survey (Net Promoter Score). Variable
compensation (bonus) will be granted entirely in cash.
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Long-term stock-based compensation. Long-term stock-
based compensation will continue to be granted in the form of
forfeitable Stock Awards for Siemens stock. To reflect a Manag-
ing Board member’s individual experience as well as the scope
and demands of his or her function, the annual target amount
for all Managing Board members, including the President and
CEO, can now be increased, on an individual basis, by as much
as 75% of the contractually agreed-upon target amount for one
fiscal year at a time. Starting with fiscal 2015, this long-term
stock-based compensation will be linked solely to the perfor-
mance of Siemens stock in comparison to competitors. The
Supervisory Board will also decide on a target system (target
value for 100% and target curve) for the performance of
Siemens stock relative to the stock of — at present — five compet-
itors: ABB, General Electric, Rockwell, Schneider and Toshiba.
The change in stock price will be measured on the basis of a
twelve-month reference period (compensation year) over three
years (performance period), while the four-year restriction pe-
riod for Stock Awards will still apply unchanged. After this re-
striction period expires, the Supervisory Board will determine
how much better or worse Siemens stock has performed rela-
tive to the stock of its competitors. This determination will yield
a target attainment of between 0% and 200% (cap). If target at-
tainment is above 100%, the members of the Managing Board
will receive an additional cash payment, the amount of which
will be based on the outperformance. If target attainment is
less than 100%, a number of Stock Awards equivalent to the
shortfall from the target will expire without replacement. All in
all, the allocation by way of the Stock Awards will be limited to
300% of the target amount (maximum amount).

Share Ownership Guidelines. The share ownership obli-
gation for members of the Managing Board will remain un-
changed: 300% of base compensation for the President and
CEO, 200% of base compensation for the other members of the
Managing Board during the four years prior to the relevant date
of proof.

Compensatory payments in connection with termination
of Managing Board membership. The terms for compensa-
tory payments will remain essentially unchanged. In particular,
the compensatory payment still cannot exceed the value of two
years’ compensation. In the future, the compensatory and sev-
erance payments will be reduced by 10% as a lump-sum allow-
ance for discounted values and for income earned elsewhere;
this reduction will apply only to the portion of the compensa-
tory or severance payment that was calculated without taking
account of the first six months of the remaining term of the
Managing Board member’s contract.

Even after the adjustment of the remuneration system for the
Managing Board, regulatory requirements will be met in full.
More than half of the variable compensation has a multi-year
basis. The new system continues to reward long-term commit-
ment to and on behalf of the Company as well as Managing
Board members’ participation in a sustained increase in the
Company'’s value.

| Remuneration system for Managing Board members as of fiscal 2015

Target compensation

Maximum amounts of compensation

Share Ownership Guidelines

— Stock-based
components
(Stock Awards):
max. 300% of
target amount
p— President
Long-term stock-based compensation and CEO:
Stock- — —] > target parameter: stock price Compensation _ 3-times
based compared to 5 competitors overall of Base
— > variability: 0-200% Bonus (cash): — max. 1.7-times — compen-
compen- 0-200% of target sation
sation L . [ add.+20% compensation
— —  Variable compensation (bonus) adjustment
> 3 targets — one third each:
—  capital efficiency, profit, individual Managing
Cash > variability: 0—200% Enoear‘:'ldber‘
compen- —| = add. £20% adjustment — -times
sation Base Base Base of Base
— compen- — compen- compen- compen-
sation sation sation sation
M Performance-based component with deferred payout mmmm  Performance-based component
HEE Non-performance-based component Obligation to hold shares during term of office on the Managing Board

108 ‘ A. ‘ To our Shareholders 131 ‘ B. ‘ Corporate Governance
132 | B.1 | Corporate Governance Report 144 | B.4 | Compensation Report
136 | B.2 | Corporate Governance statement pursuant to (part of the Combined Management Report)
Section 289a of the German Commercial Code 165 | B.5 | Takeover-relevant information (pursuant to
(part of the Combined Management Report) Sections 289 para.4 and 315 para. 4 of the
138 | B.3 | Compliance Report German Commercial Code) and explanatory report

(part of the Combined Management Report)

(part of the Combined Management Report)



B.4.2 Remuneration of members
of the Supervisory Board

FY 2014 FY 2013
Additional Additional
compensation Meeting compensation Meeting
Base com- | for committee attendance Base com- | for committee attendance

(Amounts in €) pensation work fee Total pensation work fee Total
Supervisory Board members
serving as of September 30, 2014
Dr. Gerhard Cromme 280,000 280,000 55,500 615,500 280,000 280,000 57,000 617,000
Berthold Huber® 211,852 77,037 25,500 314,389 211,852 77,037 27,000 315,889
Werner Wenning 211,852 134,815 39,000 385,667 98,000 28,000 7,500 133,500
Olaf Bolduan™? 35,000 - 4,500 39,500 - - - -
Gerd von Brandenstein 140,000 80,000 30,000 250,000 140,000 40,000 18,000 198,000
Michael Diekmann 134,815 52,963 18,000 205,778 140,000 = 13,500 153,500
Dr. Hans Michael Gaul 140,000 160,000 30,000 330,000 140,000 160,000 39,000 339,000
Prof. Dr. Peter Gruss 134,815 35,309 15,000 185,123 140,000 = 15,000 155,000
Bettina Haller! 140,000 80,000 28,500 248,500 129,630 74,074 25,500 229,204
Hans-Jirgen Hartung' 140,000 - 13,500 153,500 129,630 - 10,500 140,130
Robert Kensbock 140,000 106,667 27,000 273,667 105,000 = 7,500 112,500
Harald Kern' 140,000 76,667 25,500 242,167 140,000 30,000 16,500 186,500
Jirgen Kerner’ 140,000 120,000 28,500 288,500 140,000 120,000 27,000 287,000
Dr. Nicola Leibinger-Kammiiller 124,444 = 10,500 134,944 134,815 = 15,000 149,815
Gérard Mestrallet 119,259 5,679 7,500 132,438 98,000 28,000 7,500 133,500
Gliler Sabanci 129,630 = 10,500 140,130 98,000 = 6,000 104,000
Michael Sigmund? 81,667 - 9,000 90,667 - - - -
Jim Hagemann Snabe 124,444 97,778 19,500 241,722 - - - -
Birgit Steinborn’ 140,000 186,667 43,500 370,167 140,000 120,000 28,500 288,500
Sibylle Wankel 140,000 40,000 21,000 201,000 140,000 40,000 22,500 202,500
Former Supervisory Board members
Dr. Josef Ackermann* - - - - 211,852 134,815 34,500 381,167
Lothar Adler™? 93,333 106,667 27,000 227,000 140,000 160,000 40,500 340,500
Prof. Dr. Rainer Sieg? 58,333 = 4,500 62,833 140,000 = 15,000 155,000
Total 2,999,444 | 1,640,247 493,500 | 5,133,191 | 2,896,779 1,291,926 433,500 | 4,622,205°

1 Both the employee representatives on the Supervisory

Board who represent the employees pursuant to Section
3 para. 1 No. 1 of the German Codetermination Act
(Mitbestimmungsgesetz) and the representatives of the
trade unions on the Supervisory Board declared their
readiness to transfer their compensation to the Hans
Boeckler Foundation, in accordance with the guidelines
of the Confederation of German Trade Unions (DGB).
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2 Olaf Bolduan was appointed to the Supervisory Board by
court order as of July 11, 2014, succeeding Lothar Adler,
who resigned from the Supervisory Board as of the end 5

of the day on May 31, 2014.

3 Michael Sigmund was appointed to the Supervisory
Board by court order as of March 1, 2014, succeeding
Prof. Dr. Rainer Sieg, who resigned from the Supervisory
Board as of the end of the day on February 28, 2014.

‘ Consolidated Financial Statements

4 Dr. Josef Ackermann resigned from the Supervisory
Board as of the end of the day on September 30, 2013.

The total figure, compared to the amount of €4,420,926

presented in the 2013 Compensation Report, includes

additional meeting attendance fees of €433,500, but not
the total compensation of €232,222 for former Supervisory
Board members Jean-Louis Beffa, Werner Ménius,

Hakan Samuelsson and Lord lain Vallance of Tummel.
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The compensation shown on the previous page was deter-
mined for each of the members of the Supervisory Board for
fiscal 2014 (individualized disclosure).

The current remuneration policies for the Supervisory Board
were authorized at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on
January 28, 2014, and are effective as of fiscal 2014. Details
are set out in Section 17 of the Articles of Association of
Siemens AG. The remuneration of the Supervisory Board con-
sists entirely of fixed compensation; it reflects the responsibili-
ties and scope of the work of the Supervisory Board members.
The Chairman and Deputy Chairmen of the Supervisory Board
as well as the Chairmen and members of the Audit Committee,
the Chairman’s Committee, the Compensation Committee, the
Compliance Committee and the Innovation and Finance Com-
mittee receive additional compensation.

According to current rules, members of the Supervisory Board
receive an annual base compensation of €140,000; the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board receives a base compensation of
€280,000, and each of the Deputy Chairmen receives €220,000.

The members of the Supervisory Board committees receive the
following additional fixed compensation for their work on these
committees: the Chairman of the Audit Committee receives
€160,000, and each of the other members of that Committee
receives €80,000; the Chairman of the Chairman’s Committee
receives €120,000, and each of the other members of that Com-
mittee receives €80,000; the Chairman of the Compensation
Committee receives €100,000, and each of the other members
of that Committee receives €60,000 (compensation for any
work on the Chairman’s Committee counts toward compensa-
tion for work on the Compensation Committee); the Chairman
of the Innovation and Finance Committee receives €80,000,
and each of the other members of that Committee receives
€40,000; the Chairman of the Compliance Committee receives
€80,000, and each of the other members of that Committee
receives €40,000. However, no additional compensation is paid
for work on the Compliance Committee if a member of that
Committee is already entitled to compensation for work on the
Audit Committee.
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If a Supervisory Board member does not attend a meeting of
the Supervisory Board, one-third of the aggregate compensa-
tion due to that member is reduced by the percentage of Super-
visory Board meetings not attended by the member in relation
to the total number of Supervisory Board meetings held during
the fiscal year. In the event of changes in the composition of
the Supervisory Board and/or its committees, compensation is
paid pro rata temporis, rounding up to the next full month.

In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board are entitled
to receive a meeting attendance fee of €1,500 for each meeting
of the Supervisory Board and its committees that they attend.

The members of the Supervisory Board are reimbursed for out-
of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their duties
and for any value-added taxes to be paid on their remuneration.
For the performance of his duties, the Chairman of the Super-
visory Board is also entitled to an office with secretarial support
and the use of a carpool service.

No loans or advances from the Company are provided to mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board.

B.4.3 Other

The Company provides a group insurance policy for Board and
Committee members and certain employees of the Siemens
organization that is taken out for one year and renewed annu-
ally. The insurance covers the personal liability of the insured
in the case of a financial loss associated with employment func-
tions. The insurance policy for fiscal 2014 includes a deductible
for the members of the Managing Board and the Supervisory
Board in compliance with the requirements of the German
Stock Corporation Act and the Code.
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111 B.5 Takeover-relevant information (pursuant to Sections 289
para. 4 and 315 para. 4 of the German Commercial Code) and

explanatory report

The takeover-relevant information pursuant to Sections 289
para. 4 and 315 para. 4 of the German Commercial Code (Han-
delsgesetzbuch) and the explanatory report are an integral part
of the Combined Management Report.

B.5.1 Composition of common stock

As of September 30, 2014, the Company’s common stock
totaled €2.643 billion (2013: €2.643 billion) divided into 881 mil-
lion (2013: 881 million) registered shares with no par value and
a notional value of €3.00 per share. The shares are fully paid in.
In accordance with Section 4 para. 3 of the Company's Articles
of Association, the right of shareholders to have their owner-
ship interests evidenced by document is excluded, unless such
evidence is required under the regulations of a stock exchange
on which the shares are listed. Collective share certificates may
be issued. Pursuant to Section 67 para. 2 of the German Stock
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), only those persons recorded
in the Company'’s stock register will be recognized as share-
holders of the Company.

All shares confer the same rights and obligations. The share-
holders’ rights and obligations are governed by the provisions
of the German Stock Corporation Act, in particular by Sections
12, 53a et seq., 118 et seq. and 186 of the German Stock Corpo-
ration Act.

B.5.2 Restrictions on voting rights or
transfer of shares

At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, each share of stock has
one vote and accounts for the shareholders’ proportionate
share in the Company'’s net income. Excepted from this rule are
treasury shares held by the Company, which do not entitle the
Company to any rights. Under Section 136 of the German Stock
Corporation Act the voting right of the affected shares is ex-
cluded by law.

Shares issued to employees worldwide under the employee
share program implemented since the beginning of fiscal 2009,
in particular the Share Matching Plan, are freely transferable un-
less applicable local laws provide otherwise. However, in order
to receive one matching share free of charge for each three
shares purchased, participants are required to hold the shares
purchased by them under the rules of the program for a vesting
period of about three years, during which the participants have
to be continuously employed by Siemens AG or another Siemens
company. The right to receive matching shares is forfeited if the
purchased shares are sold, transferred, hedged on, pledged or
hypothecated in any way during the vesting period.
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The von Siemens-Vermdgensverwaltung GmbH (vSV) has, on a
sustained basis, powers of attorney allowing it to exercise the
voting rights for 9,386,535 shares (as of September 30, 2014) on
behalf of members of the Siemens family, whereby aforemen-
tioned shares constitute a part of the overall number of shares
held by members of the Siemens family. The vSV is a German
limited liability company and party to an agreement with,
among others, members of the Siemens family (family agree-
ment). In order to bundle and represent their interests, the
members of the Siemens family established a family partner-
ship. This family partnership makes proposals to the vSV with
respect to the exercise of the voting rights at Shareholders’
Meetings of the Company, which are taken into account by
the vSV when acting within the bounds of its professional dis-
cretion. Pursuant to the family agreement, the shares under
powers of attorney are voted by the vSV collectively.

B.5.3 Equity interests exceeding 10%
of voting rights

We are not aware of, nor have we during the fiscal year 2014
been notified of, any shareholder directly or indirectly holding
10% or more of the voting rights.

B.5.4 Shares with special rights
conferring powers of control

There are no shares with special rights conferring powers of
control.

B.5.5 System of control of any
employee share scheme where
the control rights are not exercised
directly by the employees

Shares of stock issued by Siemens AG to employees under its
employee share program and/or as stock-based compensation
are transferred directly to the employees. The beneficiary
employees who hold shares of employee stock may exercise
their control rights in the same way as any other shareholder
directly in accordance with applicable laws and the Articles of
Association.
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B.5.6 Legislation and provisions of the
Articles of Association applicable to the
appointment and removal of members
of the Managing Board and governing
amendment to the Articles of Association

The appointment and removal of members of the Managing
Board is subject to the provisions of Sections 84 and 85 of the
German Stock Corporation Act and Section 31 of the German
Codetermination Act (Mitbestimmungsgesetz). According to
Section 8 para.1 of the Articles of Association, the Managing
Board is comprised of several members, the number of which
is determined by the Supervisory Board. Pursuant to Section 84
of the German Stock Corporation Act and Section 9 of the
Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board may appoint a
President of the Managing Board as well as a Vice President.

According to Section 179 of the German Stock Corporation Act,
any amendment to the Articles of Association requires a resolu-
tion of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. The authority to
adopt purely formal amendments to the Articles of Association
was transferred to the Supervisory Board under Section 13
para. 2 of the Articles of Association. In addition, by resolution
of the Annual Shareholders’ Meetings on January 25, 2011 and
January 28, 2014, the Supervisory Board has been authorized to
amend Section 4 of the Articles of Association in accordance
with the utilization of the Authorized Capital 2011 and the
Authorized Capital 2014, and after expiration of the then-appli-
cable authorization period.

Resolutions of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting require a sim-
ple majority vote, unless a greater majority is required by law.
Pursuant to Section 179 para.2 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act, amendments to the Articles of Association require
a majority of at least three-quarters of the capital stock repre-
sented at the time of the casting of the votes, unless another
capital majority is prescribed by the Articles of Association.

B.5.7 Powers of the Managing Board
to issue and repurchase shares

The Managing Board is authorized to increase, with the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board, the capital stock until Janu-
ary 24, 2016 by up to €90 million through the issuance of up to
30 million registered shares of no par value against contribu-
tions in cash (Authorized Capital 2011). Preemptive rights of
existing shareholders are excluded. The new shares shall be
issued under the condition that they are offered exclusively
to employees of Siemens AG and its consolidated subsidiaries.
To the extent permitted by law, employee shares may also be
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issued in such a manner that the contribution to be paid on
such shares is covered by that part of the annual net income
which the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board may
allocate to other retained earnings under Section 58 para.2 of
the German Stock Corporation Act.

Furthermore, the Managing Board is authorized to increase,
with the approval of the Supervisory Board, the capital stock
until January 27, 2019 by up to €528.6 million through the issu-
ance of up to 176.2 million registered shares of no par value
against cash contributions and/or contributions in kind (Author-
ized Capital 2014).

As of September 30, 2014, the total unissued authorized capital
of Siemens AG therefore consisted of €618.6 million nominal
that may be issued in installments with varying terms by issu-
ance of up to 206.2 million registered shares of no par value.

By resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of Janu-
ary 26, 2010, the Managing Board is authorized until Janu-
ary 25, 2015 to issue bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
up to €15 billion with conversion rights or with warrants at-
tached, or a combination of these instruments, entitling the
holders to subscribe to up to 200 million registered shares of
Siemens AG of no par value, representing a pro rata amount of
up to €600 million of the capital stock. Additionally, by resolu-
tion of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of January 28, 2014,
the Managing Board is authorized until January 27, 2019 to
issue bearer or registered bonds in an aggregate principal
amount of up to €15 billion with conversion rights or with
bearer or registered warrants attached or a combination of
these instruments, entitling the holders to subscribe to up to
80 million registered shares of Siemens AG of no par value, rep-
resenting a pro rata amount of up to €240 million of the capital
stock. In order to grant shares of stock to holders/creditors of
convertible bonds or warrant bonds issued by the Company
or by consolidated subsidiaries of the Company under these
authorizations the capital stock was conditionally increased by
up to €600 million through the issuance of up to 200 million
shares of no par value registered in the names of the holders
(Conditional Capital 2010) and by up to €240 million, respec-
tively, through the issuance of up to 80 million shares of no par
value registered in the names of the of the holders (Conditional
Capital 2014).

The new shares under the Authorized Capital 2014 and the
bonds under these authorizations are to be issued against
cash or non-cash contributions. The bonds are, as a matter of
principle, to be offered to shareholders for subscription. The
Managing Board is authorized to exclude, with the approval of
the Supervisory Board, subscription rights of shareholders in
the event of capital increases against contributions in kind.
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In the event of capital increases against contributions in cash,
the Managing Board is authorized to exclude shareholders’
subscription rights with the approval of the Supervisory Board
in the following cases:

> where the issue price of the new shares/bonds is not signif-
icantly lower than the stock market price of the Siemens
shares already listed or the theoretical market price of the
bonds computed in accordance with generally accepted actu-
arial methods (exclusion of preemptive rights, limited to 10%
of the capital stock, in accordance with or by mutatis mutan-
dis application of Section 186 para.3 sentence 4 German
Stock Corporation Act)

> where the exclusion is necessary with regard to fractional
amounts resulting from the subscription ratio

> where the exclusion is necessary in order to grant holders of
conversion or option rights or conversion or option obliga-
tions on Siemens shares a compensation for the effects of
dilution.

The total amount of new shares issued or to be issued under
the Authorized Capital 2014 or in accordance with the bonds
mentioned above, in exchange for contributions in cash and in
kind and with shareholders’ subscription rights excluded, may
in certain cases be subject to further restrictions, such as the
restriction that they may not exceed 20% of the capital stock.
The details of those restrictions are described in the relevant
authorization.

In February 2012, Siemens issued bonds with warrant units
with a volume of US$3 billion. The bonds with warrant units
with a minimum per-unit denomination of US$250,000 were
offered exclusively to institutional investors outside the U.S.
Subscription rights of Siemens shareholders were excluded.
The bonds issued by Siemens Financieringsmaatschappij N.V.
are guaranteed by Siemens AG and complemented with war-
rants issued by Siemens AG. The warrants entitle their holders
to receive Siemens shares against payment of the exercise
price in euros. At issuance, the warrants resulted in option
rights relating to a total of about 21.7 million Siemens shares.
The terms and conditions of the warrants enable Siemens to
service exercised option rights also by delivering treasury stock
as well as to buy back the warrants. The bonds with warrant
units were issued in two tranches with maturities of 5.5 years
and 7.5 years, respectively. The maturities refer to both the
bonds and the related warrants.

The Company may not repurchase its own shares unless so
authorized by a resolution duly adopted by the shareholders
at a general meeting or in other very limited circumstances
set forth in the German Stock Corporation Act. On January 25,
2011, the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting authorized the
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Company to acquire until January 24, 2016 up to 10% of its
capital stock existing at the date of adopting the resolution
or — if this value is lower — as of the date on which the autho-
rization is exercised. The aggregate of shares of stock of
Siemens AG repurchased under this authorization and any
other Siemens shares previously acquired and still held in
treasury by the Company or attributable to the Company pur-
suant to Sections 71d and 71e of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act may at no time exceed 10% of the then existing capi-
tal stock. Any repurchase of Siemens shares shall be
accomplished at the discretion of the Managing Board either
(1) by acquisition over the stock exchange or (2) through a
public share repurchase offer. The Managing Board is addi-
tionally authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory
Board, to complete the repurchase of Siemens shares in
accordance with the authorization described above by using
certain equity derivatives (such as put and call options, for-
ward purchases and any combination of these derivatives). In
exercising this authorization, all stock repurchases based on
the equity derivatives are limited to a maximum volume of
5% of Siemens’ capital stock existing at the date of adopting
the resolution at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. An equity
derivative’s term of maturity may not, in any case, exceed
18 months and must be chosen in such a way that the repur-
chase of Siemens shares upon exercise of the equity deriva-
tive will take place no later than January 24, 2016.

Besides selling them over the stock exchange or through a pub-
lic sales offer to all shareholders, the Managing Board is author-
ized by resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on
January 25, 2011 to also use Siemens shares repurchased on the
basis of this or any previously given authorization as follows:

Such Siemens shares may be

> retired

> offered for purchase to individuals currently or formerly em-
ployed by the Company or any of its affiliated companies as
well as to board members of any of the Company’s affiliated
companies, or awarded and/or transferred to such individu-
als with a vesting period of at least two years

> offered and transferred, with the approval of the Supervisory
Board, to third parties against non-cash contributions

> sold, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to third par-
ties against payment in cash if the price at which such
Siemens shares are sold is not significantly lower than
the market price of Siemens stock at the time of selling (ex-
clusion of subscription rights, limited to 10% of the capital
stock, by mutatis mutandis application of Section 186 para. 3
sentence 4 German Stock Corporation Act) or

> used to meet obligations or rights to acquire Siemens shares
arising from, or in connection with, convertible bonds or war-
rant bonds issued by the Company or any of its consolidated
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subsidiaries (exclusion of subscription rights, limited to 10%
of the capital stock, by mutatis mutandis application of Sec-
tion 186 para. 3 sentence 4 German Stock Corporation Act).

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board is authorized to use shares
acquired on the basis of this or any previously given authoriza-
tion to meet obligations or rights to acquire Siemens shares
that were or will be agreed with members of the Managing
Board within the framework of rules governing Managing
Board compensation.

In November 2013, the Company announced that it would carry
out a share buyback of up to €4 billion in volume within the
next up to 24 months using the authorization given by the An-
nual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 25, 2011. The buyback
commenced on May 12, 2014. Under this share buyback
Siemens repurchased 11,331,922 shares by September 30, 2014.
The total consideration paid for these shares amounted to
about €1.079 billion (excluding incidental transaction charges).
The buyback may serve only to cancel and reduce the capital
stock, issue shares to employees, board members of affiliated
companies and members of the Managing Board of Siemens AG,
or service convertible bonds and warrant bonds.

As of September 30, 2014, the Company held 45,745,147 (2013:
37,997,595) shares of stock in treasury.

For details on the authorizations, especially with respect to the
restrictions to exclude subscription rights and the terms to in-
clude shares when calculating such restrictions, please refer to
the relevant resolution and to Section 4 of the Articles of Associ-
ation. For further information on the authorized and conditional
capitals and on the treasury stock of the Company as of Sep-
tember 30, 2014, see —> NOTE 25 EQUITY in —> D.6 NOTES TO
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS on pages 289-290 of this
Annual Report.

B.5.8 Significant agreements which take
effect, alter or terminate upon a change
of control of the Company following a
takeover bid

Siemens AG maintains two lines of credit in an amount of
€4 billion and an amount of US$3 billion, respectively, which
provide its lenders with a right of termination in the event that
(1) Siemens AG becomes a subsidiary of another company or
(2) a person or a group of persons acting in concert acquires
effective control over Siemens AG by being able to exercise
decisive influence over its activities (Art. 3(2) of Council Regu-
lation (EC) 139/2004). In addition, Siemens AG has a bilateral

credit line at its disposal in the amount of €450 million which
may be terminated by the lender if major changes in
Siemens AG's corporate legal situation occur that jeopardize
the orderly repayment of the credit.

In March 2013, a consolidated subsidiary as borrower and
Siemens AG as guarantor entered into two bilateral loan agree-
ments, each of which has been drawn in the full amount of
US$500 million. Both agreements provide their respective
lenders with a right of termination in the event that (1)
Siemens AG becomes a subsidiary of another company or (2)
a person or a group of persons acting in concert acquires effec-
tive control over Siemens AG by being able to exercise decisive
influence over its activities (Art. 3(2) of Council Regulation
(EC) 139/2004).

Framework agreements concluded by Siemens AG under Inter-
national Swaps and Derivatives Association Inc. documenta-
tion (ISDA Agreements) grant the counterparty a right of termi-
nation when Siemens AG consolidates with, merges into, or
transfers substantially all its assets to a third party. However,
this right of termination only exists, if (1) the resulting entity’s
creditworthiness is materially weaker than Siemens AG's im-
mediately prior to such event or (2) the resulting entity fails to
simultaneously assume Siemens AG's obligations under the
ISDA Agreement. Additionally, some ISDA Agreements grant
the counterparty a right of termination if a third party acquires
the beneficial ownership of equity securities that enable it to
elect a majority of Siemens AG's Supervisory Board or other-
wise acquire the power to control Siemens AG's material policy-
making decisions and if the creditworthiness of Siemens AG is
materially weaker than it was immediately prior to such an
event. In either situation, ISDA Agreements are designed such
that upon termination all outstanding payment claims docu-
mented under them are to be netted.

In February 2012, Siemens issued bonds with warrant units
with a volume of US$3 billion. In case of a change of control,
the terms and conditions of these warrants enable their hold-
ers to receive a higher number of Siemens shares in accordance
with an adjusted strike price if they exercise their option rights
within a certain period of time after the change of control. This
period of time shall end either (1) not less than 30 days and no
more than 60 days after publication of the notice of the issuer
regarding the change of control, as determined by the issuer or
(2) 30 days after the change of control first becomes publicly
known. The strike price adjustment decreases depending on
the remaining term of the warrants and is determined in detail
in the terms and conditions of the warrants. In this context, a
change of control occurs if control of Siemens AG is acquired
by a person or by persons acting in concert.
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B.5.9 Compensation agreements with
members of the Managing Board or
employees in the event of a takeover bid

In the event of a change of control that results in a substantial
change in the position of a Managing Board member (for exam-
ple, due to a change in corporate strategy or a change in the
Managing Board member’s duties and responsibilities), the
member of the Managing Board has the right to terminate his
or her contract with the Company for good cause. A change of
control exists if one or several shareholders acting jointly or in
concert acquire a majority of the voting rights in Siemens AG
and exercise a controlling influence, or if Siemens AG becomes
a dependent enterprise as a result of entering into an intercom-
pany agreement within the meaning of Section 291 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act, or if Siemens AG is to be merged
into an existing corporation or other entity. If this right of ter-
mination is exercised, the Managing Board member is entitled
to a severance payment in the amount of no more than two
years’ compensation. The calculation of the annual compensa-
tion includes not only the base compensation and the target
amount for the bonus, but also the target amount for the stock
awards, in each case based on the most recent completed fiscal
year prior to termination of the contract. The stock-based com-
pensation components for which a firm commitment already
exists will remain unaffected. There is no entitlement to a sev-
erance payment if the Managing Board member receives bene-
fits from third parties in connection with a change of control.
Moreover, there is no right to terminate if the change of control
occurs within a period of twelve months prior to a Managing
Board member’s retirement. Additionally, the severance pay-
ments cover non-monetary benefits by including an amount of
5% of the total severance amount. Severance payments will be
reduced by 15% as a lump-sum allowance for discounted values
and for income earned elsewhere. However, this reduction will
apply only to the portion of the severance payment that was
calculated without taking account of the first six months of the
remaining term of the Managing Board member’s contract.
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In our Combined Management Report,
we analyze our business activities

in the reporting year as well as the
current state of Siemens worldwide
and Siemens AG. Starting from a
description of our business, economic
environment and strategy, we present
our financial target system and a
detailed explanation of our results of
operations as well as our financial
and net assets position. We also report
on various aspects of sustainability
at Siemens and on expected develop-
ments and their material opportunities
and risks.

] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/COMBINED-MANAGEMENT-REPORT

Additional Sustainability indicators are available at:
|;| WWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/SUSTAINABILITY-FIGURES
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111 C.1 Business and economic environment

C.11 The Siemens Group

C.1.1.1 ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
We are a globally operating technology company with core ac-
tivities in the fields of electrification, automation and digital-
ization, and we occupy leading market positions worldwide in
the majority of our businesses. We can look back on a success-
ful history spanning 167 years, with groundbreaking and revo-
lutionary innovations such as the invention of the dynamo,
the first electric streetcar, the construction of the first public
power plant, and the first images of the inside of the human
body. On a continuing basis, we have around 343,000 employees
as of September 30, 2014 and business activities in nearly all
countries of the world and reported consolidated revenue of
€71.920 billion in fiscal 2014. We operate 289 major produc-
tion and manufacturing plants worldwide. In addition, we have
office buildings, warehouses, research and development facili-
ties or sales offices in almost every country in the world.

Siemens comprises Siemens AG, a stock corporation under the

Federal laws of Germany, as the parent company and a total
of about 800 legal entities, including minority investments.

| Reportable segments as of September 30, 2014

Our Company is incorporated in Germany, with our corporate
headquarters situated in Munich. Siemens operates under the
leadership of its Managing Board. The Siemens Managing
Board is the sole management body and has overall business
responsibility in accordance with the German Stock Corporation
Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG). At all other organizational levels
within our Company, management responsibility is assigned to
individuals who make decisions and assume personal responsi-
bility (CEO principle). This principle establishes clear and direct
responsibilities and fosters efficient decision-making.

Below the Managing Board, Siemens was structured organiza-
tionally into four Sectors (Energy, Healthcare, Industry and
Infrastructure &Cities), Financial Services (SFS), Cross-Sector
Services, Corporate Units and Countries in fiscal 2014. The
Sectors were principally broken down into Divisions and these
in turn into Business Units.

In fiscal 2014, the Sectors formed four of our reportable seg-
ments. In addition to our four Sectors, we had two additional
reportable segments: Equity Investments and SFS. The following
figure shows our reportable segments as of September 30, 2014.

| Total Sectors

Industry
Sector

Healthcare
Sector

Energy
Sector

therein: therein: therein:
> Power Generation
> Wind Power

> Power Transmission

> Diagnostics > Industry Automation

> Drive Technologies

Infrastructure & Cities
Sector

Financial
Services

Equity
Investments

therein:

> Transportation &
Logistics

> Power Grid
Solutions & Products

> Building
Technologies

During fiscal 2014, we initiated a change in the organizational
structure of Siemens, which became effective as of October 1,
2014. Beginning with fiscal 2015, we eliminated the Sectors and
bundled the businesses of the former Energy, Industry and
Infrastructure & Cities Sectors into seven reportable segments,

which consist of the following Divisions: Power and Gas;
Wind Power and Renewables; Energy Management; Build-
ing Technologies; Mobility; Digital Factory; and Process
Industries and Drives.
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| Global presence’

Americas IIIIIII|||II
I
I

18,756 H
20,880 H
70,000 #1

76 &

A2N

revenue (in millions of €)3
26% of total worldwide

orders (in millions of €)*
27% of total worldwide

employees*
20% of total worldwide

major
production plants®
26% of total worldwide

Europe, C.I.S.,?
Africa, Middle East [lIl] ||||||
N 0
1

38,732 H
41,542
211,000 #

Asia,
Australia III|||||
|||I
Y

14,433 H
15,929 H
62,000 #1t

74 H

revenue (in millions of €)3
54% of total worldwide

orders (in millions of €)3
53% of total worldwide

employees*
62% of total worldwide

major
production plants®
48% of total worldwide

revenue (in millions of €)3
20% of total worldwide

orders (in millions of €)3
20% of total worldwide

employees*
18% of total worldwide

major

production plants®
26% of total worldwide

[ 1 figures refer to continuing operations.

2 Commonwealth of Independent States.

3 By customer location.
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The following figure shows the main transfers of the businesses
from the three Sectors Energy, Industry and Infrastructure &
Cities as of September 30, 2014 to these Divisions as of
October 1, 2014.

| Transfer of businesses as of October 1, 2014

Energy Sector

Industry Sector

Infrastructure & Cities Sector

Power Drive Trans- Power Grid Building
Power . Industry 5 .
- Wind Power Trans- i Tech- portation & Solutions & Tech-
Generation o Automation o o5 3 .
mission nologies Logistics Products nologies
\L j/ v J/ Jz v
Wind Power Ener A-f Process Buildin
Power 9y Digital . - 9
and Manage- Industries Mobility Tech-
and Gas " Factory n -
Renewables ment and Drives nologies
1 All businesses except for solutions for oil and gas 2 Beginning with fiscal 2015, the airport logistics and 3 All businesses except for rail electrification go to Energy

industries go to Power and Gas, oil and gas solutions
go to Process Industries and Drives.

For more details on these organizational changes see —> c.1.1.2
BUSINESS DESCRIPTION.

In addition, the former Healthcare Sector became a separately
managed business within Siemens effective October 1, 2014.
The above mentioned seven Divisions together with Health-
care form our Industrial Business.

Beginning of fiscal 2015, Siemens’ reportable segments are as
follows:

| Reportable segments as of October 1, 2014

postal automation business is reported within Centrally
managed portfolio activities.

Management; Rail electrification goes to Mobility.

4 Also includes solar and hydro business.

SFS, which acts as business partner for Siemens'’s other Divi-
sions and Healthcare and also conducts its own business with
external customers, is a reportable segment which is reported
outside our Industrial Business. Beginning with fiscal 2015,
Equity Investments ceased to be a reportable segment and
became part of Centrally managed portfolio activities, which
are reported within the Reconciliation to Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements.

Industrial Business

Wind Power Energy Building A-fl Process . .
Power - Digital . Financial
and Manage- Tech- Mobility Industries Healthcare 5
and Gas A Factory n Services
Renewables ment nologies and Drives
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Our Divisions are responsible for developing and implementing
their strategy; for developing and producing their portfolio of
products and services; and for managing their sales channels.
As “global entrepreneurs” they have end-to-end business re-
sponsibility worldwide, including with regard to their operating
results. They therefore have “right of way” over the regional
units in business matters.

As of October 1, 2014, Healthcare became a separately managed
unit, which includes among others, the set-up of customized
structures (e.g. sales structures, R&D), systems (especially IT)
and functions (e.g. human resources, procurement).

Beginning with fiscal 2015, our businesses are supported by our
Corporate Core, which comprises the units Corporate Develop-
ment; Governance &Markets; Communications and Govern-
ment Affairs; Legal and Compliance, Human Resources; Corpo-
rate Technology; and Controlling and Finance and by our
Corporate Services, which consist of the units Information
Technology; Supply Chain Management; Export Control and
Customs; Business Process Services; and Siemens Real Estate.
The Corporate Core issues binding company-wide guidelines in
coordination with the Managing Board and oversee their imple-
mentation. In addition, the Heads of selected corporate func-
tions (Governance &Markets, Communications and Govern-
ment Affairs, Legal and Compliance, Human Resources,
Controlling and Finance) have an unrestricted right to issue
instructions in relation to their function across all parts of the
company in accordance with the Bylaws for the Managing
Board of Siemens AG and to the extent legally permissible.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2014, we disbanded our
Regional Cluster organization. Following this organizational
change, we have designated 30 Lead Countries which are indi-
vidually responsible for managing a number of other Coun-
tries regarding market penetration. The Lead Countries and
their assigned Countries are responsible for the local customer
relationship management and for implementing the business
strategies of the Divisions. Each Lead Country reports directly
to the Managing Board.

Except otherwise stated, financial measures presented in this
Combined Management Report are based on our organizational
structure as of September 30, 2014. Based on this organiza-
tional structure, we provide financial measures for our four
Sectors and for two Businesses, each combining two Divisions
within a Sector as well as for eight Divisions of our Sectors.
These financial measures include: orders, revenue, profit and
profit margin. Divisions within a Sector may do business with
each other, leading to corresponding orders and revenue. Such
orders and revenues are eliminated on a Sector level. Further-
more, our reportable segments may do business with each
other, leading to corresponding orders and revenue. Such
orders and revenue are eliminated on the Siemens level within
Eliminations, Corporate Treasury and other reconciling items
and are not included in orders and revenue with external cus-
tomers (external orders and external revenue, respectively)
reported in this document. For Equity Investments we report
profit, and for SFS we report profit and total assets. Free cash
flow and further financial measures are reported for each
reportable segment in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. For information related to the definition of these
financial measures and to the reconciliation of segment finan-
cial measures to the Consolidated Financial Statements, see
—> NOTE 35 il’l —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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C.1.1.2 BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Until September 30, 2014, our business activities focused on
the four Sectors Energy, Healthcare, Industry and Infrastruc-
ture &Cities. In addition to these four Sectors, we had two addi-
tional reportable segments: Equity Investments and SFS. For
more information on the portfolio transactions described
below, see —> NOTE 4 in —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS.

Energy

The businesses of the former Energy Sector offer a wide spec-
trum of products, solutions and services for generating and
transmitting power, and for extracting, converting and trans-
porting oil and gas.

In fiscal 2014, the Energy Sector comprised four Divisions:
Power Generation; Wind Power; Power Transmission; and
Energy Service. In addition, the Sector included two Sector-
led businesses: solar and hydro. Results for these businesses
were included in results for the Sector. Siemens has decided
to exit solar business activities after completing projects in
progress.

The businesses of our former Power Generation Division offer
an extensive portfolio of products and solutions for generating
electricity from fossil fuels and for producing and transporting
oil and gas. The Division's customers include both energy pro-
viders and industrial companies. Due to the broad range of the
offerings, the Division's revenue mix may vary from reporting
period to reporting period depending on the share of revenue
attributable to products, solutions and services. Because typical
profitability levels differ among these three revenue sources,
the revenue mix in a reporting period accordingly affects
Division profit for that period.

In May 2014, we announced the acquisition of the Rolls-Royce
Energy aero-derivative gas turbine and compressor business
of Rolls-Royce plc, U.K. With the acquisition, we intend to
strengthen our position in the growing oil and gas industry as
well as in the field of decentralized power generation. In Sep-
tember 2014, we have entered into an agreement with Dresser-
Rand to acquire all of its issued and outstanding common
shares by way of a friendly takeover bid. With its comprehen-
sive portfolio of compressors, steam turbines, gas turbines and
engines, Dresser-Rand is a leading supplier for the oil &gas,
process, power and other industries in the related energy infra-
structure markets worldwide. The acquisition complements our
existing offerings, notably for the global oil &gas industry and
for distributed power generation.

Beginning with fiscal 2015, substantially all of the former Divi-
sion’s businesses will be included in the new Power and Gas
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Division. Our solution business for the oil and gas industry will
be included in the new Process Industries and Drives Division.

The businesses of our former Wind Power Division manufac-
ture wind turbines for onshore and offshore applications, in-
cluding both geared turbines and direct drive machines. The
product portfolio is based on four product platforms, two for
each of the onshore and offshore applications. The revenue mix
of these businesses may vary from reporting period to report-
ing period depending on the project mix between onshore and
offshore projects in the respective period. Beginning with fiscal
2015, these businesses were combined with our solar and hydro
activities in the new Wind Power and Renewables Division.

The businesses of our former Power Transmission Division
provide energy utilities and large industrial power users
with turnkey power transmission solutions as well as discrete
products, systems and related engineering and services. These
offerings are used to process and transmit electrical power
from the source, such as power plants and onshore and off-
shore wind farms, to various points along the power trans-
mission network. Beginning with fiscal 2015, these businesses
are part of the new Energy Management Division.

The businesses of the former Energy Service Division offer
comprehensive services for products, solutions and technol-
ogies, covering performance enhancements, maintenance ser-
vices, customer trainings and consulting services for the for-
mer Divisions Power Generation and Wind Power. Financial
results relating to the Energy Service Division were included in
these Divisions. Beginning with fiscal 2015, the Division was
renamed Power Generation Services. Results for that Division
will be included in the new Power and Gas and Wind Power and
Renewables Divisions.

Healthcare

Healthcare offers customers a comprehensive portfolio of
medical solutions across the treatment chain - from preven-
tion and early detection to diagnosis, treatment and follow-up
care. We are a major supplier of technology to the healthcare
industry worldwide and a trendsetter in medical imaging, labo-
ratory diagnostics, healthcare IT and hearing instruments. In
addition, we provide technical maintenance, professional and
consulting services, and, together with SFS, financing to assist
customers in purchasing our products.

In August 2014, we announced our plan to sell our hospital
information system business to the U.S.-based company Cerner
Corp. Since the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, these activities
formerly included in the Healthcare Sector fulfilled the require-
ments to be reported as discontinued operations. Results for
prior periods are reported on a comparable basis.
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Because a large part of our revenue stems from recurring busi-
ness, our business activities are to a certain extent resilient to
short-term economic trends but are dependent on regulatory
and policy developments around the world. We are currently
operating in a low growth environment, impacted by healthcare
reforms, budgetary constraints and consolidation of healthcare
service providers, predominantly in the U.S. and Europe.

In fiscal 2014, the Healthcare Sector included four Divisions:
Imaging & Therapy Systems, Clinical Products, Diagnostics
and Customer Solutions. The Sector also included Audiology
Solutions, a Sector-led business. In addition to our Sector-level
financial results, we also reported financial results for our
Diagnostics Division.

Beginning with fiscal 2015, Siemens Healthcare will be man-
aged separately under the Siemens umbrella. This will enable
Healthcare to adjust to markets flexibly and in a more focused
way. It means in essence, a sales organization optimized to
meet the needs of Healthcare and a Healthcare specific set up
of support and central functions. In addition, Siemens an-
nounced in November 2014 the sale of its hearing aid business
Audiology Solutions to the investment company EQT and the
German entrepreneurial family Strlingmann as co-investors.

Industry

With the businesses included in the former Industry Sector, we
are one of the world's leading suppliers of innovative and envi-
ronmentally friendly products and solutions for industrial com-
panies, particularly those in the process and manufacturing
industries. Our end-to-end automation solutions, drive technol-
ogies, industrial IT and industry software, in-depth industry
expertise and technology-based services help our customers
use resources and energy more efficiently, improve productiv-
ity, and increase flexibility.

In fiscal year 2014, the Sector consisted of three Divisions:
Industry Automation, Drive Technologies and Customer Ser-
vices. Financial results relating to the Customer Services Divi-
sion were included in the results for Industry Automation and
Drive Technologies. During the third quarter of fiscal 2014,
nearly all activities of the Metals Technologies business for-
merly included in the Industry Sector fulfilled the requirements
to be reported as discontinued operations. These activities
are to become part of a joint venture with Mitsubishi-Hitachi
Metals Machinery Inc., in which Siemens will hold a 49% stake.
Results for prior periods are reported on a comparable basis.

The businesses of the former Industry Automation Division
offer a unique combination of automation technologies, indus-
trial controls and industry software that supports customers in
optimizing the complete product development and production

processes — from product design to production to sales and ser-
vice. In line with “Industrie 4.0" — a German high-tech indus-
trial strategy — we are working on the convergence between
the real and the virtual worlds of production, sometimes called
“Digital Enterprise.” Our portfolio is geared largely to the man-
ufacturing industry and its major markets such as automotive,
aerospace and production equipment as well as food and bev-
erage, pharmaceutical and chemical. Therefore our business
activities can be strongly affected by economic cycles because
these markets tend to react quickly to changes in the overall
economic environment.

With the businesses of the former Drive Technologies Divi-
sion we are one of the world's leading suppliers of integrated
drive systems. With our products and systems for innovative
applications and industry-specific solutions as well as end-to-
end services, we are increasing the productivity, energy effi-
ciency and reliability of machinery and installations in indus-
tries such as shipbuilding, cement, mining, and pulp and
paper. Advanced industry software facilitates our offerings’
optimal integration. Our reliable gears, couplings, and drive
solutions are partly also in high demand in other Divisions of
the Siemens Group, mainly for rail transport and wind turbines.
With our e-Car business, we develop motors and inverters for
electric cars and thereby address an additional future growth
market. The industries served by our businesses, particularly
the process industries, the energy industry and the infrastruc-
ture sector, generally show a delayed response to changes in
the overall economic environment. In contrast, our business
activities that serve customers in the manufacturing industries
can be strongly affected by economic cycles.

With a comprehensive portfolio of services and a global net-
work of experts, our businesses of the former Customer
Services Division support our industrial customers with tech-
nology-based industry services across entire lifecycles of their
plants and machinery - from planning and engineering to
operation and modernization.

Beginning with fiscal 2015, we serve the industrial market
with two new Divisions that tailor their strategies to specific
customer industries. The Digital Factory Division primarily
addresses the manufacturing industry and its major markets:
automotive, aerospace, and machine tool and production equip-
ment over the complete product lifecycle of our customers.
The Process Industries and Drives Division focuses largely on
the process industries like pharmaceutical, food &beverage,
chemical and related industries as well as drive solutions for
infrastructure topics. The related business activities within the
former Industry Automation and Drive Technologies Divisions
were accordingly realigned into the two new Divisions. In order
to streamline the process automation activities in the oil &gas
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industries, the former Energy Power Generation Division's
oil & gas solutions business is part of the new Process Indus-
tries and Drives Division. The former Customer Services
Division is managed within the new Digital Factory Division.

Infrastructure & Cities

The businesses of the former Infrastructure & Cities Sector of-
fer a wide range of technologies that increase the functionality
and sustainability of metropolitan centers and urban infra-
structures worldwide, such as integrated mobility solutions,
building and security systems, power distribution equipment,
grid automation and control products and solutions, smart grid
applications and low and medium-voltage products. We apply
our IT and automation expertise to optimize infrastructures —
making better use of existing systems and reducing operating
costs while increasing energy efficiency and improving safety
and security.

In fiscal 2014, the Sector consisted of five Divisions: Rail Sys-
tems; Mobility and Logistics; Low and Medium Voltage; Smart
Grid; and Building Technologies. Financial results of the Rail
Systems and the Mobility and Logistics Divisions were com-
bined and reported together as the results of the Sector’s Trans-
portation & Logistics Business. Financial results of the Divisions
Low and Medium Voltage and Smart Grid were combined and
reported together as the Sector’s Power Grid Solutions & Prod-
ucts Business.

The offerings of the former Rail Systems Division comprise
Siemens’ rail vehicle business — including high-speed trains,
commuter trains, passenger coaches, metros, people movers,
light rail vehicles, locomotives, bogies, traction systems and
rail-related services. We combine our expertise in the fields of
mass transit, regional and long-distance transportation, driver-
less systems, traction systems, bogies and onboard power
supplies in order to offer comprehensive know-how for reliable
and efficient rail vehicles.

The business activities of the former Mobility and Logistics
Division hold leading positions as global providers of the inte-
grated technologies that enable people and goods to be trans-
ported safely, efficiently and in an environmentally friendly
manner. Our offerings encompass rail automation and intelli-
gent traffic and transportation systems. The products, services
and IT-based solutions in our portfolio combine innovation
with comprehensive industry know-how. In fiscal 2014, our of-
ferings also comprised our airport logistics business for cargo
tracking and baggage handling and our postal automation
business for letter and parcel sorting. In the third quarter of
fiscal 2014, Siemens announced that it no longer intends to sell
this business. The activities are to be carved out and operated
as a separate business under the Siemens umbrella so that this
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business can operate better and more flexible in its medium-
sized competitive environment. Beginning with fiscal 2015, the
airport logistics and postal automation business is reported
within Centrally managed portfolio activities, which are part of
the Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The principal customers of the businesses included in our for-
mer Rail Systems and Mobility and Logistics Divisions are pub-
lic and state-owned companies in the transportation and logis-
tics sectors. Markets served by these businesses are driven
primarily by public spending. Customers of these businesses
usually have multi-year planning and implementation hori-
zons, and their contract tenders therefore tend to be indepen-
dent of short-term economic trends.

Beginning with fiscal 2015, the business activities of the former
Rail Systems and Mobility and Logistics Divisions are combined
to form the Mobility Division. The Mobility Division also includes
the rail electrification business of the former Smart Grid Division.

The business activities of the former Low and Medium Volt-
age Division supply public energy providers, industrial compa-
nies and municipal utilities with a complete range of products,
systems and solutions for power distribution infrastructures.
Our portfolio includes highly reliable power supply solutions
for conventional power plants and renewable energy systems
as well as intelligent, compact substations for urban and rural
distribution networks. We also offer energy-efficient solutions
for heavy industry, the oil&gas industry and the process
industry. Energy-efficient solutions and energy storage systems
for the integration of renewable energies into power grids
round off our portfolio. Business activities included in our Low
and Medium Voltage Division generally tend to react quickly to
changes in the overall economic environment.

Beginning with fiscal 2015, the business activities of the former
Low and Medium Voltage Division are included in the new
Energy Management Division.

The business activities of the former Smart Grid Division offer
power providers, network operators, industrial enterprises and
cities an end-to-end portfolio of products and solutions for
developing intelligent grid infrastructures. Smart grids enable
a bidirectional flow of energy and information. They are re-
quired for the integration of more renewable energy sources
into conventional power transmission and distribution net-
works. In addition, power providers can run their plants more
efficiently with data gained from smart grids. Software solu-
tions that analyze data from smart grids will continuously gain
importance. Our offerings include both in-house technology
development and systems from software partners. The principal
customers are power producers, grid operators, multi utilities,
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cities and rail operators. Changes in the overall economic envi-
ronment generally have a delayed effect on our business activ-
ities. Furthermore, parts of our businesses are driven by public
spending. Customers in the public sector usually have multi-
year planning and implementation horizons, and their contract
tenders therefore tend to be independent of short-term eco-
nomic trends.

Beginning with fiscal 2015, all businesses of the former Smart
Grid Division except for the rail electrification business are in-
cluded in the new Energy Management Division. As described
above, the rail electrification business is included in the new
Mobility Division as of fiscal 2015.

The Building Technologies Division is a leading provider of
automation technologies and services for safe, secure and effi-
cient buildings and infrastructures throughout the lifecycle of
buildings. The Division offers products, solutions and services
for fire safety, security, building automation, heating, venti-
lation, air conditioning and energy management. The large
customer base is widely-dispersed. It includes public and com-
mercial building owners, operators and tenants, building con-
struction general contractors and system houses. Changes in
the overall economic environment generally have a delayed
effect on our business activities.

At the beginning of fiscal 2015, the Building Technologies Divi-
sion includes the same business activities as it did at the end of
fiscal 2014.

Equity Investments

In fiscal 2014, Equity Investments in general comprised equity
stakes held by Siemens that are accounted for by the equity
method or as available-for-sale financial assets and that for
strategic reasons are not allocated to a Sector or a Division, re-
spectively, SFS, Centrally managed portfolio activities, Siemens
Real Estate (SRE), Corporate items or Corporate Treasury. Our
main investments within Equity Investments were our 50%
stake in BSH Bosch und Siemens Hausgerdte GmbH (BSH), our
17% stake in OSRAM Licht AG (OSRAM), our 12% stake in Atos SE
(AtoS) and our 49% stake in Enterprise Networks Holdings
B.V. (EN), which in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, was re-
named Unify Holdings B.V. (Unify). In the fourth quarter of fiscal
2014, Siemens signed an agreement to sell its stake in BSH to
Robert Bosch GmbH. The transaction is expected to be com-
pleted in the first half of calendar 2015. Equity Investments
ceased to be a reportable segment beginning with fiscal 2015.
As of October 1, 2014, equity stakes formerly included in Equity
Investments are reported within Centrally managed portfolio
activities, which are part of the Reconciliation to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Financial Services

Financial Services (SFS) provides business-to-business finan-
cial solutions. With its specialist financing and technology
expertise in the areas of Siemens businesses, SFS supports cus-
tomer investments with leasing solutions and equipment,
project and structured financing. SFS provides capital for
Siemens customers as well as other companies and manages
financial risks of Siemens.

SFS operates the Corporate Treasury of the Siemens Group,
which includes managing liquidity, cash and interest risks as
well as certain foreign exchange, credit and commodities risks.
Business activities and tasks of Corporate Treasury are reported
in the segment information within Reconciliation to Consoli-
dated Financial Statements. For further information on Corpo-
rate Treasury activities see —> c.4.1 PRINCIPLES AND OBJECTIVES OF

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT.

C.1.2 Economic environment

C.1.2.1 WORLDWIDE ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

Fiscal year 2014 started with a divergent global economic
development. While emerging countries showed a mixed pic-
ture with growth slowing down in the BRIC countries (Brasil,
Russia, India, China), early economic indicators in many indus-
trial economies (U.S., U.X., Japan, countries of the Euro zone)
signaled improvements. In the Euro zone, years of economic
stagnation and recession seemed set to come to an end. Given
the importance of these "heavy weights” for the world econ-
omy, expectations for fiscal 2014 were quite positive. Indeed,
with growth of 2.8% year-over-year, global gross domestic
product (GDP) growth had accelerated in the second half of cal-
endar 2013 compared to the first half, when GDP grew by 2.1%
year-over-year. However, these promising prospects did not
materialize in 2014 for several unforeseeable reasons. The un-
usually strong winter of 2013/2014 disrupted large parts of the
U.S. economy and led to negative GDP growth in the U.S. in the
first quarter of calendar 2014. With the start of calendar 2014,
the first of a series of geopolitical conflicts escalated: the con-
flict in Ukraine brought about substantial uncertainty for the
whole year. In the Middle East, several military conflicts got
worse: Israel and Palestinians again went to war; Libya fell back
into political chaos; the militant group “Islamic State” made sig-
nificant military advances in Syria and Iraq and triggered an
American-led intervention. All these shocks to the global econ-
omy led to increased uncertainty and weighed on global econ-
omic activity. Accordingly, global GDP grew only by 2.7% and
not by 3.2% as expected in October 2013. The slowdown of fixed
investment growth and value added manufacturing growth —
both important indicators for Siemens as a producer of capital
goods — was even stronger: Fixed investments grew by only
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3.6% in 2014 and not by 5.2% as expected in October 2013,
global value added in manufacturing grew by only 3.5% and
not by the expected 4.0%, hurting Siemens’ industrial and
energy-related businesses in particular.

From a geographical perspective, the region Europe, C.LS.,
Africa, Middle East was the only of our three reporting regions
delivering faster GDP growth in 2014 than in 2013. However,
with 1.6% the level of growth is still lower than in the other re-
porting regions. In addition, last year's expectation was 0.5 per-
centage points higher. The main reasons for the disappointing
performance are the still very sluggish development in Europe,
in particular the Euro zone, and recessions in both Russia and
Ukraine. In Germany, the fiscal year started promisingly with
sentiment indicators continuously improving, followed by a
strong first quarter of calendar 2014 (which was partly due to
mild winter weather). However, in the course of year 2014 the
uncertainties caused by the geopolitical conflicts increasingly
weighed on economic activity and slowed down GDP growth
for the full year.

In the Americas region, growth slowed down slightly to 2.0%.
A year earlier, the expectation was for growth of 2.7%. The
harsh winter mentioned above, which reduced consumption
and factory output in some areas of the U.S. and Canada, was
one reason for the slowdown. In addition, the economies of
most Latin American countries grew substantially slower than
estimated last year. For example GDP growth for Brazil was
marked down from 3.1% to a negative 0.1% from October 2013
to October 2014. The pattern was similar for Argentina, Chile,
Venezuela and Peru. One important driver for this weak perfor-
mance was globally weaker commodity markets.

In Asia, Australia, GDP growth for calendar 2014 is estimated
at 4.8%, virtually the same level as in previous years. Compared
to last year’s expectation this is 0.3 percentage points lower,

| World real GDP growth (in % compared to previous period)’

reflecting slower growth in China (7.3% against 8% expected
last year), which is largely explained by continued downturns
in real estate and manufacturing investment. India suffered
from investment shifts before the general election that took
place from April to May 2014.
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The partly estimated figures presented here for GDP, fixed
investments and manufacturing value added are calculated by
Siemens based on an IHS Global Insight report dated Octo-
ber 15, 2014.

Our businesses are dependent on the development of raw
material prices. Key materials to which we have significant cost
exposure include copper, various grades and formats of steel,
and aluminum. In addition, within stainless steel we have
exposure related to nickel and ferro-alloy materials.

The average monthly price of copper (denominated in € per
metric ton) for September 2014 was 1% lower than the average
monthly price in September 2013. Prices on a fiscal-year average
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were still 10% lower in fiscal 2014 than the average for fiscal
2013, reflecting modest demand during fiscal 2014.

Average monthly prices of aluminum traded on the London
Metal Exchange recently rebounded and were 17% higher
in September 2014 compared to September 2013. Prices on a
fiscal-year average were nevertheless 8% lower in fiscal 2014
than the average of fiscal 2013. Significantly rising premiums
for physically delivered aluminum have added to the prices of
the London Metal Exchange contracts. The aluminum industry
is in a situation of a global oversupply due to rapid expansion
of capacities, while regional markets in the western world face
a tighter supply.

The average monthly steel prices for September 2014 declined
by 8% compared to the average monthly prices in Septem-
ber 2013. Prices on a fiscal-year average were 7% lower in fiscal
2014 than the average for fiscal 2013.

Our main exposure to the prices of copper, aluminum and
related products is in the new Divisions Energy Management
and Process Industries and Drives. Our main price exposure
related to carbon steel and stainless steel is in our new Divi-
sions Power and Gas and Wind Power and Renewables. In addi-
tion, Siemens is generally exposed to energy and fuel prices,
both directly (electricity, gas, oil) and indirectly (energy used
in the manufacturing processes of suppliers, fuels included in
logistics costs).

Siemens employs various strategies to reduce the price risk in
its project and product businesses, such as long-term contract-
ing with suppliers, physical and financial hedging and price
escalation clauses with customers.

C.1.2.2 MARKET DEVELOPMENT

In fiscal 2014, the addressed market of our Energy Sector devel-
oped stable year-over-year. Wind power markets showed the
strongest growth (both onshore and offshore). Markets for
power transmission grew slightly while market volume for
large gas turbines declined year-over-year.

Markets of the Power Generation Division declined in fiscal
2014 compared to fiscal 2013. In particular the advanced gas
turbine market remained difficult with a market size in fiscal
2014 clearly below fiscal 2013. In addition, production over-
capacities have been resulting in increased price pressure.
During the fiscal year, the overall market environment for fossil
power generation faced project shifts in various regions lead-
ing to tough competition. While key countries such as the
U.S. or China have been facing market delays, countries of the
Middle East, especially Saudi-Arabia showed higher invest-
ments in gas-fired power plants year-over-year. Demand for
industrial gas and steam turbines developed roughly flat.

Markets served by our Wind Power Division grew clearly in fis-
cal 2014 fueled by strong demand in Europe, which is the most
mature geographic market in the world for onshore and off-
shore wind power. In particular, Europe is home to almost all
offshore installations currently active worldwide. Within the
Americas, growth in the U.S. was driven by onshore wind proj-
ects, following the extension of an existing production tax
credit (PTC) for renewable energy into the first quarter of fiscal
2014. Market development in the Asia, Australia region was
characterized by intense local competition, particularly in
China. While China has the largest wind market in the world,
market access for foreign companies remains to be very diffi-
cult and limited. The competitive situation in the wind power
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markets differs between the market segments. In the market
for onshore wind farms, competition is widely dispersed with-
out any one company holding a dominant share of the market.
In contrast, there are only a few major players in the market for
offshore wind farms, which are technologically more complex.
Several competitors have managed to return to profitability
through cost reduction measures and restructuring. Previously
existing overcapacities have been adjusted to better match
demand. Consolidation is moving forward in both on- and off-
shore wind power through the market exit of smaller players,
and especially in offshore through joint ventures between
established players and new market entrants. The key drivers
for consolidation are technology and market access challenges,
which increase development costs and the importance of risk
sharing in offshore wind power.

Markets addressed by our Power Transmission Division grew
slightly in fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013, due mainly
to strong demand from parts of Europe and the Middle East,
including Germany, the U.K. and Saudi Arabia, where large
transmission projects were awarded. In contrast, investments
in Russian electrical infrastructure went down significantly in
fiscal 2014. Markets in Asia remained stable year-over-year.
While growth in China slowed down somewhat, India awarded
a new contract for a large high-voltage direct current (HVDC)
project. On a currency-adjusted basis, market volume in the
Americas increased slightly year-over-year. Including currency
translation effects, markets in the Americas declined slightly
year-over-year.

In fiscal 2014, markets served by our Healthcare Sector grew
slightly year-over-year. Growth was again driven by emerging
markets, which continued to build up their healthcare infra-
structures and expand access to modern medical technology
for a broader population. Market development in industrialized
countries remained weak, impacted by healthcare reforms and
budgetary constraints. On a regional basis, markets in the
Americas grew moderately. Market conditions in our large U.S.
market remained challenging as service providers faced ongo-
ing pressure on utilization and reimbursement rates associated
with medical devices. The U.S. market for Healthcare IT contin-
ues to grow, but at a slower pace than in previous years.
Healthcare markets in the Europe, C.LS., Africa, Middle East
region declined slightly. During fiscal 2014, European health-
care markets saw some stabilization. The market situation in
Germany was challenging. Demand stagnated and price pres-
sure was strong. Decreasing public grants to the country’s
health insurance system is burdening the financial situation of
hospitals and thus their willingness to invest. Growth in China
slowed down compared to the previous fiscal year. Markets in

108 ‘ \ ‘To our Shareholders 131 ‘ B

‘ Corporate Governance

China are experiencing a shift in demand, from an emphasis on
large clinics to increased investment in small and midsize
regional clinics. Along with this change, competitive and price
pressure rose, due mainly to increasing numbers of local ven-
dors. Overall, the trend toward consolidation in the healthcare
industry continues. Competition among the leading companies
is strong, including with respect to price.

In fiscal 2014, markets served by our Industry Sector, consist-
ing of our Industry Automation and Drive Technologies Divi-
sions, grew slightly year-over-year. At the beginning of the
fiscal year, growth came mainly from stronger demand in
long-cycle industries and restocking by customers in China.
Towards the end of the fiscal year, demand also began to pick
up in short-cycle industries. Within the main industries served
by our Divisions, demand in the automotive industry was par-
ticularly strong, with many countries reporting significant in-
creases in production, especially in Europe. The machine build-
ing industry developed less favorable in the beginning of the
fiscal year due to weaker growth in many emerging economies,
which are important markets for export-oriented industrialized
countries. In the last months of fiscal 2014, demand in the
machine building industries picked up somewhat. On a regional
basis, our markets in Europe experienced a slight recovery in
fiscal 2014, due to a more positive overall economic environ-
ment year-over-year, particularly including Spain, Poland and
the Netherlands. While markets in Germany grew year-over-
year, growth was held back by stagnation in original equip-
ment manufacturing (OEM) industries, which were impacted
by lower demand from emerging markets. Overall, demand in
Europe for industrial investment goods was held back as pro-
duction capacities of our customers still did not reach full utili-
zation. In the Americas, except the U.S., growth in end-cus-
tomer markets slowed down in fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal
2013. This was particularly evident in Brazil. Within the U.S.,
demand in the oil and gas industries grew strongly. In contrast
markets for electrical investment goods expanded modestly.
Within the Asia, Australia region, growth slowed down year-
over-year in several countries, particularly including Australia,
India, Indonesia and Thailand. Growth in China was solid year-
over-year. While growth in China benefited from restocking ef-
fects, it was supported also by strong demand from the coun-
try’s automotive and infrastructure industries, and, to a lesser
extent, by demand in parts of the construction machinery mar-
kets and food machinery, elevators and rubber machines mar-
kets. Competition of Industry’'s business activities can be
grouped into two categories: multinational companies that of-
fer a relatively broad portfolio and companies that are active
only in certain geographic or product markets. Consolidation is
taking place mostly in particular market segments and not
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across the broad base of our portfolio, with the exception of
the acquisition of Invensys by Schneider Electric. Consolidation
in solution-driven markets is going in the direction of in-depth
niche market expertise, whereas consolidation of the product-
driven market follows the line of convergence. Most major
competitors have established global bases for their businesses.
In addition, competition has become increasingly focused on
technological improvements and cost position.

In fiscal 2014, the broad overall market for the offerings of the
Infrastructure & Cities Sector grew slightly. The market for rail
systems showed growth, non-residential construction markets
were recovering, and the market for power grid solutions and
products remained challenging.

Markets served by the Transportation & Logistics Business
grew moderately in fiscal 2014, fueled e.g. by large contract
awards in the U.K. and in Saudi Arabia within the Europe, C.L.S.,
Africa, Middle East region. Europe remained the largest market
for the Business. Growth in the Americas region benefited from
demand for passenger locomotives and urban transport prod-
ucts in the U.S. The Asia, Australia region showed the highest
growth rates of all regions. This growth was fueled, amongst
others, by a recovery in China, which began to increase its
investments in high-speed trains.

In fiscal 2014, markets for our Power Grid Solutions & Prod-
ucts Business declined slightly year-over-year including weaker
demand from some emerging markets countries. Overall, the
decline is caused by weak demand in the Europe, C.I.S., Africa,
Middle East region. The market situation in southern Europe
remained particularly challenging. In Germany, which is under-
taking a massive shift to renewable energy (“Energiewende”),
utilities continued to delay major grid investments due to un-
certainty in the regulatory environment. The Americas re-
ported modest growth in real terms, particularly in the U.S.,
where the economy is gaining momentum in construction and
oil and gas markets. The overall market development was more
positive in the Asia, Australia region, particularly including
demand in the utility business within emerging economies.
Furthermore, markets in the oil and gas business and in the
non-residential construction business grew year-over-year, par-
ticularly in China.

In fiscal 2014, markets addressed by our Building Technol-
ogies Division grew slightly in aggregate year-over-year. Within
our non-residential construction markets, some segments
developed more favorably than the market overall. Among
them were data centers and the pharmaceutical industry,
which showed clear growth in construction activities compared

to fiscal 2013. Within Europe, non-residential construction
markets saw some stabilization in fiscal 2014, but remained
weak due to the economic situation and austerity programs in
some southern and western European countries. In contrast,
markets in the Middle East, in Asia and Australia grew consid-
erably year-over-year. In the Americas, growth in non-residen-
tial construction markets began to accelerate during the fiscal
year. There is usually a time lag of three to four quarters be-
fore Building Technologies businesses begin to participate in
such growth.

Infrastructure & Cities principal competitors are multinational
companies. The Sector also faces competition from niche com-
petitors and from new entrants, such as utility companies and
consulting firms, exploiting the fragmented energy efficiency
market. The Sector’s solution businesses also compete with en-
gineering, procurement and construction providers, and com-
petitors in the service field often include small local players.

C.1.3 Strategy

C.1.3.1 VISION 2020
In May 2014, we presented our entrepreneurial concept
“Vision 2020.”

Shaped by our history, culture and values, our mission defines
how we understand ourselves. As an expression of a strong
brand, it formulates our aspiration: We make real what matters,
by setting the benchmark in the way we electrify, automate
and digitalize the world around us. Ingenuity drives us and
what we create is yours. Together we deliver.

There are three stages in which we will lead our Company into
the future:

> In the short term, we want to “drive performance.” To
achieve this aim, we are retailoring our structures and re-
sponsibilities. We are also focusing on business excellence.
In addition, we want to get those businesses back on track
that have not reached their full potential and make them
competitive again.

> “Strengthen core” is our aim in the medium term. We in-
tend to strengthen our successful businesses along the value
chain of electrification by, among other things, allocating
resources in a more rigorous way in order to expand in
strategic growth fields.

> In the long term, we want to “scale up.” We will intensify our
efforts to seize further growth opportunities and tap new
fields.
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We have linked the success of Vision 2020 to the attainment of
seven overarching goals:

> Implement stringent corporate governance: We want to
simplify and accelerate our processes, while reducing com-
plexity in our Company and strengthening our corporate
governance functions. We expect that these measures en-
able us to reduce our costs by roughly €1 billion. The savings
are expected to be mainly effective in fiscal 2016.

> Create value sustainably: We are tapping attractive growth
fields and getting those businesses that have not yet reached
their full potential back on track.

> Execute financial target system: We are rigorously imple-
menting our financial target system.

> Expand global management: To reflect our global orienta-
tion more strongly in the future, we want more than 30% of
our Division and Business Unit managers to be based outside
Germany.

> Be partner of choice for our customers: We want to be our
customers’ partner of choice. To measure customer satisfac-
tion, we use the Net Promoter Score (NPS) — a comprehensive
customer satisfaction survey that we conduct every year. Our
goal is to improve our score by at least 20%.

> Be an employer of choice: Highly committed and satisfied
employees are the basis of our success. We are — and want to
remain — an attractive employer. That is why we conduct a
global engagement survey to measure employee satisfaction.
In the categories Leadership and Diversity, we aim to achieve
an approval rating of over 75% on a sustainable basis.

> Foster an ownership culture: In the future, our employees
will have an even greater stake in their company’s success.
We want to increase the current number of employee share-
holders by at least 50%.

C.1.3.2 STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK

We have defined a comprehensive strategic framework that
integrates the key fields of company management. These key
fields are:

> Ownership culture;

> Customer and business focus;

> Governance; and

> our management model “One Siemens.”

a) Ownership culture

One engine of sustainable business is our ownership culture,
in which every employee takes personal responsibility for our
Company'’s success. "Always act as if it were your own Company” -
this maxim applies to everyone at Siemens, from Managing
Board member to trainee.

b) Customer and business focus

We expect that the megatrends digital transformation, global-
ization, urbanization, demographic change and climate change
will provide growth opportunities. We are focusing on our posi-
tioning along the value chain of electrification. This is where
our core business lies. From power generation to power trans-
mission, power distribution and smart grid to the efficient
application of electrical energy — in every one of these inter-
related fields, electrification, automation and digitalization are
the key business drivers.

> Power generation: The field of efficient power generation —
encompassing conventional and renewable energy sources
as well as comprehensive services — is addressed by our
Divisions Power and Gas, Wind Power and Renewables, and
Power Generation Services.

> Power transmission, power distribution and smart grid:
Solutions for power transmission and distribution as well as
technologies for smart grids are all bundled at our Energy
Management Division.

> Energy application: Our Divisions Building Technologies,
Mobility, Digital Factory and Process Industries and Drives
are delivering technologies for the efficient application of
energy in building technology, transportation and industry.

> Imaging and in-vitro diagnostics: Healthcare is responsible
for our medical imaging and in-vitro diagnostics businesses.

In all areas related to project financing, Financial Services is a
reliable partner to our customers.

We want to set clear priorities for resource allocation and
address promising growth fields, for example:

Flexible and small gas turbines;

Offshore wind power;

Distribution grid automation and software;

Urban and interurban mobility;

Digital-twin software;

Key sectors in process industries;

Image-guided therapy and molecular diagnostics; and
Business analytics and data-driven services, software and
IT solutions.

V V. V V V V V V

Flexible and small gas turbines: In the area of power genera-
tion, the trend is increasingly toward decentralized energy
supply. Customers worldwide are relying more and more on
individualized energy supplies and demanding tailor-made
solutions. As a result, we see major growth potential in the
field of flexible and small gas turbines.

108 ‘ A ‘ To our Shareholders 131 ‘ B. ‘ Corporate Governance 171 ‘ C. ‘ Combined Management Report
172 | C.1 | Business and economic environment
187 | C.2 | Financial performance system
193 | C.3 | Results of operations
205 | C.4 | Financial position

210 | C.5 | Net assets position



Offshore wind power: Among renewable sources of energy,
wind power will play a key role over the long term. Offshore
wind turbines deliver high yields and are subject to less fluctu-
ation than other renewables. We want to continue building on
the leading position in offshore wind power that we have cap-
tured in recent years. We consider double-digit market growth
realistic in this field in the medium term.

Distribution grid automation and software: Energy manage-
ment is becoming increasingly vital - for distribution grids as
well as industrial and private energy producers and consumers.
Energy management systems make it possible to integrate in-
creasingly decentralized power supplies into the energy cycle,
while mitigating the negative impact of the fluctuations that
occur when power is generated from renewable sources — thus
improving the utilization of existing power grids. Our intelli-
gent, integrated automation solutions offer customers decisive
added value.

Urban and interurban mobility: In strong demand, intelligent
mobility solutions are providing major impulses for growth —
particularly in the areas of urban transportation and automated
traffic-control solutions. We see stronger growth potential in
this area as well.

Digital-twin software: The virtual and real worlds are merging
more and more. Already today, our software solutions are help-
ing customers develop products much faster, more flexibly and
more efficiently. Not only products but also the plants in which
they are produced have digital twins that can be used to co-
ordinate and integrate product design and production plan-
ning. The digital models are always up-to-date — as planned, as
built, as maintained — while allowing improvements through-
out entire lifecycles.

Key sectors in process industries: Some industry sectors —
oil&gas and food &beverage, for example — are growing at
above-average rates. We want to participate in this growth.
That is why we are bundling our expertise in process industries
and drive technologies and continuing to expand our related
portfolio of products and software solutions.

Image-guided therapy and molecular diagnostics: The in-
creasing use of molecular biological methods and progress in
the life sciences are accelerating technological change in health-
care. To improve quality and efficiency, societies worldwide are
also demanding new solutions for next-generation healthcare.

Business analytics and data-driven services, software and
IT solutions: We have a comprehensive understanding of our

customers’ business processes. In the future, we want to lever-
age this knowledge even better by analyzing the data gener-
ated in these processes, providing recommendations for im-
provement and action, and thus creating value. The resulting
competitive advantages for our customers are increasingly
derived from cloud-based solutions and services powered
by data-analytics software.

c) Governance

We want to lead Siemens in such a way that we focus on our
customers at all times and further expand our market penetra-
tion while maintaining lean and flexible structures. That is why
we have selected a market-integrative setup that combines a
common regional organization with a coordinated vertical
approach. Against this backdrop, we have retailored the struc-
tures and responsibilities of our businesses, our Regions and
our corporate governance functions:

> We have removed layers from our Company, thus bringing
our businesses closer to customers and key markets. We re-
placed our 14 Regional Clusters with 30 Lead Countries. The
CEOs of these countries now report directly to our Managing
Board.

> We have also eliminated the Sector level and consolidated
our business activities into nine Divisions and one separately
managed unit, Healthcare. This change is increasing our
customer proximity and accelerating our decision-making.

> In addition, we have made governance even more stringent
across all levels of our organization. Our Managing Board
leads the Company and maintains the balance between our
businesses and regions. It is supported by strong, efficient
governance functions, our Corporate Core. This Corporate
Core ensures fast, unbureaucratic decision-making across
key company functions.

d) Management model “One Siemens”

To enable us to manage our Company more effectively, we have
expanded “One Siemens” into an integrated management
model that combines under one roof the overarching targets
and priorities with which we are implementing our strategy
throughout the Company. It encompasses a financial frame-
work, an operating system and Corporate Memory as well as
sustainability and citizenship.

Financial framework

To measure and compare our development against the market
and in our competitive environment, we used a system of
defined key indicators. We have now refined and expanded
this financial target system, which is explained in more detail
in —> c.2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SYSTEM.
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Operating system and Corporate Memory

We manage our Company in accordance with specific, clearly
defined priorities. Our One Siemens operating system sets the
following four priorities: Customer proximity, innovation, busi-
ness excellence, as well as people excellence and care. In addi-
tion, the Corporate Memory — our knowledge management —
ensures that we learn from mistakes and keep our work focused
on success.

Customer proximity: Profitable growth is based on proximity
to our customers and on an understanding of their individual
requirements. To meet and exceed our customers’ expecta-
tions, we invest in local sales presence and support for spe-
cific groups of market partners. Our key account management
approach is just one successful example of this. We are repre-
sented in virtually every country in the world by Regional Com-
panies that operate as local partners to our customers. We also
exploit our in-depth knowledge of customer processes and
continually develop our offerings for key verticals in a targeted
manner — across organizational boundaries. To regularly gauge
the satisfaction of our customers around the world, we use a
uniform measure, the Net Promoter Score.

Innovation: Innovation is essential for ensuring long-term
competitiveness. This applies to our entire portfolio of prod-
ucts, solutions and services. Added value for our customers is
based increasingly on software and IT solutions. As a result, we
have made this field a particular focus of our attention — for
example, through research and development activities in soft-
ware architecture and platforms. Tools such as partner net-
works are enabling us to manage highly effective innovation
processes and an open innovation culture. We are concentrat-
ing on new technology-driven growth areas as well as innova-
tive business models.

Business excellence: We want to do an excellent job of man-
aging our businesses while pursuing our aim of continuous
improvement. For this, we have developed outstanding tools
that we intend to apply with even greater rigor in the future.

These tools enable us, for instance, to benchmark our per-
formance against the best and to increase our productivity.
Tightening our risk management approach is helping us iden-
tify project risks while still in the bidding phase and thus
avoid costly project delays. Last but not least, we are fostering
our service business across organizational boundaries — for
example, by developing service platforms.

People excellence and care: Excellent employees are the
heart and soul of Siemens. That is how it has always been. And
we want it to be even more so in the future. Therefore we are
anchoring an ownership culture at our Company. For us, this is
not an abstract idea but a concrete goal that we are pursuing
with measures we can track. After all, the behavior, motivation
and values of the people who work for Siemens mold our cul-
ture. In an attractive working environment, we promote lifelong
learning and personal development. Integrity — supported by a
well-established compliance system — remains the principle
that guides our conduct. Our share programs are enabling us
to increase employee participation in our Company'’s success,
while bringing us closer every day to a lived ownership culture.

Sustainability and citizenship

We contribute to sustainable development by maintaining a
responsible balance at company level between profit, planet
and people.

> Profit: by having a range of products, solutions and services
that makes a difference worldwide, because it provides cus-
tomers with decisive competitive advantages.

> Planet: by utilizing our planet’s limited resources responsibly
and by enabling our customers to improve their own environ-
mental performance.

> People: by living a culture that strengthens our employees’
sense of responsibility worldwide, fosters their development
and places integrity at the center of our Company'’s activities.
As good corporate citizens, we are also contributing to the
sustainable development of society through our portfolio, our
local presence worldwide and our role as a thought leader.
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11 C.2 Financial performance system

C.2.1 Overview

Within One Siemens, we have established a financial frame-
work - for revenue growth, for profitability and capital effi-
ciency, for our capital structure, and for our dividend policy.

C.2.2 Revenue growth

Within the framework of One Siemens, we aim to grow our rev-
enue faster than the average weighted revenue growth of our
most relevant competitors. In fiscal 2014, we calculated our rev-
enue growth for this comparison using actual revenue as pre-
sented in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Our primary
measure for managing and controlling our revenue growth is
comparable growth, which excludes currency translation and
portfolio effects. We provide figures for both comparable and
actual revenue growth in this Annual Report, within —> c.3.1
ORDERS AND REVENUE BY REGION.

| Revenue growth

[ Revenue current period

- 1] x 100%
Revenue prior-year period

Actual
FY 2014 (2)% _
FY 2013 (2)% _
Comparable’
FY 2014 1% _
FY 2013 (1)% -

| Adjusted EBITDA margins'

| Margin | Target range

Energy

FY 2014 8.1% _ 10 - 15%

FY 2013 9.9% | )
Healthcare

Fy 2014 20.5% | 1520

FY 2013 20.7% |EE— )
Industry

Fy 2014 16.4% [T .

FY 2013 13.1% I )
Infrastructure & Cities

FY 2014 9.4% _: 8 - 12%

FY 2013 3.7% _ ’

1 Adjusted EBITDA margins of respective markets through business cycle.
Target range

In line with common practice in the financial services busi-
ness, our financial indicator for measuring capital efficiency at
Financial Services (SFS) is return on equity after tax, or ROE
(after tax). For information on the calculation of ROE (after
tax) and its components, see —> €.2.6.1 RETURN ON EQUITY (ROE)
(AFTER TAX).

| Return on equity (ROE) (after tax)

SFS’ profit after tax
x 100%

SFS' average allocated equity

[ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.

C.2.3 Profitability and capital efficiency

Within the framework of One Siemens, we aim to achieve mar-
gins through the entire business cycle that are comparable to
those of our relevant competitors. For purposes of this compar-
ison in fiscal 2014, we used defined adjusted EBITDA margin
ranges, which are based on the results of the respective rele-
vant competitors of our four Sectors. Information regarding
the calculation of adjusted EBITDA is presented in —> c.3.4
RECONCILIATION TO ADJUSTED EBITDA.

FY 2014 18.1%

17.1%

FY 2013

I

‘ Target range: 15 - 20%

For purposes of managing and controlling profitability at the
Group level, we use net income as our primary measure. This
measure is the main driver of basic earnings per share (EPS)
from net income, which we use for communicating with
the capital markets. For an analysis of this measure, refer to
—> C.3.3 INCOME.
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Beginning with fiscal 2015, we defined profit margin ranges for
our Industrial Business (for the new organizational set up of
Siemens, See —> C.1.1.1 ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION),
which are based on the profit margins of the respective rele-
vant competitors. Their determination is based on our en-
hanced profit definition for our Industrial Business, which is
also effective beginning with fiscal 2015. In contrast to the
profit definition we used for fiscal 2014, the enhanced defini-
tion eliminates income statement effects resulting from amor-
tization of intangible assets acquired in business combinations.
This type of amortization is basically a technical consequence
of the purchase price allocation resulting from an acquisition,
and therefore has nearly no operational business relevance.
Moreover, by eliminating these income statement effects, we
improve the comparability of our Industrial Businesses’s profits
with that of their relevant competitors. Beginning with fiscal
2015, profit for SFS is also presented excluding amortization
of intangible assets acquired in business combinations. Except
for this adjustment, the profit definition remains unchanged.

| Profit margin ranges

Margin range
Power and Gas 11 - 15%
Wind Power and Renewables 5-8%
Energy Management 7 - 10%
Building Technologies 8-11%
Mobility 6 -9%
Digital Factory 14 - 20%
Process Industries and Drives 8-12%
Healthcare 15 - 19%
SFS (ROE (after taxes)) 15 - 20%

Beginning with fiscal 2015, we incorporated a measure called
total cost productivity into our One Siemens framework, to em-
phasize and evaluate our continuous efforts to improve produc-
tivity. We define this measure as the ratio of cost savings from
defined productivity improvement measures to the aggregate
of functional costs for the Siemens Group. We aim to achieve
an annual value of 3% to 5% for Total cost productivity.

Within the framework of One Siemens we seek to work profit-
ably and as efficiently as possible with the capital provided by
our shareholders and lenders. For purposes of managing and
controlling our capital efficiency in fiscal 2014, we used return
on capital employed, or ROCE, for continuing operations as
our primary measure. We aimed to achieve a range of 15% to
20%. An analysis of this financial measure is provided in
—> c.3.3 IncoMmE. For information on the calculation of ROCE and
its components, see —> €.2.6.2 RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (ROCE).

Return on capital employed (ROCE)
| (continuing operations)

Income from continuing operations before interest after tax
x 100%

Average capital employed

17.2% |
13.7% |

‘ Target range: 15 - 20%

FY 2014

FY 2013

Beginning with fiscal 2015 and within the scope of further
development of One Siemens, we intend to use ROCE for con-
tinuing and discontinued operations as the primary measure for
managing and controlling our capital efficiency. Going forward
all activities of the Group are included in this financial measure.
We continue to aim for a ROCE in the range of 15% to 20%. ROCE
for continuing and discontinued operations amounted to 17.3%
in fiscal 2014, compared to 13.5% a year earlier.
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C.2.4 Capital structure

Sustainable revenue and profit development is supported by a
healthy capital structure. A key consideration within the frame-
work of One Siemens is to maintain ready access to the capital
markets through various debt products and preserve our ability
to repay and service our debt obligations over time. Our pri-
mary measure for managing and controlling our capital struc-
ture is the ratio of industrial net debt to adjusted EBITDA.
This financial measure indicates the approximate amount of
time in years that would be needed to cover industrial net debt
through income from continuing operations, without taking
into account interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. In
fiscal 2014, we aimed to achieve a ratio in the range of 0.5 to
1.0. For more information regarding adjusted EBITDA and for an
analysis of our capital structure ratio, see —> c.3.4 RECONCILIA-
TION TO ADJUSTED EBITDA and —> C.4.2 CAPITAL STRUCTURE.

| Capital structure (continuing operations)

Industrial net debt

Adjusted EBITDA

At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the Managing Board, in
agreement with the Supervisory Board, will submit the follow-
ing proposal to allocate the unappropriated net income of
Siemens AG for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014: to
distribute a dividend of €3.30 on each share of no-par value
entitled to the dividend for fiscal year 2014 existing at the date
of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, with the remaining
amount to be carried forward. Payment of the proposed divi-
dend is contingent upon approval by Siemens shareholders
at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 27, 2015. The
prior-year dividend was €3.00 per share.

The proposed dividend of €3.30 per share for fiscal 2014 rep-
resents a total payout of €2.706 billion based on the estimated
number of shares entitled to dividend at the date of the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting. Based on net income of €5.507 billion
for fiscal 2014, the dividend payout percentage is 49%. The per-
centage for fiscal 2013 was 57%, based on a total dividend pay-
out of €2.533 billion and a net income of €4.409 billion.

| Dividend payout percentage

Total dividend payout

- x 100%
Y201 015 - Net income
FY 2013 0.35 _
FY2014 49% |
| Target range: 0.5 ~1.0 FY 2013 57% [

Beginning with fiscal 2015, we intend to achieve a ratio of up to
1.0, and thereby maintain our healthy capital structure.

C.2.5 Dividend and share buybacks

We intend to continue providing an attractive return to share-
holders. In fiscal 2014, we intended to propose a dividend pay-
out which, combined with outlays during the fiscal year for
publicly announced share buybacks, results in a sum represent-
ing 40% to 60% of net income, which for this purpose we may
adjust to exclude selected exceptional non-cash effects.

In November 2013, we announced a share buyback of up to
€4 billion ending latest on October 31, 2015. In May 2014, we
started to repurchase shares. Through the end of fiscal 2014,
outlays for our publicly announced share buybacks (excluding
incidental transaction charges) totaled €1.079 billion and repre-
sent 20% of net income.

The percentage for fiscal 2013 was 26% with outlays for share
buybacks in the amount of €1.152 billion.

Beginning with fiscal 2015, we intend to realize a dividend pay-
out range, without the effect of share buybacks, of 40% to 60%
of net income, which for this purpose we may adjust to exclude
selected exceptional non-cash effects. As in the past, we intend
to fund the dividend payout from Free cash flow.
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C.2.6 Additional information
for financial performance measures
C.2.6.1 RETURN ON EQUITY (ROE) (AFTER TAX)

The following table reports the calculation of ROE (after tax) of
SFS as defined under One Siemens.

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2014 2013
Calculation of income taxes of SFS
Profit of SFS (Income before income taxes, IBIT) 465 409
Less: Income of SFS from investments accounted for using the equity method, net’ (66) (85)
Less: Tax-free income components and others? (41) (26)
Tax basis 358 298
Tax rate (flat) 30% 30%
Calculated income taxes of SFS 107 89
Profit after tax of SFS
Profit of SFS (IBIT) 465 409
Less: Calculated income taxes of SFS (107) (89)
Profit after tax of SFS 357 320
ROE (after tax) of SFS
(1) Profit after tax of SFS 357 320
(I1) Average allocated equity of SFS? 1,976 1,874
()/(11) ROE (after tax) of SFS 18.1% 17.1%

are classified from at equity to available-for-sale financial
assets and are therefore not included in the (Income) loss
of SFS from investments accounted for using the equity
method, net. Such results are already taxed or generally

1 Forinformation on Income (loss) of SFS from invest-
ments accounted for using the equity method net,
see —> €.3.4 RECONCILIATION TO ADJUSTED EBITDA.

2 Tax-free income components include forms of financing

3 Average allocated equity of SFS for a fiscal year is deter-
mined as a five-point average in allocated equity of SFS
of the respective quarters starting with the allocated
equity of SFS as of September 30 of the previous fiscal

which are generally exempted from income taxes. taxfreve.IOthelgls may also clompr\](sza;fadjustmentfor year.

Others comprise result components related to the materia tjia € _‘HCOTE ( OS_S) o i drom investments

(partial) sale/divestment of equity investments, which accounted for using the equity method, net.
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C.2.6.2 RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (ROCE)

As part of One Siemens, we managed and controlled our capital
efficiency in fiscal 2014 using the financial measure ROCE for
continuing operations. The following tables report this financial
measure as defined under One Siemens and also provide a rec-
onciliation to ROCE for continuing and discontinued operations.

(in millions of €) 09/30/2014 06/30/12014 03/31/2014 1213112013 09/30/12013
Capital employed Fiscal 2014
Total equity 31,514 28,633 28,336 30,372 28,625
Plus: Long-term debt 19,326 18,364 18,587 18,377 18,509
Plus: Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt 1,620 4,092 3,757 2,883 1,944
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (8,013) (8,210) (8,585) (8,885) (9,190)
Less: Current available-for-sale financial assets (925) (907) (799) (666) (601)
Plus: Post-employment benefits 9,324 10,473 9,614 8,771 9,265
Less: SFS Debt (18,663) (17,017) (16,428) (16,022) (15,600)
Less: Fair value hedge accounting adjustment’ (1,121) (1,114) (1,134) (1,166) (1,247)
Capital employed (continuing and discontinued operations) 33,063 34,313 33,348 33,665 31,706
Less: Assets classified as held for disposal presented as discontinued operations (2,325) (1,689) (14) (758) (768)
Plus: Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for disposal
presented as discontinued operations 1,559 1,275 20 232 258
Capital employed (continuing operations) 32,297 33,898 33,354 33,138 31,195
\
|
(in millions of €) 09/30/2013 06/30/12013 03/31/2013 1213112012 09/30/12012
Capital employed Fiscal 2013
Total equity 28,625 27,909 26,620 30,551 31,424
Plus: Long-term debt 18,509 19,140 20,182 16,651 16,880
Plus: Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt 1,944 3,656 2,752 3,709 3,826
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (9,190) (6,071) (7,892) (7,823) (10,891)
Less: Current available-for-sale financial assets (601) (506) (533) (517) (524)
Plus: Post-employment benefits 9,265 9,325 9,890 9,856 9,801
Less: SFS Debt (15,600) (15,004) (14,879) (14,490) (14,558)
Less: Fair value hedge accounting adjustment’ (1,247) (1,323) (1,473) (1,570) (1,670)
Capital employed (continuing and discontinued operations) 31,706 37,127 34,667 36,367 34,289
Less: Assets classified as held for disposal presented as discontinued operations (768) (4,783) (4,616) (4,589) (4,693)
Plus: Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for disposal
presented as discontinued operations 258 1,948 1,948 2,045 2,010
Capital employed (continuing operations) 31,195 34,291 31,999 33,823 31,606
1 Debtis generally reported with a value representing value mainly due to changes in interest rates. Accord- figure for the calculation presented above. For further

approximately the amount to be repaid. However, for ingly, we deduct these changes in market value in order information on fair value hedges see —> NOTE 30 in

debt designated in a hedging relationship (fair value to end up with an amount of debt that approximately —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

hedges), this amount is adjusted by changes in market will be repaid, which we believe is a more meaningful
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Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2014 2013
Income from continuing operations before interest after tax
Net income 5,507 4,409
Less: Other interest expenses/income, net (606) (455)
Plus: SFS Other interest expenses/income’ 630 556
Plus: Net interest expenses from post-employment benefits 295 297
Less: Taxes on interest adjustments? (87) (111)
Income before interest after tax 5,739 4,695
Less: Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes (108) (231)
Income from continuing operations before interest after tax 5,632 4,465
Return on capital employed (ROCE) (continuing and discontinued operations)
(1) Income before interest after tax 5,739 4,695
(I1) Average capital employed (continuing and discontinued operations)? 33,219 34,831
(1)/(11) ROCE (continuing and discontinued operations) 17.3% 13.5%
Return on capital employed (ROCE) (continuing operations)
(1) Income from continuing operations before interest after tax 5,632 4,465
(I1) Average capital employed (continuing operations)? 32,777 32,583
(1)/(11) ROCE (continuing operations) 17.2% 13.7%

1 SFS Other interest expenses/income is included in Other
interest expenses/income, net. Adding back SFS Other
interest expenses/income in the numerator corresponds
to the adjustment for SFS Debt in the denominator.

2 Effective tax rate for the determination of taxes on 3
interest adjustments is calculated by dividing Income
tax expenses by Income from continuing operations
before income taxes, both as reported in —> p.1 CON-

Average capital employed for a fiscal year is determined
as a five-point average in capital employed of the
respective quarters starting with the capital employed
as of September 30 of the previous fiscal year.

SOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME.

C.2.6.3 DEFINITIONS OF OTHER

FINANCIAL MEASURES

We also use other financial measures in addition to the mea-
sures described above, such as orders and order backlog for the
assessment of our future revenue potential. We define and cal-
culate orders and order backlog as follows:

Under our policy for the recognition of orders, we generally
recognize the total contract amount for an order when we enter
into a contract that we consider legally effective and compul-
sory based on a number of different criteria. The contract
amount is the agreed price or fee for that portion of the contract
for which the delivery of goods and/or the provision of services
has been irrevocably agreed. Future revenue from long-term
service, maintenance and outsourcing contracts is recognized
as orders in the amount of the total contract value only if there
is adequate assurance that the contract will remain in effect for
its entire duration (e.g., due to high exit barriers for the cus-
tomer). Orders are generally recognized immediately when the
relevant contract is considered legally effective and compul-
sory. The only exceptions are orders with short overall contract
terms. In this case, a separate reporting of orders would provide
no significant additional information regarding our perfor-
mance. For orders of this type, the recognition of orders thus
occurs when the corresponding revenue is recognized.

Order backlog represents an indicator for the future revenues
of our Company resulting from already recognized orders. Order
backlog is calculated by adding the orders of the current fiscal
year to the balance of the order backlog as of the end of the
prior fiscal year and then subtracting the revenue recognized in
the current fiscal year. If the amount of an order already recog-
nized in the current or the previous fiscal years is modified or
if an order from the current fiscal year is cancelled, we adjust
orders for the current quarter and also our order backlog
accordingly, but do not retroactively adjust previously pub-
lished orders. However, if an order from a previous fiscal year is
cancelled, orders of the current quarter and, accordingly, the
current fiscal year are generally not adjusted; instead, the exist-
ing order backlog is revised directly. Aside from cancellations,
the order backlog is also subject to currency translation and
portfolio effects.

There is no standard system for compiling and calculating or-
ders and order backlog information that applies across compa-
nies. Accordingly, our orders and order backlog may not be
comparable with orders and order backlog measures reported
by other companies. We subject our orders and our order back-
log to internal documentation and review requirements. We
may change our policies for recognizing orders and order back-
log in the future without previous notice.
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111 C.3 Results of operations

C.3.1 Orders and revenue by region

Orders for fiscal 2014 totaled €78.350 billion, and revenue came
in at €71.920 billion. Both represented a 2% decrease year-over-
year, due in part to unfavorable currency translation effects.
The resulting book-to-bill ratio was 1.09 for Siemens in fiscal
2014. On a comparable basis, excluding currency translation
and portfolio effects, orders and revenue both grew 1% year-
over-year.

The order backlog (defined as the sum of order backlogs of the
Sectors) was €100 billion as of September 30, 2014, up from
€94 billion a year earlier.

| Orders (location of customer)

Year ended % Change therein
September 30,

Compa- Cur- Port-
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 | Actual rable’ rency folio

Europe, C.I.S.,2
Africa, Middle East 41,542 | 43,889 | (5% | (4)%| (1)% 0%
therein Germany 10,986 | 11,616| (5)% | (5)% 0% 0%
Americas 20,880 | 21,070| (1)% 4% | (5)% 1%
therein U.S. 14,842 | 13,592 9% 11% | (3)% 1%
Asia, Australia 15,929 | 14,796 8% 12% | (4)% 0%
therein China 6,641 6,053 10% 12% | (2)% 0%
Siemens 78,350 | 79,755 | (2)% 1% | (3)% 0%

1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.

2 Commonwealth of Independent States.

Orders related to external customers in fiscal 2014 decreased
2%, largely due to a moderate decline in Infrastructure & Cities
where prior-year orders included a €3.0 billion contract for
trains and maintenance in the U.K. Slight decreases in Health-
care and Energy were only partially offset by order growth in
Industry.

In the region Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East, the decline
in orders was due mainly to a double-digit decrease in Infra-
structure & Cities caused by a lower volume from large orders
compared to a year earlier. Orders came in slightly lower in
the Americas, despite 9% order growth in the U.S. Key growth
drivers here included Siemens’ largest-ever order for light rail
vehicles in the U.S. and a rebound in the U.S. wind business
after a sharp drop in the previous year. Clear order growth in
Asia, Australia was due in part to a higher volume from large
orders in Energy. In addition, China contributed to the regional
development with a sharp increase in Infrastructure & Cities
and double-digit order growth in Industry.

On a global basis, orders from emerging markets, as these mar-
kets are defined by the International Monetary Fund, remained
level year-over-year, and accounted for €27.471 billion, or 35%,
of total orders for fiscal 2014. Comparable order growth in
emerging markets was 6% year-over-year.

| Revenue (location of customer)

Year ended % Change therein
September 30,

Compa- Cur- Port-
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 | Actual rable’ rency folio

Europe, C.I.S.,2
Africa, Middle East 38,732 | 39,390 @)% | M%| (1)% 0%
therein Germany 10,857 | 10,652 2% 2% 0% 0%
Americas 18,756 | 19,644 | (5)% 0% | (5)% 0%
therein U.S. 12,876 | 13,110 (2)% 1%| (3)% 1%
Asia, Australia 14,433 | 14,411 0% 4% | (4)% 0%
therein China 6,442 5,866 10% 12% | (2)% 0%
Siemens 71,920 | 73,445| (2)% 1% | (3)% 0%

1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.

2 Commonwealth of Independent States.

Revenue related to external customers declined 2% com-
pared to fiscal 2013. Clear revenue growth year-over-year in
Infrastructure & Cities resulting from the continuing execution
of large rolling-stock projects, was more than offset by a clear
decline in Energy, which saw revenue fall in many of its
businesses and in all three reporting regions. Industry revenue
came in near the prior-year level and Healthcare reported
a slight decline, both including unfavorable currency trans-
lation effects.

While revenue in Asia, Australia came in near the prior-year
level, it included double-digit revenue growth in China that
resulted from a sharp increase in Infrastructure &Cities and a
solid contribution from Industry. In the Americas, revenue was
lower year-over-year in all Sectors, due in part to currency trans-
lation headwinds as mentioned above. A double-digit decrease
in Energy revenue in Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East more
than offset clear growth in Infrastructure &Cities. Emerging
markets reported a 2% decline compared to fiscal 2013 and
accounted for €24.312 billion, or 34%, of total revenue in fiscal
2014. Comparable revenue growth in emerging markets was 3%
year-over-year.
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| Orders and revenue by quarter (in millions of €)

Orders Revenue Book-to-bill ratio
Q42014 [ 20,733 | Q42014 [ 20,621 |G 1.01 [
Q32014 19,284 — Q32014 17,692 — 1.09 _
Q22014 18,027 — Q22014 16,865 — 1.07 _
Q12014 20,306 — Q12014 16,742 _ 1.21 _
Q42013 20,298 — Q42013 20,559 — 0.99 1
Q32013 | 19,928 |— Q32013 | 18,363 |E— 1.09 =
22013 | 20,761 | 022013 | 17,226 | — 1.21 j—
Q12013 18,767 — Q12013 17,297 — 1.09 _
\
C.3.2 Segment information analysis
C.3.2.1 ENERGY
| sector
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Actual Comparable! Currency Portfolio
Profit 1,569 1,955 (20)%
Profit margin 6.4% 7.3%
Orders 28,646 28,797 (1N)% 4% (3)% (1)%
Total revenue 24,631 26,638 (8)% (3)% (3)% (1)%
External revenue 24,380 26,425 (8)%
therein:
Europe, C.1.S.,% Africa, Middle East 12,766 14,382 (11)%
therein Germany 2,507 2,246 12%
Americas 7,013 7,155 (2)%
Asia, Australia 4,601 4,888 (6)%

‘ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.

Energy Sector profit of €1.569 billion in fiscal 2014 was down
significantly compared to a year earlier, due mainly to continu-
ing profitability challenges including a revenue decline and a
less favorable business mix. Both periods included substantial
burdens on profit. In the current period, the impacts included
€538 million in charges at Power Transmission and €272 mil-
lion in charges at Wind Power. Burdens on Sector profit a year
ago included €301 million in charges for the “Siemens 2014”
program, a loss of €255 million at Siemens’ solar activities,
€171 million in charges at Power Transmission, among others,
€94 million in charges related to onshore wind turbine blades
and €46 million in charges related to compliance with sanc-
tions on Iran at Power Generation. The Power Generation Divi-
sion increased its profit year-over-year, benefiting from a gain
on the sale of the Division’s turbo fan business and a positive
effect from a successful project completion. Power Trans-
mission posted a sharply higher loss year-over-year, and Wind
Power reported a loss compared to a profit in fiscal 2013.
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2 Commonwealth of Independent States.

Revenue for the Sector came in 8% lower than a year ago on
decreases in all three reporting regions, reflecting weak order
development at Power Generation and selective order intake at
Power Transmission in the past. Power Generation and Power
Transmission posted revenue declines compared to the prior
year, while Wind Power clearly increased its revenue. Orders
for the Sector came in 1% lower than in the prior year. On a
regional basis, an increase in the Asia, Australia reporting
region was more than offset by a decline in the Americas.
Negative currency translation effects took three percentage
points from both revenue and order development during the
year. The book-to-bill ratio for Energy was 1.16, and its order
backlog was €58 billion at the end of the fiscal year. Out of the
order backlog as of September 30, 2014, orders of €19 billion
are expected to be converted into revenue in fiscal 2015 and the
remainder in the periods thereafter.
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| Orders by Business

Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Actual Comparable! Currency Portfolio
Power Generation 15,478 16,366 (5)% 0% (4)% (2)%
Wind Power 7,748 6,593 18% 19% (2)% 0%
Power Transmission 5,586 5,700 (2)% 2% (4)% 0%
[ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
| Revenue by Business
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Actual Comparable! Currency Portfolio
Power Generation 13,909 15,242 (9)% (4)% (3)% (2)%
Wind Power 5,500 5,174 6% 9% (3)% 0%
Power Transmission 5,310 6,167 (14)% (10)% (3)% 0%

‘ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.

| Profit and Profit margin by Business

Profit Profit margin

Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2014 2013 % Change 2014 2013
Power Generation 2,186 2,126 3% 15.7% 13.9%
Wind Power (15) 306 nl/a (0.3)% 5.9%
Power Transmission (636) (156) >(200)% (12.0)% (2.5)%

Profit at Power Generation in fiscal 2014 increased moderately
year-over-year to €2.186 billion, despite a 9% revenue decline.
The current period benefited from a €73 million gain on the sale
of the Division’s turbo fan business and a positive €72 million
effect from a successful project completion in the turnkey busi-
ness. The Division continues to face challenges in an increas-
ingly competitive market for large gas turbines. For comparison,
profit development a year earlier was held back by €163 million
in “Siemens 2014" charges and €46 million in charges related to
compliance with sanctions on Iran. Revenue for the Division
decreased 9% year-over-year on declines in all three reporting
regions, due in part to negative currency translation. Order in-
take was below the level of the prior year, including strong neg-
ative currency translation effects, as declines in the Americas
and Europe, C.L.S., Africa, Middle East were only partially offset
by an increase in Asia, Australia. On an organic basis, order
intake was on the same level as in the prior year.

Wind Power reported a loss of €15 million in fiscal 2014, com-
pared to a profit of €306 million in fiscal 2013. The Division
recorded charges of €272 million for inspecting and replacing
main bearings in onshore wind turbines and for repairing
offshore and onshore wind blades. The revenue mix was
clearly less favorable year-over-year, due to a significantly lower

contribution from the higher-margin offshore business. In addi-
tion, the Division’s production costs were higher compared to
the prior year. For comparison, fiscal 2013 profit was burdened
by €94 million in charges related to inspecting and retrofitting
onshore turbine blades, but benefited from positive effects re-
lated to project completions and the settlement of a claim
related to an offshore wind-farm project. Revenue was up 6% as
an increase in the onshore business, particularly in the Ameri-
cas, more than offset the above-mentioned decline in the off-
shore business. Order intake was up significantly year-over-
year as order intake in the Americas region grew sharply, driven
mainly by a recovery in the U.S., the Division's largest national
market for onshore wind power, from a low basis of comparison
in the prior year that resulted from uncertainty about continu-
ation of production tax incentives.

Power Transmission reported a loss of €636 million, substan-
tially wider than the loss a year earlier mainly due to project
execution challenges. In the current year, the Division took
charges totaling €298 million related to two high voltage direct
current (HVDC) transmission line projects in Canada, resulting
from revised estimates for civil engineering and infrastructure
provided by suppliers as well as penalties for associated project
delays, among other factors. In addition, the Division took
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charges of €240 million primarily related to grid connections to
offshore wind-farms resulting from transport, installation and
commissioning costs, compared to charges of €171 million in
the prior year. The Division reached several material milestones
with respect to its North Sea grid connection projects in fiscal
2014. Finally, profit development in fiscal 2014 was also held
back by a less favorable revenue mix due to a high proportion
of projects with low or negligible profit margins. In the prior

C.3.2.2 HEALTHCARE

year, the Division recorded €129 million in charges for the
“Siemens 2014" program. Revenue was down 14% on decreases
in all reporting regions, due mainly to selective order intake in
prior periods primarily in the solutions business. Order intake
was down 2% year-over-year on decreases in the Americas
and Asia, Australia, held back by negative currency translation
effects. On an organic basis, orders grew 2%. Legacy projects
are expected to hold back results going forward.

| sector
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Actual Comparable! Currency Portfolio
Profit 2,027 2,033 0%
Profit margin 16.3% 16.1%
Orders 12,819 13,004 (1)% 3% (4)% 0%
Total revenue 12,429 12,649 (2)% 2% (4)% 0%
External revenue 12,401 12,626 (2)%
therein:
Europe, C.I.S.,% Africa, Middle East 4,391 4,392 0%
therein Germany 880 903 (2)%
Americas 4,729 4,815 (2)%
Asia, Australia 3,281 3,419 (4)%

‘ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects

The Healthcare Sector delivered €2.027 billion in profit in fiscal
2014, close to the level of the prior year. Results in the current
period include burdens on profit from currency effects due to
the greater strength of the euro compared to fiscal 2013. These
unfavorable effects were strongest at the Sector’s imaging and
therapy systems businesses and at Diagnostics, and they more
than offset a €66 million positive effect related to the sale of a
particle therapy installation in Marburg, Germany. For compar-
ison, Sector profit in fiscal 2013 was burdened by €80 million in
charges associated with the Sector’s "“Agenda 2013" initiative.

Despite negative currency effects, profit at Diagnostics rose
significantly to €417 million. For comparison, profit of €350 mil-
lion a year earlier was held back by €35 million in charges for
the Sector’s “Agenda 2013" initiative. Purchase price allocation
(PPA) effects related to past acquisitions at Diagnostics were
€163 million in fiscal 2014. A year earlier, Diagnostics recorded
€169 million in PPA effects.

2 Commonwealth of Independent States

Revenue and orders for Healthcare in fiscal 2014 declined
slightly year-over-year. Negative currency translation effects
affected reported results for most of the Sector’s businesses,
and also reduced reported revenue and orders in Asia, Australia
and the Americas compared to fiscal 2013. On a comparable
basis, both revenue and orders were up. The book-to-bill ratio
was 1.03, and Healthcare’s order backlog was €4 billion at the
end of fiscal 2014. Out of the order backlog as of September 30,
2014, orders of €3 billion are expected to be converted into rev-
enue in fiscal 2015 and the remainder in the periods thereafter.

The Diagnostics business reported revenue of €3.834 billion in
fiscal 2014, a 3% decrease from €3.942 billion a year earlier.
A clear decline in the Americas was due primarily to headwinds
from currency translation as mentioned above. On a compara-
ble basis, Diagnostics revenue was up 1% year-over-year.
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C.3.2.3 INDUSTRY

| sector
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Actual Comparable! Currency Portfolio
Profit 2,252 1,563 44%
Profit margin 13.2% 9.2%
Orders 17,103 16,688 2% 5% (3)% 0%
Total revenue 17,064 16,896 1% 4% (3)% 0%
External revenue 15,346 15,256 1%
therein:
Europe, C.1.S.,% Africa, Middle East 8,906 8,839 1%
therein Germany 4,141 4,145 0%
Americas 2,592 2,718 (5)%
Asia, Australia 3,848 3,699 4%

‘ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.

In fiscal 2014, profit at Industry rose sharply to €2.252 billion,
supported by a more favorable revenue mix and improved pro-
ductivity compared to the prior year. For comparison, profit in
the prior-year period was burdened by €375 million in “Siemens
2014" charges. Through most of fiscal 2014, the market environ-
ment for the Sector’s businesses was clearly more favorable
than a year earlier. While reported orders and revenue for the
year were up 2% and 1%, respectively, both were held back by
negative currency translation effects that took away three per-

centage points from reported growth.

| Orders by Business

2 Commonwealth of Independent States.

On a geographic basis, order and revenue development was
supported largely by growth in Asia, Australia, driven by China,
and by a slight increase in Europe, C.L.S., Africa, Middle East.
Reported orders and revenue in the Americas region were
lower compared to the prior-year period, held back by negative
currency translation effects. The book-to-bill ratio was 1.00, and
Industry’s order backlog was €7 billion at the end of fiscal 2014.
Out of the order backlog as of September 30, 2014, orders of
€5 billion are expected to be converted into revenue in fiscal
2015 and the remainder in the periods thereafter.

Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Actual Comparable! Currency Portfolio
Industry Automation 8,412 8,143 3% 5% (3)% 1%
Drive Technologies 9,210 9,024 2% 5% (3)% 0%
‘ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
| Revenue by Business
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Actual Comparable! Currency Portfolio
Industry Automation 8,353 8,194 2% 4% (3)% 1%
Drive Technologies 9,211 9,208 0% 3% (2)% 0%
[ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
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| Profit and Profit margin by Business

Profit Profit margin

Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2014 2013 % Change 2014 2013
Industry Automation 1,401 1,038 35% 16.8% 12.7%
Drive Technologies 843 527 60% 9.1% 5.7%

Profit at Industry Automation increased substantially year-
over year to €1.401 billion on an improved business mix and
higher results in all businesses, up from €1.038 billion in the
prior-year period which included €114 million in “Siemens 2014"
charges. Profit development further included higher revenue
and lower acquisition-related effects. In particular, PPA effects
related to the acquisition of UGS Corp. in fiscal 2007 were
€93 million in the current period compared to €147 million a
year earlier. In addition, the Division recorded PPA effects of
€44 million related to LMS International NV (LMS), acquired in
the second quarter of fiscal 2013. For comparison, PPA effects
related to LMS in the prior year were €33 million, while de-
ferred revenue adjustments and inventory step-ups totaled
€43 million.

Order and revenue development for the Division was driven
mainly by double-digit growth in Asia, Australia, led by China.
In addition, order growth of 3% year-over-year included a mod-
erate increase in the Americas. Revenue came in 2% above
the prior year and included a slight increase in Europe, C.I.S.,

C.3.2.4 INFRASTRUCTURE & CITIES

Africa, Middle East. Reported revenue in the Americas showed
a slight decline due to unfavorable currency translation effects.

Profit at Drive Technologies in fiscal 2014 increased to
€843 million on contributions from most of its businesses.
Profit development included a higher share of revenue from
the Division's higher-margin motion control business and an
improved cost position. For comparison, profit of €527 million a
year earlier was burdened by €243 million in “Siemens 2014”
charges. Due to unfavorable currency translation effects,
reported revenue was level year-over-year while orders grew
2% on a higher volume of large internal orders from Siemens’
rail business.

On a geographic basis, double-digit order growth in China drove
a moderate increase in Asia, Australia while orders in Europe,
C.I.S., Africa, Middle East came in slightly above their prior-year
level. Revenue was flat in these two reporting regions. Both
orders and revenue came in lower in the Americas, held back
by unfavorable currency translation effects.

| Sector
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Actual Comparable! Currency Portfolio
Profit 1,487 291 >200%
Profit margin 7.9% 1.6%
Orders 21,001 21,894 (4)% (4)% (2)% 2%
Total revenue 18,934 17,879 6% 6% (3)% 3%
External revenue 18,291 17,149 7%
therein:
Europe, C.1.5.,% Africa, Middle East 11,560 10,494 10%
therein Germany 2,763 2,635 5%
Americas 4,075 4,288 (5)%
Asia, Australia 2,656 2,367 12%
‘ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects. 2 Commonwealth of Independent States.
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In fiscal 2014, Infrastructure & Cities executed its projects
solidly, improved its productivity, and again won a number of
very large infrastructure orders. Profit for the Sector rose to
€1.487 billion and all its Businesses contributed to the increase
year-over-year. For comparison, profit of €291 million in the
prior year was impacted by €468 million in “Siemens 2014”
charges as well as project charges including charges of
€270 million related to high-speed trains. Transportation &
Logistics, which posted a loss in the prior fiscal year due to the
project charges just mentioned and a majority share of the Sec-
tor's “Siemens 2014" charges, delivered a profit of €440 million
in fiscal 2014 and made the strongest contribution to the
Sector’s profit improvement year-over-year. Power Grid Solu-
tions & Products and Building Technologies improved their prof-
its sharply year-over-year, to €566 million and €501 million, re-
spectively. While both Businesses posted lower revenue, they
improved productivity and generated a more favorable revenue
mix year-over-year.

| Orders by Business

Sector revenue in fiscal 2014 rose 6% compared to the prior
fiscal year, due to a double-digit increase at Transportation &
Logistics. This business continued to execute large rolling stock
projects won in prior periods, and also recorded four quarters of
revenue from the acquisition of Invensys Rail which closed
during the third quarter of the prior year. Large orders in the
current period included a contract worth €1.6 billion for two
driverless subway lines in Saudi Arabia. A year earlier, large
orders included among others a contract worth €3.0 billion for
trains and maintenance in the UK., and as a result fiscal 2014
orders for the Sector came in 4% lower year-over-year. On a geo-
graphic basis, the Sector reported double-digit revenue in-
creases in Asia, Australia and Europe, C.LS, Africa, Middle East,
only partly offset by a decline in the Americas. For orders,
double-digit increases in the Americas and Asia, Australia
were more than offset by a double-digit decline in Europe,
C.I.S., Africa, Middle East. On a book-to-bill ratio of 1.11, Infra-
structure & Cities’ order backlog rose to €31 billion at the end of
fiscal 2014. Out of the order backlog as of September 30, 2014,
orders of €10 billion are expected to be converted into revenue
in fiscal 2015 and the remainder in the periods thereafter.

Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Actual Comparable! Currency Portfolio
Transportation & Logjistics 9,184 10,040 (9)% (13)% (1)% 5%
Power Grid Solutions & Products 6,481 6,392 1% 6% (5)% 0%
Building Technologies 5,587 5,769 (3)% (1)% (2)% 0%
[ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
| Revenue by Business
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Actual Comparable! Currency Portfolio
Transportation & Logjistics 7,615 6,318 21% 14% (2)% 8%
Power Grid Solutions & Products 6,005 6,102 (2)% 3% (4)% 0%
Building Technologies 5,569 5,754 3)% (1)% (2)% 0%
‘ 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
| Profit and Profit margin by Business
Profit Profit margin
Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30,
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 % Change 2014 2013
Transportation & Logistics 440 (448) nl/a 5.8% (7.1)%
Power Grid Solutions & Products 566 403 41% 9.4% 6.6%
Building Technologies 501 351 43% 9.0% 6.1%
\
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Transportation & Logistics contributed a profit of €440 mil-
lion in the current fiscal year, compared to a loss of €448 mil-
lion a year earlier. Profit development in the current fiscal was
driven primarily by significantly higher revenue and solid proj-
ect execution. Profit also benefited from a €55 million net effect
from the release of accruals related to the “Siemens 2014" pro-
gram and a €27 million positive effect stemming from a change
in risk assessment for a rail project. For comparison, the loss in
the prior fiscal year was due to substantial profit impacts, in-
cluding the above-mentioned €270 million in project charges,
which stemmed from delays for receiving certification for new
high-speed trains, and €267 million in “Siemens 2014" charges.
Prior-year profit was also burdened by €76 million in trans-
action and integration costs and PPA effects of €23 million
related to the acquisition of Invensys Rail, which closed during
the third quarter of fiscal 2013. In fiscal 2014, full-year PPA ef-
fects related to the acquisition of Invensys Rail were €53 mil-
lion and integration costs amounted to €34 million. Revenue at
Transportation & Logistics rose substantially year-over-year, as
the Business has been executing a number of its large roll-
ing-stock orders. Orders declined 9% compared to fiscal 2013,
due primarily to lower volume from large orders. For example,
fiscal 2014 included the Business's share of the above-men-
tioned €1.6 billion order from Saudi Arabia, while the prior fis-
cal year included the entire €3.0 billion order from the UK.
mentioned above. Both revenue and order development in
fiscal 2014 benefited from the acquisition of Invensys rail.

Profit at Power Grid Solutions & Products rose to €566 million
from €403 million in the prior fiscal year. Profit grew on im-
proved productivity as well as a more favorable revenue mix.
For comparison, profit in fiscal 2013 was burdened by €97 mil-
lion in “Siemens 2014" charges. Slightly lower revenue year-
over-year included declines in the Americas and the Asia,
Australia regions. A slight increase in orders included the Busi-
ness’s share of the above-mentioned order from Saudi Arabia.
Revenue and order development in fiscal 2014 was strongly
affected by negative currency translation effects. On an organic
basis, revenue was up 3% and orders rose 6% year-over-year.

Building Technologies increased its profit to €501 million
compared to €351 million in the prior fiscal year. Profit growth
year-over-year was supported by higher productivity and a
more favorable business mix related to the Division’s high-
er-margin product and service businesses. For comparison,
profit in fiscal 2013 was held back by €100 million in “Siemens
2014" charges. Both revenue and orders declined 3% year-over-
year. On a regional basis, lower volume was due mainly to the
Americas.
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C.3.2.5 EQUITY INVESTMENTS

In fiscal 2014, Equity Investments generated €328 million in
profit, down from €411 million a year earlier. Profit at Equity
Investments in both fiscal years included equity investment
income related to our stake in BSH. Beginning with the second
quarter of fiscal 2014, we started to report results related to our
stake in BSH in phase with results of Siemens, rather than with
the lag of one quarter. This one-time catch-up effect contrib-
uted €59 million to profit at Equity Investments in fiscal 2014.
Late in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, we announced an
agreement to sell our stake in BSH to Robert Bosch GmbH.
Profit at Equity Investments in the prior year benefited from a
positive effect of €301 million stemming from a partial reversal
of a fiscal 2009 impairment of our stake in NSN, which was sold
at the end of fiscal 2013. This positive effect was only partly
offset by an equity investment loss related to our share in Unify
Holdings B.V. (formerly named Enterprise Networks) of €96 mil-
lion. This loss was due largely to additions to our net invest-
ment in Unify, which required us to recognize previously un-
recognized losses.

C.3.2.6 FINANCIAL SERVICES (SFS)

Year ended September 30, % Change
(in millions of €) 2014 2013
Income before income taxes 465 409 14%
Total assets 21,970 18,661 18%

SFS delivered €465 million in profit (defined as income before
income taxes) in fiscal 2014. For comparison, profit of €409 mil-
lion in the prior-year period was burdened primarily by a
€52 million impairment of an equity stake in a power plant
project in the U.S. SFS continued to successfully support
Siemens business and grow in its focus areas leading to higher
interest income and associated expenses. Total assets rose to
€21.970 billion at the end of fiscal 2014, compared to €18.661 bil-
lion at the end of fiscal 2013, including positive currency trans-
lation effects and substantial early terminations of financings.

C.3.2.7 RECONCILIATION TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements includes
Centrally managed portfolio activities, Siemens Real Estate
(SRE) and various categories of items which are not allocated to
the Sectors and to SFS because the Company’s management
has determined that such items are not indicative of the Sec-
tors’ and SFS' respective performance.
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Centrally managed portfolio activities

Centrally managed portfolio activities reported a profit of
€44 million in fiscal 2014, compared to a loss of €113 million
in fiscal 2013. Results for the prior year included €100 million in
charges related to two large projects remaining from the Metals
Technologies business, formerly reported within Industry, that
were not classified as discontinued operations.

Siemens Real Estate (SRE)

Income before income taxes at SRE was €241 million in fiscal
2014, compared to €168 million in fiscal 2013. As in the past,
income from SRE continues to be highly dependent on dis-
posals of real estate.

Corporate items and pensions

Corporate items and pensions reported a loss of €938 million in
fiscal 2014, compared to a loss of €836 million in fiscal 2013.
Within these figures, the loss at Corporate items was €545 mil-
lion, compared to a loss of €419 million in fiscal 2013. The

C.3.3 Income

current period included expenses resulting from changes in
the fair value of warrants issued together with US$3 billion in
bonds in fiscal 2012, as well as negative effects related to legal
and regulatory matters. The fair value of the warrants depends
on the underlying Siemens and OSRAM share prices as well as
their respective volatilities. Because this effect is accounted
for in Corporate items, results for Corporate items are expected
to remain variable in coming periods. Centrally carried pen-
sion expense totaled €393 million in fiscal 2014, compared to
€416 million in fiscal 2013.

Eliminations, Corporate Treasury

and other reconciling items

Income before income taxes from Eliminations, Corporate
Treasury and other reconciling items was a negative €48 mil-
lion in fiscal 2014, compared to a negative €70 million in
the same period a year earlier. The change year-over-year in-
cluded higher interest income from liquidity at Corporate
Treasury.

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2014 2013 % Change
Energy 1,569 1,955 (20)%
Healthcare 2,027 2,033 0%
Industry 2,252 1,563 44%
Infrastructure & Cities 1,487 291 >200%

Total Sectors profit 7.335 5,842 26%

Equity Investments 328 411 (20)%

Financial Services (SFS) 465 409 14%

Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements (700) (850) 17%

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 7,427 5,813 28%

Income tax expenses (2,028) (1,634) (24)%

Income from continuing operations 5,400 4,179 29%

Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 108 231 (53)%

Net income 5,507 4,409 25%
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 134 126 -
Net income attributable to shareholders of Siemens AG 5,373 4,284 25%

As a result of the developments described in —> c.3.2 seGMENT
INFORMATION ANALYSIS, Income from continuing operations
before income taxes increased 28% year-over-year. With a
lower effective tax rate compared to fiscal 2013 (27% in fiscal
2014 vs. 28% in fiscal 2013), Income from continuing opera-
tions increased 29% year-over-year.

In fiscal 2014, the hospital information system business, for-
merly included in the Healthcare Sector, and nearly all of the
Metals Technology business, formerly included in the Industry
Sector, were classified as discontinued operations. Income
from discontinued operations, net of income taxes in fiscal
2014 was €108 million compared to €231 million a year earlier.
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While Income from discontinued operations in the current
period benefited from a positive €64 million tax effect related
to former Communications activities, the prior year included
Income from discontinued operations of €277 million related to
OSRAM, which was spun off in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013.

As a result of the changes in Income from continuing opera-
tions and Income from discontinued operations, Net income
and Net income attributable to shareholders were 25% higher
than a year earlier.

C.3.4 Reconciliation to adjusted EBITDA

The following table gives additional information on topics
included in Profit and Income before income taxes and pro-
vides a reconciliation to adjusted EBITDA based on continuing
operations.

| For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

Corresponding basic EPS rose 25% to €6.37 compared to €5.08
in the prior year, primarily reflecting higher Net income attri-
butable to shareholders of Siemens AG.

In fiscal 2014, ROCE from continuing operations was 17.2%,
thus clearly returning to our target range of 15 to 20%. In fiscal
2013, ROCE from continuing operations was 13.7%. The increase
was due primarily to the substantial increase in Income from
continuing operations and a slightly lower average capital
employed. For more detail on the calculation of ROCE, see
—> C.2.6.2 RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (ROCE).

Profit Income (loss) from
investments accounted
for using the
equity method, net
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Sectors
Energy Sector 1,569 1,955 129 (39)
therein: Power Generation 2,186 2,126 32 32
Wind Power (15) 306 52 (8)
Power Transmission (636) (156) 29 20
Healthcare Sector 2,027 2,033 6 8
therein: Diagnostics 417 350 - -
Industry Sector 2,252 1,563 2 (4)
therein: Industry Automation 1,401 1,038 - -
Drive Technologies 843 527 2 (5)
Infrastructure & Cities Sector 1,487 291 28 26
therein: Transportation & Logistics 440 (448) 16 18
Power Grid Solutions & Products 566 403 10 8
Building Technologies 501 351 2 -
Total Sectors 7,335 5,842 165 (10)
Equity Investments 328 411 297 372
Financial Services (SFS) 465 409 66 85
Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements
Centrally managed portfolio activities 44 (113) 55 69
Siemens Real Estate (SRE) 241 168 - -
Corporate items and pensions (938) (836) 2) -
Eliminations, Corporate Treasury and other reconciling items (48) (70) 1 (6)
Siemens 7,427 5,813 582 510
\
Beginning with fiscal 2015, we calculate EBITDA without the
elimination of income (loss) from investments accounted for
using the equity method, net.
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Financial income
(expenses), net

Adjusted EBIT

Amortization and
impairment of other
intangible assets

Depreciation and
impairments of
property, plant and
equipment and goodwill

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA margin

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 ‘ 2013
(41) (27) 1,481 2,022 101 132 406 478 1,988 2,631 8.1% ‘ 9.9%
(22) (16) 2,177 2,110 57 68 204 222 2,438 2,399
(12) (6) (55) 320 31 32 109 103 85 454
(10) (10) (655) (167) 14 13 89 114 (552) (39)
23 (19) 1,999 2,045 245 266 308 311 2,551 2,622 20.5% ‘ 20.7%
25 (27) 392 377 184 196 200 211 776 784
2 (16) 2,248 1,583 242 296 302 342 2,792 2,220 16.4% ‘ 13.1%
4 (4) 1,396 1,041 196 240 119 123 1,711 1,404
) (11) 843 542 45 56 182 219 1,070 817
17) (14) 1,476 279 127 154 170 226 1,772 658 9.4% \ 3.7%
(12) (7) 435 (459) 65 39 57 99 556 (321)
3) (6) 560 401 22 57 70 78 652 536
2) = 501 352 40 58 40 46 581 456
(33) (75) 7,203 5,928 715 848 1,185 1,356 9,103 8,131
29 23 1 16 = = = - 1 16
552 389 (153) (64) 5 5 190 225 41 166
2) (2) 9) (180) 1 2 3 2 (5) (177)
(103) (109) 344 278 1 1 263 307 608 586
(360) (246) (576) (590) 19 17 59 74 (498) (498)
35 30 (83) (94) = = (29) (34) (112) (128)
118 G 6,728 5,293 741 873 1,670 1,931 CLIER) 8,097
D. | Consolidated Financial Statements
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C.3.5 Selected information based
on new organizational structure

In May 2014, we announced a new organizational structure
that became effective with the beginning of fiscal 2015. In gen-
eral, financial measures presented in this Combined Manage-
ment Report are based on our organizational structure during
fiscal 2014. In this subchapter, we present selected financial
results for fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013 as they would have looked

if the new organizational structure as of beginning of fiscal
year 2015 had already been in place. As described in more detail
in > c.7 suBseQUENT EVENTS, Audiology Solutions, formerly
reported within Healthcare, was classified as discontinued op-
erations in the first quarter of fiscal 2015. This classification is
already reflected in the numbers presented. Profit amounts are
reported in accordance with our enhanced definition of seg-
ment profit, which is described in more detail in —> c.2 FINAN-
CIAL PERFORMANCE SYSTEM.

Orders Revenue
Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30,
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Power and Gas 13,996 15,100 12,720 14,016
Wind Power and Renewables 7,759 6,870 5,567 5,382
Energy Management 11,210 11,405 10,708 11,672
Building Technologies 5,587 5,769 5,569 5,754
Mobility 9,280 9,707 7,249 5,823
Digital Factory 9,233 8,897 9,201 8,950
Process Industries and Drives 9,968 9,695 9,645 9,834
Healthcare 12,126 12,338 11,736 11,983
Industrial business 79,158 79,781 72,396 73,414
\
|
Profit Profit margin
Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30,
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Power and Gas 2,215 2,129 17.4% 15.2%
Wind Power and Renewables 6 7 0.1% 0,1%
Energy Management (86) 254 (0.8)% 2.2%
Building Technologies 511 377 9.2% 6.6%
Mobility 532 (232) 7.3% (4.0)%
Digital Factory 1,681 1,320 18.3% 14.8%
Process Industries and Drives 773 510 8.0% 5.2%
Healthcare 2,072 2,123 17.7% 17.7%
Industrial business 7,703 6,488 10.6% 8.8%
Financial Services 466 410
Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements (862) (1,177)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 7,306 5,722
Income tax expenses (2,014) (1,652)
Income from continuing operations 5,292 4,070
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 215 340
Net income 5,507 4,409
\
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11 C.4 Financial position

C.4.1 Principles and objectives
of financial management

Siemens is committed to a strong financial profile, which pro-
vides the financial flexibility to achieve growth and portfolio
optimization goals largely independent of capital market con-
ditions.

Financial management at Siemens is executed according
to applicable laws and internal guidelines and regulations. It
includes the following activities:

LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT

Siemens’ principal source of financing is cash inflows from
operating activities. Corporate Treasury generally manages
cash and cash equivalents for Siemens and has primary respon-
sibility for raising funds in the capital markets for Siemens
through various debt products, with the exception of countries
with conflicting capital market controls. The relevant consoli-
dated subsidiaries in these countries obtain financing primarily
from local banks. Siemens follows a prudent borrowing policy
that is aimed towards a balanced financing portfolio, a diversi-
fied maturity profile and a comfortable liquidity cushion. Espe-
cially since the beginning of the global financial markets crisis,
Siemens monitors very closely the funding options available in
the capital markets, trends in the availability of funds and the
cost of such funding in order to evaluate possible strategies
regarding its financial and risk profile.

CASH MANAGEMENT

Cash management comprises the management of bank partner
relationships and bank accounts as well as the execution of
payments, including the administration of cash pools, on a
global level. Siemens strives to raise efficiency and transpar-
ency through a high level of standardization and continuous
advancement of payment processes. Where permissible, the
execution of intercompany and third party payments is effected
centrally through group-wide tools with central controls to en-
sure compliance with internal and external guidelines and
requirements. To ensure efficient management of Siemens’
funds, Corporate Treasury has established a central cash man-
agement approach: to the extent legally and economically fea-
sible, funds are pooled and managed centrally by Corporate
Treasury. Conversely, funding needs within Siemens are cov-
ered centrally by Corporate Treasury via intercompany current
accounts and/or loans where legally and economically feasible.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Investments of cash and cash equivalents are subject to credit
requirements and counterparty limits. Corporate Treasury
pools and centrally manages Siemens’ interest rate exposure as
well as certain commodity, currency and credit risk exposures

and uses financial derivative instruments in transactions with
external financial institutions to offset such concentrated expo-
sures. Especially since the beginning of the global financial
market crisis, Siemens monitors very closely the counterparty
risk in its financial assets and financial derivative instruments.
For more detailed information about financial risk manage-
ment at Siemens, see —> NOTE 311N —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

MANAGEMENT OF POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Siemens’ funding policy for post-employment-benefits is part
of its overall commitment to sound financial management,
which includes a continuous analysis of the structure of its pen-
sion liabilities. For more detailed information about Siemens’
pension plan funding, see —> NOTE 22 in —> D.6 NOTES TO CON-
SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE MANAGEMENT

To effectively manage Siemens’ capital structure, Siemens
seeks to maintain ready access to the capital markets through
various debt products and to preserve its ability to repay and
service its debt obligations over time.

C.4.2 Capital structure

As of September 30, 2014 and 2013 our capital structure was
as follows:

September 30, % Change

(in millions of €) 2014 2013
Total equity attributable to
shareholders of Siemens AG 30,954 28,111 10%
As percentage of total capital 60% 58%

Short-term debt and current

maturities of long-term debt 1,620 1,944

Long-term debt 19,326 18,509
Total debt 20,947 20,453 2%
As percentage of total capital 40% 42%
Total capital
(total equity and total debt) 51,900 48,564 7%

For information on changes in equity and debt, see —> c.5 NET
ASSETS POSITION.

We believe that sustainable revenue and profit development is
supported by a healthy capital structure. A key consideration of
our capital structure management is to maintain ready access
to the capital markets through various debt products and to
preserve our ability to repay and service our debt obligations
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over time. In fiscal 2014, the target range for our capital struc-
ture was 0.5 - 1.0. The ratio is defined as the item Industrial net
debt divided by the item Adjusted EBITDA. This financial perfor-
mance measure indicates the approximate amount of time in
years that would be needed to cover industrial net debt through
continuing income, without taking into account interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization.

Our capital structure ratio as of September 30, 2014 decreased
to 0.15 from 0.35 a year earlier. The change was due to a de-
crease in industrial net debt and an increase in adjusted EBITDA
compared to the prior year. We actively manage this ratio
through our ongoing share buybacks. Our announced acquisi-
tions and divestments of businesses will also have a noticeable
impact on it in fiscal 2015.

For further information on the calculation of adjusted EBITDA
and its changes, see —> €.3.4 RECONCILIATION TO ADJUSTED EBITDA.
For further information with respect to our capital structure,
the calculation of industrial net debt and its changes, and our
credit rating, see —> NOTE 26 in —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

C.4.3 Investing activities

Additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equip-
ment from continuing operations was €1.831 billion in fiscal
2014, nearly unchanged from the level in the same period a
year earlier. In fiscal 2014, we directed €1.356 billion of these
additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equip-
ment within the Sectors to investments for technological inno-
vations, extending our capacities for designing, manufacturing
and marketing new solutions and for the necessary replace-
ments of fixed assets. The majority of the additions in fiscal
2014 took place in the focus areas of investing activities of the
former Sectors described below, which will basically continue
to be the focus areas regarding the investing activities of the
Industrial Business in fiscal 2015. The remaining portion in fis-
cal 2014, €475 million, related mainly to SRE and its responsibil-
ity for uniform and comprehensive management of Company
real estate worldwide.

The businesses of the former Energy Sector includes invest-
ments mainly in improving its global footprint to secure com-
petitiveness by improving its cost position and strengthening
technological innovations. These investments include mainly
spending in capacities and facilities related to the business of
the former Power Generation Division, such as new test facili-
ties for highly efficient gas turbines, and for the technology-
driven wind power market, particularly in northern Europe.

Healthcare's investments are mainly driven by the medical
imaging and therapy systems and laboratory diagnostics busi-
nesses. Large parts of the additions are related to intangible
assets, such as licenses as well as developing and implement-
ing software and IT solutions.

The businesses of the former Industry Sector spend a large por-
tion of its additions to intangible assets, particularly software,
and property, plant and equipment for additional capacities for
innovative products, for optimization of its global footprint;
and for the replacement of fixed assets.

The businesses of the former Infrastructure &Cities Sector
spend large amounts of their additions to intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment for investments in innovations
at the former Power Grid Solutions & Products Business, partic-
ularly including the business activities of the former Low and
Medium Voltage Division, and at the Building Technologies
Division. The businesses also invest significant amounts in the
replacement and expansion of technical equipment in order to
improve productivity and their respective positions in grow-
ing market segments, particularly at the former Transporta-
tion & Logistics Business.

The changes of additions to intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment from fiscal 2013 to 2014 were as follows:

Additions to intangible assets and property,
| plant and equipment (in millions of €)

Siemens (continuing operations)
FY 2014 1,831
1,808

1%

H

FY 2013

Energy Sector
FY 2014 449
FY 2013 425

Healthcare Sector
FY 2014 303
FY 2013 241

26%

— o
j—

—

o

Industry Sector

FY 2014

358 [
384 [

Infrastructure & Cities Sector
FY 2014 247
FY 2013 239

(7)%
FY 2013

3%

L

For information with respect to acquisitions of businesses, see
—> C.1.1.2 BUSINESS DESCRIPTION.
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C.4.4 Cash flows

| cash flows
Continuing operations Discontinued operations Continuing and
discontinued operations
Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30,
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Cash flows from:
Operating activities 7,230 7,186 (131) 154 7,100 7,340
Investing activities (4,364) (4,759) 339 (317) (4,026) (5,076)
therein: Additions to intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment (1,831) (1,808) (67) (204) (1,898) (2,012)
Free cash flow 5,399 5,378 (198) (50) 5,201 5,328
Financing activities (4,485) (3,715) 2) 319 (4,487) (3,396)

Cash flows from operating activities — Continuing operations
provided cash from operating activities of €7.230 billion in fis-
cal 2014, nearly unchanged from the level a year earlier. In both
periods, the major component of cash inflows was income
from continuing operations, which increased to €5.400 billion
in fiscal 2014 from €4.179 billion in the prior year. Included
therein were amortization, depreciation and impairments of
€2.411 billion in the current period and €2.804 billion in the
prior year. A decrease in operating net working capital led to
cash inflows of €0.1 billion in the current period compared to
outflows of €1.7 billion due to a build-up in operating net work-
ing capital a year earlier. The positive change year-over-year in
operating net working capital related mainly to Energy, in par-
ticular to the Wind Power Division, and to Infrastructure &
Cities’ Transportation &Logistics Business. In fiscal 2014 we
recorded negative effects related to changes in other assets and
liabilities, particularly personnel-related liabilities, compared to
positive effects in the prior year. The current period included
cash outflows of approximately €0.5 billion corresponding to
charges to income taken for the “Siemens 2014” program, com-
pared to €0.4 billion in such outflows in the prior year.

Discontinued operations used cash of €131 million in fiscal
2014, compared to cash provided of €154 million in the prior
year, which included significant cash inflows at OSRAM.

Cash flows from investing activities — Cash used in investing
activities for continuing operations amounted to €4.364 billion
in fiscal 2014, compared to cash used of €4.759 billion in the
prior year. In the current period, cash outflows from investing
activities were due mainly to two factors. Firstly, SFS executed
its planned asset growth during fiscal 2014 and we recorded
cash outflows totaling €2.501 billion for a net increase in new
business volume at SFS. Secondly, we had additions to intan-
gible assets and property, plant and equipment of €1.831 bil-
lion, which related mainly to investments within the Sectors.

For comparison, the prior year included cash outflows from the
financing activities at SFS of €2.175 billion and additions to in-
tangible assets and property, plant and equipment of €1.808 bil-
lion. In the prior year, cash outflows for acquisitions of
businesses, net of cash acquired, totaled €2.786 billion. This
total included the preliminary purchase price (excluding cash
acquired) of €1.987 billion related to Infrastructure & Cities’ ac-
quisition of Invensys Rail, and €670 million related to Indus-
try’s acquisitions of LMS International NV. Also in the prior year
cash inflows from the disposal of investments, intangibles and
property, plant and equipment were €2.462 billion. This total
included proceeds of €1.7 billion relating to the sale of our 50%
stake in NSN and €0.3 billion relating to the sale of our AtoS
convertible bonds.

Discontinued operations provided cash of €339 million in fiscal
2014, compared to cash used of €317 million in the prior year.
The current period included proceeds (excluding cash sold)
of €0.5 billion related to the sale of the Water Technologies
Business Unit.

Free cash flow from continuing and discontinued operations
of €5.201 billion in fiscal 2014 was near the high level of the
prior year. On a sequential basis, Free cash flow during fiscal
2014 and fiscal 2013 developed as follows:

| Free cash flow (in millions of €)'

Q42014 | 3,450 ——
Q32014 1,048 -

Q22014 1,402 _

Q12014 (699) ‘

Q4203 | 4336 P
Q32013 1,053 j—

Q22013 1,335 _

Q12013 (1,395) _

‘ 1 Continuing and discontinued operations.
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Cash flows from financing activities — Financing activities for
continuing operations used cash of €4.485 billion in fiscal 2014,
compared to cash used of €3.715 billion a year earlier. In the
current period, the major cash outflows were dividends of
€2.533 billion paid (for fiscal 2013) to shareholders of
Siemens AG and the repayment of €1.452 billion in long-term
debt. In addition we recorded cash outflows of €1.066 billion for
the purchase of treasury shares under Siemens’ share buyback
program and paid interest totaling €617 million. These cash
outflows were partly offset by cash inflows of €801 million from
the change in short-term debt and other financing activities
related to the issuance of commercial paper and by proceeds of
€527 million from the issuance of long-term debt, related to a
total of US$700 million in privately placed floating-rate instru-
ments. For comparison, in the prior year we paid dividends of
€2.528 billion (for fiscal 2012) to shareholders of Siemens AG
and €2.927 billion for the repayment of long-term debt. We re-
corded €1.394 billion in cash outflows for the purchase of treas-
ury shares and €479 million for the payment of interest. In the
prior year these cash outflows were partly offset by cash inflows
from the issuance of long-term debt totaling €3.772 billion.

C.4.5 Capital resources
and requirements

Our capital resources consist of a variety of short- and long-
term instruments including debt instruments and credit facili-
ties. In addition to cash and cash equivalents and available-for-
sale financial assets, liquid resources consist of future cash
flows from operating activities.

Our capital requirements include, among others, scheduled
debt service, regular capital spending, ongoing cash require-
ments from operating and SFS financing activities, dividend
payments, pension plan funding, portfolio activities and share
buybacks.

DEBT AND CREDIT FACILITIES

As of September 30, 2014 we recorded in total €18.2 billion in
bonds, €1.7 billion in loans from banks, €0.9 billion in other
financial indebtedness, primarily consisted of US$-commercial
paper, and €0.1 billion in obligations under finance leases.

Below we present the maturity profile of our assignable and
term loans and our bonds, issued mainly in Euro and US$ and
to a lower extent in £, as of September 30, 2014:

Bonds and loans maturity profile
| (nominal amounts outstanding in billions of €)

4.62

2.5
2.0+

19—

ii e |

201512016 1 2017 1 2018 [ 2019 | 2020 | 2021 | 2025 | 2026 | 2028 | 2042 | 2066

1 The maturity of the hybrid bond depends on the exercise of a call option:
the bond is callable by us in September 2016 and thereafter, with a final legal
maturity ending in September 2066.

2 We may redeem, at any time, all or some of US$-notes, issued in August

2006, at the early redemption amount (call) according to the conditions of
the notes.

In order to optimize the Company'’s position with regard to in-
terest income and interest expense, and to manage the associ-
ated interest rate risk, Corporate Treasury uses derivative finan-
cial instruments to comprehensively and actively manage our
interest rate risk relative to a benchmark. The interest rate risk
relating to SFS is managed separately, considering the term
structure of SFS’s financial assets and liabilities.

We have three credit facilities at our disposal for general corpo-
rate purposes. The credit facilities as of September 30, 2014
consisted of €6.8 billion in committed, unused lines of credit.

Further information about our debt and credit facilities, interest
rate risk management and the use of financial instruments
for hedging purposes is provided in —> NOTES 21, 30 AND 31 in
—> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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NET DEBT

Net debt results from total debt less total liquidity. Total liquid-
ity refers to the liquid financial assets we have available at the
end of a reporting period to fund our business operations and
pay for near-term obligations. Total liquidity comprises Cash
and cash equivalents as well as current Available-for-sale finan-
cial assets, as stated in the Consolidated Statements of Finan-
cial Position. Management uses the Net debt measure for inter-
nal finance management, as well as for external communication
with investors, analysts and rating agencies.

The changes in Net debt from fiscal 2013 to 2014 may also be
presented as follows:

| Changes in Net debt (in millions of €)

September 30,
(in millions of €) 2014 2013
Short-term debt and current maturities
of long-term debt 1,620 1,944
Long-term debt 19,326 18,509
Total debt 20,947 20,453
Cash and cash equivalents (8,013) (9,190)
Available-for-sale financial assets (current) (925) (601)
Total liquidity (8,938) (9,790)
Net debt’ 12,008 10,663

1 We typically need a considerable portion of our cash and cash equivalents and
our current available-for-sale financial assets for purposes other than debt reduc-
tion. The deduction of these items from total debt in the calculation of Net debt
therefore should not be understood to mean that these items are available exclu-
sively for debt reduction at any given time.

(7,147)

Cash inflows for the
decrease in operating
net working capital’

Net debt as of
September 30, 2013

Income and other changes
in cash flows from
operating activities

Total cash flows from operating activities?

Net debt as of
September 30, 2014

Cash flows from
investing activities?

Changes in certain
financing activities?

1 Infiscal 2014, cash inflows for the decrease in operating
net working capital included cash inflows for inventories
less advance payments received of €336 million, for

payables of €205 million and cash outflows for billings
in excess of costs and in estimated earnings on uncom-
pleted contracts and related advances of €657 million.

3 Included cash flows relating to certain financing activities
such as dividends paid and purchase of treasury shares
as well as effects without cash flow impact such as from

trade and other receivables of €200 million, for trade 2 Continuing operations.

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET COMMITMENTS

As of September 30, 2014 and 2013 we recorded €6.687 billion
and €5.970 billion, respectively, of the undiscounted amount of
maximum potential future payments related to guarantees. The
increase in these commitments included guarantees related to
the disposition of businesses and agreements related to our
project businesses. As of September 30, 2014 and 2013 we
recorded also €3.217 billion and €3.120 billion, respectively, of
future payment obligations under non-cancellable operating
leases and €132 million and €223 million, respectively, for com-
mitments to make capital contributions to the equity of various
companies.

Further information about these off-balance-sheet commit-
ments is provided in —> NOTE 27 in —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

As of September 30, 2014 and 2013 we recorded also irrevoca-
ble loan commitments of €3.604 billion and €2.950 billion.
A considerable portion of these commitments resulted from

currency translations.

asset-based lending transactions, meaning that the respective
loans can be drawn only after the borrower has provided suffi-
cient collateral. The increase in these commitments year-over-
year was due mainly to new business volume at SFS, including
positive currency translation effects.

OTHER CAPITAL RESOURCES AND REQUIREMENTS
For information related to the expected payments for dividend
and share buybacks, see —> c.2.5 DIVIDEND AND SHARE BUYBACKS.

For information related to expected cash inflows and outflows
in connection with portfolio transactions, see —> NOTE 4 In
—> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

With our ability to generate positive operating cash flows,
our total liquidity of €8.9 billion and our €6.8 billion in unused
lines of credit and given our credit ratings at year-end, we
believe that we have sufficient flexibility to fund our capital
requirements. Also in our opinion, our working capital is
sufficient for our present requirements.
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C.5 Net assets position

Structure of Consolidated Statements
| of Financial Position (in millions of €)

Total liabilities

Total assets and equity
3% 3%
104879 191,936 104,879 191,936
Total current Total current
assets PR
s wow iy
(46%) (46%) 35%)
therein:
Tom/ /rqu/drty 9,790 Total
(10%) non-current
(9%) liabilities 35,443
36,767 (35%)
Total (35%)
non-current 54,999
assets (54%) Total equit
56,803 s 28,625
(54%) (B0%) (28%)
Sep. 30, Sep. 30 Sep. 30, Sep. 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Our total assets in fiscal 2014 were influenced by positive cur-
rency translation effects of €2.8 billion, led by the US$. Within
total assets of €104.879 billion, total assets related to SFS
increased to €21.970 billion as of September 30, 2014 from
€18.661 billion a year earlier. Within total liabilities, SFS debt
increased to €18.663 billion from €15.600 billion a year earlier.
Both changes were driven by planned asset growth at SFS
during fiscal 2014. SFS assets represented 21% of Siemens’ total
assets as of September 30, 2014, compared to 18% a year earlier.
SFS debt represented 18% of Siemens total liabilities and equity,
compared to 15% at the end of fiscal 2013.

During fiscal 2014 we classified a number of businesses as held
for disposal. These classifications affected a number of line
items in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position,
which are noted in the discussion below. The relevant busi-
nesses include the following: the Metals Technologies busi-
ness formerly within Industry, the Hospital Information System
business and Microbiology business formerly within Health-
care, and our equity investment stake in BSH.
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September 30,

(in millions of €) 2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalents 8,013 9,190
Available-for-sale financial assets 925 601
Trade and other receivables 14,526 14,853
Other current financial assets 3,710 3,250
Inventories 15,100 15,560
Current income tax assets 577 794
Other current assets 1,290 1,297
Assets classified as held for disposal 3,935 1,393
Total current assets 48,076 46,937

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by €1.177 billion from the
prior-year level. For detailed information regarding the change,
See —) C.4.4 CASH FLOWS.

The line items Trade and other receivables and Inventories
decreased by €328 million and €461 million, respectively, year-
over-year. The main factor in the decreases was assets related
to the Metals Technologies business, which were classified as
held for disposal. These decreases were partly offset by positive
currency translation effects.

The line item Other current financial assets increased by
€461 million year-over-year, which included higher loans receiv-
ables of SFS.

Assets classified as held for disposal increased by €2.542 billion
due mainly to the classification of assets related to the Metals
Technologies business, our stake in BSH and the Hospital Infor-
mation System business. This increase was partly offset by a
reduction in assets due to the sale of the Water Technologies
business.

September 30,
(in millions of €) 2014 2013
Goodwill 17,783 17,883
Other intangible assets 4,560 5,057
Property, plant and equipment 9,638 9,815
Investments accounted for using
the equity method 2,127 3,022
Other financial assets 18,416 15,117
Deferred tax assets 3,334 3,234
Other assets 945 872
Total non-current assets 56,803 54,999
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Goodwill decreased slightly to €17.783 billion as of Septem-
ber 30, 2014 compared to €17.883 billion a year earlier. The
decrease was mainly related to goodwill in the Metals Techno-
logies, Hospital Information System and Microbiology busi-
nesses, which were classified as assets classified as held for
disposal. This decrease was nearly offset by positive currency
translation effects.

Other intangible assets decreased to €4.560 billion as of Sep-
tember 30, 2014, compared to €5.057 billion a year earlier. The
major factor in the decrease was amortization.

Investments accounted for using the equity method decreased
by €894 million year-over-year. The main factor was the classi-
fication of our stake in BSH as assets classified as held for dis-
posal, partly offset by an investment in the joint venture re-
lated to the TurboCare Business Unit within Energy.

The line item Other financial assets increased to €18.416 billion
as of September 30, 2014 compared to €15.117 billion a year ear-
lier. The change was due primarily to higher loans receivable
driven by planned asset growth at SFS in fiscal 2014 and also to
a minor extent positive currency effects.

Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt de-
creased by €324 million year-over-year. The main factors in the
decrease were the redemption of €1.0 billion in 5.375% p.a.
instruments and €400 million in 0.375% p.a. instruments,
partly offset by the issuance of commercial paper.

Other current liabilities decreased to €17.954 billion as of Sep-
tember 30, 2014 from €19.701 billion a year earlier. The main
factors were a decrease in billings in excess of costs and esti-
mated earnings on uncompleted contracts and related ad-
vances, mainly in Energy and Industry, and, to a lesser extent,
lower personnel-related liabilities. The decrease in Industry re-
lated primarily to the Metals Technologies business, where lia-
bilities were classified as liabilities associated with assets clas-
sified as held for disposal.

Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for disposal
increased to €1.597 billion as of September 30, 2014 from
€473 million a year earlier. The main factor in the increase was
the above-mentioned classification of liabilities associated
within Metals Technologies business.

September 30,

(in millions of €) 2014 2013

September 30, Long-term debt 19,326 18,509
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 Post-employment benefits 9,324 9,265
Short-term debt and current Deferred tax liabilities 552 504
maturities of long-term debt 1,620 1,944 Provisions 4071 3907
Trade payables 7,594 7,599 Other financial liabilities 1,620 1,184
Other current financial liabilities 1,717 1,515 Other liabilities 1,874 2,074
Current provisions 4,354 4,485 Total non-current liabilities 36,767 35,443
Current income tax liabilities 1,762 2,151
Other current liabilities 17,954 19,701 ‘
Liabilities associated with assets
classified as held for disposal 1,597 473

Total current liabilities 36,598 | 37,868 Long-term debt increased by €817 million as of September 30,

2014, compared to the prior year, due mainly to positive cur-
rency translation effects and the issuance of US$700 million in
privately placed floating-rate instruments.
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As of September 30, 2014, the funded status of our defined ben-
efit plans showed an underfunding of €9.1 billion, unchanged
from the prior year. Within these figures, underfunding for
pension plans amounted to €8.5 billion, as of September 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively. An increase in our defined benefit
obligation (DBO) by €2.418 billion mainly resulted from the im-
pact of decreasing market interest rates which was offset partly
by the effect of a refined determination of the discount rate. At
the same time, plan assets increased by €2.427 billion due
mainly to a positive return, primarily driven by fixed-income
and equity investments.

September 30,

Total equity attributable to shareholders of Siemens AG in-
creased from €28.111billion at the end of fiscal 2013 to
€30.954 billion at the end of fiscal 2014. In fiscal 2014, the main
factors relating to the increase in total equity attributable to
shareholders of Siemens AG were €5.373 billion in net income
attributable to shareholders of Siemens AG and €825 million in
other comprehensive income, net of income taxes. These in-
creases were partly offset by dividend payments of €2.533 bil-
lion (paid for fiscal 2013) and the repurchase of 11,331,922
treasury shares at average costs per share of €95.27 totaling
€1.080 billion (including incidental transaction charges).

For additional information on our net assets position, see the
corresponding notes in —> 0.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

(in millions of €) 2014 2013 STATEMENTS.

Total equity attributable

to shareholders of Siemens AG 30,954 28,111

Equity ratio 30% 28%

Non-controlling interests 560 514

Total liabilities and equity 104,879 | 101,936

\
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11 C.6 Overall assessment of the economic position

We reached most of the goals for fiscal 2014 that we set in our
Annual Report for fiscal 2013, particularly including 1% organic
revenue growth and net income and basic EPS (net income)
growth of well over 15% compared to the prior year. We also
achieved a return on capital employed (ROCE) in our target
range. Among the primary measures of our economic position,
only our capital structure ratio was outside the target range, as
we kept our capital structure conservative in fiscal 2014.

During the fiscal year, we finished the remaining measures
from the “Siemens 2014" program, which helped to increase our
cost productivity. Furthermore, we initiated “Vision 2020,” a
long-term and comprehensive concept for sustainable value
creation. With this concept we aim to achieve profitable growth
through greater customer proximity and accelerated innova-
tion, while further optimizing our portfolio, streamlining our
management structures and processes, and fostering an “owner-
ship culture” throughout the Company.

Revenue for fiscal 2014 was €71.920 billion, a 2% decline com-
pared to the prior fiscal year. Within the change, Infrastruc-
ture &Cities and Industry reported higher revenue while Energy
and Healthcare reported declines. Overall, the decline was due
to negative currency translation effects. On an organic basis,
excluding currency translation and portfolio effects, revenue
was up 1% year-over-year, with three Sectors contributing to
the increase and only Energy reporting a decline year-over-year.
This fulfilled our expectation that organic revenue would
remain near the prior-year level in fiscal 2014.

Orders for fiscal 2014 were €78.350 billion, fulfilling our expec-
tation for a book-to-bill ratio above 1, which came in at 1.09.
Order development followed the pattern for revenue: while
reported orders were 2% lower year-over-year, organic orders
were up 1% on increases in three of the four Sectors. Energy
and Infrastructure & Cities again won large order volumes from
major contract wins, demonstrating the trust that customers
place in our ability to execute large projects despite setbacks in
certain project businesses in recent years. While Energy’s Wind
Power Division achieved a strong order increase year-over-year,
the volume from large orders at Infrastructure & Cities came in
lower than a year earlier, when the Sector won an extraordi-
narily large contract worth €3.0 billion in the UK.

Total Sectors profit for fiscal 2014 was €7.335 billion. As ex-
pected, this was a substantial increase from €5.842 billion a
year earlier, when the Sectors took €1.2 billion in charges for
the “Siemens 2014" productivity improvement program.

Higher Total Sectors profit was the main driver for growth in
net income and basic EPS from net income. These primary

indicators of our economic performance rose 25% year-over-year
to €5.507 billion and €6.37, respectively, which clearly fulfilled
our forecast for an increase of basic EPS from net income of at
least 15%.

Total Sectors profit margin in fiscal 2014 was 10.0%, in the mid-
dle of our forecast of 9.5% to 10.5% given in our Annual Report
for fiscal 2013. Infrastructure &Cities and Industry were key
drivers in meeting this expectation, as both Sectors showed im-
pressive performance improvements in fiscal 2014. Healthcare
maintained its profit and profit margin near the high level
achieved in the prior fiscal year. In contrast, the performance of
the Energy Sector was disappointing. Profit fell significantly and,
contrary to our expectation, profit margin also declined year-
over-year due mainly to sharply higher project-related charges.

The Sectors’ results regarding adjusted EBITDA margin followed
the same pattern. Infrastructure & Cities and Industry increased
their EBITDA margins significantly year-over-year, with the for-
mer re-entering its target range and the latter approaching the
top of its target range. Healthcare again achieved an EBITDA
margin above its target corridor. Energy fell even further below
its EBITDA margin range than it was in fiscal 2013.

ROCE is a primary measure of our capital efficiency. As we fore-
cast in our Annual Report for fiscal 2013, ROCE for continuing
operations for fiscal 2014 returned to the target range of 15% to
20%. We increased our income compared to a year earlier and
decreased our average capital employed slightly year-over-year.
As a result, ROCE for continuing operations rose to 17.2% from
13.7% in fiscal 2013.

Free cash flow from continuing and discontinued operations
for fiscal 2014 came in at €5.201 billion, 2% lower than the high
level we achieved a year earlier. While cash inflows from oper-
ating activities declined moderately year-over-year, we partly
offset this change by reducing cash outflows for investments in
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.

Our primary measure for evaluating our capital structure is
defined as the ratio of industrial net debt to adjusted EBITDA.
Our target for this ratio in fiscal 2014 was 0.5 to 1.0. As the net
result of the portfolio measures that we initiated in fiscal 2014
is expected to result in a significant net cash outflow in fiscal
2015, we kept our capital structure in fiscal 2014 more conser-
vative. As a result of a combination of sharply lower industrial
net debt and clearly higher EBITDA from continuing operations
year-over-year the ratio declined to 0.15, down from 0.35 a
year earlier. Thus we did not fulfill our forecast for the capital
structure ratio, which was to approach the lower end of the
target range.
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Our “Vision 2020" concept mentioned above, which was initi-
ated in fiscal 2014, focuses Siemens on profitable growth
along the value chain of electrification. During the year we
announced a number of portfolio changes for this purpose,
including acquisition of two major energy businesses: the
Rolls-Royce aero-derivative gas turbine and compressor busi-
ness and the Dresser-Rand oil and gas equipment business. We
have also announced planned divestments of our hearing aid
business and our stake in the home appliance business BSH. To
streamline our processes, we reduced layers of management by
eliminating the Sector structure and reducing the number of
our Divisions, effective with the beginning of fiscal 2015. We
also streamlined our regional go-to-market structure, with a
smaller number of entities that have greater ability to penetrate

11 C.7 Subsequent events

In November 2014, we announced the sale of our hearing aid
business to the investment company EQT and the German
entrepreneurial family Striingmann as co-investors. The trans-
action volume is €2.15 billion plus an earn-out component and
includes that the new owners will also be allowed to continue
using the Siemens product brand for the hearing aid business
over the medium term. The hearing aid business so far rep-
resents a Business Unit within Healthcare. The transaction is
subject to approval by the regulatory authorities. Closing is
expected in the first quarter of calendar year 2015. The hearing
aid business is presented as held for disposal and discontinued
operations since the first quarter of fiscal 2015.
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attractive geographic markets and get closer to our customers.
With regard to innovation, we expect to intensify R&D activi-
ties e.g. to shorten product development cycles and increase
our application of new technologies, such as data analytics. To
better balance risks and rewards when we take on innovative
projects, we intend to explicitly rely on our so-called corporate
memory as an early-warning system that takes advantage of
the experience and expertise we already possess.

We intend to continue providing an attractive return to share-
holders. As in the past, we intend to fund the dividend payout
from Free cash flow. The Siemens Managing Board, in agree-
ment with the Supervisory Board, proposes a dividend of €3.30
per share, up from €3.00 a year earlier.
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11 C.8 Sustainability and citizenship

C.8.1 Sustainability at Siemens

C.8.1.1 OVERVIEW

Siemens has defined sustainability to mean achieving profit-
able and long-term growth, acting responsibly on behalf of
future generations and to keep the three dimensions of sus-
tainability — people, planet, profit — in balance. We are aware of
the associated high standards and the possibility of conflicting
goals. Nevertheless, we are convinced that sustainability,
especially in the sense of resource efficiency is a business
opportunity, and worth seizing.

Sustainability is a guiding principle within our Company, incor-
porated in our philosophy, central theme of our corporate strat-
egy, and integral part of the Siemens Management model. In
our Sustainability activities we focus on three areas: “Sustain-
able business practices,” “Contribution to our customers’ com-
petiveness,” and “Contribution to sustainable development of
societies” in order to achieve sustainable progress for Siemens,
its customers and societies.

> “Sustainable business practices” comprises our commitment
to embedding sustainability throughout our organization
and operations. We want to be a role model ourselves and
walk the talk across all areas of the Company covering oper-
ational businesses, countries, and corporate functions.

> The second area means that we contribute to our customers’
competitiveness with our products, solutions and services
and enable them to increase energy efficiency, save re-
sources and reduce carbon emissions at a significant cost
advantage.

> Siemens contributes to the sustainable development of soci-
eties with its innovative products and solutions, local opera-
tions, thought leadership and the fostering of long-term
relationships with local communities through Corporate
Citizenship projects with partners.

C.8.1.2 SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT

AND ORGANIZATION

The importance we attach to the topic of sustainability is evi-
dent in its central position within the Company’s organization
and in our programs and the measures we execute. Efficient
sustainability management is a company-wide task that requires
a clear organizational structure and a thorough anchoring of
sustainability in our corporate culture. All our sustainability ac-
tivities are steered by the Chief Sustainability Officer, who is a
member of our Managing Board. In order to coordinate and
manage our sustainability activities efficiently, we established
the Siemens Sustainability Board, the Sustainability Office and
the Siemens Sustainability Advisory Board.

The Siemens Sustainability Board, which is chaired by the
Chief Sustainability Officer, is the central steering committee
for sustainability at Siemens. In its regular meetings it directs
our sustainability activities as part of our sustainable strategy
and adopts appropriate measures and initiatives. Our Chief Sus-
tainability Officer also manages the Sustainability Office,
which is responsible for driving sustainability further within
Siemens and for coordinating the sustainability activities and
other company-wide programs and measures.

To help us maintain an objective perspective on our sustain-
ability challenges and performance, we have also created the
Siemens Sustainability Advisory Board, composed of eight
eminent figures in science and industry from a range of disci-
plines and regions of the world. None are employees of
Siemens. Furthermore, a network of assigned Sustainability
Managers in the businesses and regional units ensure that sus-
tainability measures are implemented and multiplied through-
out the Company.

C.8.1.3 COLLABORATING FOR SUSTAINABILITY

Our sustainability efforts are based on our Business Conduct
Guidelines, which provide the ethical and legal framework
within which we conduct our business activities. They contain
the basic principles and rules for our conduct internally and
externally. Specific issues, such as those relating to the environ-
ment, are covered in more detailed regulations and guidelines.
The Business Conduct Guidelines are binding for all companies
controlled by Siemens.

Furthermore, we believe that close collaboration with stake-
holders supports us in addressing complex, interlocking sus-
tainability challenges and topics. Maintaining an intensive dia-
logue with partners along the supply chain and with external
stakeholder groups and organizations is important for us:
Siemens is actively engaged with leading global sustainability
organizations, such as the World Business Council for Sustain-
able Development (WBCSD) and the World Resources Institute
(WRI). We also liaise regularly with a broad group of stakehold-
ers on key sustainability issues, track their most material topics
and use them as guide for our activities.

In addition, we are committed to international standards and
guidelines for sustainability. For example, we signed on to the
United Nations Global Compact in 2003 and became a signatory
to the Global Compact’'s CEO Water Mandate in 2008; since fiscal
2011, we are a member of the steering committee of the Global
Compact's “Caring for Climate” initiative. We regularly report on
our sustainability performance using the guidelines (G3.0) of
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), which aim at high transpar-

ency and comparability for corporate sustainability reporting.
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C.8.2 Employees

| Indicators’

Year ended September 30,

2014 2013
Employee turnover rate? 9.1% 10.8%
Female employees in management
positions (percentage of all management
positions)? 15.6% 15.6%
Expenses for continuing education
(in millions of €)* 276 265
Expenses per employee for continuing
education (in €)* 769 670

1 Continuing and discontinued operations.

2 Employee turnover rate is defined as the ratio of voluntary and involuntary
exits from Siemens during the fiscal year to the average number of employees.

3 Employees in management positions include all managers with disciplinary
responsibility, plus project managers.

4 Without travel expenses.

Excellent employees are one of Siemens’ vital strengths. They
have made Siemens what it is today and their expertise, capa-
bilities and high level of engagement are laying the foundation
for our future success. To stay competitive, we need to contin-
uously win and retain the best and brightest employees world-
wide. As an employer of choice, we empower our diverse and
engaged people worldwide with a high-performance culture,
encourage life-long learning and development, offer an attrac-
tive working environment and ensure occupational health
and safety.

Employees by segments as of September 30, 2014
| (in thousands)’

Energy: 81 (24%) Other: 33 (10%)

Financial Services:
o
Healthcare: 48 (14%) 343 3 (1%)
- Infrastructure & Cities:
Industry: 90 (26%) T 88 (26%)

‘ 1 Continuing operations.

Siemens believes that employee engagement is a key driver for
sustainable company performance. An engaged workforce
drives innovation, growth and profitability. Since 2010, the
Siemens Global Engagement Survey has been seen as an im-
portant management tool. In general the Engagement Survey
will be conducted on a biennial basis to allow more time to set

measures and to follow-up on improvements. Due to the
launch of our “Vision 2020” concept and the related organiza-
tional changes the survey originally scheduled for 2014 was
postponed to 2015.

Demographic change, lifelong employability and cross-gener-
ation collaboration are Siemens’ key employee-related chal-
lenges to be mastered, and we see differences between regions
and labor markets. To remain an employer of choice, we are
taking appropriate action based on local needs.

C.8.2.1 DIVERSITY

As a global player, the vast and diverse range of our employees’
capabilities, experience and qualifications forms a substantial
competitive advantage and supports our value proposition as
an employer.

All our activities, measures and programs fostering Diversity
follow these principles:

> we want to have the best person for every position,
> we want to provide opportunities for diversity
of experience and interaction, and
> we want to achieve diversity of thinking across our Company.

We've developed our management recruitment processes to
ensure that the preliminary selection of candidates reflects the
diversity of our customers and employees at all levels and in all
regions. For example the percentage of women in management
at Siemens globally has nearly doubled since fiscal 2002 to
15.6%.

C.8.2.2 TALENT ACQUISITION AND EMPLOYEE
DEVELOPMENT

Attracting, contacting, hiring, promoting and systematically
developing the best employees worldwide for Siemens — that is
our goal in Talent Acquisition and Employee Development.

In order to meet our requirements for qualified staff, we attract
new talent to Siemens and also work on retaining our existing
workforce for the long term. To attract new talents, Siemens has
a wide array of programs in place. The Performance Manage-
ment Process (PMP) helps leaders and employees determine
clear personal goals and share the feedback necessary to
achieve them. The process also supports us in setting compen-
sation, providing professional development opportunities and
identifying talents throughout the Company. To reflect the focus
on high-performance within Siemens, our compensation sys-
tem for our top executives and senior management worldwide
includes a variable component.
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C.8.2.3 LEARNING AND CONTINUING EDUCATION
We encourage our employees at all locations to develop their
qualifications and expertise. In fiscal 2014, we invested around
€276 million for continuing education (without travel ex-
penses), which equals about €769 per employee. The expenses
include courses and training programs both for individual em-
ployees and for entire company units.

Siemens Learning Campus and Siemens Leadership Excellence,
two corporate-level organizations, are responsible for imple-
menting the global learning portfolio: Siemens Learning
Campus offers regional learning opportunities to employees in
all countries, ranging from courses for employees and manag-
ers, through tailored training programs and services for groups,
to solutions for entire organizations. Additionally Siemens
Leadership Excellence (SLE) is addressing our current and
future senior and top leaders. Siemens continues to be one of
Germany's largest providers of professional education for sec-
ondary school graduates (7,100 places for Siemens trainees and
2,800 places for trainees from other companies). As in previous
years, we again made 10% of our trainee positions available to
disadvantaged youths.

C.8.2.4 SIEMENS EQUITY CULTURE

Siemens established its first employee share program in
Germany as early as 1969. Building on this successful program
in Germany, Siemens decided in 2008 to extend employee and
management participation. Today, Siemens offers approxi-
mately 97% of its employees in 60 countries the opportunity to
acquire Siemens shares with the Company'’s financial support.
The Share Matching Plan is based on a simple principle: Em-
ployees participating in the plan will receive one Siemens share
without payment of consideration (matching share) for every
three Siemens shares bought and continuously held over a
period of three years. Only condition: The employee still needs
to be employed by Siemens. The main idea of the plan has
always been to make stock ownership available to employees at
all income levels.

We are convinced that empowering employees with shares
motivates them to assume greater responsibilities and helps
them identify more closely with the company they work for — a
fundamental prerequisite for the sustainable development of
Siemens.

C.8.2.5 EMPLOYEE RIGHTS AND RELATIONS

TO EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES

Fair-minded collaboration among Company management, em-
ployees and employee representatives plays a central role at
Siemens. As one of the largest corporate employers in Germany
and worldwide, we are committed to our social responsibil-
ity and respect and uphold the fundamental rights of our
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employees — which already apply worldwide and are firmly
anchored in our Business Conduct Guidelines. Underscoring
this commitment, Siemens, the Siemens Central Works Coun-
cil, the German trade union IG Metall and the global industrial
union IndustriAll have signed an international framework
agreement on the principles of corporate responsibility.

C.8.2.6 OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND

HEALTH MANAGEMENT

Occupational safety and health management are key elements
of our Company’s sustainable strategy and an integral part of
our business processes. We therefore develop central programs
and processes that are applied locally and adapted to the respec-
tive business needs. Occupational safety and health manage-
ment are an integral part of our Business Conduct Guidelines,
our internal monitoring systems, and our risk management and
internal controls. In addition, occupational safety is part of an
international framework agreement between Siemens AG, the
Central Works Council of Siemens AG, IG Metall and the global
union IndustriAll.

Promote a culture of safety — In the past, occupational safety
was often characterized by a focus on technical protective
measures, an approach which achieved considerable success.
We are convinced, however, that further improvement can be
achieved only through an actively practiced occupational
safety culture and optimal working conditions — in every coun-
try and for all Siemens employees as well as those of our con-
tractors. Both, as a company and as individuals, we are respon-
sible for ensuring that the working environment at Siemens is
safe at all times and for every employee. At present, local man-
agement systems and best practices exist which we can build
on. We will achieve sustainability, however, only through a
global and consistent approach.

Our customers, suppliers and regulatory authorities expect
high safety standards from us. Safe behavior is governed not
only by complying with laws, regulations and procedures,
but also by the personal values of managers and employees.
Our “Zero Harm Culture @ Siemens” program, which has been
launched in fiscal 2012 is having an increasingly positive
impact. It contains three principles:

> Zero incidents - it is achievable.
> Health and safety — no compromises!
> We take care of each other!

In addition to this global approach of “Zero Harm Culture @
Siemens,” our businesses and countries themselves improve
safety locally through various activities depending on the cur-
rent safety performance and the business needs. Management
attention is of utmost importance to foster and improve safety.
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Therefore, the responsible CEO of the affected unit shows com-
mitment by personally reporting every work related fatality, its
cause and the measures taken to the Siemens Managing Board.

In fiscal 2014 the overall number of fatalities was lower than in
fiscal 2013. We attribute this to the numerous and rigorous
actions and specific initiated projects. An implemented process
for the assessment of suppliers is supporting these activities.
Furthermore, Supply Chain Management and Business have
developed collaborative plans to improve the EHS profile of
suppliers. Regrettably, we report seven fatalities. Of that three
fatalities are with contractors (all are work-related fatalities)
and four with Siemens employees (one business trip fatality
and three commuting accidents). In the previous year, there
were five fatalities involving Siemens employees and ten in-
volving contractors.

Promoting health — Siemens has established a high standard
of occupational health and safety to avoid work-related health
risks and promote employees’ health. We help our employees
assume responsibility for their own personal behavior in
health-related matters, and support health-promoting general
conditions within the Company. We promote the physical,
mental and social well-being of our employees through a range
of activities governing the five topics of healthy work environ-
ment, psychosocial well-being, physical activity, healthy nutri-
tion and medical care.

C.8.3 Research and development

C.8.3.1 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT -
ORGANIZATION AND STRATEGY

In fiscal 2014, we continued to focus on the following areas in
research and development (R&D):

> ensuring long-term future viability,
> enhancing technological competitiveness, and
> optimizing the allocation of R&D resources.

Our R&D activities are geared toward ensuring economically
sustainable energy supplies and developing software solutions,
which are essential to maintaining the long-term competitive-
ness of our businesses. Accordingly, major focus areas include:

> increasing the efficiency of renewable and conventional en-
ergy sources for power generation and improving low-loss
electricity transmission systems,

> developing new solutions for smart grids and technologies
for storing energy from fluctuating renewable sources,

> further development of industrial software to accelerate pro-
cesses at every point along the value chain,
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> using smart analytical systems and our domain expertise to
develop new services from previously unstructured data
(Examples of such services include anticipatory maintenance
work and cost-efficient warehousing offers.), and

> making medical imaging, in-vitro diagnostics, and health-
care IT an integral part of outcome oriented treatment plans.

Another major focus is promoting more efficient energy use in
buildings, industrial facilities, and the transport sector. Exam-
ples include the development of electric drives and mass trans-
portation systems such as local and long-distance trains and
subways.

Across all focus areas, we recognize the vital importance of
sophisticated software solutions. This is true not just for the
areas mentioned above but also in nearly all of the other fields
in which Siemens is active.

R&D activities are carried out by the businesses of our former
Sectors and our Corporate Technology (CT) department. CT is a
worldwide network with primary locations in Germany, the
U.S., China, Russia, India, and Austria. The more than 7,400 CT
employees contribute their in-depth understanding of funda-
mental technologies, models, and trends, as well as their
wealth of software and process expertise. The businesses focus
their R&D efforts on the next generations of their products and
solutions. In contrast, the aim of CT is to work with our operat-
ing units to develop the Group’s technology and innovation
strategies, especially for the next generation of their products
and solutions. In addition, CT strives to secure the technologi-
cal and innovative future through commonly developed core
technology initiatives such as future of automation, data to
business or system integration. With its global network of ex-
perts, our corporate research unit serves as a strategic partner
for Siemens’ operating units. CT makes important contributions
along the entire value chain, from research and development
to production technology, manufacturing processes, and the
testing of products and solutions. All of CT’s activities are cho-
sen to optimize the allocation of R&D resources, with a balance
between support the current offerings of our businesses and
development of longer-term opportunities.

CT is also networked with leading universities and research
institutes worldwide. Close collaborative approaches with such
partners are also a substantial part of our Open Innovation (OI)
concept, in which we receive input from internal as well as
external experts that significantly contributes to the innovative
power of the Company. With OI we aim to overcome the bar-
riers of silo thinking, to prove and truly leverage the potential
of an open network enterprise.
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In addition, Siemens takes part in publicly funded research pro-
grams. The most important research areas include the develop-
ment of sustainable technologies including recycling, the com-
munication of machines, the creation of new materials and
bio-technology.

CT offers extensive process and production consulting services
for development and manufacturing units at Siemens. CT em-
ploys more than 4,200 software developers at locations in Asia,
Europe, and the Americas. These specialists help our Business
Units develop concepts from the initial idea to the finished
product. In addition, CT strategically handles the intellectual
property of Siemens. Around 440 experts help the Company
register patents and trademarks, establish them, and put them
to profitable use.

C.8.3.2 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT FIGURES

In fiscal 2014, we reported research and development expenses
of €4.065 billion, compared to €4.048 billion in fiscal 2013. The
resulting R&D intensity, defined as the ratio of R&D expenses
and revenue, was 5.7%, above the R&D intensity in fiscal 2013.

| R&D intensity

CT incurred additional R&D expenses.

| R&D indicators’

Year ended September 30,

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Employees? 28.8 28.1
Inventions? 8.6 8.3
Patent first filings* 4.3 4.0

1 Continuing operations.
2 Average number of employees in fiscal year.
3 Number of inventions reported by the Business Units in an internal report.

4 First filings as part of inventions submitted to patent offices.

As of September 30, 2014, Siemens held approximately 56,100
granted patents worldwide in its continuing operations. As of
September 30, 2013, it held approximately 56,000 granted pat-
ents. In terms of the number of published patent applications
in calendar year 2013, Siemens ranked fourth in Germany and
second in Europe. Siemens was also ranked thirteenth in the
statistics for patents issued in the U.S. in calendar year 2013.

| Rankin patent office statistics

Research and

Research and development expenses development

| (in billions of €) intensity!
FY 2014 4.065 — 5.7%
FY 2013 4.048 — 5.5%

‘ 1 R&D intensity is defined as the ratio of R&D expenses and revenue.

R&D expenses and intensity for the Sectors in fiscal 2014 and
2013:

| R&D expenses

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2014 2013
Energy 873 872
Healthcare 1,010 1,048
Industry 1,229 1,204
Infrastructure & Cities 719 731

| R&D intensity

Year ended September 30,

2013 2012
Germany — German Patent
and Trade Mark Office (DPMA) 4 3
Europe — European Patent Office (EPO) 2 2
U.S. — United States Patent
and Trademark Office (US PTO) 13 11

In our continuing operations, we had an average of approxi-
mately 13,200 R&D employees in Germany and approximately
15,600 employees in approximately 30 other countries during
fiscal 2014.

C.8.3.3 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

IN OUR BUSINESSES

The R&D activities of the businesses in our former Energy
Sector are focused on developing methods for the efficient
generation and transmission of electrical energy, including
advanced gas turbines that increase the efficiency and reduce
emissions of power plants, combined cycle power plants, to
increase the availability of electricity through higher flexibility
and efficient and reliable power supply for decentralized struc-
tures such as those in the oil and gas industries, innovations

2014 2013 for reducing the cost of wind turbines, innovations for increas-
Energy 3.5% 3.3% ing the efficiency of wind turbines (offshore and onshore), the
Healthcare 8.1% 8.3% development of an HVDC super grid and the development of a
Industry 7.2% 7.1% subsea power grid to make deep-sea oil and gas extraction
Infrastructure & Cities 3.8% 4.1% more profitable.
\
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The R&D activities in the businesses of our former Healthcare
Sector are focused on meeting customer requirements, which
are the result of two major trends: the world’s population con-
tinues to grow steadily and to get older. These trends increase
the pressure on healthcare providers to treat more and more
people at increasingly lower costs in order to stabilize rising
healthcare expenditures. To overcome the challenges of mak-
ing healthcare more efficient and more effective, the health-
care measures have to focus on the individual patient and the
success of the treatment.

One of the R&D fields involves the development of systems that
help physicians make precise diagnoses of large numbers of
patients and are also robust, easy to use, and inexpensive to
purchase and maintain. Examples include interventional radiol-
ogy or catheter labs. Ultrasound with wireless transducers is
also ideally suited for minimally-invasive procedures such as
nerve blockades, access to blood vessels, and positioning for
therapeutic interventions and biopsies.

Another focus area is automating clinical work processes and
optimizing laboratory diagnostics, with a goal of enabling physi-
cians to identify diseases more precisely and at an earlier stage.
Physicians are then able to monitor the effect of medications
more accurately and benefit from the evaluation and analytical
capabilities of modern computer technology. As a result, thera-
pies can be tailored more closely to a patient’s needs. Healthcare
also develops products that meet the specific, targeted require-
ments of the healthcare systems of emerging countries.

One of the R&D priorities of the businesses in our former
Industry Sector is the software-based integration of product
development, production planning, production processes and
services within the framework of product lifecycle manage-
ment. The objective is to accelerate processes at every point
along the value chain. Innovative technologies can cut the time
from design to market in the manufacturing industry by up to
50%. The further development of automation and drive tech-
nology, and industrial software in particular, plays a major role
here. This applies to the product development and production
process as well as to the integration of the drive system. More-
over, the businesses of the former Industry Sector are striving
to achieve greater energy efficiency, reduce raw material con-
sumption, and lower emissions. These objectives also guide
the development of technology-based service concepts such as
energy management and remote maintenance systems.

R&D activities of the businesses in our former Infrastruc-
ture & Cities Sector focus on urban growth issues. Main research
fields therefore cover sustainable technologies for major metro-
politan areas and their infrastructures. The main aims are to in-
crease energy efficiency, reduce burdens on the environment,
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increase cost-effectiveness, and improve the quality of life in
cities. To this end, the businesses develop building technologies
that conserve energy, solutions for ensuring an efficient and
secure supply of electricity in cities, and intelligent traffic and
transport systems. In addition, researchers are looking for ways
to integrate buildings into smart grids. Through such integration,
the buildings can feed the electricity they produce into the grids
and provide additional power during times of peak demand.

C.8.4 Supply chain management

The principal goal of supply chain management (SCM) at
Siemens is to ensure the availability and quality of the materi-
als we require to serve our customers also considering innova-
tion strength and sustainability of our suppliers. We aim to
strengthen our competitiveness by achieving substantial sav-
ings in our purchasing volume. In fiscal 2014, Siemens’ pur-
chasing volume amounted to approximately €37 billion, which
equaled roughly half of our total revenue. Our primary strate-
gies for achieving savings in purchasing include:

> Siemens-wide managed volume,
> Sourcing from emerging markets, and
> E-sourcing.

The successful restructuring of our SCM function since the end
of fiscal 2013 led to a substantial decrease of the cost for the
SCM organization, driven by optimizing towards a less complex
setup and process improvements. Going forward, we will con-
tinue with reshaping the SCM function in alignment with Vision
2020 to support the new Siemens organization structure overall.

We also continue to strengthen Siemens’ innovation power by
benefiting from the innovative strength in our supplier net-
work. In May 2014, we held our “Ist Siemens Supplier Innova-
tion Day,” the first event of its kind on Siemens corporate level.
With this event, we established a platform for reqular dialogue
with our top innovative suppliers at the CEO level. With this
dialogue, we aim to increase our innovation capabilities, realize
shared growth potential and ensure long-term cost leadership.

Sustainability requirements — as a guiding principle for our
supply chain management — are an integral part of all relevant
supplier management processes — such as supplier selection,
supplier qualification and evaluation, and supplier develop-
ment. We require all of our suppliers to comply with the princi-
ples of our Code of Conduct for Siemens Suppliers, which in-
clude, besides others, respect for the basic rights of employees,
strong safety &health and environmental protection standards
as well as zero-tolerance on corruption &bribery. We also re-
quire them to support its implementation in their own supply
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chains. We have established and continually further develop
a risk-based system of appropriate processes to enable us to
systematically identify potential risks in our supply chain. It
consists of sustainability self-assessments by suppliers, risk
evaluation conducted by our purchasing department, sustain-
ability questions within supplier quality audits and sustainabil-
ity audits by external auditors. To further encourage sustain-
able business conduct throughout our entire global supply
chain, we are committed to building our suppliers’ competence
and intensifying knowledge transfers related to sustainability.

C.8.5 Distribution and customer relations

Our Divisions have global responsibility for their business,
sales and results. They are able to support customers around
the world directly from their respective headquarters, espe-
cially for large contracts and projects. However, most of our
customers are small and medium-sized companies and organi-
zations that require local support. To address local business
opportunities with them, we are able to draw upon a large
global sales force steered by our regional companies. They are
responsible for serving our customers in the respective coun-
tries, leveraging our global network of market partners like
consultants, distributors, integrators, EPCs and machine build-
ers. We are currently selling products and services in almost
every country in the world.

Sustainable customer relationships are the basis for our long-
term success. We employ a structured key account manage-
ment (KAM) approach throughout the Company to take care of
our key customers. This means that we tailor our products and
solutions to their size and regional site structures. We also
ensure that our key account managers continually develop and
maintain relationships with them over the long term. This
approach is supplemented by our Executive Relationship Pro-
gram. In this program, members of the Company’s Executive
Management stay in direct contact with selected customers
and maintain an ongoing dialogue with them to familiarize
Siemens with their needs.

Our business success is strongly dependent on the satisfaction
of our customers. For this reason, we measure customer satis-
faction in every unit of the Company using the Net Promoter
Score (NPS). This internationally recognized and commonly ap-
plied managerial performance indicator, which we determine
annually on a worldwide basis by means of customer surveys,
measures the referral rate of our customers. The NPS for fiscal
2014 was based on the results of more than 25,500 interviews,
compared to more than 25,200 interviews in fiscal 2013. In
fiscal 2014, our company-wide NPS once again increased com-
pared to previous fiscal year.

An elementary component of all our global marketing and sell-
ing activities is compliance with applicable laws and internal
rules and regulations. Therefore, Siemens values and compli-
ance are an integral part of our training program.

C.8.6 Environmental Portfolio

| Indicators’

Year ended September 30,

2014 2013
Revenue generated by the Siemens
Environmental Portfolio (in billions of €) 33.0 31.9
Accumulated annual customer reductions
of carbon dioxide emissions generated by
elements from the Siemens Environmental
Portfolio (in millions of metric tons) 428 369

‘ 1 Continuing operations.

Our Environmental Portfolio serves as an example of how we
strive to align our business activities with the aforementioned
megatrends, in this case climate change. The Environmental
Portfolio consists of products, systems, solutions and services
(Environmental Portfolio elements) that reduce negative im-
pacts on the environment and emissions of carbon dioxide and
other greenhouse gases (defined together in the following as
carbon dioxide emissions) responsible for climate change.

In addition to its environmental benefits, our Environmental
Portfolio enables us to compete successfully in attractive mar-
kets and generate profitable growth. In fiscal 2014, revenue
from continuing operations from the Environmental Portfolio
amounted to €33.0 billion, which accounted for 46% of our rev-
enue from continuing operations in this fiscal year. This rev-
enue includes revenue from newly developed and additionally
qualified elements, and excludes revenue from elements that
no longer fulfill our qualifications.

In fiscal 2010, we set ourselves a revenue target for the Environ-
mental Portfolio within the One Siemens framework: to exceed
€40 billion in revenue from the Environmental Portfolio by the
end of fiscal 2014. Due to recent and ongoing portfolio changes
we have not been able to achieve this target. Siemens’ strategic
focus on technologies for energy efficiency and climate and en-
vironmental protection will nevertheless remain in place. For
fiscal year 2014, almost three-quarter of the revenue from our
Environmental Portfolio were already generated with products
and solutions for energy efficiency.

With our Environmental Portfolio, we intend, among other
things, to help our customers reduce their carbon dioxide foot-
print, cut their energy costs and improve their profitability
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through an increase in productivity. Taking together all ele-
ments of the Environmental Portfolio that were installed at cus-
tomer locations since the beginning of fiscal 2002 and remain
in use today, we have reduced customer carbon dioxide emis-
sions by 428 million metric tons in fiscal 2014, which is the
equivalent of the following thirteen cities’ combined yearly
emissions: Berlin, Bogotd, Cape Town, Hong Kong, London, Los
Angeles, Melbourne, Mexico City, Moscow, New York City, Sdo
Paulo, Seoul and Tokyo.

C.8.6.1 SELECTION CRITERIA

An Environmental Portfolio element can be a product, a system,
a solution or a service. Furthermore, a core component of a
system or solution may qualify as an Environmental Portfolio
element if the component provided by Siemens is key to en-
abling environmental benefits resulting from the system's or
solution’s overall application. To qualify for inclusion in the
Environmental Portfolio, an element must meet one of the se-
lection criteria described below, which are energy efficiency,
renewable energy or environmental technologies. Products,
systems, solutions and services with planned application in
military use or nuclear power are not included in the Environ-
mental Portfolio.

> Energy efficiency: The criteria for energy efficiency are an
improvement in energy efficiency of 20% or more during the
customer use phase compared to the applicable baseline, or
a reduction of at least 100,000 metric tons of carbon dioxide
equivalents per reporting period in the customer use phase.
Examples of elements that meet the energy efficiency crite-
rion are combined cycle power plants and intelligent build-
ing technology systems.

> Renewable energy: This criterion covers technologies in the
field of renewable energy sources such as wind turbines or
smart grid applications and their respective core compo-
nents.

> Environmental technologies: This criterion is related to wa-
ter and wastewater treatment, air pollution control, waste
reduction, recycling, e-car infrastructure and its core compo-
nents. It also includes the Siemens Consulting Service which
analyzes customers’ environmental impact. Additionally, a
criterion for the Healthcare Sector is an environmental
impact reduction in terms of noise, radiation or total weight
of at least 25% compared to the baseline.

C.8.6.2 GOVERNANCE AND REPORTING APPROACH

The qualification of Environmental Portfolio elements as well
as their respective reporting is based on defined processes and
criteria. The business portfolio of Siemens’ continuing opera-
tions is reviewed annually regarding the qualification of Envi-
ronmental Portfolio elements based on the criteria described
before. This covers the inclusion of newly developed elements

as well as the integration of additionally qualified elements
where evidence of fulfillment of the qualification criteria was
not available in prior reporting periods. For additionally quali-
fied Environmental Portfolio elements, we report their pri-
or-year revenue and prior-year contribution to reducing cus-
tomer carbon dioxide emissions on a comparable basis.
Elements that no longer fulfill our qualification criteria are ex-
cluded from our Environmental Portfolio.

We report the revenue from our Environmental Portfolio and
annual customer reductions of carbon dioxide emissions gener-
ated by it in accordance with internal regulations defined in our
Environmental Portfolio Guideline. This Guideline is based on
the Reporting Principles of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corpo-
rate Accounting and Reporting Standard, revised edition, and
the Greenhouse Gas Protocol for Project Accounting. The rev-
enue generated by the Environmental Portfolio is recognized in
accordance with revenue recognition policies as described in
—> NOTE 2 in —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

C.8.7 Environmental protection

| Indicators’

Year ended September 30,

2014 2013
Energy efficiency improvement
compared to baseline in fiscal 20102 11% 5%
Waste efficiency improvement
compared to baseline in fiscal 2010 12% 8%
Waste for disposal reduction
compared to baseline in fiscal 2010 8% 10%
Carbon dioxide emission efficiency
improvement compared to baseline
in fiscal 2010 20% 14%

1 Continuing operations.

2 Indicator incorporates weighted calculations related to the primary fuels
consumed in generating the energy used at our sites and the amount of energy
used to extract, convert and distribute the fuels consumed.

To meet today’s global ecological challenges responsibly,
Siemens has a comprehensive EHS (Environmental Protection,
Health Management and Safety) management system. The pro-
cess requirements of this management system help our operat-
ing units comply with applicable laws, regulations and customer
requirements, satisfy our corporate requirements properly and
achieve our Siemens-wide environmental targets. The environ-
mental protection management system requires that our rele-
vant production and office sites must implement an environ-
mental management system which fulfills the requirements of
the internationally recognized ISO 14001 standard and also our
own internal standard, known as “Specifications on environ-
mentally compatible product and system design.” This internal
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standard defines requirements to reduce the environmental
impact of our products and systems during the production, use
and disposal phase and is an integral part of our business pro-
cesses. We conduct regular internal reviews of our environmen-
tal performance and progress, in order to create a cycle of con-
tinual improvement.

Our commitment to continual improvement led to two environ-
mental protection programs in fiscal 2012: “Serve the Environ-
ment” for industrial environmental protection and “Product Eco
Excellence” for product-related environmental protection. Both
programs were reconfirmed and extended in fiscal 2014. The
general objectives to improve energy and resource efficiency, to
fulfill growing international requirements with regard to envi-
ronmental protection, to increase customer benefits, and to
proactively strengthen our position as a sustainable company
will be kept. The two reconfirmed programs will run from 2015
to 2020.

C.8.7.1 INDUSTRIAL ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
Our industrial environmental protection efforts focus on opti-
mizing energy and resource efficiency at our sites. With the
current “Serve the Environment” program we have been com-
mitted to the following Siemens-wide main targets in the time
period fiscal 2011 to 2014:

> to continue our systematic effort to improve
energy efficiency, and thereby achieve corresponding
improvement in our carbon dioxide efficiency;
> to improve the waste efficiency each year by 1%; and
> to reduce waste for disposal each year by 1%.

Furthermore, Siemens continued with the water risk manage-
ment approach: In locations where there are particular water
risks or negative impacts on the environment (for example as a
result of aridity, high waste-water loads or poorly developed
technical infrastructure), the local sites need to define targets
matched to local conditions. Finally, our “Serve the Environ-
ment” program also addressed air pollution by seeking alterna-
tive solutions for any ozone-depleting substances still in legally
permissible use and control VOC (Volatile organic compounds)
emissions. For continuation of the Serve the Environment pro-
gram energy and waste efficiency aspects will be integrated
into our supply chain. Air pollution control will be considered
holistically, taking account not only of own emissions but also
of the local air immission situation at our production plants
and offices. Climate change induced impacts of water use in
our businesses will also be integrated.

We achieved the targets we set ourselves for fiscal 2014. The
energy efficiency could be improved due to implementation of
energy efficiency measures and implementation of energy
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management systems. Due to this and to reasonable energy
procurement and increased share of renewable energy in elec-
tricity mix the CO, efficiency was increased considerably.

C.8.7.2 PRODUCT-RELATED

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The major focus of product-related environmental protection is
to improve the overall environmental performance of our prod-
ucts and systems. Therefore the existing “Product Eco Excel-
lence” program will continue its approach regarding elements
related to the product life cycle by integrating aspects of the
circular economy and resource efficiency. The program has a
modular design and offers innovative solutions to accomplish
a higher transparency in terms of declarable substances, to de-
velop and integrate a set of measures to improve resource effi-
ciency of materials (e.g. scarcity, criticality) and to increase our
claim on product environmental footprint information. On the
basis of mandatory requirements as defined in our internal
environmental standard, we support the reduction of the envi-
ronmental impacts of our products and systems during product
development, production, use and end of life. Additionally, the
program aims to better prepare the operating units for future
regulatory and customer requirements, to strengthen environ-
mental communication, and to broaden environmental aware-
ness among our employees. In the time period fiscal 2012 to
fiscal 2014 for the main elements of the program following
objectives have been reached:

> Transparency was enhanced with our list of declarable sub-
stances (LoDS), comprising substances that are restricted in
use due to regional or application-specific regulations.

> Development and application of a methodological approach
for better assessing risks such as environmental, toxicologi-
cal and future availability risks associated with used materi-
als and substances. The application has been verified within
our business.

> Establishment of a harmonized procedure on the basis of ISO
14040/44 (Life-cycle-assessment) for determining the “eco-
logical footprint” of our products and thereof derived envi-
ronmental product declarations based on the requirements
of ISO 14025.
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C.8.8 Corporate citizenship

Siemens is committed to providing long-term benefits to the
societies in which we operate, through corporate citizenship
activities. These activities can take a variety of forms ranging
from philanthropic disaster relief to more strategic shared
value or inclusive business approaches like our mobile clinics
in India.

The responsibility for choosing and carrying out charitable
activities lies with the local units in each country. This ensures
that we provide support where it is needed most. In doing so,
we apply high management standards and strategically focus
our corporate citizenship activities in areas where our company
competencies, resources and employee volunteering can make
a meaningful difference:

> Education and Science: Our goal is to maintain a continu-
ous dialogue with young people and to identify and foster
talent from an early age on. We support educational and re-
search activities particularly in natural sciences, engineering
and healthcare.

> Social: Projects in this area aim to bring about a systematic
and lasting improvement in people’s living conditions. In
addition, we provide urgent humanitarian relief, including
financial and technical assistance after natural disasters.

> Environment: We want to make an effective contribution
towards protecting the environment, particularly through
our core competencies, and raise environmental awareness
among younger generations.

> Arts and Culture: We support Arts and Culture because a
society’s cultural heritage is a key aspect of its identity.
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111 C.9 Report on expected developments and associated
material opportunities and risks

C.9.1 Report on expected developments

C.9.1.1 WORLDWIDE ECONOMY

For the year 2015 we expect world GDP to expand by 3.2% with
fixed investment and manufacturing value added growing
even more strongly at 4.5% and 3.9%, respectively. The slight
acceleration compared to 2.7% GDP growth anticipated in 2014
is expected to be driven mainly by the U.S. economy which
seems to be on a stable recovery path. The monetary environ-
ment is still expansive which should further support growth
especially in the housing market. Nevertheless the outlook for
the world economy remains uncertain, as indicated by the
deterioration of many early indicators (especially for the Euro
zone and China), the increased volatility in equity markets in
October, and the severe decline in oil prices since summer
2014. On the one hand, the oil price decline is a symptom of
slack global demand relative to supply. On the other hand it is
a stabilizing factor for oil importing countries, because it in-
creases purchasing power for consumers and reduces costs for
many businesses. The biggest downside risks stem from geo-
political tensions. An escalation of the Ukraine conflict would
lead to a steep decline in investment activity. Similarly, further
expansion of the “Islamic State” (including control over import-
ant oil fields) could disrupt global oil markets and hit the global
economy. Further downside risks would also emerge from an
uncontrolled spread of the Ebola epidemic outside West-Africa.

In the region Europe, C.L.S., Africa, Middle East the condition
of many Euro zone economies is a cause for concern. Given the
latest indicators, there is some danger of a possible premature
lapse of the recovery in the Euro zone. In the near term, defla-
tion is the most important threat to these economies. While
the German economy is expected to still suffer from Euro zone
weakness and geopolitical tensions, it should also benefit from
stabilizing factors, such as a relatively strong service sector,
solid consumer demand, strong employment data, a weaker
Euro and cheaper energy. For Russia, the outlook for 2015
depends on the future course of the Ukraine conflict and the
reaction of western countries, which is not foreseeable now.
While many African countries have achieved a steeper growth
path in recent years, they might be negatively affected by lower
raw material prices and by the Ebola epidemic in West-Africa.

For the Americas, we expect the U.S. economy to be the deci-
sive force. The U.S. recovery seems to be broad-based and sup-
ported by improving labor markets. The possible start of tight-
ening monetary measures should not disrupt the underlying
recovery. The outlook for Brazil, the second-largest economy in
the Americas region, is less optimistic. The expected GDP
growth rate of 1.0% for 2015 (a little more than the population
growth rate) has to be regarded as very low, given the poor

growth rate of 2014. The newly re-elected government has to
enact substantial structural reforms to increase the growth
potential of the country.

As in past years, Asia, Australia is expected to exhibit the high-
est GDP growth. We expect China to contribute the main part of
the region’s growth. However, the Chinese economy still suf-
fers from overcapacities in several industries and fragile real
estate and banking sectors. However, the government should
be able to contain these problems if they become more severe.
China’s gradual shift from an investment-driven to a consump-
tion-driven economy is expected to slow down its economy in
the near term. For India, the outlook for next year is better than
in 2014. Growth should pick up slightly. However, similar to
Brazil, the country needs structural reforms and substantial
improvements in infrastructure.

All in all, for 2015 we expect growth of the global economy to
accelerate slightly compared to 2014. However, there is an un-
usually high number of downside risks, which — even if only
some of them materialize — could substantially weigh on global
economic activity. On the upside, a quick solution of political
conflicts together with strong economic growth in the U.S.
could boost global demand.

The forecasts presented here for GDP, gross fixed investments
and manufacturing value added are based on a report from IHS
Global Insight dated October 15, 2014.

C.9.1.2 MARKET DEVELOPMENT

In fiscal 2015, we expect growth in the markets served by the
Power and Gas Division to remain on a low level. While we
anticipate slightly increasing market volume year-over-year in
advanced gas turbine markets — especially in the large-scale
range (H class) — we also expect continued price declines due
to manufacturing overcapacities and increased competitive
pressure. We expect growth in the Division’s oil and gas mar-
kets to accelerate in South America and Eastern Europe (e.g.
Turkey, Azerbaijan). Investments in markets in the Americas
are likely to pick up, despite delays, due mainly to demand for
gas-fired power plants. We anticipate flat development for the
coal-fired steam power plant market, due to an anticipated
slow-down in China. We expect that clear growth in distributed
power generation will continue to support growth for the
Divisions’ markets as a whole.

For the markets served by our Wind Power and Renewables
Division, we expect growth in fiscal 2015 to come in slightly
lower than in fiscal 2014, which saw particularly strong growth
rates. For onshore wind power markets, investments in the U.S.
are expected to decline in fiscal 2015, following the strong prior
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fiscal year. In Europe, we expect the onshore market to see con-
tinuous moderate growth. In both cases, market development
strongly depends on the energy policy framework, including
tax incentives in the U.S. and regulatory frameworks in Ger-
many and the U.K. We expect these latter factors to have a sim-
ilar effect on growth in the offshore wind power market, which
is dominated by Europe. We expect the offshore wind power
markets in Asia, Australia and the Americas to remain largely
undeveloped in the short term.

For the markets served by our Energy Management Division,
we expect overall moderate growth in fiscal 2015. Within the
Division’s utility markets, we expect a slight increase in fiscal
2015. On a regional basis, the strongest growth in the utility
markets is expected to come from the Europe, C.I.S., Africa,
Middle East region. Here we expect strong demand from the
Middle East and growth in transmission investments due to the
integration of renewable sources into existing power distribu-
tion networks. This growth may be partly offset by lower
demand from major European utility companies which have an-
nounced plans to reduce their capital expenditures. We expect
utility markets in the Americas to grow slightly in fiscal 2015.
Markets in the Asia, Australia region are expected to grow
slightly, benefiting from demand from utility companies in the
emerging countries of the region. We expect the Division's oil
and gas market to grow moderately, with the strongest growth
rates in the Americas. Production of unconventional oil and gas
is expected to be the main growth driver in the Americas, while
growth in the Asia, Australia region is driven by investments in
liquefied natural gas (LNG) infrastructure. The Division's miner-
als markets are expected to grow slightly in fiscal 2015 driven by
demand in the Asia, Australia region. Overcapacities burden the
Division's metals markets, which are expected to grow even
more slowly than the minerals markets. We expect a more posi-
tive outlook in the Division’s chemicals and non-residential con-
struction markets. Both markets are forecast to grow moderately
in fiscal 2015 year-over-year. In all regions the chemical industry
is contributing to growth. For the non-residential construction
markets, we expect growth to be driven by the recovery of U.S.
markets and by ongoing construction investments in Asia,
Australia, particularly in China.

For the markets served by our Building Technologies Division,
we expect moderate growth in fiscal 2015. On a regional basis,
we expect growth in Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East to pick
up in fiscal 2015. Within the region, we expect growth rates in
Europe including Germany to increase slightly year-over-year.
For the Middle East we expect moderate growth rates year-
over-year. Within the Americas, we expect the Division to ben-
efit from a slow but continued recovery in U.S. construction
markets. We expect markets in the Asia, Australia region to
grow moderately as in fiscal 2014.
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We expect markets served by our Mobility Division to grow
slightly in fiscal 2015. Within Europe and the Middle East we
expect decisions on large contract tenders in fiscal 2015, stem-
ming from major public rail investments in the U.X. and the
Middle East. Liberalization of the Turkish rail industry is on-
going and large contract tenders are expected in the upcoming
years. Within the Americas, we expect a continued high level of
investments in mainline passenger and urban transport infra-
structures in the U.S. Within the Asia, Australia region, we ex-
pect growth in fiscal 2015 to benefit from a recovery of China’s
high-speed rail infrastructure market. In Australia, we expect
demand to be held back by lower investments in infrastructure
industries.

In fiscal 2015, we do not expect growth momentum to acceler-
ate in markets served by our Digital Factory and Process
Industries and Drives Divisions compared to fiscal 2014. With
the exception of the oil and gas industry, we expect conserva-
tive investments in industries served by both Divisions over-
all, particularly in Europe. Furthermore, we expect demand
from emerging markets, which were growth drivers in the
past, to be weak in fiscal 2015, with the exception of China.
Within the region Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East, we expect
markets in Europe to continue to grow, albeit at a slow pace.
While we expect moderate growth rates in some central Euro-
pean countries, we expect growth to remain weak in the
industrial markets of some large economies, such as France
and Italy. While we expect currency-related headwinds for
export-oriented industries in the Euro-zone to recede in fiscal
2015 compared to fiscal 2014, we expect weak demand from
emerging markets to limit growth opportunities for those
industries in fiscal 2015. The latter development is expected to
be particularly evident in Germany's export-oriented OEM
businesses, such as the machine building industry. Also, we
expect growth in Germany's large automotive industry to slow
in fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014, resulting in less expan-
sive investments year-over-year. Within the Americas, we
expect that growth will be driven mainly by the U.S., which
will also benefit manufacturing industries in Canada and Mex-
ico. We expect a less favorable development in Brazil and
other Latin American countries, where industrial growth is
largely dependent on mining industries. Within the Asia, Aus-
tralia region, we expect industrial markets in China to grow
moderately in fiscal 2015, but below the growth rates in previ-
ous years, as development in the country’s export-oriented
industries is held back by a stronger currency, higher labor
costs and weakness in many other emerging economies which
are important for Chinese exports. Growth in Asia, Australia is
expected to benefit from a pick-up of industrial markets in
South Korea. Industrial markets in India are expected to im-
prove slightly. Overall, rising regional political uncertainties
may further limit investment behavior.
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For fiscal 2015, we expect slight growth in the markets served
by Healthcare. We expect markets in emerging countries to
grow faster than markets in the industrialized countries. In
emerging markets, we expect continued strong demand, in
particular for entry-level products and solutions, as these coun-
tries build up their healthcare infrastructure to provide their
populations with affordable access to modern medical technol-
ogy, including in rural areas. In contrast, demand in industrial-
ized countries is expected to be held back by healthcare
reforms and budgetary constraints. We expect industrialized
countries — especially those more reliant on government
healthcare expenditures — to continue to focus on improving
the efficiency of healthcare and on slowing the growth of
healthcare spending, thus driving demand for cost-efficient
and high-throughput products and solutions. For the healthcare
market overall, we anticipate that the trends towards entry-level
solutions, higher efficiency and focus on patient outcomes will
continue. On a regional basis, we expect that growth in the
Americas in fiscal 2015 will be supported by moderate growth
in the U.S., where we expect the trends towards higher effi-
ciency and increased accountability of healthcare providers to
continue. Our customers continue to face legislative and regu-
latory reimbursement risks as governments and regulators
seek to curb healthcare costs. Within the Europe, C.I.S., Africa,
Middle East region, we expect the gradual stabilizing of Euro-
pean markets to continue in fiscal 2015. While we expect the
markets in the region Asia, Australia to grow faster than other
regions in fiscal 2015, we expect growth to slow down year-
over-year. This is expected to be particularly evident in China,
where we expect increasing price and competitive pressure due
mainly to increasing numbers of local vendors.

Our SFS Division is geared to Siemens’ Industrial Business and
its markets. As such SFS is, among other factors, influenced by
the overall business development of the markets served by our
Industrial Business.

C.9.1.3 SIEMENS GROUP
We are basing our outlook for fiscal 2015 for the Siemens Group
and its segments on the above-mentioned expectations regard-
ing the overall economic situation and specific market condi-
tions for the next fiscal year.

This outlook excludes impacts related to legal and regulatory
matters.

We are exposed to currency translation effects, particularly in-
volving the US$, British £ and currencies of emerging markets,
such as China, India and Brazil. During fiscal 2014, the average
exchange rate conversion for our large volume of US$-denomi-
nated revenue was US$1.357 per Euro. While we expect vola-
tility in global currency markets to continue in fiscal 2015,

we have improved our natural hedge on a global basis through
geographic distribution of our production facilities during the
past. Nevertheless, Siemens is still a net exporter from the Euro
zone to the rest of the world, so a weak Euro is principally
favorable for our business and a strong Euro is principally un-
favorable. In addition to the natural hedging strategy just men-
tioned, we also hedge currency risk in our export business
using derivative financial instruments, see —> NoTE30in —> p.6
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. We expect these
steps to help us limit effects on income related to currency in
fiscal 2015.

Revenue growth

Given our complex economic and market developments, as
described in the previous section, we expect that fiscal 2015
revenue for Siemens on an organic basis, excluding currency
translation and portfolio effects, will be flat year-over-year. We
expect that a moderate organic revenue decline particularly in
our Power and Gas Division will be offset by organic revenue
growth in other Divisions. Also, we expect a stabilizing effect
on revenue from conversion of our order backlog (defined as
the sum of order backlogs of our Industrial Business) which
totaled €100 billion as of September 30, 2014. From this back-
log we expect to convert approximately €37 billion of past
orders into current revenue in fiscal 2015. We expect that orders
for fiscal 2015 will exceed revenue, leading to a book-to-bill
ratio above 1.

Profitability

In fiscal 2015, we expect substantial gains from divestments
mentioned in this Annual Report, particularly including the sale
of our stake in BSH and the sale of our hearing aid business. We
expect that these gains will more than offset charges associated
with our “Vision 2020” concept, which includes efforts to increase
customer proximity, accelerate innovation, and streamline our
management and internal service processes. We anticipate that
such charges during fiscal 2015 will be in the mid-to-high triple-
digit-million euro range. We expect a significant rise in net
income in fiscal 2015, which will enable us to increase basic
earnings per share (EPS) from net income by at least 15% from
€6.37 in fiscal 2014. In this forecast we also expect EPS growth
to benefit modestly from our current program to repurchase
Siemens shares in a volume of up to €4 billion; repurchases
under this program in fiscal 2014 totaled €1.1 billion.

Our assumptions regarding net income for fiscal 2015 in-
clude targeted increases in selling and R&D expenses, aimed at
organic volume growth and strengthening our capacities for
innovation. As part of our One Siemens framework, we target a
total cost productivity increase of 3% to 4%. Furthermore, we
expect a significant reduction in project charges compared to
fiscal 2014.
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Additionally, we assume pricing pressure on our offerings of
around 2.5% in fiscal 2015, with the Wind Power and Renew-
ables Division, the Power and Gas Division and Healthcare
being affected the most. Furthermore, we expect upward pres-
sure on costs from wage inflation of around 3% to 4%.

Beginning with fiscal 2015, we defined profit margin ranges for
our Industrial Business and SFS, which are based on the profit
margins of the respective relevant competitors. The profit mar-
gin ranges for our Industrial Business and for SFS are as follows:

| Profit margin ranges

Margin range
Power and Gas 11 - 15%
Wind Power and Renewables 5-8%
Energy Management 7 - 10%
Building Technologies 8-11%
Mobility 6 -9%
Digital Factory 14 - 20%
Process Industries and Drives 8-12%
Healthcare 15 - 19%
SFS (ROE (after taxes)) 15 - 20%

We expect that nearly all of our Divisions and Healthcare will
reach their margin ranges in fiscal 2015. Our Energy Manage-
ment Division and our Wind Power and Renewables Division,
whose profit margins were below their respective ranges in fis-
cal 2014, are expected to significantly improve their profitability
in fiscal 2015. While we expect the profit margin for our Power
and Gas Division to be in the target range in fiscal 2015, we ex-
pect it will come in significantly below the margin of 17.4%
achieved in fiscal 2014. Besides the above-mentioned market
conditions, the reasons for this development are targeted
expense increases for growth and innovation as well as consol-
idation early in fiscal 2015 of our acquisition of the aero-deriva-
tive turbine and compressor business of Rolls-Royce, among
other factors. Overall, we expect an aggregate profit margin for
our Industrial Business of 10% to 11%, compared to 10.6% in
fiscal 2014. We expect profit for SFS, which is outside our Indus-
trial Business, to be near the prior-year level.

Within our Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial State-
ments, profit from Centrally managed portfolio activities is
expected to rise sharply year-over-year, benefiting from a gain
on the sale of our stake in BSH. This positive effect is expected
to be partly offset by burdens that may arise from remaining
Centrally managed portfolio activities. While we anticipate
that SRE will continue with real estate disposals depending on
market conditions, we expect gains from disposals to be lower
in fiscal 2015 than in fiscal 2014. Corporate items are expected

to cost approximately €0.6 billion in fiscal 2015, with costs in
the second half-year higher than in the first half. Among other
factors, results from Corporate items are dependent on
changes in the fair value of warrants we issued together with
US$3 billion in bonds in fiscal 2012. Centrally carried pen-
sion expenses are expected to total approximately €0.5 billion
in fiscal 2015. Because our enhanced profit definition now
excludes expenses from amortization of intangible assets
acquired in business combinations, we report these expenses
separately within our Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial
Statements. In fiscal 2014, these expenses were a negative
€0.5 billion and we expect them to be on a similar level in
fiscal 2015.

Income from discontinued operations in fiscal 2015 is expected
to rise sharply year-over-year, benefiting particularly from a
substantial gain on the sale of our hearing aid business.

Capital efficiency

Our primary measure for managing and controlling our capital
efficiency is return on capital employed from continuing and dis-
continued operations (ROCE). Due mainly to our expectations
regarding the development of net income, we expect to achieve
ROCE clearly in our target range of 15% to 20% in fiscal 2015.

Capital structure

To measure our capital structure we use the ratio of industrial
net debt to EBITDA, and seek to achieve a ratio of up to 1.0. We
expect to achieve a ratio below 1.0 in fiscal 2015, but clearly
above the fiscal 2014 level of 0.15, due to portfolio measures
that we initiated in fiscal 2014 and our share buyback program,
which are expected to result in significant net cash outflows
in fiscal 2015.

Dividend

We intend to continue providing an attractive return to share-
holders. Therefore in the years ahead we intend to propose a
dividend payout of 40% to 60% of net income, which for this
purpose we may adjust to exclude selected exceptional non-
cash effects. As in the past, we intend to fund the dividend pay-
out from Free cash flow.

C.9.1.4 OVERALL ASSESSMENT

We believe that our business environment will be complex in
fiscal 2015, among other things due to geopolitical tensions. We
expect revenue on an organic basis to remain flat year-over-year,
and orders to exceed revenue for a book-to-bill ratio above 1. Fur-
thermore, we expect that gains from divestments will enable us
to increase basic EPS from net income by at least 15% from €6.37
in fiscal 2014. For our Industrial Business, we expect a profit
margin of 10% to 11%. This outlook excludes impacts from legal
and regulatory matters.
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Overall, the actual development for Siemens and its Segments
may vary, positively or negatively, from our expectations due to
the risks and opportunities described below. See —> c.9.3 risks
aswell as —> c.9.4 opporTUNITIES. This report on expected devel-
opments should be read in conjunction with —> e.6 NOTES AND
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.

C.9.2 Risk management

C.9.2.1 BASIC PRINCIPLES OF THE RISK
MANAGEMENT

Our risk management policy stems from a philosophy of pursu-
ing sustainable growth and creating economic value while
avoiding and managing inappropriate risks. As risk manage-
ment is an integral part of how we plan and execute our busi-
ness strategies, our risk management policy is set by the Man-
aging Board. Our organizational and accountability structure as
of September 30, 2014 requires each of the respective manage-
ments of our Sectors, SFS, SRE, regions and Corporate Units to
implement risk management programs that are tailored to their
specific industries and responsibilities, while being consistent
with the overall policy established by the Managing Board.

C.9.2.2 ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
We have implemented and coordinated a set of risk manage-
ment and control systems which support us in the early recog-
nition of developments jeopardizing the continuity of our busi-
ness. The most important of these systems include our
enterprise-wide processes for strategic planning and manage-
ment reporting. Strategic planning is intended to support us in
considering potential risks well in advance of major business
decisions, while management reporting is intended to enable
us to monitor such risks more closely as our business pro-
gresses. Our internal auditors regularly review the adequacy
and effectiveness of our risk management system. Accordingly,
if deficits are detected, it is possible to adopt appropriate mea-
sures for their elimination. This coordination of processes and
procedures is intended to help ensure that the Managing Board
and the Supervisory Board are fully informed about significant
risks in a timely manner.

Risk management at Siemens is based on a comprehensive, in-
teractive and management-oriented Enterprise Risk Manage-
ment (ERM) approach that is integrated into the organization
and that addresses both risks and opportunities. Our ERM
approach is based on the worldwide accepted Enterprise Risk
Management — Integrated Framework (2004) developed by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com-
mission (COSO). The framework connects the ERM process
with our financial reporting process and our internal control

system. It considers a company'’s strategy, the efficiency and
effectiveness of its business operations, the reliability of its
financial reporting as well as compliance with relevant laws
and regulations to be equally important.

The ERM process aims for early identification and evaluation of,
and response regarding, risks and opportunities that could ma-
terially affect the achievement of our strategic, operational,
financial and compliance objectives. Our ERM is based on a net
risk approach, covering risks and opportunities remaining after
the execution of existing control measures. In order to provide
a comprehensive view on our business activities, risks and op-
portunities are identified in a structured way combining ele-
ments of both top-down and bottom-up approaches. Risks and
opportunities are generally reported on a quarterly basis. This
regular reporting process is complemented by an ad-hoc
reporting process that aims to escalate critical issues in a timely
manner. Relevant risks and opportunities are prioritized in
terms of impact and likelihood, considering different perspec-
tives, including business objectives, reputation and regulatory
matters. The bottom-up identification and prioritization pro-
cess is supported by workshops with the respective manage-
ment of the Sector, SFS, SRE, regional and Corporate Unit orga-
nizations. This top-down element ensures that potential new
risks and opportunities are discussed at the management level
and are included in the subsequent reporting process, if found
to be relevant. Reported risks and opportunities are analyzed
regarding potential cumulative effects and are aggregated at
Sector, SFS, SRE, regional and corporate level.

Responsibilities are assigned for all relevant risks and opportu-
nities with the hierarchical level of responsibility depending on
the significance of the respective risk or opportunity. In a first
step, assuming responsibility for a specific risk or opportunity
involves deciding upon one of our general response strategies,
or a combination of them. Our general response strategies with
respect to risks are avoidance, transfer, reduction or acceptance
of the relevant risk. Our general response strategies with
respect to opportunities are partial or complete realization of
the relevant opportunity. In a second step, responsibility for a
risk or opportunity also involves the development, initiation
and monitoring of appropriate response measures correspond-
ing to the chosen response strategy. These response measures
have to be specifically tailored to allow for effective risk man-
agement. Accordingly, we have developed a variety of response
measures with different characteristics: For example, we miti-
gate the risk of fluctuations in currency and interest rates by
engaging in hedging activities. Regarding our long-term proj-
ects, systematic and comprehensive project management with
standardized project milestones, including provisional accep-
tances during project execution, and complemented by clearly
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defined approval processes assists us in identifying and re-
sponding to project risks at an early stage, even before entering
the bidding phase. Furthermore, we maintain appropriate
insurance levels for potential cases of damage and liability risks
in order to reduce our exposure to such risks and to avoid or
minimize potential losses. Among others, we address the risk

C.9.2.3 RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION
AND RESPONSIBILITIES

of fluctuations in economic activity and customer demand by
closely monitoring the macroeconomic conditions and devel-
opments in relevant industries, and by adjusting capacity and
implementing cost-reduction measures in a timely and consis-
tent manner, if deemed necessary.

Operational and organizational structure of the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process as of September 30, 2014

Managing Board

Overall responsibility for the Risk and Internal Control System.
Defines risk policy and ERM strategy.

\
Corporate Risk & Internal Control Committee (CRIC)
Reports to and supports the Managing Board in matters relating

to the implementation, operation and oversight of an effective
Risk and Internal Control System.

Audit Committee

Oversees the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system.

Chief Risk & Internal Control Officer

Chairman of the CRIC. Defines and monitors application of ERM strategy,
policy and methodology. Consolidates Siemens wide risk and opportunity
profile for CRIC.

|

Sector Risk & Internal
Control Committees

Sector Management' |

Lead Country Management

Lead Country Risk &Internal
Control Committees

Oversee the risk and internal control activities for their area of responsibility and provide
the Management with information necessary to report to the CRIC.

| Heads of Corporate Units |

Implement ERM system and ensure management and monitoring of risks and opportunities in their respective organization. |

‘ 1 The term “Sector” in this chart comprises Sectors, SFS and SRE.

To oversee the ERM process and to further drive the integration
and harmonization of existing control activities to align with
legal and operational requirements, the Managing Board estab-
lished a Corporate Risk and Internal Control Department,
headed by the Chief Risk &Internal Control Officer, and a Cor-
porate Risk and Internal Control Committee (CRIC). The CRIC
obtains risk and opportunity information from the Risk Com-
mittees established at the Sector, SFS, SRE and regional level as
well as from the Heads of Corporate Units, which then forms
the basis for the evaluation of the company-wide risk and op-
portunity situation. The CRIC reports to and supports the Man-
aging Board on matters relating to the implementation, opera-
tion and oversight of the risk and internal control system and
assists the Managing Board in reporting to the Audit Commit-
tee of the Supervisory Board. The CRIC is composed of the Chief
Risk &Internal Control Officer, as the chairperson, and mem-
bers of senior management such as the Sector and SFS CEOs,
the CFO of Siemens, and selected Heads of Corporate Units.
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C.9.3 Risks

Below we describe the risks that could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition (including effects on
assets, liabilities and cash flows), results of operations and
reputation. The order in which the risks are presented in each
of the four categories reflects the currently estimated relative
exposure for Siemens associated with these risks and thus
provides an indication of the risks’ current importance to us.
Nevertheless, risks currently considered to entail a lower risk
exposure could potentially result in a higher negative impact
on Siemens than risks currently considered to entail a higher
risk exposure. Additional risks not known to us or that we cur-
rently consider immaterial may also negatively impact our busi-
ness operations. Unless otherwise stated, the risks described
below relate to all of our segments.

Combined Management Report

172 | C1
187 | C.2
193 | C3
205 C4
210 | C.5

Business and economic environment
Financial performance system
Results of operations

Financial position

Net assets position



C.9.3.1 STRATEGIC RISKS

We operate in highly competitive markets, which are sub-
ject to price pressures and rapid changes: The worldwide
markets for our products and solutions are highly competitive
in terms of pricing, product and service quality, product devel-
opment and introduction time, customer service and financ-
ing terms. In many of our businesses, we face downward price
pressure and we are or could be exposed to market downturns
or slower growth, which may increase in times of declining
investment activities and consumer demand. We face strong
competitors, some of which are larger and may have greater
resources in a given business area, and also competitors from
emerging markets, which may have a better cost structure.
Some industries in which we operate are undergoing con-
solidation, which may result in stronger competition and a
change in our relative market position. Certain competitors
may be more effective and faster in capturing available market
opportunities, such as through heavy investments or new
entrance of IT companies into emerging service fields (e.g.
data-driven services). These factors alone or in combination
may negatively impact our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Furthermore, we see a risk that suppliers (and to some extent
even smaller customers), especially from emerging countries
(e.g. China), could develop into serious competitors for
Siemens resulting in even more competition and thus in re-
duced volume, loss of market share, and/or lower profit margin.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations
may be affected by the uncertainties of economic and polit-
ical conditions, particularly in the current macroeconomic
environment, which is characterized by a high degree of un-
certainty and modest recovery as well as the continuing risk
of resurgence of crisis in financial markets and/or renewed
global economic downturn: Our business environment is in-
fluenced by both domestic and global demand, which in turn is
influenced by economic conditions. These conditions and, in
consequence, the speed of economic growth and the sustain-
ability of our market environment are dependent upon the evo-
lution of a number of global and local factors. We still see a
high level of uncertainty regarding the global economic out-
look, primarily as a result of the anemic economic recovery in
the Euro zone, sluggish growth in various emerging countries,
and ongoing geopolitical tensions. The main downside risks
stem from these political tensions. A severe escalation of the
conflict in Eastern Europe would strongly affect the European
and world economy and lead to a steep decline in investment
activity. Similarly, an escalation of the conflicts in the Middle
East could disrupt global oil markets and hit the global econ-
omy. Additional risks for our market environment include such
possibilities as a prolonged decline in investment sentiment,

a renewed crisis in financial and credit markets, a renewed
banking crisis in Europe, a hard landing of the Chinese econ-
omy, a supra-regional spread of the Ebola epidemic, fluctuating
commodity prices, bankruptcies, natural disasters, political
crises including further independence debates, social unrest
and other challenges.

In general, due to the significant proportion of long-cycle busi-
nesses in our former Sectors and the importance of long-term
contracts for Siemens, there is usually a time lag between the
development of macroeconomic conditions and their impact on
our financial results. Important exceptions include our short-
cycle businesses in the former Industry Sector, particularly
those in the former Industry Automation Division and parts of
the former Drive Technologies Division as well as parts of the
former Power Grid Solutions & Products Business within the for-
mer Infrastructure & Cities Sector, which are highly sensitive to
volatility in market demand. If the moderate recovery of macro-
economic growth stalls again and if we are not successful in
adapting our production and cost structure to subsequent
changes to conditions in the markets in which we operate,
there can be no assurance that we will not experience adverse
effects (e.g. underutilization of manufacturing and engineer-
ing capacities) that may be material to our business, financial
condition and results of operations. For example, it may be-
come more difficult for our customers to obtain financing and
as a result they may modify, delay or cancel plans to purchase
our products and services or to follow through on purchases or
contracts already executed. Furthermore, prices may decline as
a result of adverse market conditions to a greater extent than
currently anticipated. In addition, contracted payment terms,
especially regarding the level of advance payments by our cus-
tomers relating to long-term projects, may become less favor-
able, which could negatively impact our cash flows. Addition-
ally, if customers are not successful in generating sufficient
revenue or securing access to the capital markets, they may not
be able to pay, or may delay payment of, the amounts they owe
us, which may adversely affect our business, financial condi-
tion and results of operations.

Numerous other headwinds continue to constrain the world
economy, such as the increasing popular support for anti-EU and
anti-business parties, ongoing high public debt, and significant
fluctuations in exchange rates, energy prices and raw material
prices. These and other factors could impact macroeconomic
parameters and the international capital and credit markets, and
the resulting uncertainty could have an adverse impact on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business is affected by a variety of market conditions and
regulations. For example, our former Energy Sector is exposed
to the development of global demand for energy and strongly
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affected by regulations and policies related to energy and the
environment. Healthcare is dependent on policy development
and regulations affecting healthcare systems around the world,
particularly in the important U.S. healthcare market. Our for-
mer Industry Sector is vulnerable to unfavorable market condi-
tions in certain segments of the automotive and manufac-
turing industries. Our former Infrastructure &Cities Sector
focuses, among other things, on business with public authori-
ties around the world and is thus vulnerable to restrictions in
public budgets.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations
may be adversely affected by continued strategic alignments
and cost-cutting initiatives: We are in a continuous process of
strategic alignments and constantly engage in cost-cutting
initiatives, including ongoing capacity adjustment measures
and structural initiatives. Capacity adjustments through
consolidation of business activities and manufacturing facili-
ties, and the streamlining of product portfolios are also part of
these cost reduction efforts. These measures may not be imple-
mented as planned, may turn out to be less effective than an-
ticipated, may become effective later than estimated or may
not become effective at all. Each of these factors alone or in
combination may negatively impact our business, financial
condition, and results of operations. Any future contribution of
these measures to our profitability will be influenced by the
actual savings achieved and by our ability to sustain them.

Our businesses must keep pace with technological
changes and develop new products and services to remain
competitive: The markets in which our businesses operate ex-
perience rapid and significant changes due to the introduction
of innovative technologies. To meet our customers’ needs, we
must continuously design new products and services and up-
date existing ones, while investing in and developing new
technologies. Introducing new products and technologies
requires a significant commitment to research and develop-
ment, which in return requires expenditure of considerable
financial resources that may not always result in success. Our
sales and profitability may suffer if we invest in technologies
that do not operate or may not be integrated as expected, or
that are not accepted in the market place as anticipated, or if
our products or systems are not introduced to the market in a
timely manner, particularly compared to our competitors, or
become obsolete. We constantly apply for new patents and
actively manage our intellectual property portfolio to secure
our technological position. However, our patents and other
intellectual property may not prevent competitors from inde-
pendently developing or selling products and services that are
similar to or duplicates of ours. There can be no assurance that
the resources we invest to protect our intellectual property
will be sufficient or that our intellectual property portfolio will

adequately deter misappropriation or improper use of our
technology. Furthermore, in some of our markets, the need to
develop and introduce new products rapidly in order to cap-
ture available opportunities may lead to quality problems. Our
operating results depend to a significant extent on our ability
to anticipate and adapt to changes in our markets and to
reduce the costs of producing high-quality products. Among
recent technology trends, we are carefully evaluating the
potential and relevance of digitalization. We believe that the
potential and usage scenarios of this technology vary among
our products, solutions and services depending on the degree
of information technology utilized. However, we also believe
that this trend needs to be monitored closely, because it might
bear the potential to change the competitive landscape. Any
inability to adapt to the aforementioned factors could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations
may be adversely affected by portfolio measures: Our strat-
egy includes divesting activities in some business areas and
strengthening others through portfolio measures, including
mergers and acquisitions.

With respect to divestments, we may not be able to divest some
of our activities as planned, and the divestitures we do carry
out could have a negative impact on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and our reputation. As a major
divestment, we agreed that Bosch will acquire Siemens’ stake
in BSH Bosch und Siemens Hausgerdte GmbH.

Mergers and acquisitions are inherently risky because of diffi-
culties that may arise when integrating people, operations,
technologies and products. There can be no assurance that any
of the businesses we acquire can be integrated successfully and
as timely as originally planned, or that they will perform as
anticipated once integrated. In addition, we may incur signifi-
cant acquisition, administrative and other costs in connection
with these transactions, including costs related to integration
of acquired businesses. For example, in September 2014, we
entered into an agreement with Dresser-Rand to acquire all of
its issued and outstanding common shares by way of a friendly
takeover bid. At the beginning of May 2014, we announced the
acquisition of the Rolls-Royce Energy aero-derivative gas
turbine and compressor business of Rolls-Royce plc, U.K. (Rolls-
Royce). Furthermore, portfolio measures may result in addi-
tional financing needs and adversely affect our financial
leverage and our debt-to-equity ratio. Acquisitions may also
lead to substantial increases in intangible assets, including
goodwill. Our Statements of Financial Position reflect a signifi-
cant amount of intangible assets, including goodwill. Among
our businesses, the largest amount of goodwill is allocated to
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the former Diagnostics Division and the former Imaging &
Therapy Systems Division of Healthcare, and the former Indus-
try Automation Division of the former Industry Sector. If we
were to encounter continuing adverse business developments
including negative effects on our revenues, profits or cash, or
adverse effects from an increase in the weighted average cost of
capital (WACC) or from foreign exchange rate developments, or
if we were otherwise to perform worse than expected at acqui-
sition activities, then these intangible assets, including good-
will, might have to be written off, which could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations. The
likelihood of such adverse business developments increases in
times of difficult or uncertain macroeconomic conditions.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations
may be adversely affected by our equity interests, other
investments and strategic alliances: Our strategy includes
strengthening our business interests through joint ventures,
associated companies and strategic alliances. Certain of our
investments, particularly in our former segment Equity Invest-
ments, are accounted for using the equity method, including,
among others, Unify (formerly EN) and, after contractual clos-
ing of the transaction, our Metals Technologies joint venture
with Mitsubishi Heavy Industries. Furthermore, we hold other
investments, for example Atos SE and OSRAM Licht AG. Any
factors negatively influencing the profitability of our equity and
other investments, including negative effects on revenues,
profits or cash, could have an adverse effect on our equity
pick-up related to these equity interests or may result in a write-
off of these investments. In addition, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could also be adversely
affected in connection with loans, guarantees or non-compli-
ance with financial covenants related to these equity and other
investments. Furthermore, such investments are inherently
risky as we may not be able to sufficiently influence corporate
governance processes or business decisions taken by our
equity investments, other investments and strategic alliances
that may have a negative effect on our business. In addition,
joint ventures bear the risk of difficulties that may arise when
integrating people, operations, technologies and products.
Strategic alliances may also pose risks for us because we com-
pete in some business areas with companies with which we
have strategic alliances.

We are subject to changes of regulations, laws and policies
concerning our products: As a diversified company with global
businesses we are exposed to various product-related regula-
tions, laws and policies influencing our processes. Recently,
some jurisdictions around the world have adopted certain reg-
ulations, laws and policies requiring us to extend our recycling
efforts, limit the sourcing and usage of certain raw materials,
and request that suppliers provide additional due diligence and

disclosures on sourcing and usage of the regulated raw materi-
als. In particular, there is U.S. legislation concerning the sourc-
ing of “conflict minerals” from mines located in the conflict
zones of the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) and its
adjoining countries. This U.S. legislation requires manufactur-
ers listed on U.S. stock exchanges to investigate and disclose
their use of any conflict minerals originating in the DRC or ad-
joining countries. Many of our customers fall into this category.
If their (sub-)suppliers do not provide them with requested in-
formation and do not take other steps to ensure that no such
conflict minerals are included in minerals or components sup-
plied to them, they may be forced to disclose information about
the use of conflict minerals in their supply chain in filings with
the SEC. Thus, our customers pass on these transparency obli-
gations within their supply chain in which we are also involved.
We exercise our duty within the supply chain, as our customers
request transparency in the supply chain and as the obligation
to do so already forms an element of customer contracts. If we
are unable to achieve sufficient confidence throughout our
supply chain, or if any of these risks or similar risks associated
with these kinds of regulations, laws and policies were to
materialize, our business, financial condition, results of opera-
tions and reputation could be adversely affected.

C.9.3.2 OPERATIONAL RISKS

Our business, financial condition and results of operations
may be adversely affected by cost overruns or additional
payment obligations related to the management of our
long-term, fixed-price or turnkey projects: We perform a por-
tion of our business, especially large projects, under long-term
contracts that are awarded on a competitive bidding basis.
Some of these contracts are inherently risky because we may
assume substantially all of the risks associated with complet-
ing a project and the post-completion warranty obligations. For
example, we face the risk that we must satisfy technical re-
quirements of a project even though we may not have gained
experience with those requirements before we win the project.
The profit margins realized on fixed-priced contracts may vary
from original estimates as a result of changes in costs and pro-
ductivity over their term. We sometimes bear the risk of unan-
ticipated project modifications, shortage of key personnel,
quality problems, financial difficulties of our customers, cost
overruns or contractual penalties caused by unexpected tech-
nological problems, unforeseen developments at the project
sites, unforeseen changes or difficulties in the regulatory or
political environment, performance problems with our suppli-
ers, subcontractors and consortium partners or other logistical
difficulties. Certain of our multi-year contracts also contain
demanding installation and maintenance requirements in
addition to other performance criteria relating to timing, unit
cost and compliance with government regulations require-
ments, which, if not satisfied, could subject us to substantial
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contractual penalties, damages, non-payment and contract ter-
mination. There can be no assurance that contracts and proj-
ects, in particular those with long-term duration and fixed-
price calculation, can be completed profitably.

Increased IT security threats and higher levels of profes-
sionalism in computer crime could pose a risk to our
systems, networks, products, solutions and services as well
as to those of our service providers: Our business portfolio
includes a broad array of systems, networks, products, solu-
tions and services across our businesses that rely on digital
technologies. We observe a global increase in IT security
threats and higher levels of professionalism in computer crime,
which pose a risk to the security of systems and networks and
the confidentiality, availability and integrity of data. We attempt
to mitigate these risks by employing a number of measures,
including employee training, comprehensive monitoring of
our networks and systems, and maintenance of backup and
protective systems such as firewalls and virus scanners. To the
extent we employ service providers, such as in the area of IT
infrastructure, we have contractual arrangements in place in
order to ensure that these risks are reduced in a similar man-
ner. Nonetheless, our systems, networks, products, solutions
and services, as well as those of our service providers remain
potentially vulnerable to attacks. Depending on their nature
and scope, such attacks could potentially lead to the leakage of
confidential information, improper use of our systems and net-
works, manipulation and destruction of data, defective prod-
ucts, production downtimes and supply shortages, which in
turn could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and reputation.

We may face operational failures and quality problems in
our value chain processes: Our value chain comprises all
steps, from research and development to supply chain manage-
ment, production, marketing, sales and services. Operational
failures in our value chain processes could result in quality
problems or potential product, labor safety, regulatory or envi-
ronmental risks. Such risks are particularly present in our
former Sectors in relation to our production and construction
facilities, which are located all over the world and have a high
degree of organizational and technological complexity. From
time to time, some of the products we sell might have quality
issues resulting from the design or manufacture of such prod-
ucts or from the software integrated into them. Our Healthcare
business, for example, is subject to regulatory authorities
including the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and the Euro-
pean Commission’s Health and Consumer Policy Department,
which require us to make certain efforts to safeguard our prod-
uct quality. If we are not able to comply with these require-
ments, our business, financial condition, results of operations
and reputation may be adversely affected.

Furthermore, failures on the part of service providers we
employ, such as in the area of IT, may have an adverse effect on
our processes and operations and our ability to meet our com-
mitments to customers or increase our operating costs. Any
operational failures or quality issues could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of opera-
tions and reputation.

We are dependent upon hiring, developing and retaining
highly qualified management and technical personnel:
Competition for highly qualified personnel remains intense
in the industries and regions in which our businesses operate.
In many of our business areas, we intend to expand our busi-
ness activities, for which we will need highly skilled employ-
ees. Our future success depends in part on our continued abil-
ity to hire, integrate, develop and retain engineers and other
qualified personnel. We address this risk with various measures,
for example succession planning, employer branding, retention
and career management. However, there can be no assurance
that we will continue to be successful in attracting and retain-
ing all the highly qualified employees and key personnel needed
in the future, including in appropriate geographic locations, and
any inability to do so could have an adverse effect on our busi-
ness, financial condition, results of operations and reputation.

We may face interruption of our supply chain, including the
inability of third parties to deliver parts, components and
services on time and in the contractually agreed quality,
and we may be subject to rising raw material prices: Our
financial performance depends in part on reliable and effective
supply chain management for components, sub-assemblies
and other materials. Capacity constraints and supply shortages
resulting from ineffective supply chain management may lead
to delays and additional cost. We rely on third parties to supply
us with parts, components and services. Using third parties to
manufacture, assemble and test our products reduces our con-
trol over manufacturing yields, quality assurance, product
delivery schedules and costs. The third parties that supply us
with parts and components also have other customers and may
not have sufficient capacity to meet all of their customers’
needs, including ours, during periods of excess demand. Com-
ponent supply delays can affect the performance of our former
Sectors. Although we work closely with our suppliers to avoid
supply-related problems, there can be no assurance that we
will not encounter supply problems in the future or that we will
be able to replace a supplier that is not able to meet our
demand. This risk is particularly evident in businesses with a
very limited number of suppliers. Shortages and delays could
materially harm our business. Unanticipated increases in the
price of components or raw materials due to market shortages
or other reasons could also adversely affect the performance of
our former Sectors. Furthermore, we may be exposed to the
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risk of delays and interruptions of the supply chain as a conse-
quence of natural disasters in case we are unable to identify
alternative sources of supply or ways of transportation in
a timely manner or at all. A general shortage of materials, com-
ponents or sub-components as a result of natural disasters also
bears the risk of unforeseeable fluctuations in prices and
demand, which might adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our former Sectors purchase raw materials including so-called
rare-earth metals, copper, steel, aluminum and oil, which ex-
pose them to fluctuations in energy and raw material prices. In
recent times, commodities prices have been subject to volatile
markets, and such volatility is expected to continue. If we are
not able to compensate for our increased costs or pass them on
to customers, price increases could have an adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. In
contrast, in times of falling commodity prices, we may not fully
profit from such price decreases as we attempt to reduce the
risk of rising commodity prices by several means, such as long-
term contracting or physical and financial hedging. In addition
to price pressure that we may face from our customers expect-
ing to benefit from falling commodity prices or adverse market
conditions, this could also adversely affect our business, finan-
cial condition and results of operations.

C.9.3.3 FINANCIAL RISKS

We are exposed to market price risks: We are exposed to fluc-
tuations in exchange rates, especially between the U.S. dollar
and the euro, because a high percentage of our business
volume is conducted in the U.S. and as exports from Europe. In
addition, we are exposed to currency effects involving the
currencies of emerging markets, in particular the Chinese
Yuan. A strengthening of the euro (particularly against the U.S.
dollar) may change our competitive position, as many of our
competitors may benefit from having a substantial portion of
their costs based in weaker currencies, enabling them to offer
their products at lower prices. As a result, a strong euro in rela-
tion to the U.S. dollar and other currencies could have an
adverse impact on our revenues and results of operations.
Certain currency risks as well as interest rate risks are hedged
using derivative financial instruments. Depending on the
development of foreign currency exchange and interest rates,
our hedging activities could have significant effects on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Changes in the fair value of warrants issued together with
US$3 billion bonds in fiscal 2012 depends mainly on the under-
lying Siemens and OSRAM share prices as well as their respec-
tive volatilities, irrespective of the fact that our potential
obligation related to the warrant writer position to physically
deliver Siemens and OSRAM shares could be covered out of
existing stock. Accordingly, exchange rate, interest rate and

share price fluctuations may lead to higher volatility and
adverse effects on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

We are exposed to volatile credit spreads: Regarding our
Corporate Treasury activities, widening credit spreads due to
uncertainty and risk aversion in the financial markets might
lead to adverse changes of fair market values of our financial
assets, in particular concerning our derivative financial instru-
ments. In addition, widening credit spreads could lead to
increasing refinancing costs if the Euro zone sovereign debt
crisis with its ongoing significant impact on global financial
markets and the European financial sector in particular, contin-
ues or even worsens. Any such development could also further
increase the costs for buying protection against credit risks due
to a potential increase of counterparty risks.

Our future financing via Corporate Treasury may particu-
larly be affected by the uncertainty of economic condi-
tions and the developments of capital and financial mar-
kets: Our Corporate Treasury is responsible for the financing
of the Company. Negative developments in foreign exchange,
money or capital markets, such as limited availability of funds
(particularly U.S. dollar funds), may increase our overall cost
of funding. The ongoing Euro zone sovereign debt crisis con-
tinues to have an impact on global capital markets. The result-
ing higher risk awareness of governments led to more regula-
tions on the use of financial instruments through (1) the
Regulation on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and
trade repositories (European Market Infrastructure Regula-
tion) and (2) other similar regulations in other jurisdictions,
which may have an impact on the future availability or the
costs of adequate hedging instruments for the Company.
It may even lead to further regulations of the financial sector
as well as to the use of financial instruments that could
adversely influence our future possibilities of obtaining debt
financing, and/or may increase our refinancing costs. Deterio-
rating credit quality or even default of business partners may
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Downgrades of our rating could increase our cost of capital
and therefore could negatively affect our business: Our
business, financial condition and results of operations are influ-
enced significantly by the actual and expected performance of
the former Sectors and SFS, as well as our portfolio measures.
An actual or expected negative development of our business,
financial condition or results of operations could result in the
deterioration of our credit rating. Downgrades by rating agen-
cies could increase our cost of capital, may reduce our potential
investor base and may negatively affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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Our financing activities subject us to various risks, includ-
ing credit, interest rate and foreign exchange risk: We pro-
vide our customers with various forms of direct and indirect
financing in connection with large projects. We also finance a
large number of customer orders, for example, the leasing of
medical equipment, mainly through SFS. SFS also bears credit
risk by financing third-party equipment or by taking direct or
indirect participation in financings, such as syndicated loans.
In part, we take a security interest in the assets we finance or
we receive additional collateral. Our business, financial condi-
tion and results of operations may be adversely affected if the
credit quality of our customers deteriorates or if they default on
their payment obligation to us, if the value of the assets in
which we have taken a security interest or additional collateral
declines, if interest rates or foreign exchange rates fluctuate, or
if the projects in which we invest are unsuccessful. Potential
adverse changes in economic conditions could cause a decline
in the fair market values of assets, derivative instruments as
well as collateral, resulting in losses which could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations
may be adversely affected by several parameters influenc-
ing the funded status of our pension benefit plans: The
funded status of our pension plans may be affected by an
increase or decrease in the defined benefit obligation (DBO), as
well as by an increase or decrease in the value of plan assets.
Asignificant increase in the underfunding may have a negative
effect on our rating. Pensions are accounted for in accordance
with actuarial valuations, which rely on statistical and other
factors in order to anticipate future events. These factors
include key pension plan valuation assumptions such as the
discount rate, rate of future compensation increases and
pension progression. Actual developments may differ from
assumptions due to changing market and economic conditions,
thereby resulting in an increase or decrease in the DBO. Signif-
icant movements in financial markets or a change in the port-
folio mix of invested assets could result in corresponding
increases or decreases in the value of plan assets, particularly
equity securities. Also, changes in pension plan assumptions
could affect defined benefit costs. For example, a change in dis-
count rates may result in changes in the defined benefit costs
in the following fiscal year. In order to comply with local pen-
sion regulations in selected foreign countries, we may face a
risk of increasing cash outflows to reduce an underfunding of
our pension plans in these countries, if any.

With respect to sales-related bank guarantees to be issued
in the course of orders or supplies, we are exposed to cer-
tain risks arising from our banks’ rating and its develop-
ment: Frequently customers request from the supplier that
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guarantees customary for the business are procured from banks,
such as down-payment or warranty bonds, as part of the order.
Sometimes customers may also set minimum requirements as
to the creditworthiness of acceptable guarantors. Accordingly,
situations may arise with respect to existing orders that, during
the order’s execution phase, customers request the provision of
alternative security upon the deterioration of a guaranteeing
bank’s creditworthiness.

Examinations by tax authorities and changes in tax regula-
tions could adversely affect our business, financial condi-
tion and results of operations: We operate in nearly all coun-
tries of the world and therefore are subject to many different tax
regulations. Changes in tax law in any of these jurisdictions
could result in higher tax expense and payments. Furthermore,
legislative changes could impact our tax receivables and liabil-
ities as well as deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. In
addition, the uncertain tax environment in some regions could
limit our ability to enforce our rights. As a globally operating
organization, we conduct business in countries subject to com-
plex tax rules, which may be interpreted in different ways. Future
interpretations or developments of tax regimes may affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. We are
regularly examined by tax authorities in various jurisdictions.

For further information on derivative financial instruments,
hedging activities and financial risk management, see —> nNoTE
30 AND 31 In —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

C.9.3.4 COMPLIANCE RISKS

We are subject to regulatory risks associated with our inter-
national operations: Protectionist trade policies and changes
in the political and regulatory environment in the markets in
which we operate, such as import and export controls, tariffs
and other trade barriers including debarment from certain mar-
kets and price or exchange controls, could affect our business
in several national markets, impact our sales and profitability
and make the repatriation of profits difficult, and may expose
us to penalties, sanctions and reputational damage. In addi-
tion, the uncertainty of the legal environment in some regions
could limit our ability to enforce our rights and subject us to
continually increasing costs related to designing and imple-
menting appropriate compliance programs and protocols.

As a globally operating organization, we conduct business with
customers in countries, such as Iran, Syria, Cuba and countries
in Eastern Europe, that are subject to export control regulations,
embargoes, economic sanctions or other forms of trade restric-
tions imposed by the U.S., the European Union or other coun-
tries or organizations. New or expanded export control regu-
lations, economic sanctions, embargoes or other forms of
trade restrictions imposed on Iran, Syria or on other sanctioned
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countries in which we do business may result in a curtailment
of our existing business in such countries or indirectly in other
countries and in amendments to our policies. We are also aware
of initiatives by institutional investors, such as pension funds or
other companies, to adopt or consider adopting policies prohib-
iting investment in and transactions with, or requiring divest-
ment of interests in entities doing business with, Iran and other
countries identified as state sponsors of terrorism by the U.S.
Secretary of State. It is possible that such initiatives may result
in us being unable to gain or retain investors, customers or sup-
pliers. In addition, the termination of our activities in sanctioned
countries may expose us to customer claims and other actions.
Our reputation could also suffer due to our activities with coun-
terparties in or affiliated with these countries. As previously
disclosed, Siemens has decided that, subject to certain limited
exceptions, it will not enter into new contracts with customers
in Iran and has issued group-wide policies establishing the
details of its general decision.

We expect that sales to emerging markets will account for an
increasing portion of our total revenue, as our business natu-
rally evolves and as developing nations and regions around the
world increase their demand for our offering. Emerging market
operations involve various risks, including civil unrest, health
concerns, cultural differences such as employment and busi-
ness practices, volatility in gross domestic product, economic
and governmental instability, the potential for nationalization
of private assets and the imposition of exchange controls. The
Asian markets, in particular, are important for our long-term
growth strategy, and our sizeable operations in China are influ-
enced by a legal system that is still developing and is subject
to change. Our growth strategy could be limited by govern-
ments supporting local industries. Our former Sectors, partic-
ularly those that derive their revenue from large projects,
could be adversely affected if future demand, prices and gross
domestic product in the markets in which those former Sectors
operate do not develop as favorably as expected due to such
regulatory measures. If any of these risks or similar risks asso-
ciated with our international operations were to materialize,
our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be adversely affected.

Current and future investigations regarding allegations of
public corruption, antitrust violations and other illegal acts
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations and on our reputation:
We engage in a substantial amount of business with govern-
ments and government-owned enterprises around the world.
We also participate in a number of projects funded by govern-
ment agencies and intergovernmental and supranational orga-
nizations such as multilateral development banks. If we are
found to have been engaged in public corruption, antitrust

violations and other illegal acts, such activities may impair our
ability to do business with these or other organizations. Cor-
ruption, antitrust and related proceedings may lead to criminal
and civil fines as well as penalties, sanctions, injunctions
against future conduct, profit disgorgements, disqualifications
from directly and indirectly engaging in certain types of busi-
ness, the loss of business licenses or permits or other restric-
tions. Accordingly, we may be required to record material pro-
visions to cover potential liabilities arising in connection with
such investigations and proceedings, including potential tax
penalties. Moreover, any findings related to public corruption
that are not covered by the 2008 and 2009 corruption charge
settlements, which were concluded with American and German
authorities, may endanger our business with government
agencies and intergovernmental and supranational organiza-
tions, further monitors could be appointed to review future
business practices and we may otherwise be required to further
modify our business practices and our compliance program.

Our involvement in ongoing and potential future corruption or
antitrust proceedings could damage our reputation and have
an adverse impact on our ability to compete for business from
public and private sector customers around the world. If we or
our subsidiaries are found to have engaged in certain illegal
acts or not to have taken effective steps to address allegations
or findings of corruption or antitrust violations in our business,
this may impair our ability to participate in business with gov-
ernments or intergovernmental organizations and may result
in our formal exclusion from such business. Even if we are not
formally excluded from participating in government business,
government agencies or intergovernmental or supranational
organizations may informally exclude us from tendering for or
participating in certain contracts. For example, legislation of
member states of the European Union could in certain cases
result in our mandatory or discretionary exclusion from public
contracts in case of a conviction for bribery and certain other
offences or for other reasons. As described in more detail in
—> NOTE 28 in —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS,
we and certain of our subsidiaries have in the past been ex-
cluded or currently are excluded from some contracting, in-
cluding with governments, development banks and multilat-
eral financial institutions, as a result of findings of corruption
or other misconduct. Ongoing or potential future investiga-
tions into allegations of corruption or antitrust violations could
also impair existing relationships with, and our ability to ac-
quire new private sector business partners. For instance, such
investigations may adversely affect our ability to pursue poten-
tially important strategic projects and transactions, such as
strategic alliances, joint ventures or other business combina-
tions, or could result in the cancellation of certain of our exist-
ing contracts and third parties, including our competitors,
could initiate significant third-party litigation.
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In addition, future developments in ongoing and potential
future investigations, such as responding to the requests of
governmental authorities and cooperating with them, could
divert management'’s attention and resources from other issues
facing our business. The materialization of any of these risks
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condi-
tion and results of operations and on our reputation.

We are subject to environmental and other governmental
regulations: Some of the industries in which we operate are
highly regulated. Current and future environmental and other
governmental regulations or changes thereto may require us
to change the way we run our operations and could result in
significant increases in our operating or production costs. In
addition, while we have procedures in place to ensure compli-
ance with applicable governmental regulations in the conduct
of our business operations, it cannot be excluded that viola-
tions of applicable governmental regulations may be caused
either by us or by third parties that we contract with, including
suppliers or service providers, whose activities may be at-
tributed to us. Any such violations expose us to the risk of lia-
bility, reputational damage or loss of licenses or permits that
are important to our business operations. In particular, we
could also face liability for damage or remediation for environ-
mental contamination at the facilities we design or operate. For
example, we are required to bear environmental clean-up costs
mainly related to remediation and environmental protection
liabilities, which have been accrued based on the estimated
costs of decommissioning facilities for the production of ura-
nium and mixed-oxide fuel elements in Hanau, Germany, as well
as a nuclear research and service center in Karlstein, Germany.
For further information, see —> NOTE 23 In —> D.6 NOTES TO
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Under certain circum—
stances, we establish provisions for environmental risks. With
regard to certain environmental risks, we maintain liability in-
surance at levels that our management believes are appropri-
ate and consistent with industry practice. We may incur envi-
ronmental losses beyond the limits, or outside the coverage, of
such insurance, and such losses may have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of our operations.
In addition, our provisions for environmental liabilities may
not be sufficient to cover our ultimate losses or expenditures
resulting therefrom.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations
could suffer as a result of current or future litigation: We are
subject to numerous risks relating to legal, governmental and
regulatory proceedings to which we are currently a party or to
which we may become a party in the future. We routinely be-
come subject to legal, governmental and regulatory investiga-
tions and proceedings involving, among other things, requests
for arbitration, allegations of improper delivery of goods or

services, product liability, product defects, quality problems,
intellectual property infringement, non-compliance with tax reg-
ulations and/or alleged or suspected violations of applicable
laws. In addition, we may face further claims in connection with
the circumstances that led to the corruption charges. For addi-
tional information with respect to specific proceedings, see
—> NOTE 28 in —> D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
There can be no assurance that the results of these or any other
proceedings will not materially harm our business, financial con-
dition and results of operations. Moreover, even if we ultimately
prevail on the merits in any such proceedings, we may have to
incur substantial legal fees and other costs defending ourselves
against the underlying allegations. Under certain circumstances
we record a provision for risks arising from legal disputes and
proceedings. In addition, we maintain liability insurance for cer-
tain legal risks at levels our management believes are appropriate
and consistent with industry practice. Our insurance policy, how-
ever, does not protect us against reputational damage. Moreover,
we may incur losses relating to legal proceedings beyond the lim-
its, or outside the coverage, of such insurance or exceeding any
provisions made for legal proceedings related losses. Finally,
there can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain ade-
quate insurance coverage on commercially reasonable terms in
the future. Each of these risks may have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

C.9.3.5 ASSESSMENT OF THE OVERALL

RISK SITUATION

The most significant challenges have been mentioned first in
each of the four categories Strategic, Operations, Financial and
Compliance with the risks caused by highly competitive mar-
kets currently being our most significant. Even though the as-
sessments of individual risk exposures have changed during
fiscal 2014 due to developments in the external environment as
well as the effects of our own mitigation measures, the overall
risk situation for Siemens did not change significantly as com-
pared to the prior year. At present, no risks have been identified
that either individually or in combination could endanger our
ability to continue as a going concern. We are confident that we
can continue to successfully counter the challenges arising
from the risks mentioned above.

C.9.4 Opportunities

Within our comprehensive, interactive and management-ori-
ented Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) approach that is inte-
grated into the organization and that addresses both risks and
opportunities, we regularly identify, evaluate and respond to
opportunities that present themselves in our various fields of
activity. Below we describe our most significant opportunities.
Unless otherwise stated, the opportunities described below
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relate to all of our segments. The order in which the opportuni-
ties are presented reflects the currently estimated relative ex-
posure for Siemens associated with these opportunities and
thus provides an indication of the opportunities’ current impor-
tance to us. Nevertheless, opportunities currently considered
to entail a lower opportunity exposure could potentially result
in a higher positive impact on Siemens than opportunities cur-
rently considered to entail a higher opportunity exposure. The
described opportunities are necessarily not the only ones we
encounter. In addition, our assessment of opportunities is sub-
ject to change as our Company, our markets and technologies
are constantly developing. As a consequence, new opportuni-
ties may arise, existing opportunities may cease to be relevant,
or the significance of an opportunity may change. Generally,
opportunities are assessed to the best of our knowledge, con-
sidering certain assumptions, including market development,
market potential of technologies or solutions, and anticipated
developments in customer demand or prices, among other
things. When opportunities materialize, they may have a lower
effect than previously estimated on the basis of the underlying
assumptions. It is also possible that opportunities we see today
will never materialize.

In our view, the overall opportunity situation did not change
significantly as compared to the prior year.

We constantly strive to develop new technologies, offer new
products, solutions and services, and improve existing ones:
We invest in new technologies that we expect will meet future
demands in accordance with the megatrends demographic
change, urbanization, climate change, globalization and digital
transformation (for further information see —> c.1.3 STRATEGY).
Furthermore, a growing awareness for cyber security could lead
to additional business for high quality solutions offered by the
former Industry Sector’s Industry Automation Division.

We see further opportunities in the growth potential of
emerging markets as well as established markets: We ex-
pect that in coming years growth in our markets will be driven
by countries in Asia and the Middle East, in particular by coun-
tries such as Indonesia and Turkey. Within One Siemens, we
take measures aimed at continuously increasing our share of
revenue from emerging markets. Our “Vision 2020” concept,
which puts a stronger focus on getting close to customers is
expected to result in higher market penetration (for further
information, see —> c.1.3 STRATEGY).

We believe that developing the capability to design, manufac-
ture and sell so-called SMART products (simple, maintenance-
friendly, affordable, reliable, and timely-to-market) will pro-
vide us with opportunities to gain market share and enhance
our local presence in these strategic growth markets. Adding

further SMART products to our portfolio and developing stron-
ger sales channels would enable us to increase our revenues by
serving large and fast-growing geographic markets, where cus-
tomers making a purchase decision may consider price more
strongly than product features without compromising on prod-
uct quality and reliability.

Through selective acquisitions, equity investments and
partnerships we constantly strive to strengthen our lead-
ing technology position, open up additional potential mar-
kets and further develop our product portfolio: We con-
stantly monitor our current and future markets for opportunities
for strategic acquisitions, equity investments or partnerships to
complement organic growth. Such activities could help us to
strengthen our market position in our existing markets, provide
access to new markets or complement our technological port-
folio in selected areas.

Localizing value chain activities in low-cost countries could
further improve our cost position: Localizing certain value
chain activities, such as procurement, manufacturing, mainte-
nance and service in markets such as the BRIC countries, other
emerging markets, and the Middle East could enable us to re-
duce costs and strengthen our global competitive position, in
particular compared to competitors based in countries with a
more favorable cost structure.

We are in the process of continuously developing and im-
plementing initiatives to reduce costs, adjust capacities,
improve our processes and streamline our portfolio: In an
increasingly competitive market environment, a competitive
cost structure complements the competitive advantage of
being innovative. We believe that further improvements in our
cost position can strengthen our global competitive position
and secure our market presence against emerging and incum-
bent competitors. For example, we expect to create sustainable
value from productivity measures in connection with our
“Vision 2020" (for further information, see —> c.1.3 STRATEGY).
Moreover, fostering a stringent claim management process can
help materialize opportunities by enforcing our claims towards
our contract partners even stronger.

We are realigning our organization: As of November, 2013,
we disbanded our Regional Cluster organization. Following this
organizational change, we have designated 30 Lead Countries
which are individually responsible for managing a number
of other countries regarding market penetration. Each Lead
Country reports directly to the Managing Board. By implement-
ing this move, Siemens intends to intensify its customer access
and expand its regional business. We expect this new setup to
further enhance our local market penetration and our customer
proximity going forward.
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As of October 1, 2014, we have also eliminated the Sector level
and consolidated our business activities into nine Divisions and
one separately managed unit, Healthcare (for details see
—> C.1.1.1 ORGANIZATION AND BASIs OF PRESENTATION). This change is
expected to increase our customer proximity and accelerate our
decision-making. In addition, we have made governance even
more stringent across all levels of our organization. Our Man-
aging Board leads the Company and maintains the balance be-
tween our businesses and Regions. It is supported by strong,
efficient corporate governance functions, our Corporate Core,
which is expected to ensure fast, nonbureaucratic deci-
sion-making across key company functions (for details, see
—> €.1.3 STRATEGY).

C.9.5 Significant characteristics
of the accounting-related internal
control and risk management system

The following discussion describes information required pursu-
ant to Section 289 (5) and Section 315 (2) no. 5 of the German
Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch) and explanatory report.

The overarching objective of our accounting-related internal
control and risk management system is to ensure that finan-
cial reporting is conducted in a proper manner such that the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Combined Man-
agement Report are prepared in accordance with all relevant
regulations.

As described in —> c.9.2 rRisk MANAGEMENT, our ERM approach is
based on the worldwide accepted “Enterprise Risk Manage-
ment — Integrated Framework” developed by the COSO. As one of
the objectives of this framework is reliability of a company'’s
financial reporting, it also includes an accounting-related per-
spective. The accounting-related internal control system (control
system) implemented by us is based on Internal Control -
Integrated Framework (2013), an internationally recognized
framework also developed by the COSO. The two systems are
complementary.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintain-
ing adequate internal control over financial reporting. At the
end of each fiscal year, our management performs an evalua-
tion of the effectiveness of its control system, both in design
and operating effectiveness. We have a standardized procedure
under which necessary controls are defined, documented in
accordance with uniform standards, and tested regularly on
their effectiveness. Nevertheless, there are inherent limitations
in the effectiveness of any control system, and no system, in-
cluding one determined to be effective, may prevent or detect
all misstatements.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on the ba-
sis of a conceptual framework which primarily consists of com-
pany-wide uniform Financial Reporting Guidelines and a chart
of accounts, both issued centrally and to be applied consistently
throughout Siemens. New laws, accounting standards, and
other official announcements are analyzed on an ongoing basis
with regard to their relevance and impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the Combined Management Report
and where necessary, our Financial Reporting Guidelines and
the chart of accounts are adjusted accordingly. In quarterly clos-
ing letters, accounting departments of Siemens AG and its sub-
sidiaries are informed about current topics from an accounting
and closing process perspective and any deadlines that must be
met for the respective closing processes.

The base data used in preparing the Consolidated Financial
Statements consists of the closing data reported by the opera-
tions of Siemens AG and its subsidiaries, which are derived
from the various accounting records. The preparation of the
closing data of most of our subsidiaries is supported by an
internal shared services organization. Furthermore, other ac-
counting activities, such as governance and monitoring related
activities, are bundled on regional level. In addition, for some
areas requiring specialized know-how such as valuations relat-
ing to post-employment benefits support from external service
providers is obtained and used. The reported closing data is
used to prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements in the
consolidation system. The steps necessary to prepare the Con-
solidated Financial Statements are subject to both manual and
automated controls at all levels.
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The specialist skills required of employees involved in the ac-
counting process are assessed when the employees are initially
selected; thereafter, the employees receive regular training. As
a fundamental principle, at the different levels and based on
materiality considerations, items must be verified by at least
one other person (four eyes principle) and specific procedures
must be adhered to for the authorization of the data. Additional
control mechanisms include target-performance comparisons
and analyses of the composition of, and changes in, individual
line items, both in the closing data reported by units and in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Accounting-related IT sys-
tems provide for defined access rules in order to ensure that
accounting related data is protected from unauthorized access,
use or modification. Every unit included in our Consolidated
Financial Statements is subject to the rules and regulations of
the Corporate Information Security Guide.

On a quarterly basis, an internal certification process is ex-
ecuted. Management of different levels of our organization,
supported by confirmations of management of entities under
their responsibility, confirms the accuracy of the financial data
that has been reported to Siemens’ corporate headquarters and
reports on the effectiveness of the related control systems.

In addition, we have set up a Disclosure Committee — compris-
ing selected heads of Corporate Units — which is responsible for
reviewing certain financial and non-financial information prior
to publication.

The Supervisory Board, through the Audit Committee, is also
integrated into our control system. In particular, the Audit
Committee oversees the accounting process, the effectiveness
of the control system, the risk management system and the
internal audit system, and the independent audit of financial
statements. In addition, it conducts an audit of the documents
related to the Annual Financial Statements of Siemens AG and
the Consolidated Financial Statements and discusses the
Annual Financial Statements of Siemens AG, the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Combined Management Report of
these statements with the Managing Board and the indepen-
dent auditors.
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Through audits on a continuous and Siemens wide basis our
internal corporate audit function monitors compliance with
our guidelines and the reliability and functional operation of
our control system as well as the adequacy and effectiveness
of our risk management system.

In addition we have rules for accounting-related complaints
and a Code of Ethics for Financial Matters.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RELATED TO THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF SIEMENS AG
(GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE)

Siemens AG as the parent company of the Siemens Group is
integrated into the company-wide accounting-related internal
control system described above. Generally, the information set
out above also applies for Annual Financial Statements of
Siemens AG prepared in accordance with the German Com-
mercial Code.

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accor-
dance with IFRS. Where required, i.e. for purposes of preparing
statements for local regulatory or tax purposes, data is adopted
in accordance with relevant regulations by means of reconcili-
ation at account level. Accordingly, accurately determined IFRS
closing data also forms an important basis for the Annual
Financial Statements of Siemens AG. In the case of Siemens AG
and other group companies required to prepare financial state-
ments in accordance with German Commercial Code, the
conceptual framework described above is complemented by
mandatory regulations specific to German Commercial Code
within our Financial Reporting Guidelines and a German Com-
mercial Code chart of accounts. The manual and system-based
control mechanisms referred to above generally also apply
when reconciling the IFRS closing data to the Annual Financial
Statements of Siemens AG.
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11 C.10 Compensation Report and legal disclosures

The Compensation Report outlines the principles underlying
the determination of the total compensation of the members of
the Managing Board of Siemens AG, and sets out the structure
and level of the remuneration of the Managing Board mem-
bers. It also describes the policies governing and levels of com-
pensation paid to Supervisory Board members. The Compensa-
tion Report is an integral part of the Combined Management
Report and is presented in —> B.4 COMPENSATION REPORT.

The Corporate Governance statement pursuant to Section 289a
of the German Commercial Code is an integral part of the Com-
bined Management Report and is presented in —> B.2 CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 289A OF THE GERMAN

COMMERCIAL CODE.

The Takeover-relevant information (pursuant to Sections 289
para. 4 and 315 para. 4 of the German Commercial Code) and
explanatory report are an integral part of the Combined Man-
agement Report and are presented in —> B.5 TAKEOVER-RELEVANT
INFORMATION (PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 289 PARA. 4 AND 315 PARA. 4 OF
THE GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE) AND EXPLANATORY REPORT.

The Compliance Report outlines the principles of our Compli-
ance System which aims to ensure that all our worldwide busi-
ness practices are in line with our Business Conduct Guidelines
and in compliance with all applicable laws. In addition, it de-
scribes our approach on compliance risk management, busi-
ness partner compliance due diligence, cooperation with third
parties and the Siemens Integrity Initiative. The Compliance
Report is an integral part of the Combined Management Report
and is presented in —> B.3 COMPLIANCE REPORT.

111 C.11 Siemens AG (Discussion on basis of German Commercial Code)

Unlike our Consolidated Financial Statements, which are
prepared in accordance with the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS), the Annual Financial Statements of
Siemens AG have been prepared in accordance with the rules
set out in the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch).

C.11.1 Business and economic environment

Siemens AG is the parent company of the Siemens Group.
Siemens AG is a technology company with core activities in the
fields of electrification, automation and digitalization. Siemens AG
includes one additional operating business, Siemens Real Estate.
Furthermore Siemens AG is significantly influenced by directly
or indirectly owned subsidiaries and investments. Siemens AG
holds directly and indirectly 640 legal entities including
non-controlling interests. Siemens AG also includes the Group's
corporate headquarters functions.

The economic environment for Siemens AG is largely the same
as for the Siemens Group and is described in detail in > c.1.2
ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT.

108 ‘A ‘To our Shareholders 131 ‘ B.

C.11.2 Results of operations

Statement of Income of Siemens AG in accordance
| with German Commercial Code (condensed)

September 30, % Change

(in millions of €) 2014 2013
Revenue 30,934 30,305 2%
Cost of sales (22,109) (22,016) 0%
Gross profit 8,824 8,289 6%

as percentage of revenue 29% 27%
Research and development
expenses (2,781) (2,878) 3%
Selling and general
administrative expenses (4,036) (4,173) 3%
Other operating income
(expenses), net (20) (178) 89%
Financial income, net

thereof income from

investments 2,870

(prior year 3,893) 2,243 3,631 (38)%
Result from
ordinary activities 4,230 4,692 (10)%
Income taxes (444) (840) 47%
Net income 3,786 3,852 (2)%
Profit carried forward 110 115 (4)%
Assets reduction due
to spin-off - (1,800) 100%
Allocation to other
retained earnings (988) 476 nl/a
Unappropriated net income 2,907 2,643 10%

‘ Corporate Governance
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The increase in Revenue is due primarily to revenue increases
of €1.002 billion in the Energy Sector, €251 million in the Indus-
try Sector and €73 million in the Infrastructure & Cities Sector.
These increases were partly offset by revenue declines of
€419 million in the Healthcare Sector and €16 million in
Siemens Real Estate. As a consequence of the mutual agree-
ment procedure with tax authorities related to transfer pricing,
Siemens AG received compensatory payments from Siemens
Healthcare U.S. The payments amounted to €259 million, com-
pared to €670 million in the prior year, and were booked as rev-
enue by the Healthcare Sector. On a geographic basis, revenue
grew 31% year-over-year in the Asia, Australia region and de-
clined 12% in the Americas region and 3% in the Europe, C.I.S.,
Africa, Middle East region. Exports from Germany accounted
for 73% and 70% of revenue in fiscal 2014 and 2013, respec-
tively. In fiscal 2014, orders for Siemens AG amounted to
€32.3 billion, nearly level compared to the prior year.

The increase in Gross profit included increases of €421 million
in the Energy Sector, €279 million in the Industry Sector
and €269 million in the Infrastructure &Cities Sector. These
increases were partly offset by a decrease of €335 million in the
Healthcare Sector. A year earlier, gross profit was burdened by
charges for the company-wide “Siemens 2014" productivity im-
provement program. While both years included project charges,
these were higher in fiscal 2014. In particular, the Energy
Sector's Power Transmission Division took charges including
€361 million related primarily to grid-connections to offshore
wind-farms and €197 million related to onshore HVDC trans-
mission line projects.

Research and development (R&D) expenses decreased due
primarily to a reduction of €196 million in the Infrastructure &
Cities Sector. This decrease was partly offset by increases of
€46 million in the Energy Sector and €16 million in the Health-
care Sector. R&D expenses as a percentage of revenue (R&D
intensity) decreased by one percentage point, to 9% year-over
year. On an average basis, we employed 12,600 people in R&D
in fiscal 2014, compared to 12,500 in fiscal 2013. For additional
information see —> c.8.3 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT.

The improvement in Other operating income (expenses), net
resulted from an increase in other operating income of
€161 million, only slightly offset by an increase of €4 million in
other operating expenses. Within other operating income, pos-
itive effects included €137 million from higher allocation of
central infrastructure and support services to Sectors and
Divisions outside Siemens AG, and gains totaling €110 million
related to the sale of concessions and industrial property rights
to Siemens Schweiz AG.

The decline in Financial income, net was primarily attribut-
able to lower income from investments, which decreased by
€1.023 billion. Other financial income was €395 million lower
compared to the prior year, while net interest income came in
€29 million higher.

The primary factor for the decrease in income from invest-
ments was lower dividend payments. In fiscal 2013, we received
a dividend payment of €3.000 billion from Siemens Beteiligungs-
verwaltung GmbH &Co. OHG. We received no such dividend
payment in fiscal 2014. In contrast, income from profit transfers
from Siemens Beteiligungen Inland GmbH increased by
€909 million. In addition, gains (losses) from the disposal of
investments came in €755 million higher year-over-year, in-
cluding a gain of €321 million from the sale of our 17% stake in
OSRAM Licht AG to Siemens Beteiligungen Inland GmbH.

The decrease in other financial income resulted mainly from a
realized loss related to interest and foreign currency derivatives
amounting to €309 million, compared to income amounting to
€548 million in the prior year. In addition, expenses from com-
pounding of pension provisions increased by €161 million.
These factors were partly offset by reversals of impairments of
shares in investments of €214 million.

The decline in Income tax expenses was due mainly to prior-
year one-time special effects.
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C.11.3 Net assets and financial position

Statement of Financial Position of Siemens AG in
| accordance with German Commercial Code (condensed)

The increase in Financial assets was due primarily to the pur-
chase of a 14.26% stake in Atos SE from Siemens Beteiligungen
Inland GmbH amounting to €779 million and a capital increase
of €500 million relating to Siemens Bank GmbH. In addition,

September 30, % Change loans increased €297 million and securities in non-current
(in millions of €) 2014 2013 assets came in €350 million higher. These increases were partly
Assets offset by the sale of our 17% stake in OSRAM Licht AG to
Non-current assets Siemens Beteiligungen Inland GmbH. The sale price amounted
Intangible and tangible assets 2,419 2,437 (1)% to €715 million and the book value amounted to €395 million.
Financial assets 42,121 40,530 4%
44,540 42,967 4% The decline in Receivables and other assets was due primar-
Current assets ily to lower receivables from affiliated companies as a result of
Receivables and other assets 15,816 17,032 (7)% intra-group ﬁnancing activities.
Cash and cash equivalents,
securities 2,672 2,282 17% . .
Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities
18,488 B @ ignificantly affected by the liquidit t of
Prepaid experses m| 5| aw 2 slonficanty affected by the liquidity management o
Deferred tax assets 2,222 2,467 (10)% 1€mens ; h e. lquidity manar?;mefnt 18 ;se hont ‘_9 lr.lan.ile
Active difference resulting §trateg§7 of the Siemens Group. Therefore, t elc ange 1.n_ 1gu1 -
from offsetting 40 46 (13)% ity of Siemens AG resulted not only from business activities of
Total assets 65,400 64,868 1%  Siemens AG.
Liabilities and equity The increase in Equity was attributable to net income for
Equity 18,798 18,295 3% the year of €3.786 billion and issuance of treasury stock of
€330 million in conjunction with our share-based compensa-
Special reserve with tion program. These factors were partly offset by dividends paid
an equity portion 759 767 (% in fiscal 2014 (for fiscal 2013) of €2.533 billion (for additional
Provisions information see —> c.2.5 DIVIDEND AND SHARE BUYBACks). In addi-
Pensions and similar tion, the equity reduction was due to share buybacks durin
commitments 11,103 10,432 6% g quity 1 a uybac g
Other provisions 7369 7827 ©)% the year amounting to €1.079 billion. The equity ratios at Sep-
0 0 1
18,472 18,260 1% tember 30, 2014 and 2013 were 29% and 28%, respectively.
Liabilities . . . o . .
Liabilities to banks 508 138 51% The increase in Pension and similar commitments included
Advanced payments received 677 1,349 (50)% interest and service costs amounting to €1.007 billion and the
Trade payables, liabilities effect from the adjustment of the discount rate amounting to
to affiliated companies and €277 million. These factors were partly offset by pension pay-
other liabilities 26,189 25,771 2% ments amounting to €514 million.
27,075 27,257 (1)%
i 0/
Deferred income 296 290 2% The decrease in Other provisions was due primarily to a de-
Total liabilities and equity 65,400 64,868 1% s ..
crease of €176 million in provisions for personnel expenses and
‘ a decline of €98 million in provisions for operating expenses.
The increase in Trade payables, liabilities to affiliated com-
panies and other liabilities was due primarily to higher liabil-
ities to affiliated companies as a result of intra-group financing
activities.
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C.11.4 Employees

| Indicators

Year ended September 30,

2014 2013
Employee turnover rate’ 4.1% 3.0%
Female employees in management positions
(percentage of all management positions)? 11.8% 11.3%
Expenses for continuing education
(in millions of €)3 98 94
Expenses per employee for continuing
education (in €)3 919 864

1 Employee turnover rate is defined as the ratio of voluntary and involuntary exits
from Siemens AG during the fiscal year to the average number of employees.

2 Employees in management positions include all managers with disciplinary
responsibility, plus project managers.

3 Without travel expenses.

As of September 30, 2014 and 2013, the numbers of employees
were 106,860 and 108,234 respectively.

Employees of Siemens AG
| asof September 30, 2014 (in thousands)

Other: 8 (8%)

Energy: 25 (24%)

Siemens Real Estate:

Healthcare: 10 (10%) 107 L 22

Infrastructure &Cities:
26 (24%)

Industry: 36 (33%) T

For additional information see > c.8.2 EMPLOYEES.

C.11.5 Subsequent events

There have been no events of particular significance since the
end of fiscal 2014.

C.11.6 Risks and opportunities

The business development of Siemens AG is fundamentally
subject to the same risks and opportunities as the Siemens
Group. Siemens AG generally participates in the risks of its sub-
sidiaries and equity investments in line with its percentage of
each holding. For additional information see —> c.9.3 risks and
—> €.9.4 OPPORTUNITIES.

As the parent company of the Siemens Group, Siemens AG is
integrated into the group-wide risk management system. For
additional information see —> c.9.2 RISK MANAGEMENT.

The description of the internal control system for Siemens AG
required by Section 289 para. 5 of the German Commercial Code
isincluded in —> c.9.5 SIGNIFICANT CHARACTERISTICS OF THE ACCOUNT-
ING RELATED INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM.

For additional information regarding the use of financial
instruments see /1 NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
SIEMENS AG.

C.J11.7 Outlook

Due to the interrelations between Siemens AG and its subsid-
iaries and the relative size of Siemens AG within the Group, the
outlook of the Group also largely reflects our expectations for
Siemens AG. We expect that the anticipated market and rev-
enue developments for fiscal 2015 described in statements made
by the Siemens Group will be mainly reflected in the revenue of
Siemens AG. In fiscal 2015, we continue to execute the Group’s
“Vision 2020" concept. In particular, we expect that gains
from divestments will significantly influence the profit of
Siemens AG. For additional information see —> c.9.1 REPORT ON

EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS.

We intend to continue providing an attractive return to share-
holders. Therefore in the years ahead we intend to propose a
dividend payout of 40% to 60% of net income of Siemens
Group, which for this purpose we may adjust to exclude
selected exceptional non-cash effects.
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The Consolidated Financial Statements
are prepared in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union
(EU), the supplementary requirements
of German law pursuant to Section
315a (1) of the German Commercial Code
(Handelsgesetzbuch) and full IFRS as
issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). They give a true
and fair view of the net assets, financial
position and results of operations

of the group in accordance with these
requirements.
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11 D.1 Consolidated Statements of Income

| For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(in millions of €, per share amounts in €) Note 2014 2013

Revenue 71,920 73,445

Cost of sales (51,165) (53,309)
Gross profit 20,755 20,135

Research and development expenses (4,065) (4,048)
Selling and general administrative expenses (10,424) (10,869)
Other operating income 6 656 500

Other operating expenses 7 (194) (424)
Income from investments accounted for using the equity method, net 5 582 510

Interest income 8 1,058 947

Interest expenses 8 (764) (784)
Other financial income (expenses), net 8 (177) (154)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 7,427 5,813

Income tax expenses 9 (2,028) (1,634)
Income from continuing operations 5,400 4,179

Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 4 108 231

Net income 5,507 4,409

Attributable to:
Non-controlling interests 134 126
Shareholders of Siemens AG 5,373 4,284

Basic earnings per share 34

Income from continuing operations 6.24 4.81

Income from discontinued operations 0.13 0.27

Net income 6.37 5.08

Diluted earnings per share 34

Income from continuing operations 6.18 4.76

Income from discontinued operations 0.13 0.26

Net income 6.31 5.03

\
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11 D.2 Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

| For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(in millions of €) Note 2014 2013
Net income 5,507 4,409
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 22 288 394
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 288 394
therein: Expenses from investments accounted for using the equity method (37) (121)
Currency translation differences 940 (1,062)
Available-for-sale financial assets 10 (56) 183
Derivative financial instruments 29, 30 (316) 45
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 569 (834)
therein: Expenses from investments accounted for using the equity method (85) (136)
Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes 857 (440)
Total comprehensive income 6,364 3,969
Attributable to:
Non-controlling interests 165 81
Shareholders of Siemens AG 6,199 3,888
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11 D.3 Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

| Asof September 30, 2014 and 2013

September, 30

(in millions of €) Note 2014 2013
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,013 9,190
Available-for-sale financial assets 10 925 601
Trade and other receivables 1 14,526 14,853
Other current financial assets 12 3,710 3,250
Inventories 13 15,100 15,560
Current income tax assets 577 794
Other current assets 14 1,290 1,297
Assets classified as held for disposal 3,935 1,393
Total current assets 48,076 46,937
Goodwill 15 17,783 17,883
Other intangible assets 16 4,560 5,057
Property, plant and equipment 17 9,638 9,815
Investments accounted for using the equity method 5 2,127 3,022
Other financial assets 18 18,416 15,117
Deferred tax assets 9 3,334 3,234
Other assets 945 872
Total non-current assets 56,803 54,999
Total assets 104,879 101,936
Liabilities and equity
Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt 21 1,620 1,944
Trade payables 7,594 7.599
Other current financial liabilities 19 1,717 1,515
Current provisions 23 4,354 4,485
Current income tax liabilities 1,762 2,151
Other current liabilities 20 17,954 19,701
Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for disposal 4 1,597 473
Total current liabilities 36,598 37,868
Long-term debt 21 19,326 18,509
Post-employment benefits 22 9,324 9,265
Deferred tax liabilities 9 552 504
Provisions 23 4,071 3,907
Other financial liabilities 1,620 1,184
Other liabilities 24 1,874 2,074
Total non-current liabilities 36,767 35,443
Total liabilities 73,365 73,312
Equity 25
Issued capital, no par value 2,643 2,643
Capital reserve 5,525 5,484
Retained earnings 25,729 22,663
Other components of equity 803 268
Treasury shares, at cost (3,747) (2,946)
Total equity attributable to shareholders of Siemens AG 30,954 28,111
Non-controlling interests 560 514
Total equity 31,514 28,625
Total liabilities and equity 104,879 101,936
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111 D.4 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

| For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(in millions of €) Note 2014 2013
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income 5,507 4,409
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash flows from operating activities — continuing operations
(Income) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes (108) (231)
Amortization, depreciation and impairments 2,411 2,804
Income tax expenses 2,028 1,634
Interest (income) expenses, net (295) (164)
(Gains) losses on disposals of assets related to investing activities, net (527) (292)
Other (income) losses from investments (526) (326)
Other non-cash (income) expenses 92 671
Change in assets and liabilities
Inventories 336 (256)
Trade and other receivables 200 (326)
Trade payables 205 (208)
Other assets and liabilities (1,203) 818
Additions to assets leased to others in operating leases (371) (377)
Income taxes paid (1,828) (2,164)
Dividends received 333 356
Interest received 977 837
Cash flows from operating activities — continuing operations 7,230 7,186
Cash flows from operating activities — discontinued operations (131) 154
Cash flows from operating activities — continuing and discontinued operations 7,100 7,340
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (1,831) (1,808)
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (31) (2,786)
Purchase of investments (335) (346)
Purchase of current available-for-sale financial assets (613) (157)
Change in receivables from financing activities (2,501) (2,175)
Disposal of investments, intangibles and property, plant and equipment 518 2,462
Disposal of businesses, net of cash disposed 112 (26)
Disposal of current available-for-sale financial assets 317 76
Cash flows from investing activities — continuing operations (4,364) (4,759)
Cash flows from investing activities — discontinued operations 339 (317)
Cash flows from investing activities - continuing and discontinued operations (4,026) (5,076)
Cash flows from financing activities
Purchase of treasury shares 25 (1,066) (1,394)
Other transactions with owners (20) (15)
Issuance of long-term debt 21 527 3,772
Repayment of long-term debt (including current maturities of long-term debt) (1,452) (2,927)
Change in short-term debt and other financing activities 801 8
Interest paid (617) (479)
Dividends paid to shareholders of Siemens AG 25 (2,533) (2,528)
Dividends attributable to non-controlling interests (125) (152)
Cash flows from financing activities — continuing operations (4,485) (3,715)
Cash flows from financing activities — discontinued operations 2) 319
Cash flows from financing activities - continuing and discontinued operations (4,487) (3,396)
Effect of deconsolidation of OSRAM on cash and cash equivalents - (476)
Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 214 (108)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,199) (1,717)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 9,234 10,950
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 8,034 9,234
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of assets classified as held for disposal
and discontinued operations at end of period 21 44
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (Consolidated Statements of Financial Position) 8,013 9,190
\
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1 D.5 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

| For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

Issued capital Capital reserve Retained earnings
(in millions of €)
Balance as of October 1, 2012 2,643 6,173 22,877
Net income - - 4,284
Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes - - 395
Dividends - - (2,528)
Share-based payment - 21 (40)
Purchase of treasury shares - - -
Re-issuance of treasury shares - 5 -
Transactions with non-controlling interests - - (52)
Spin-off related changes in equity - (163) (2,270)
Other changes in equity - (553) 3)
Balance as of September 30, 2013 2,643 5,484 22,663
Balance as of October 1, 2013 2,643 5,484 22,663
Net income - - 5,373
Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes - - 290
Dividends - - (2,533)
Share-based payment - 11 (24)
Purchase of treasury shares - - -
Re-issuance of treasury shares - 31 -
Transactions with non-controlling interests - - (34)
Other changes in equity - - (6)
Balance as of September 30, 2014 2,643 5,525 25,729

\
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Currency translation Available-for-sale Derivative financial Treasury Total equity attribut- Non-controlling Total equity
differences financial assets instruments shares at cost able to shareholders interests
of Siemens AG

857 245 (44) (1,897) 30,855 569 31,424

= = = = 4,284 126 4,409

(1,017) 183 43 = (396) (44) (440)

- - - - (2,528) (119) (2,647)

= - = = (18) = (18)

- = = (1,349) (1,349) = (1,349)

= = = 300 304 = 304

_ . = = (52) (10) (62)

- - = - (2,433) = (2,433)

_ . = - (556) (8) (564)

(160) 428 (1) (2,946) 28,111 514 28,625

(160) 428 (1) (2,946) 28,111 514 28,625

= = = = 5,373 134 5,507

905 (56) (314) = 825 31 857
= = = = (2,533) (121) (2,654)
- - - - (13) - (13)
- - - (1,080) (1,080) - (1,080)

- - - 279 310 - 310
= = = = (34) (3) (37)

. - — - (6) 5 .

745 373 (314) (3,747) 30,954 560 31,514
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11 D.6 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

note1 Basis of presentation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements present
the operations of Siemens AG with registered offices in Berlin
and Munich, Germany, and its subsidiaries (the Company or
Siemens). They have been prepared in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the
European Union as well as with the additional requirements set
forth in Section 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB).
The financial statements are also in accordance with IFRS as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Siemens prepares and reports its Consolidated Financial State-
ments in euros (€). Due to rounding, numbers presented may
not add up precisely to totals provided.

Siemens is a German based multinational technology company
with core activities in the fields of electrification, automation
and digitalization.

The Consolidated Financial Statements were authorized for
issue by the Managing Board on November 26, 2014. The Con-
solidated Financial Statements are generally prepared on the
historical cost basis, except as stated in —> NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES.

note2 Summary of significant
accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied con-
sistently to all periods presented in these Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements.

Basis of consolidation — The Consolidated Financial State-
ments include the accounts of Siemens AG and its subsidiaries
over which the Company has control. Siemens controls an in-
vestee if it has power over the investee that is, Siemens has
existing rights that give Siemens the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, which are the activities that significantly
affect Siemens’ return. In addition, Siemens is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from the involvement with
the investee and Siemens has the ability to use its power over
the investee to affect the amount of Siemens’ return. When
Siemens holds less than the majority of voting rights, other
facts and circumstances including contractual arrangements
that give Siemens power over the investee may result in the
Company controlling the investee. Siemens reassesses whether
it controls an investee if, and when, facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to the elements evidencing
control. Consolidation begins when the Company obtains
control of the subsidiary and ceases from the date that Siemens
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loses control of the subsidiary. For Consolidated Financial
Statements, all assets, liabilities, income, expenses and cash
flows of Siemens AG with those of its subsidiaries are com-
bined. Intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

Business combinations — Business combinations are ac-
counted for under the acquisition method. Siemens as the
acquirer and the acquiree may have a relationship that existed
before they contemplated the business combination, referred to
as a pre-existing relationship. If the business combination in
effect settles a pre-existing relationship, Siemens as the ac-
quirer recognizes a gain or loss for the pre-existing relationship.
The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the
assets given and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
Siemens as the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liabil-
ity will be recognized either in profit or loss or as a change to
other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured; subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed in the period incurred. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination
(including contingent liabilities) are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of
any non-controlling interest. Uniform accounting policies are
applied. Non-controlling interests may be measured at their fair
value (full goodwill method) or at the proportional fair value
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed (partial goodwill
method). After initial recognition non-controlling interests may
show a deficit balance since both profits and losses are allocated
to the shareholders based on their equity interests. In business
combinations achieved in stages, any previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to its acquisition date fair
value. If there is no loss of control, transactions with non-con-
trolling interests are accounted for as equity transactions not
affecting profit and loss. At the date control is lost, any retained
equity interests are remeasured to fair value. In case of a written
put on non-controlling interests the Company distinguishes
whether the prerequisites for the transfer of present ownership
interest are fulfilled at the balance sheet date. Provided that the
Company is not the beneficial owner of the shares underlying
the put option, the exercise of the put option will be assumed at
each balance sheet date and treated as equity transaction be-
tween shareholders with the recognition of a purchase liability
at the respective exercise price. The non-controlling interests
participate in profits and losses during the reporting period.

Associates and joint ventures — Associates are companies
over which Siemens has the ability to exercise significant
influence over operating and financial policies (generally
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through direct or indirect ownership of 20% to 50% of the vot-
ing rights). These are recorded in the Consolidated Financial
Statements using the equity method and are initially recog-
nized at cost. When Siemens holds less than 20% of the voting
power of the investee, other facts and circumstances may
result in the Company exercising significant influence. Joint
arrangements are arrangements over which Siemens and one
or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the contrac-
tually agreed sharing of control that exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control. Joint arrangements that are struc-
tured through a separate vehicle are classified as joint ventures
if the parties to the arrangement have rights to its net assets.
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method
and are initially recognized at cost. The equity method is
applied from the date when Siemens obtains significant influ-
ence or joint control, and is discontinued from the date when
Siemens ceases to have significant influence or joint control
over an investee.

The following policies equally apply to associates and joint ven-
tures. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the
accounting policies in line with those of Siemens. The excess
of Siemens’ initial investment in associates over Siemens’ own-
ership percentage in the underlying net assets of those compa-
nies is attributed to certain fair value adjustments with the
remaining portion recognized as goodwill. Goodwill relating to
the acquisition of associates is included in the carrying amount
of the investment and is not amortized but is tested for impair-
ment as part of the overall investment in the associate.
Siemens’ share of its associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in equity that
have not been recognized in the associate’s profit or loss is rec-
ognized directly in equity. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment in the associate. When Siemens’ share of losses in
an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
Siemens does not recognize further losses, unless it incurs
obligations or makes payments on behalf of the associate. The
interest in an associate is the carrying amount of the invest-
ment in the associate together with any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of Siemens’ net investment in the
associate. Intercompany results arising from transactions be-
tween Siemens and its associates are eliminated to the extent
of Siemens’ interest in the associate. Siemens determines at
each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence
that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the
case, Siemens calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate
and its carrying value. Upon loss of significant influence over
the associate or joint control over the joint venture, Siemens

measures and recognizes any retaining investment at its fair
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the as-
sociate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or
joint control and the fair value of the retaining investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognized in profit or loss.

Joint operations — A joint operation is a jointly controlled
arrangement whereby the parties have rights to the assets and
obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement.
Siemens as joint operator recognizes in relation to its interest
in the joint operation the assets and liabilities controlled by
Siemens, its share of any jointly held assets or jointly incurred
liabilities and revenues from the sale of its output and any
related expenses including its share in revenues and expenses
incurred jointly, in relation to the joint operation.

Foreign currency translation - The assets, including good-
will, and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, where the functional
currency is other than the euro, are translated using the spot
exchange rate at the end of the reporting period, while the
Consolidated Statements of Income are translated using aver-
age exchange rates during the period. Differences arising from
such translations are recognized within equity and reclassified
to net income when the gain or loss on disposal of the foreign
subsidiary is recognized. The Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flow are translated at average exchange rates during the
period, whereas cash and cash equivalents are translated at the
spot exchange rate at the end of the reporting period.

The exchange rate of the U.S. dollar, Siemens’ significant cur-
rency outside the euro zone used in the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements is as follows:

Year-end exchange
rate €1 quoted into

Annual average
rate €1 quoted into

currencies currencies

specified below specified below

Year ended

September 30, September 30,

Currency ISO Code 2014 2013 2014 2013
U.S. dollar uUsD 1.258 1.351 1.357 1.313

Foreign currency transaction - Transactions that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of an entity, are recorded at that functional currency applying
the spot exchange rate at the date when the underlying trans-
actions are initially recognized. At the end of the reporting
period, foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and lia-
bilities are revalued to functional currency applying the spot
exchange rate prevailing at that date. Gains and losses arising
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from these foreign currency revaluations are recognized in net
income. Those foreign currency-denominated transactions
which are classified as non-monetary are remeasured using the
historical spot exchange rate.

Revenue recognition — Under the condition that persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists revenue is recognized to the
extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regard-
less of when the payment is being made. In cases where the
inflow of economic benefits is not probable due to customer
related credit risks the revenue recognized is subject to the
amount of payments irrevocably received. Revenue is mea-
sured at the fair value of the consideration received or receiv-
able net of discounts and rebates and excluding taxes or duty.
The Company assesses its revenue arrangements against spe-
cific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or
agent. The following specific recognition criteria must also be
met before revenue is recognized:

Sale of goods: Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods.

Sales from construction contracts: A construction contract is a
contract specifically negotiated for the construction of an asset
or a combination of assets that are closely interrelated or inter-
dependent in terms of their design, technology and function or
their ultimate purpose or use. When the outcome of a construc-
tion contract can be estimated reliably, revenues from con-
struction-type projects are recognized under the percent-
age-of-completion method, based on the percentage of costs
incurred to date compared to the total estimated contract costs.
An expected loss on the construction contract is recognized as
an expense immediately. When the outcome of a construction
contract cannot be estimated reliably (1) revenue is recognized
only to the extent contract costs incurred are probable of being
recoverable, and (2) contract costs are recognized as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

During project execution, variation orders by the customer for a
change in the scope of the work to be performed under the con-
tract may be received leading to an increase or a decrease in
contract revenue. Examples of such variations are changes
in the specifications or design of the asset and changes in the
duration of the contract. As the scope of work to be performed
changes also in case of contract terminations, such termina-
tions are considered to be a subset of variations. Therefore
the requirements of IAS 11 relating to variations are applied to
contract terminations, irrespective of whether the contract is
terminated by the customer, Siemens or both. In accordance
with the requirements of IAS 11 relating to changes in estimates,
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the estimates of the total contract revenue and the total con-
tract costs are adjusted reflecting the reduced scope of work to
be performed, typically leading to a reversal of revenue recog-
nized. This methodology is also applied to contracts for which it
is management’s best estimate that a termination is the most
likely scenario, but which have not yet been terminated.

Rendering of services: Revenues from service transactions are
recognized as services are performed. For long-term service
contracts, revenues are recognized on a straight-line basis over
the term of the contract or, if the performance pattern is other
than straight-line, as the services are provided, i.e. under the
percentage-of-completion method as described above.

Sales from multiple element arrangements: Sales of goods
and services as well as software arrangements sometimes
involve the provision of multiple elements. In these cases, the
Company determines whether the contract or arrangement
contains more than one unit of accounting. If certain criteria
are met, foremost if the delivered element(s) has (have) value
to the customer on a stand-alone basis, the arrangement is sep-
arated and the appropriate revenue recognition convention is
then applied to each separate unit of accounting. Generally, the
total arrangement consideration is allocated to the separate
units of accounting based on their relative fair values. How-
ever, if in rare cases fair value evidence is available for the un-
delivered but not for one or more of the delivered elements, the
amount allocated to the delivered element(s) equals the total
arrangement consideration less the aggregate fair value of
the undelivered element(s) (residual method). If the criteria for
the separation of units of accounting are not met, revenue is
deferred until such criteria are met or until the period in which
the last undelivered element is delivered.

Interest income: Interest is recognized using the effective inter-
est method.

Royalties: Royalties are recognized on an accrual basis in accor-
dance with the substance of the relevant agreement.

Income from lease arrangements: Operating lease income for
equipment rentals is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. An arrangement that is not in the legal form of a
lease is accounted for as a lease if it is dependent on the use of
a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right
to use the asset. Receivables from finance leases, in which
Siemens as lessor transfers substantially all the risks and re-
wards incidental to ownership to the customer are recognized
at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. Finance
income is subsequently recognized based on a pattern reflecting
a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment using
the effective interest method. A selling profit component on
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manufacturing leases is recognized based on the policies for
outright sales. Profit from sale and leaseback transactions is rec-
ognized immediately if significant risks and rewards of owner-
ship have passed to the buyer, the leaseback results in an
operating lease and the transaction is established at fair value.

Dividends: Dividends are recognized when the right to receive
payment is established.

Functional costs — In general, operating expenses by types
are assigned to the functions following the functional area
of the corresponding profit and cost centers. Expenses relating
to cross-functional initiatives or projects are assigned to the
respective functional costs based on an appropriate allocation
principle. Regarding amortization see —> NOTE 16 OTHER INTANGIBLE
AsseTs, regarding depreciation see —> NOTE 17 PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQuIPMENT and regarding employee benefit expenses see
—> NOTE 33 PERSONNEL COSTS.

Government grants — Government grants are recognized
when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions at-
tached to the grants are complied with and the grants will be
received. Grants awarded for the purchase or the production
of fixed assets (grants related to assets) are generally offset
against the acquisition or production costs of the respective
assets and reduce future depreciations accordingly. Grants
awarded for other than non-current assets (grants related to
income) are reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income
under the same functional area as the corresponding expenses.
They are recognized as income over the periods necessary
to match them on a systematic basis to the costs that are
intended to be compensated. Government grants for future
expenses are recorded as deferred income.

Product-related expenses and losses from onerous con-
tracts — Provisions for estimated costs related to product war-
ranties are recorded in line item Cost of sales at the time the
related sale is recognized, and are established on an individual
basis, except for the standard product business. The estimates
reflect historic experience of warranty costs, as well as infor-
mation regarding product failure experienced during construc-
tion, installation or testing of products. In the case of new
products, expert opinions and industry data are also taken
into consideration in estimating product warranty provisions.
Expected losses from onerous contracts are recognized in the
period when the current estimate of total contract costs
exceeds contract revenue.

Research and development costs — Costs of research activi-
ties undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or
technical knowledge and understanding are expensed as
incurred.

Costs for development activities, whereby research findings are
applied to a plan or design for the production of new or sub-
stantially improved products and processes, are capitalized if
(1) development costs can be measured reliably, the product
or process is (2) technically and (3) commercially feasible,
(4) future economic benefits are probable and (5) Siemens
intends, and (6) has sufficient resources, to complete develop-
ment and to use or sell the asset. The costs capitalized include
the cost of materials, direct labour and other directly attribut-
able expenditure that serves to prepare the asset for use. Such
capitalized costs are included in line item Other intangible
assets as software and other internally generated intangible
assets. Other development costs are expensed as incurred.
Capitalized development costs are stated at cost less accumu-
lated amortization and impairment losses with an amortization
period of generally three to ten years.

Government grants for research and development activities are
offset against research and development costs. They are recog-
nized as income over the periods in which the research and
development costs incur that are to be compensated. Govern-
ment grants for future research and development costs are
recorded as deferred income.

Earnings per share - Basic earnings per share are computed
by dividing income from continuing operations, income from
discontinued operations and net income, all attributable to
ordinary shareholders of Siemens AG by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earn-
ings per share are calculated by assuming conversion or exer-
cise of all potentially dilutive securities and share-based pay-
ment plans.

Goodwill — Goodwill is not amortized, but instead tested for
impairment annually, as well as whenever there are events or
changes in circumstances (triggering events) which suggest
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Goodwill is
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

The goodwill impairment test is performed at the level of a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units repre-
sented by a Division or equivalent, which is the lowest level
at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is allocated to the cash-generating
unit or the group of cash-generating units that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the business combination. If the
carrying amount of the cash-generating unit or the group of
cash-generating units, to which the goodwill is allocated, ex-
ceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss on goodwill

247 ‘ D. ‘ Consolidated Financial Statements 337 ‘ E. ‘Additiona\ Information
248 | D.1 | Consolidated Statements of Income 252 | D.5 | Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

249 | D.2 | Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 254 | D.6 | Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

250 | D.3 | Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 330 | D.7 | Supervisory Board and Managing Board

251 | D.4 | Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

257



258

allocated to this cash-generating unit or this group of cash-
generating units is recognized. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the cash-generating unit's or the group of cash-
generating units’ fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use. If either of these amounts exceeds the carrying amount,
it is not always necessary to determine both amounts. These
values are generally determined based on discounted cash flow
calculations. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed
in future periods if the recoverable amount exceeds the carry-
ing amount of the cash-generating unit or the group of cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.

Other intangible assets — The Company amortizes intangible
assets with finite useful lives on a straight-line basis over their
respective estimated useful lives. Estimated useful lives for
patents, licenses and other similar rights generally range from
three to five years, except for intangible assets with finite use-
ful lives acquired in business combinations. Intangible assets
acquired in business combinations primarily consist of cus-
tomer relationships and technology. Useful lives in specific
acquisitions ranged from eleven to twenty years for customer
relationships and from three to 18 years for technology. Intan-
gible assets which are determined to have indefinite useful
lives as well as intangible assets not yet available for use are
not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least
annually.

Property, plant and equipment - Property, plant and equip-
ment, including investment property, is valued at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

If the costs of certain components of an item of property, plant
and equipment are significant in relation to the total cost of the
item, they are accounted for and depreciated separately. Depre-
ciation expense is recognized using the straight-line method.
Residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually and, if
expectations differ from previous estimates, adjusted accord-
ingly. Costs of construction of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that
require a substantial period of time to be ready for its intended
use, include capitalized interest, which is amortized over the
estimated useful life of the related asset. The following useful
lives are assumed:

Factory and office buildings
Other buildings
Technical machinery & equipment

20 to 50 years
5to 10 years

5to 10 years

Furniture & office equipment generally 5 years

Equipment leased to others generally 3 to 5 years
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment and other
intangible assets — The Company reviews property, plant and
equipment and other intangible assets for impairment when-
ever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the car-
rying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In addition,
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives as well as intangi-
ble assets not yet available for use are subject to an annual im-
pairment test. Recoverability of assets is measured by the com-
parison of the carrying amount of the asset to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of the asset’s value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell. If assets do not generate cash in-
flows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, the impairment test is not performed at an
individual asset level, instead, it is performed at the level of the
cash-generating unit the asset belongs to. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the
assets or cash-generating unit exceeds their recoverable
amount. If the fair value cannot be determined, the assets’
value in use is applied as their recoverable amount. The assets’
value in use is measured by discounting their estimated future
cash flows. If there is an indication that the reasons which
caused the impairment no longer exist, Siemens assesses the
need to reverse all or a portion of the impairment.

The Company'’s property, plant and equipment and other intan-
gible assets to be disposed of are recorded at the lower of
carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell and depreciation
is ceased.

Discontinued operations and non-current assets held for
disposal - Discontinued operations are reported when a com-
ponent of an entity comprising operations and cash flows that
can be clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial
reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity is classified as
held for disposal or has been disposed of, if the component
either (1) represents a separate major line of business or geo-
graphical area of operations and (2) is part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations or (3) is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale. In the Consolidated State-
ments of Income, income (loss) from discontinued operations
is reported separately from income and expenses from continu-
ing operations; prior periods are presented on a comparable
basis. In the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow, the cash
flows from discontinued operations are presented separately
from cash flows of continuing operations; prior periods are pre-
sented on a comparable basis. The disclosures in the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements outside —> NOTE 4
ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS that refer
to the Consolidated Statements of Income and the Consoli-
dated Statements of Cash Flow relate to continuing operations.
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Siemens reports discontinued operations separatelyin —> noTE 4
ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS. In order
to present the financial effects of a discontinued operation, rev-
enue and expenses arising from intragroup transactions are
eliminated except for those revenue and expenses that are con-
sidered to continue after the disposal of the discontinued oper-
ation. In any case, no profit or loss is recognized for intragroup
transactions.

Siemens classifies a non-current asset or a disposal group as
held for disposal if its carrying amount will be recovered princi-
pally through a sale transaction or through distribution to
shareholders rather than through continuing use. For this to be
the case, the asset or disposal group must be available for im-
mediate sale or distribution in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for sales or distribu-
tions of such assets or disposal groups and its sale or distribu-
tion must be highly probable. The disclosures in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements outside —> NOTE 4 Acquisi-
TIONS, DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS that refer to the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position generally relate
to assets that are not held for disposal. Siemens reports
non-current assets or disposal groups held for disposal sepa-
rately iI'l —> NOTE 4 ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED
operATIONS. Non-current assets classified as held for disposal
and disposal groups are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell, unless these items pre-
sented in the disposal group are not part of the measurement
scope as defined in IFRS 5, Non-current Assets held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Income taxes — The Company applies IAS 12, Income taxes.
Current taxes are calculated based on the profit (loss) of the
fiscal year and in accordance with local tax rules of the tax
jurisdiction respectively. Expected and executed additional tax
payments respectively tax refunds for prior years are also taken
into account. Under the liability method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the income
statement, unless related to items directly recognized in equity,
in the period the new laws are enacted or substantively
enacted. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable income will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
and unused tax credits can be utilized.

Inventories — Inventories are valued at the lower of acquisi-
tion or production costs and net realizable value, costs being
generally determined on the basis of an average or first-in,

first-out method. Production costs comprise direct material
and labor and applicable manufacturing overheads, including
depreciation charges. Net realizable value is the estimated sell-
ing price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses.

Defined benefit plans — Siemens measures the entitlements
of the defined benefit plans by applying the projected unit
credit method. The approach reflects an actuarially calculated
net present value of the future benefit entitlement for services
already rendered. In determining the net present value of the
future benefit entitlement for service already rendered (Defined
Benefit Obligation (DBO)), Siemens considers future compensa-
tion and benefit increases, because the employee’s final benefit
entitlement at regular retirement age depends on future com-
pensation or benefit increases. The assumptions used for the
calculation of the DBO as of the period-end of the preceding
fiscal year are used to determine the calculation of service cost
and interest income and expense of the following year. The net
interest income or expense for the fiscal year will be based on
the discount rate for the respective year multiplied by the net
liability at the preceding fiscal year’s period-end date. The fair
value of plan assets and DBO and thus the interest income on
plan assets and the interest expenses on DBO are adjusted for
significant events after the preceding fiscal year end, such as a
supplemental funding, plan changes or business combinations
and disposals. The DBO includes the present value from the
effects of taxes payable by the plan on contributions or bene-
fits relating to services already rendered.

Service cost and past service cost for post-employment benefits
as well as other administration costs which are unrelated to the
management of plan assets are allocated among functional
costs (line items Cost of sales, Research and development
expenses, Selling and general administrative expenses) follow-
ing the functional area of the corresponding profit and cost
centers. Past service cost and settlement gains (losses) are rec-
ognized immediately in profit or loss when the plan amend-
ment, curtailment or settlement occurs. Administration Costs
which are related to the management of plan assets and taxes
directly linked to the return on plan assets and payable by the
plan itself are included in the return on plan assets and are rec-
ognized in Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes.
For unfunded plans, Siemens recognizes a post-employment
benefit liability equal to the DBO. For funded plans, Siemens
offsets the fair value of the plan assets with the benefit obliga-
tions. Siemens recognizes the net amount, after adjustments
for effects relating to any asset ceiling, in line item Post-employ-
ment benefits or in line item Other current assets.

Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses, resulting
for example from an adjustment of the discount rate, as well as
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the difference between the return on plan assets and the
amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefits
liability (asset) and are recognized in Other comprehensive
income, net of income taxes.

Provisions — A provision is recognized in the Statement of
Financial Position when the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are
recognized at present value by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pretax rate that reflects current market assess-
ments of the time value of money. When a contract becomes
onerous, the present obligation under the contract is recog-
nized as a provision and measured at the lower of the expected
cost of fulfilling the contract and the expected cost of terminat-
ing the contract as far as they exceed the expected economic
benefits of the contract. Additions to provisions and reversals
are generally recognized in the Consolidated Statements of
Income. The present value of the recognized obligations associ-
ated with the retirement of property, plant and equipment
(asset retirement obligations) that result from the acquisition,
construction, development or normal use of an asset is added to
the carrying amount of the related asset. The additional carry-
ing amount is depreciated over the useful life of the related
asset. Additions to and reductions from the present value of
asset retirement obligations that result from changes in esti-
mates are generally recognized by adjusting the carrying
amount of the related asset and provision. If the asset retirement
obligation is settled for other than the carrying amount of the
liability, the Company recognizes a gain or loss on settlement.

Termination benefits — Termination benefits are provided as
a result of an entity’s offer made in order to encourage volun-
tary redundancy before the normal retirement date or from an
entity’s decision to terminate the employment. Termination
benefits in accordance with IAS 19, Employee Benefits, are rec-
ognized as a liability and an expense when the entity can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits.

Financial instruments — A financial instrument is any con-
tract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Finan-
cial assets of the Company mainly include cash and cash equiv-
alents, available-for-sale financial assets, trade receivables,
loans receivables, receivables from finance leases and derivative
financial instruments with a positive fair value. Cash and cash
equivalents are not included within the category available-for-
sale financial assets as these financial instruments are not sub-
ject to fluctuations in value. Siemens does not make use of the
category held to maturity. Financial liabilities of the Company
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mainly comprise notes and bonds, loans from banks, trade pay-
ables, obligations under finance leases and derivative financial
instruments with a negative fair value. Siemens does not make
use of the option to designate financial assets or financial liabil-
ities at fair value through profit or loss at inception (Fair Value
Option). Based on their nature, financial instruments are classi-
fied as financial assets and financial liabilities measured at cost
or amortized cost and financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value and as receivables from finance leases.

Financial instruments are recognized on the Consolidated State-
ments of Financial Position when Siemens becomes a party to
the contractual obligations of the instrument. Regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets, i.e. purchases or sales
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset
within the time frame established generally by regulation or
convention in the market place concerned, are accounted for at
the trade date.

Initially, financial instruments are recognized at their fair value.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial instruments are only included in determining
the carrying amount, if the financial instruments are not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Receivables from
finance leases are recognized at an amount equal to the net
investment in the lease. Subsequently, financial assets and
liabilities are measured according to the category — cash and
cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets, loans and
receivables, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost or
financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading - to
which they are assigned.

Cash and cash equivalents — The Company considers all
highly liquid investments with less than three months matu-
rity from the date of acquisition to be cash equivalents. Cash
and cash equivalents are measured at cost.

Available-for-sale financial assets — Investments in equity
instruments, debt instruments and fund shares are all classi-
fied as available-for-sale financial assets and are measured at
fair value, if reliably measurable. Unrealized gains and losses,
net of applicable deferred income tax expenses, are recognized
in line item Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes.
Provided that fair value cannot be reliably determined, Siemens
measures available-for-sale financial instruments at cost. This
applies to equity instruments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market, and decisive parameters cannot be
reliably estimated to be used in valuation models for the deter-
mination of fair value.

When available-for-sale financial assets incur a decline in fair
value below acquisition cost and there is objective evidence
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that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that has been
recognized in equity is removed from equity and recognized in
the Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company consid-
ers all available evidence such as market conditions and prices,
investee-specific factors and the duration as well as the extent
to which fair value is less than acquisition cost in evaluating
potential impairment of its available-for-sale financial assets.
The Company considers a decline in fair value as objective
evidence of impairment, if the decline exceeds 20% of costs or
continues for more than six months. An impairment loss is
reversed in subsequent periods, if the reasons for the impair-
ment no longer exist. The reversal of impairment losses on
debt instruments is recognized in the Consolidated Statement
of Income, while any reversal of impairment losses on equity
instruments is recognized in line item Other comprehensive
income, net of income taxes.

Loans and receivables — Financial assets classified as loans
and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the ef-
fective interest method less any impairment losses. Impair-
ment losses on trade and other receivables are recognized
using separate allowance accounts. Loans and receivables
bearing no or lower interest rates compared to market rates
with a maturity of more than one year are discounted.

Financial liabilities — Siemens measures financial liabilities,
except for derivative financial instruments, at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments - Derivative financial
instruments, such as foreign currency exchange contracts and
interest rate swap contracts, are measured at fair value. Deriv-
ative financial instruments are classified as held for trading un-
less they are designated as hedging instruments, for which
hedge accounting is applied. Changes in the fair value of deriv-
ative financial instruments are recognized periodically either in
net income or, in the case of a cash flow hedge, in line item
Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes (applicable
deferred income tax). Certain derivative instruments embed-
ded in host contracts are also accounted for separately as
derivatives.

Fair value hedges — The carrying amount of the hedged item
is adjusted by the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk.
Where an unrecognized firm commitment is designated as
hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in its fair
value is recognized as a separate financial asset or liability with
corresponding gain or loss recognized in net income.

For hedged items carried at amortized cost, the adjustment is
amortized until maturity of the hedged item. For hedged
firm commitments the initial carrying amount of the assets or

liabilities that result from meeting the firm commitments are
adjusted to include the cumulative changes in the fair value
that were previously recognized as separate financial assets or
liabilities.

Cash flow hedges — The effective portion of changes in the fair
value of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges
are recognized in line item Other comprehensive income, net
of income taxes (applicable deferred income tax), and any inef-
fective portion is recognized immediately in net income.
Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified into net in-
come in the same periods in which the hedged item affects net
income.

Share-based payment - IFRS 2, Share-based payment, distin-
guishes between cash-settled and equity-settled share-based
payment transactions. For both types, the fair value is mea-
sured at grant date and compensation expense is recognized
over the vesting period during which the employees become
unconditionally entitled to the awards granted. Cash-settled
awards are re-measured at fair value at the end of each report-
ing period and upon settlement. The fair value of share-based
awards, such as stock awards, matching shares, and shares
granted under the Jubilee Share Program, is determined as the
market price of Siemens shares, considering dividends during
the vesting period the grantees are not entitled to and market
conditions and non-vesting conditions, if applicable.

Prior-year information - The presentation of certain prior-
year information has been reclassified to conform to the cur-
rent year presentation. To enhance transparency, the Company
changed retrospectively the presentation of financing of dis-
continued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows in fiscal 2014.

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING
PRONOUNCEMENTS

As of October 1, 2013, Siemens adopted IFRS 10, Consolidated
Financial Statements, IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, IFRS 12, Dis-
closure of Interests in Other Entities and consequential amend-
ments to IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements (amended
2011) and IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
(amended 2011). IFRS 10 provides a comprehensive concept of
control in determining whether an entity is to be consolidated,
IFRS 11 provides guidance on accounting for joint arrangements
by focusing on rights and obligations of the arrangement and
IFRS 12 provides comprehensive disclosure requirements for all
forms of interests in other entities. The standards are applied
on a retrospective basis. The adoption of the new standards did
not have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements. The application of IFRS 12 resulted in
additional disclosures.
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As of October 1, 2013, Siemens adopted IFRS 13, Fair Value
Measurement. The new standard defines fair value and
standardizes disclosures on fair value measurements of both
financial and non-financial instrument items. The standard
is applied on a prospective basis. The adoption of IFRS 13 did
not have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS,

NOT YET ADOPTED

The following pronouncements, issued by the IASB, are not yet
effective and have not yet been adopted by the Company:

In July 2014, the IASB completed its project to replace IAS 39,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement by pub-
lishing the final version of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments. IFRS 9
introduces a single approach for the classification and measure-
ment of financial assets according to their cash flow character-
istics and the business model they are managed in, and pro-
vides a new impairment model based on expected credit losses.
IFRS 9 also includes new regulations regarding the application
of hedge accounting to better reflect an entity’s risk manage-
ment activities especially with regard to managing non-finan-
cial risks. The new standard is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, while early
application is permitted. The European Financial Reporting
Advisory Group postponed its endorsement advice on IFRS 9.
The Company is currently assessing the impacts of adopting
IFRS 9 on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers. According to the new standard, revenue is rec-
ognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
a customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. Revenue is recognized when, or as,
the customer obtains control of the goods or services. IFRS 15
also includes guidance on the presentation of contract bal-
ances, that is, assets and liabilities arising from contracts with
customers, depending on the relationship between the entity’s
performance and the customer’s payment. In addition, the new
standard requires a set of quantitative and qualitative disclo-
sures to enable users of the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements to understand the nature, amount, timing, and un-
certainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with
customers. IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11, Construction Contracts
and IAS 18, Revenue as well as related interpretations. The
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2017; early application is permitted. The Company
is currently assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 15 on the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and will deter-
mine the adoption date as well as the transition method.
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notez Critical accounting estimates

Siemens’ Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in
accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB and as adopted by
the EU. Siemens’ significant accounting policies, as described
il’l —> NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES are
essential to understanding the Company'’s results of operations,
financial positions and cash flows. Certain of these accounting
policies require critical accounting estimates that involve com-
plex and subjective judgments and the use of assumptions,
some of which may be for matters that are inherently uncertain
and susceptible to change. Such critical accounting estimates
could change from period to period and have a material impact
on the Company’s results of operations, financial positions and
cash flows. Critical accounting estimates could also involve
estimates where management reasonably could have used a
different estimate in the current accounting period. Manage-
ment cautions that future events often vary from forecasts and
that estimates routinely require adjustment.

Revenue recognition on construction contracts — The
Company's Sectors, particularly Energy, Industry and Infra-
structure & Cities, conduct a significant portion of their
business under construction contracts